Public Document Pack

PLANNING COMMITTEE
MEETING
10.00 AM ON
THURSDAY 21 MARCH 2013
GLOUCESTER
GLOUCESTER RUGBY CLUB

MEETING PAPERS

PLANNING COMMITTEE
TIME:

10.00 am

DATE:

Thursday 21st March, 2013

VENUE:

Gloucester Rugby Ground
AGENDA

ITEM

TOPIC

1.

WELCOME AND APOLOGIES
The Chairman to welcome everyone to the meeting and to note
any apologies for absence.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and the Council’s
Code of Conduct, members to declare any disclosable pecuniary
interests in this application.
Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make
a declaration of interest are invited to contact the council’s
Principal Lawyer prior to the meeting.

3.

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
To consider any questions from members of the public on
matters which are within the powers and duties of the committee.
Up to 30 minutes will be allowed for this item
a) Written questions

The closing date for receipt of written questions is 10.00 am on
Thursday 14 March 2013. Please send questions to the Chief
Executive marked for the attention of Jo Moore (email
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk).

Date Published: 13 March 2013

b) Oral questions

With the Chairman’s consent, there may be an opportunity for
members of the public to submit oral questions at the meeting.
Depending on the nature of the question, it may not be possible
to provide a comprehensive answer at the time of the meeting, in
which case a written answer will be provided as soon as is
reasonably possible after the meeting. Responses to the
questions will not accompany this agenda but will be circulated
prior to the meeting.
4.

MEMBERS' QUESTIONS
To answer any written member’s questions on issues which are
within the powers and duties of the committee.
Up to 30 minutes will be allowed for this item
The closing date for receipt of questions is 10.00 am on Thursday
14 March 2013. Please send questions to the Chief Executive
marked
for
the
attention
of
Jo
Moore
(email
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk).

5.

PRESENTATION OF PLANNING APPLICATION (Page 1 - 258)
Land at Javelin Park, Bath Road, Haresfield, Stonehouse,
Gloucestershire (12/0008/STMAJW)
Proposed development of an energy from waste facility for the
combustion of non-hazardous waste and the generation of
energy, comprising the main energy from waste facility, a bottom
ash processing facility and education/visitor centre, together with
associated/ancillary infrastructure including access roads,
weighbridges, fencing/gates, lighting, emissions stack, surface
water drainage basins and landscaping.
Officers and consultants to present the planning application.
Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director for Communities and
Infrastructure, to describe the application, report any exceptional
factors from the site inspection meeting, and advise members of
the recommendation.
To view the associated documents for this application, please
refer to the following link:
http://planning.gloucestershire.gov.uk/publicaccess/applicationDe
tails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=M05I0SHN01600
A short break will be taken on completion of this item

Date Published: 13 March 201313/03/13

6.

PERMITTED SPEAKERS
Up to 10 people will be permitted to speak on the application,
(five in support and five against). Anyone wishing to speak at the
meeting should email jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk), at least
24 hours before the start of the meeting (10.00 am on
Wednesday 20 March 2013). You will also be required to follow
the rules for speaking at planning committee, which can be found
on the council’s website at the following link:
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/105863/Speaking-atplanning-committee
Anyone wishing to address the committee will be requested to
leave their name, address and telephone number. (It may be
necessary for a spokesperson to be appointed to speak on behalf
of several speakers).
Permitted speakers may not introduce or refer to new material,
plans, photographs or audio recordings that have not already
been in the public arena or supplied to the planning authority at
least three working days before the meeting. The Chairman has
the discretion to suspend any permitted speaking which
introduces any new material evidence, or is repetitious of
previous speeches, having first given warning to the individual
concerned of the potential consequences.

7.

PUBLIC SPEAKING (OBJECTING)
The Chairman to invite members of the public to speak in
objection to the application.
A maximum of 20 minutes will be allowed for this item.
Anyone wishing to address the committee must register their
request to speak at the meeting by contacting Joanne Moore in
Democratic Services on 01452 425005, or by email on
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk at least 24 hours before the
start of the meeting (10.00 am on Wednesday 20 March 2013).
Please contact Democratic Services or refer to the following link
for more information on the process for public speaking at
planning committee meetings: http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/105863/Speaking-atplanning-committee

Date Published: 13 March 201313/03/13

8.

PUBLIC SPEAKING (SUPPORTING)
The Chairman to invite members of the public to speak in support
of the application.
A maximum of 20 minutes will be allowed for this item.
Anyone wishing to address the committee must register their
request to speak at the meeting by contacting Joanne Moore in
Democratic Services on 01452 425005, or by email on
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk, at least 24 hours before
commencement of the meeting (10.00 am on Wednesday 20
March 2013). Please contact Democratic Services or refer to the
following link for more information on the process for public
speaking at planning committee meetings: http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/article/105863/Speaking-atplanning-committee

9.

APPLICANT/AGENT REPRESENTATIONS
The applicant or the agent for the application to address the
committee.
A maximum of 5 minutes will be allowed for this item
On completion of this item the committee will adjourn for
approximately one hour for lunch.

10.

COUNCILLOR QUESTIONS
The members of the Planning Committee to ask questions of
officers and advisors, who will respond to and may also clarify
any matters arising from public address.

11.

PARISH AND TOWN COUNCIL REPRESENTATIONS
The Chairman to invite a representative from each of the
following parish and town councils to address the committee: •
•
•
•
•
•
•

Hardwicke Parish Council
Haresfield Parish Council
Moreton Valance Parish Council
Quedgeley Parish Council
Standish Parish Council
Stonehouse Town Council
Stroud Town Council

A maximum of five minutes will be allocated to each council.
Date Published: 13 March 201313/03/13

12.

DISTRICT COUNCIL REPRESENTATIONS
The Chairman to invite a representative from each of the
following District Councils to address the committee
•
•
•
•
•
•

Cheltenham Borough Council
Cotswold District Council
Forest of Dean District Council
Gloucester City Council
Stroud District Council
Tewkesbury Borough Council

A maximum of five minutes will be allocated to each District
Council
13.

LOCAL COUNCILLOR REPRESENTATIONS
The Chairman to invite the County Councillor for the North Stroud
Division, Councillor Anthony Blackburn, to address the
committee.
At this point in the meeting there will be an opportunity for
members of the Planning Committee to ask questions of officers
and advisers on any issues raised during items 11, 12 and 13 of
the agenda, who will respond to and may also clarify any matters
arising from public address.

14.

COMMITTEE DEBATE
Members of the Planning Committee to consider the planning
application.

15.

VOTE
The Planning Committee to vote on the recommendation.

NOTES
MEMBERSHIP –Cllr Ron Allen, Cllr Dennis Andrewartha, Cllr Basil Booth,
Cllr John Cordwell, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Sarah Lunnon, Cllr Graham Morgan,
Cllr Christopher Pallet, Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Martin Quaile, Cllr Gordon Shurmer,
Cllr Vernon Smith, Cllr Klara Sudbury, Cllr Brian Thornton, Cllr Brian Tipper,
Cllr Pam Tracey, Cllr Robert Vines, Cllr Simon Wheeler and Cllr Mike Williams

Date Published: 13 March 201313/03/13

(a)

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of
interest are invited to contact Principal Lawyer, Gillian Parkinson
(gillian.parkinson@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to commencement of the
meeting.

(b)

INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES
If you wish to inspect reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any
other general queries about the meeting, please contact Jane Cleaver,
Democratic Services Unit : 01452 425096/fax: 425240 e-mail:
jane.cleaver@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

TRAINING/SUBSTITUTION
All members must have received recent training before they can sit on the
Committee and take part in discussion and vote. Substitution arrangements are
as set out on page 72 of the Constitution. A list of trained Members is available
from the Democratic Services Unit

Date Published: 13 March 201313/03/13

Agenda Item 5
APPLICATION NO:

12/0008/STMAJW

DISTRICT REF:

S.12/0572/CM

AGENT:

Axis, Camellia House, 76 Water Lane, Wilmslow,
Cheshire, SK9 5BB

APPLICANT:

Urbaser Balfour Beatty c/o: Agent (Axis)

SITE:

Land at Javelin Park, Bath Road, Haresfield,
Stonehouse, Gloucestershire.

PROPOSAL:

Proposed development of an Energy from Waste (EfW)
facility for the combustion of non-hazardous waste and
the generation of energy, comprising the main EfW
facility, a Bottom Ash processing facility and education
/ visitor centre, together with associated / ancillary
infrastructure including access roads, weighbridges,
fencing / gates, lighting, emissions stack, surface water
drainage basins and landscaping
PARISH OF

VALIDATION DATE:

Haresfield

05/03/2012

SITE AREA:
GRID
REF:

5.1 Ha

SO 80073 10374

RECOMMENDATION:
That planning permission be GRANTED for the reasons set out within this report
and summarised in Section 8 and subject to:
(1) the conditions detailed in Section 9 of this report and
(2) completion of a legal undertaking (under Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990) on or before 21 September 2013 securing the costs of
monitoring the travel plan
(3) to the Secretary of State not exercising his ‘call in’ powers to determine the
application himself

1

Page 1

1.0

LOCATION

1.1

The proposed development site (the application site) is located
approximately 1.6 kilometres west of the centre of Haresfield and 8.5
kilometres south of the centre of Gloucester (Appendix 2 Figure 1).

1.2

The application site is approximately 5.1ha in area (including the site access
road) and forms the southern part of Javelin Park, a disused former airfield
and cleared brownfield site currently comprising derelict ground, hardstanding and vegetated areas.

1.3

The application site is bounded to the north by an undeveloped derelict area,
(the northern part of Javelin Park) with extant planning permission for B8 use
which also extends to the application site itself, beyond which lies Blooms
Garden Centre. Junction 12 of the M5 motorway is approximately 550m to
the north. The eastern boundary of the application site is formed by the
B4008 beyond which are agricultural fields and one residential property, the
Lodge, which is approximately 50m from the site boundary beyond a mature
hedgerow. A small unnamed watercourse flows into the south-east corner of
the application site and continues along the southern and western
boundaries delineated by a security fence and hedge respectively.

1.4

Agricultural fields lie to the south and west of the application site. The M5
motorway runs in a north-east / south-west orientation, approximately 70m
from the western boundary. Hiltmead Farmhouse, a Grade II listed
residential property, is located approximately 230m to the west on the
opposite side of the M5 motorway.

1.5

Access to the application site is via a purpose built private road from a
roundabout junction, recently constructed to provide access to Javelin Park
from the B4008. Another access onto the northern half of Javelin Park is via
a right turn lane on the B4008 and is shared with the Blooms Garden Centre
access.

1.6

The application site lies within the Vale of Berkeley, part of the valley of the
River Severn. The topography is defined by the very flat, low-lying valley
bottom landform, with few obvious landmark features. The area beyond
Javelin Park is predominantly semi-rural in nature. However, there are a
number of key features and settlements in the surrounding area which
include:
x
the M5 motorway 70m to the west of the site and the associated M5
Junction 12 approximately 550m to the north of the site;
2

Page 2

x
x
x
x
x

the settlement of Haresfield located approximately 1km to the east of
the site;
the settlement of Little Haresfield and Standish located approximately
1 km and 1.5 km to the south of the site respectively;
the settlement of Moreton Valence located approximately 2 km to the
south-west of the site;
Quedgeley East Business Park located approximately 0.75 km to the
north-east of the site, to the east of the M5; and
Quedgeley West Business Park and Waterwells Business Park
located approximately 1.5 km and 2 km to the north and west of the
M5 respectively.

1.7

The application site is not in an area designated for its environmental value,
nor is it on a groundwater aquifer or an area identified as being at risk from
fluvial flooding. The bedrock beneath the site is classified as secondary
undifferentiated aquifer.

1.8

The boundary of the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
is approximately 1.3 kilometres to the east of the application site. The
application site is not in a Conservation Area (CA). There is a Grade II Listed
Building approximately 230 metres to the north west of the site . There is a
Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM) 750 metres to the east of the
application site near Haresfield. There are no Public Rights of Way (PRoW)
crossing or passing adjacent to the site. PRoW (reference EHD/3/3)
terminates at the B4008 approximately 65 metres to the north east of the site
access. There are 17 Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) including 1
National Nature Reserve (NNR), 4 European sites (protected under the
Habitats Directive), and 9 Local Nature Reserves within 10 km of the site.
The nearest SSSI being Haresfield Beacon geological SSSI 2.3km to the
south east of the site boundary.

1.9

There are no confirmed cultural heritage assets or receptors within the
application site itself that may be subject to direct (physical) or indirect
(setting) impacts. Scheduled Ancient Monuments within a radius of 2
kilometres of the site include the Mount moated site at Haresfield, the
Moated site at Church Farm Moreton Valence, Haresfield Hill Camp and
Ring Hill Earthworks, and two bowl barrows located to the south of Court Hill
Farm, some 1.7 kilometres south of the site. Listed buildings in proximity to
the application site include the Grade II* parish church of St Peter’s
Haresfield (750 metres east), Grade II* St Swithin’s church, Brookthorpe (3.6
kilometres northeast), Grade I St Nicholas’s church, Hardwicke ( 1.9
kilometres north west) Grade I Church of St Stephen’s, Moreton Valence ( 2

3

Page 3

kilometres south west), and Grade I Church of St Nicholas’s Standish ( 1.8
kilometres south of the application site).

4

Page 4

2.0

THE PROPOSAL AND THE APPLICANT’S SUBMISSIONS
Overview

2.1

The planning application is for an Energy from Waste (EfW) facility for the
combustion of non-hazardous waste and generation of energy, comprising
the main EfW building, bottom ash processing facility and visitor centre, and
associated infrastructure including access roads, weighbridges, fences and
gates, lighting, emissions stack, surface water drainage basins and
landscaping at Javelin Park, Haresfield, Gloucestershire.

2.2

The throughput of the facility would be approximately 190,000 tonnes per
annum (tpa) of non-hazardous residual waste (i.e. waste which is left after
recycling and composting), the majority of which would be municipal solid
waste from Gloucestershire (municipal solid waste being that collected and
managed by, or on behalf of, local authorities). A lesser proportion of the
waste treated at the facility would be commercial and industrial (C&I) wastes
similar in composition to the municipal solid waste.

2.3

The EfW plant is expected to operate as a recovery facility as it would
recover energy from waste combustion to an efficiency factor that satisfies
the Waste Framework Directive R1 efficiency formula. Electricity would be
generated through a steam turbine driven by steam raised through the heat
of the combustion of waste. The facility would have an installed electricity
generating capacity of 17.4 Megawatts (MW), 14.5 MW of which would be
exported to the local supply grid with the remainder used in the operation of
the facility. The connection (i.e. transmission lines) to the local electricity
distribution network is not included within the application as this would be
delivered through a separate consenting process. However, the
Environmental Statement (ES) submitted in support of the application does
consider the potential environmental effects of grid connection options.

2.4

A proportion of the electricity generated from the combustion of waste (the
biomass fraction) would be classed as renewable. The applicant estimates
that some 56% of the energy generated would be renewable, reflecting the
composition of the waste combusted. The facility would be capable of
exporting heat produced through the waste combustion process (‘CHPready’), although no heat user has been identified at this stage and the
application does not extend to provision of necessary infrastructure.

2.5

The application is accompanied by the following supporting documents:
x
Supporting Statement
x
Design and Access Statement
5

Page 5

x

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Environmental Statement (ES) which includes an erratum and
supplementary information supplied in11th September and 19th
November 2012. The main ES and the supplementary information are
each accompanied by non-technical summaries
Transport Assessment
Waste Minimisation Statement
Statement of Community Involvement
Tree Survey Report and Plan
BREEAM Industrial 2008 Credit Tracker Report
Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP)
Fencing and Gating Plan
Landscape Plan
Drainage Layout

Components
2.6

The proposed development would be a main building which would contain
the following areas:
x
waste reception hall;
x
waste bunker;
x
boiler hall and demineralisation plant;
x
turbine hall;
x
emissions stack;
x
flue gas treatment (FGT) facility;
x
Air Pollution Control (APC) reagent silos and APC residue silos;
x
bottom ash processing facility; and
x
education / visitor centre and staff facilities.

2.7

The development would also include the following ancillary / infrastructure
elements:
x
vehicle weighbridges and office;
x
electricity substation;
x
site fencing and gates;
x
service connections;
x
surface water drainage and attenuation features;
x
cycle / motorbike store;
x
external hardstanding areas for vehicle manoeuvring;
x
internal access roads and car parking;
x
ammonia and diesel tanks;
x
fire sprinkler system pump house; and
x
new areas of hard and soft landscaping.

6

Page 6

Layout and size
2.8

The layout and cross sections of the proposed development are included in
the Environmental Statement and show the building orientated west to east
with separate vehicular entrances from the existing estate road to enable
office and visitor traffic to be separated from the HGVs and other vehicles
servicing the plant. Site roads run around the building with those on the
southern side allowing access to the waste reception hall, bottom ash
processing facility and flue gas treatment area (Appendix 2 Figure 2).

2.9

The development would include 13,040 m2 waste management floorspace,
and 1,781m2 of B1 (office) floorspace including the visitor centre. The main
building would be 236 metres long, between 55 and 25.6 metres wide, and
up to 48 metres high (the highest point). The building would be divided into
the various process areas with the height of the structure varying depending
on the process that it houses. The highest section of the building, towards
the western end, would house the FGT facility and the APC reagent and
residue silos. In this area the building roof would slope from a peak of 48 m
to 40.65 m in height (Appendix 2 Figures 3, 4, 5 and 6).

2.10 The section of the building housing the boiler and turbine hall would be at a
height of 42 m, the waste bunker at a height of 31.5 m and the tipping hall at
a height of 21 m. The lowest part of the building, at a height of 14.65 m,
would house the bottom ash processing facility, which would be located at
the eastern end of the building. The visitor centre and office space would be
part of the main building located on the northern façade. It would provide an
interactive exhibition space and visual presentation suite for the use of local
schools, further and higher education institutions and the community.
2.11 The stack (chimney) would be located adjacent to the western elevation of
the building and would be 70m in height and 2.5m in diameter.
2.12 The air cooled condenser (ACC) would comprise a separate structure
immediately to the south of the turbine hall. The ACC is separated from the
main building in order to allow sufficient air flow into the condenser unit. The
ACC would be 41 m in length by 14 m in width and 21 m high. An on-site
electricity substation would be located immediately adjacent to the west of
the ACC facility.
2.13 The waste bunker and boiler hall, and turbine room would be sunk into the
ground (13 m depth) in order to reduce the height of the building. Much of
the excavated material is proposed to be used in landscaping, including
creation of a screening bund at the eastern end of the site. The layout would
be such that the process buildings would be oriented along a north7

Page 7

west/south-east axis with the tallest elements of the facility at the west end of
the site adjacent to the M5. The application states that this arrangement
would reduce visual impacts from elevated positions within the AONB.
Waste management
2.14 The application states that the facility would cater primarily for residual
Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) delivered under contract by Gloucestershire
County Council (GCC) and that the facility would treat a lesser quantities of
residual non-hazardous commercial and industrial (C&I) waste that is
currently sent to landfill. The applicant considers that in the first 5-10 years
of operation (2015-2025) between two thirds and three quarters of the waste
treated at the facility would be residual MSW, the remainder being residual
C&I waste. Thereafter the proportion of residual MSW treated is predicted to
slowly increase.
2.15 The plant would meet emission limits set down in the EU Waste Incineration
Directive (WID) and operational performance standards set down in the
Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control Directive, which would be
reflected in the Environmental Permit issued by the Environment Agency
under which it would operate. The process description below is taken from
the application forms submitted for the development. Appendix 2, Figures 2
and 7 show in a diagrammatic form the general arrangements of the
processes within the building.
2.16 The principal processes to be carried out at the plant include the receipt,
storage and combustion of non-hazardous residual waste, the generation of
electricity and heat, the use of emissions abatement equipment and the
processing of bottom ash arising from the EfW facility into a recycled
aggregate capable of beneficial use. In addition, there would also be the
temporary storage of process residues (e.g. from Air Pollution Control) on the
site prior to being transported off the site.
2.17 Incoming vehicles would enter the site and proceed to the weighbridge
where the amount of waste would be checked and recorded, then move on
to the enclosed tipping hall and discharge into the bunker. Overhead cranes
with grabs would mix, stack and load the waste into the feed chutes where it
would be transferred into the furnace grates by hydraulically powered feeding
units. The chutes would be kept full of waste and under negative pressure to
prevent backward flow of combustion gases and premature ignition. The
levels of waste in the chutes would be automatically monitored. Secondary
air would be injected through nozzles in the wall of the furnace to control
flame height and direction.
8

Page 8

2.18 The combustion process would involve a moving grate comprising inclined
fixed and moving bars. The moving grate turns and mixes waste to ensure
that it is all exposed to the combustion process. Start-up burners would be
gas fuelled and may operate for up to 16 hours during a start-up event
following planned maintenance. Primary air for combustion would be fed to
the underside of the grate by a fan. Secondary air would be used to create
turbulence and ensure complete combustion. The volumes of air and rate of
feed into the furnace would be automatically regulated by a combustion
control system which minimises production of pollutants in flue gas prior to its
treatment. The furnace would also be fitted with gas-fired auxiliary burners to
automatically maintain temperature above 850 C.
2.19 A demineralisation plant within the main building would use chemicals,
including hydrochloric acid and caustic soda to treat boiler water to prevent
corrosion. The chemicals would be delivered by bulk tanker and stored in
bunded tanks within the building.
2.20 Gases generated in the combustion process would be cleaned prior to
release to the atmosphere through a Flue Gas Treatment (FGT) system.
The FGT comprises an absorption system that includes dry lime scrubbing,
activated carbon injection and fabric filters designed to ensure that the plant
operates to standards set in the WID. Acid gases produced in combustion
would be removed by the semi-dry scrubbing system, using hydrated lime as
a reagent. The residue material would be recovered at the outlet of the flue
gas scrubbing system. Activated carbon would be injected into the flue gas
duct to minimise emissions of dioxins, mercury and other heavy metals.
After flowing through the gas scrubber the gases would be drawn through
fabric bag filters to remove particulates. The treated gas would then pass
into the stack for release into the atmosphere. Regular bag filter cleaning
would be undertaken by pulsing compressed air through the filter bags.
2.21 Following cleaning, the combustion gases would be released to the
atmosphere via the stack. Emissions would be automatically monitored
continuously and reported in accordance with the Environment Agency’s
environmental permit requirements.
2.22 Two types of solid residue would be produced by the operation – Air
Pollution Control (APC) residues and bottom ash. APC residues would be
collected in enclosed hoppers beneath the filters. Silos containing APC
reagents and residues would be within the FGT building. It has been
estimated that the process would generate approximately 1 tonne of APC
residues per hour. The APC residue silo would have a capacity of 250
tonnes, sufficient for 10 days storage although in normal conditions only a
small proportion of the capacity would be expected to be used prior to
9

Page 9

movement of materials off site. Vehicular access to the plant would enable
delivery of reagents and removal of APC residues. The APC residues would
be alkaline and classified as hazardous waste, requiring management at a
permitted hazardous waste management facility or used within an industrial
process.
2.23 Bottom ash is formed from the residue of the combustion process and
approximately 6 tonnes per hour would be produced. The ash would be
quenched as it leaves the combustion chamber to cool it and reduce
potential dust. Water used in the quenching process would be collected and
recycled for continued use. The bottom ash would be deposited into a
bunker where it would be fed onto a conveyor to take it to the bottom ash
processing facility at the eastern end of the building. Here it would be
discharged into one of five bunkers and left to dry for approximately 2 weeks
prior to being processed for use as a secondary aggregate. Processing
would first involve removal of ferrous and non-ferrous metals for recycling,
then removal of oversized materials for disposal, and finally crushing for
recycling. The aggregate would be stored in stockpiles for 4 – 6 weeks to
‘mature’ in the eastern end of the building prior to movement offsite.
Construction
2.24 Were the planning application to be approved, construction would last
approximately 33 months. The first phase of construction (0-8 months)
would be ground works including site clearance, earthworks, laying
foundations, and drainage. The applicant estimates that the movement of
excavated material off-site in the first four months of the construction would
result in approximately 1,600 HGV loads in total (equating to approximately
25 HGV loads per day).
2.25 The erection of building frames and the main structural works would be
staggered throughout the construction period. The first major structure to be
erected would be the boiler hall and FGT building which would begin
immediately following the main ground works. The final building structures to
be completed would be the bottom ash processing facility and the air cooled
condensers. These structures would be erected between months 21 and 26,
towards the end of the construction period. The buildings would be of steel
frame construction with the external envelope formed from a combination of
masonry blocks, cold rolled sheeting rails, metal cladding and glazing. The
roofs of the buildings would be constructed of composite cladding panels.
2.26 Following completion of the structural building works, external hardstandings
including roads and car parks would be completed along with erection of
lighting, signage and landscaping. Construction operations would generally
10

Page 10

be limited to 07.00 to 19.00hrs Monday to Friday and 07.00 to 12.00hrs
Saturday. At the peak of construction activity there would be 300
construction staff on site.
2.27 The applicant proposes to develop and implement a Construction
Environmental Management Plan to manage and report environmental
effects of the project during construction including drainage, water quality
and hydrology; dust, emissions and odours; health and safety/site
management; waste management; traffic management; wildlife and natural
features; cultural heritage; and contaminated material.
Operation
2.28 The waste treatment and combustion process would operate 24 hours per
day. HGV deliveries of waste would be restricted to between 0700 and
1900, as would processing of Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA). The facility
would have a design life of 30 years, although the applicant states that many
components may last longer than this, and as the application is for a
permanent facility elements would be repaired, refurbished and replaced as
necessary.
Transport
2.29 The applicant calculates that when operational the total average number of
weekday HGV movements between the hours of 7:00 and 19:00 would be
208 (104 in and 104 out), assuming no back loading movements, with the
peak around 13.00 hours, at 40 movements. The applicant proposes a
routeing strategy for HGVs.
2.30 40 staff would be required to operate the facility on a shift basis and the
applicant has assumed 80 staff vehicle movements (in + out) across the 24hr
period, with 62 of these movements within the core 12hr period 07:00-19:00.
A total of 45 car parking spaces are proposed (including 4 spaces for
disabled drivers) with 3 covered motorcycle and 7 covered bicycle parking
spaces. The applicant proposes to operate a travel plan to encourage
sustainable travel by staff and visitors.
Fencing and boundaries
2.31 The southern and western perimeter of the site would be secured by the
existing 2.4 metre high metal chain-link fence. The northern and eastern
perimeter of the site would be secured by a 2.4 metre high welded mesh
boundary fence (Paladin security fencing or similar) with matching lockable
steel gates to provide means of access. The new welded mesh fence would
11

Page 11

be green in colour. The existing timber post and rail fence that runs along
the eastern boundary of the site would be retained. On the northern
boundary, facing the remaining development land on Javelin Park, the
welded mesh fence would be fitted with a light weight fabric screen to
obscure views through the fence.
Lighting
2.32 The site and building would be illuminated outside daylight hours. Light
spillage from the building's internal activities would be minimal and site
security lighting is intended to include modern lanterns chosen to achieve full
cut off and therefore contain light pollution, with a reduced system in use at
night time.
2.33 During hours of darkness there would need to be lighting commensurate with
health and safety requirements. Internal building lighting to the upper floors
of the proposed office and visitor/education centre, would incorporate
intelligent lighting control systems and as such would switch off after
operational hours. The internal operational areas of the facility would be lit to
provide a safe working environment, rather than to provide a consistent light
level. This approach would ensure that light spillage from within the plant
would be kept to a minimum. There would be no building mounted lights and
no lighting of external facades and lighting of external yard and parking areas
would use modern flat glass high pressure sodium (or similar) lanterns which
achieve full cut-off meaning that all of the light shines down with minimal
upwards or sideways spill.
2.34 The full external lighting system would only operate during hours of darkness
when vehicle deliveries are occurring during working hours in winter. After
this time the main lighting would automatically be switched off. In order to
cater for the health and safety needs of night shift workers at the plant, a
reduced, low level lighting system would remain in operation after dark,
utilising low level lanterns and restricted to required walking routes and staff
parking areas. The lighting has been designed to direct light away from the
boundary and landscaped areas which together with reducing light spillage
from the western elevation of the building (through use of blinds) would avoid
impact on foraging bats that are known to use the stream corridor along the
southern and western boundaries of the site.

12

Page 12

Landscape and Drainage Scheme
2.35 A Landscape and Ecological Management Plan is included in the
Environmental Statement. The management plan sets out details of the
landscape and ecological mitigation works that would be undertaken
following completion of construction, with a review of measures and their
effectiveness every 5 years. The scheme includes ecological mitigation and
enhancement including maintaining woodland and scrub habitat with glades,
to benefit foraging bats and breeding birds. A key objective is to maintain the
existing stream and its corridor on the southern and western edges of the
site. In addition, and associated with the drainage scheme, is the creation of
ponds in the form of surface water retention basins as part of a sustainable
drainage scheme (SuDS) and associated wetland habitats.
2.36 A major landscape mitigation measure is the proposed creation of a
screening bund at the eastern end of the site. The bund would be planted
and is intended to hide from view ground level operational activity within the
waste management site. The bund would be constructed using excavated
material arising from the sinking of the bunker and waste reception area of
the EfW building. This would amount to some 16,475 tonnes of the estimated
36,000 tonnes of excavation waste arising being incorporated into on-site
landscaping. Additional proposed landscaping includes planting of areas of
woodland, scrub, wildflower meadow, and creation of a more formal amenity
landscape area on the northern side of the facility.
2.37 Following construction of the facility the impermeable area on site would be
2.25ha, approximately 46% of the developed area. The building itself would
occupy approximately 1 ha, and the rest of the impermeable area is
predominantly the access road and car parking. A Drainage Strategy is
included in the Flood Risk Assessment accompanying the application and is
shown in a Schematic Drainage Layout plan. This proposes formation of
retention basins (ponds), designed to reduce peak (storm) surface water
runoff into the drainage ditch to a 1 in 100 year greenfield rate, a reduction
over the current brownfield rate. Flows in the existing stream would be
maintained and there would be no increase in risk of flooding.
Design and Access Statement
2.38 The Design and Access Statement accompanying the application explains
how the architectural design has evolved in the context of the interpretation
of local environmental studies as well as feedback from consultees and the
public.

13

Page 13

2.39 The Design and Access Statement explains that a variety of forms for the
building were considered, including curved roofed solutions, but on analysis
this was considered to produce a rather 'fussy' building design of greater
volume and height than necessary. It is from this work that the proposed
deconstructed angular form of rectangular shells emerged. The applicant
considers this provides a more cohesive and functional form with a
fragmented roofscape helping to 'contain' it’s mass and integrate the design
with the surrounding geography and topography. A two-stage public
engagement process was carried out and included consultation on aspects
of the building design including the height of the building, the risk of light
pollution, the alternative treatments to the roof, and the impact of the building
on the landscape. See also pp. 28-30 of Volume 1 of the main ES which
summarises the approach to alternative design solutions.
2.40 The applicant proposes landscape treatment around the perimeter and
breaking up the scale of the building into distinct sections. The long
elevations (north and south) of the facility are arranged into five elements
which aim to deconstruct the facade and assist in reducing the visual mass
of the building. This would be further aided by the treatment of the base with
a dark grey cladding material and a living (vegetated) wall. The roof profile is
designed in a series of steps, overhanging verges and angles of pitch which
the applicant contends are designed to echo the natural profile at the top of
the Cotswold escarpment. Different colour finishes to the external metal
cladding have been selected to break down the overall scale of the long
facades. The applicant's view is that the overall composition breaks up the
mass and line of the building helping it blend the building into the landscape
from more distant views.
2.41 The application has been subject to a Building Research Establishment
Assessment Method (BREEAM) sustainability assessment for industrial
buildings and the current design was assessed as achieving a ‘Very Good’
rating.
Statement of Community Involvement
2.42 The Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) that accompanies the
application explains the public engagement programme that the applicant
undertook prior to submission of the application. This included two public
exhibitions in 2011 (June - July, and November) at Javelin Park, the first of
which ran over 5 days and attracted 332 attendees, the second over 4 days
attracted 253 attendees. The exhibitions enabled the scheme to be
explained and for the applicant to receive views of attendees.
Representatives of the applicant and its technical consultants were available
14

Page 14

to answer questions on the proposal. The applicant also set up a dedicated
website and an email enquiry system.
2.43 The SCI identifies the concerns most commonly raised as air quality and
emissions, visual/landscape impact, and traffic/road/junction capacity. The
Statement indicates that feedback from the first exhibition was used to inform
the design and presentation at the second exhibition, with the applicant
providing responses to questions arising. The County Council, as WPA, is
also required to publicise details about the application under the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 and
further details about the consultation are set out in paragraphs 2.57-2.63.
Environmental Statement
2.44 The proposal falls within the description detailed in Schedule 1 of the Town
and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2011). Following a Scoping Opinion provided by the WPA, an Environmental
Impact Assessment of the proposed development was undertaken and an
Environmental Statement (ES) was submitted with the planning application.
2.45 The ES considers alternatives to the proposed EfW and outlines the
reasoning for the selection of the technology, site, and design. This includes
some discussion of environmental effects of different options. Alternatives
discussed are as follows:
x

Alternative Waste Management Options and Technology Choice;

2.46 The ES refers to the work of the Gloucestershire Waste Partnership and
development of the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy, the
identification and appraisal of long and short lists of technology options, and
the selection of EfW with CHP as the ‘reference technology’. The applicant
cites the County Council as making it clear to selected preferred bidders for
the residual waste management contract that despite selecting a reference
technology, none of the 5 shortlisted technologies (EfW with CHP;
mechanical-biological treatment (MBT) producing a fuel to power dedicated
CHP; MBT producing a biologically stabilised material that is sent to landfill;
autoclave producing an active fibre fuel that is sent to power dedicated CHP;
and advanced thermal treatment with syngas used for electricity production
and recovery of heat) were deemed to be superior to any of the others.
2.47 Of these, advanced thermal treatment technologies (gasification and
pyrolysis) were rejected by the applicant citing the limited experience of
using these to treat MSW, plus operational and financing difficulties.
Autoclave was ruled out as it is an interim (rather than final recovery)
15

Page 15

treatment producing solid recovered fuel (SRF) and compost like material, is
a net user of energy, and the benefits of such a multi-stage solution were not
proven. MBT similarly is an interim treatment best used for mixed non
residual waste. Given the aim in Gloucestershire to achieve recycling targets
via source-separation through kerbside collections and household waste
recycling centres, further recovery of materials through MBT is considered to
only yield low grade recyclate and refuse-derived fuel. The applicant states
that direct-burn EfW was selected given the limitations of the other options
outlined above and that the technology is proven and widely used, and would
be the most suitable for the management of the quantity and composition of
residual waste generated in Gloucestershire.
x

Alternative EfW Technologies;

2.48 The applicant considered fixed hearth, pulsed hearth, moving grate, rotary
kiln and fluidised bed technologies. Limitations were identified for all of these
in terms of the type and quantity of waste to be managed, operational
problems, and emissions (including meeting WID criteria), leading to
selection of the moving grate technology as the most suitable. It is also the
most widely used technology in the UK and the rest of Europe, and so most
proven to deal with large quantities of residual waste.
x

Alternative Locations / Sites

2.49 The applicant considered the methodologies used by the County Council as
WDA and WPA, and each of the four sites identified in the draft (as was)
Core Strategy Policy WCS4 (now five sites in Policy WCS6). The applicant
assesses Javelin Park as being the least constrained site due to its position
outside of the Green Belt; having a suitable shape, size and topography;
comprising a brownfield site with permission for B8 use; and its accessibility
to/from the strategic highway network. The suitability of Javelin Park site is
considered further in Section 7 of this report.
x

Alternative Design Solutions

2.50 The applicant considered alternative design options described in the Design
and Access Statement, and which are considered further in Section 7 of this
report. The orientation of the building was determined by the orientation and
constraints of the site, including the watercourse on the southern and
western boundaries, and so alternative options were limited. The provision
of the tipping hall/bunker in a raised form was considered but would have
required vehicular ramps increasing visibility and also the height of the
tipping hall roof. According to the application the angular design was
16

Page 16

selected over curved forms to fragment the building’s components with the
colour finishes selected following photomontage assessments, and to assist
in reducing visual impact from viewpoints.
2.51 The ES addresses a range of potential impacts of construction and operation
of the proposed development, and proposes mitigation measures including
those for landscaping, drainage, and lighting as described above. The
findings of the ES and related technical studies contained in its appendices,
together with representations and consultations on these issues, and an
assessment against the relevant development plan and other material
considerations is included in the Discussion (Section 7) of this report. In
summary the issues addressed in the ES cover those set out below:
x
Traffic
x
Design and Visual impact
x
Ecology and Nature Conservation
x
Geology, soils and groundwater
x
Surface water flooding
x
Noise and Vibration
x
Air Quality
x
Health
x
Archaeology and cultural heritage
x
Socio-economic and community effects
x
Cumulative effects
2.52 The ES concludes that the proposed development would provide a
sustainable waste management solution for Gloucestershire’s residual nonhazardous waste. The project would assist in diverting the County’s waste
from landfill, provide a source of low carbon and renewable energy, create
local job opportunities and provide a local community resource in terms of an
educational visitor centre. The applicant asserts that the assessments
contained in the ES have demonstrated that the only potentially significant
effects relate to visual impacts on a limited number of receptors located
within 2.5 km of the site, this includes views from three residential properties.
The applicant's assessments have concluded that the proposal would not
result in a significant impact on local landscape character or unacceptable
impacts on the Cotswolds AONB. No other significant adverse environmental
impacts are identified.
2.53 Although they are not part of the current planning application, the ES also
considers the impact of two different options for connecting to the local
electricity distribution network. Option 1 is a connection to Tuffey substation
c.6km to the north-east of the site, this connection would be via underground
cabling; Option 2 is a tee connection off the existing 33kV Ryeford – Nethrills
17

Page 17

– Coaley circuit, this connection would comprise an overhead line (from the
site boundary) suspended on newly erected 10m high wooden poles
approximately every 100m. This connection route was identified by the
Distribution Network Operator (DNO). The ES concludes that whilst further
work would need to be undertaken by the DNO no significant residual
adverse impacts are likely to arise from the construction or operation of
either connection option. Neither option is considered favourable to the other
in terms of environmental impacts with both being presented as being
acceptable; advantages and disadvantages to both grid routes are identified.
The application for the grid connection works would be made by the local
Distribution Network Operator in due course.
2.54 The WPA commissioned consultants Bureau Veritas Solutions (BV) to review
the ES for accuracy and clarity, and to ensure that it met the legal
requirements of the relevant (EIA) Regulations.
2.55 Further information with regard to the environmental impacts of the
development proposed in the planning application was requested from the
applicant on three occasions (July, August and November 2012) pursuant to
Regulation 22(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) Regulations 2011. These were in response to issues and
queries raised during the consultation on the planning application and by BV.
2.56 The applicant provided further information in relation to the ES and clarified a
number of other matters relating to the application, as requested by the
County Council in 11th September and 19th November 2012. The adequacy
of the additional information provided was independently verified by BV and
was subject to a period of public consultation. The further information
provided under this process is considered in the Discussion about the
potential impacts of the development in Section 7 of this report and has been
used in consideration of the application and arriving at the recommendation.
Consultation
2.57 The County Council as WPA publicised details about the application under
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)
Order 2010 and undertook the following consultations on the application and
supporting information:
2.58 Original Consultation on the Application
x Newspaper Adverts and which papers they appeared in: Stroud News
& Journal and Gloucestershire Citizen, both on 28 March 2012
x Date when site notices placed: 21 March 2012
x Date when statutory consultees notified: 21 March 2012
18

Page 18

x
x

Date of the end of consultation period: 18 April 2012
Documents made available for inspection in hard copy at: Shire Hall,
Stroud DC, Haresfield PC

2.59 Consultation on Amendment Submission from the Applicant (Environmental
Statement Errata – Air Quality Dispersion Modelling/ Typographical Error):
x
x
x
x
x

Newspaper Adverts and which papers they appeared in: Stroud News
& Journal and Gloucestershire Citizen, both on 9 May 2012
Date when site notices placed: 10 May 2012
Date when statutory consultees notified: 9 May 2012
Date of the end of consultation period: 30 May 2012
Documents made available for inspection in hard copy at: Shire Hall,
Stroud DC

2.60 “Regulation 22” & “Points of Clarification” Consultation
x
x
x
x
x

Newspaper Adverts and which papers they appeared in: Stroud News
& Journal and Gloucestershire Citizen, both on 19 September 2012
Date when site notices placed: 19 September 2012
Date when statutory consultees notified: 17 September 2012
Date of the end of consultation period: 17 October 2012
Documents made available for inspection in hard copy at: Shire Hall &
Stroud DC

2.61 “Regulation 22” Consultation on Corrections to Appendix 3 of the Regulation
22 submission and the Technical Note Response to Assessment of
Groundwater Flooding Issues
x
x
x
x
x

Newspaper Adverts and which papers they appeared in: Stroud News
& Journal and Gloucestershire Citizen, both on 10 October 2012
Date when site notices placed: 10 October 2012
Date when statutory consultees notified: 10 October 2012
Date of the end of consultation period: 9 November 2012
Documents made available for inspection in hard copy at: Shire Hall &
Stroud DC

19

Page 19

2.62 Third “Regulation 22” Consultation
x

Newspaper Adverts and which papers they appeared in: Stroud
News & Journal , 21 November 2012 and Gloucestershire Citizen, 23
November 2012
x Date when site notices placed: 21 November 2012
x Date when statutory consultees notified: 21 November 2012
x Date of the end of consultation period: 19 December 2012
x Documents made available for inspection in hard copy at: Shire Hall &
Stroud DC
2.63 The application and supporting documentation, and the material that was the
subject of the Regulation 22 & Points of Clarification Consultations were
made available on the County Council’s website, together with all
representations received.
Environmental Impact Assessment Consultation
2.64 The Town and County Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2011 apply to the application. Regulation 3 imposes a
prohibition on granting planning permission without consideration of
environmental information. Therefore, in considering this application
Members must take the environmental information into consideration. The
environmental information means the Environmental Statement and its
appendices as submitted with the planning application, and further
information submitted by the applicant, and any other information, and any
representations duly made by any other person about the environmental
effects of the development. The environmental information in relation to
each topic area is summarised in the Discussion in Section 7 of this report.
2.65 The full Environmental Statement, including a Non-Technical summary, and
the further information supplied by the applicant in relation to that
Environmental Statement (with non-technical summaries) and any other
information has been published on the Council’s website for consultation
purposes and remains available to view on the website. Copies of the
representations submitted by other parties are also available on the Council’s
website and planning file available to view at the Council’s offices by
arrangement. These are summarised in Section 5 and 6 of this report.
Details of the consultation exercises carried out are further set out in
paragraphs 2.57 – 2.63 above.
2.66 In accordance with the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations, the
Environmental Statement, further information and any other information has

20

Page 20

been advertised by site notice and in locally circulating newspapers, and
made available on the County Council’s website.
2.67 The information contained in the Environmental Statement, as supplemented
by the further information submitted as described above is considered by
your officers to be adequate, as it includes much of the information referred
to in Part 1 of Schedule 4 of the regulations as is reasonably required to
assess the environmental effects of the development and at least the
information referred to in Part II of Schedule 4.
Consultation under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2010
2.68 In this case the information to inform the assessment of the likely impact of
the development on designated European sites under regulation 61 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 has formed part of
the environmental information to be considered under the provisions of the
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England
and Wales) Regulations 2011. The process followed under the EIA
Regulations has ensured that information has been made publicly available
and that the general public has had full opportunity to make representations
and to participate in the decision making process.
2.69 In this case, the application, the Environmental Statement, further
information and any other information have been advertised and subject to
public notification on three occasions as described above.
2.70 Regulation 61 (4) of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations
2010 requires that the competent authority must:
“If they consider it appropriate, take the opinion of the general public, and if
they do so, they must take such steps for that purpose as they consider
appropriate”
2.71 The issue for the Council to consider is whether it is appropriate to take the
opinion of the general public as part of the process of assessing the impact
the development may have on designated European sites.
2.72 The EU Commission guidance document ‘Managing Natura 2000 Sites’
states (at paragraph 4.6.2):
4.6.2 When is it appropriate to obtain the opinion of the general public
Directive 92/43/EEC does not indicate when it is appropriate to obtain the
opinion of the general public. However, consultation of the public is an
21

Page 21

essential feature of Directive 85/447/EEC. Clearly therefore, where the
assessment required by Article 6 (3) takes the form of an assessment under
Directive 85/337/EEC, public consultation is necessary.
In this context, it is worth mentioning the possible long term implications of
the Aarhus Convention which emphasises the importance of public
consultation in relation to environmental decision making.
Public consultation should be considered in the light of the provisions of
Directive 85/337/EEC and the Aarhus Convention.
2.73 Article 1 of the Aarhus Convention sets out the objective of the Convention:
In order to contribute to the protection of the right of every person of present
and future generations to live in an environment adequate to his or her
health and well-being, each Party shall guarantee the rights of access to
information, public participation in decision-making, and access to justice in
environmental matters in accordance with the provisions of this Convention.
2.74 Article 6 of the Aarhus convention regarding public participation in
environmental decision-making has been implemented in national law
through the EIA Directive and EIA Regulations 2011.
2.75 The County Council considers that the opinion of the general public has been
taken into account and consultation has taken place, the information has
been provided to inform the screening assessment, and the responses
received from the public and from statutory consultees have been considered
and assessed and that, as a result, it is not appropriate or necessary to carry
out further public consultation.

22

Page 22

3.0

PLANNING HISTORY

3.1

The application site forms part of Javelin Park, formerly known as Moreton
Valence airfield. It has a long standing permission for storage and distribution
use, and has a complex planning history as summarised below:

Application
number
S.10827/1/T

S.10827/1/W

S.10827/2/E

S.97/211

S.98/220

S.00/771

S.01/1191

S.02/2178

Description of development
Redevelopment of the site with new buildings for
Class B8 use (warehousing and repositories) and
associated offices. Construction of new access
road onto B4008 (Phase 1).
Outline application for the demolition of existing
distribution warehouses and redevelopment with
new buildings Class B8 use and associated offices.
Construction of new access onto B4008 (Phases 1,
2 and 3).
Outline application for the demolition of existing
distribution warehouses and redevelopment with
new buildings Class B8 use and associated offices.
Construction of new access onto B4008. (Renewal
of Outline Permission S.10827/1/W) (Phases 1, 2
and 3).
Renewal of application S.10827/1/T for
redevelopment of the site and new buildings for
Class B8 uses (warehouses and repositories) and
associated offices. Construction of new access
onto B4008.
Renewal of Outline Permission No. S.10827/2/E
(for demolition of existing distribution warehouses
and redevelopment with new buildings for Class B8
use and associated offices. New access onto
B4008).
Renewal of outline permission S.98/220 for
demolition of existing distribution warehouses and
redevelopment with new buildings for Class B8 use
and associated offices. New access onto B4008.
(Section 73 application to extend time limit).
Outline application for the redevelopment for up to
2
45,151 m of distribution warehouses, (B8),
involving provision of new means of access and
demolition of existing warehouses.
Reserved Matters application for external
appearance, siting, design and landscaping
(pursuant to Outline Permission S.01/1191).

23

Page 23

Decision
/date
10 March 1992

10 March 1992

22 February 1995

2 April 1997

28 April 1998

21 June 2000

21 November 2002

8 April 2003

S.05/2138/VAR

Variation of Condition 2 on S.01/1191 to extend the
prescribed period in which reserved matters must
be submitted. Revised details received 31/1/2006
proposing extension for submission of reserved
matters for a further five years.

S.07/2468/REM

Erection of 2 storage and distribution warehouses
(34,754m2), including landscaping works and
internal access and parking. (Application pursuant
to Outline planning permission S.05/2138)
Erection of 3 storage and distribution warehouses
(34,747m2), including landscaping works and
internal access and parking arrangements
(Application pursuant to Outline planning
permission S.05/2138)
Erection of storage and distribution warehouse
2
(11,188m ), including landscaping works and
internal access and parking. (Application pursuant
to Outline planning permission S.05/2138)
Erection of storage and distribution warehouse
2
(9,916m ), including landscaping works and internal
access and parking arrangements. (Application
pursuant to Outline planning permission S.05/2138)
Erection of storage and distribution warehouse
2
(24,891m ), including landscaping works and
internal access and parking arrangements.
(Application pursuant to Outline planning
permission S.05/2138)
1 non-illuminated advertisement facing north west
site boundary [Advertisement 1] and 1 nonilluminated advertisement adjacent to site entrance
from the B4008 [Advertisement 2]
Discharge of condition 12 of approved application
S.01/1191 - Outline Application for redevelopment
2
for up to 45,151m of distribution warehouses (B8),
involving provision of new means of access, and
demolition of existing warehouses
Discharge on condition 14 of planning permission
S.05/2138/VAR which relates to a temporary car
parking area for site operatives and construction
traffic
Extension of time period for the implementation of
outline permission S.05/2138/VAR for a further
three years
Construction of private estate road and associated
lighting, services and surface water drainage
infrastructure.

S.07/2471/REM

S.07/2472/REM

S.07/2473/REM

S.07/2474/REM

S.08/1083/ADV

S.10/0052/DISC
ON

S.10/0434/DISC
ON

S.10/0590/VAR

S.10/1451/FUL

3.2

27 March 2007
Permission granted by the
Secretary of State following a
Public Inquiry (application
was Called-In due to being a
departure.)
16 April 2008

16 April 2008

18 April 2008

18 April 2008

18 April 2008

26 August 2008

Application Withdrawn
21 July 2010

28 April 2010

Approved 31/3/2010 subject
to S.106 agreement
24 September 2010
Retrospective permission

Outline permission was granted for up to 45,151m2 B8 use in November
2002 (S.01/1191). In 2005 an application was submitted to extend the period
24

Page 24

for submission of reserved matters for a further five years (S.05/2138/VAR).
This application was ‘called in’ for determination by the Secretary of State.
The particular concern was whether a warehouse development would
prejudice the development of the site for a waste management facility as the
Industrial Estate at the Former Moreton Valence Airfield was allocated as a
Preferred Site (Site 4) in the Waste Local Plan. A public inquiry was held in
November and December 2006 and considered the development against
Planning Policy Statement 10 (Planning for Sustainable Waste Management)
(PPS10) and the development plan in force at that time. The Inspector’s view
was that the proposed development did not prevent or prejudice the use of
the site for waste management development, largely because of the
existence of an extant planning permission for warehouse development that
existed at that time. The Inspector also considered the appropriateness of
conditions for any further warehouse planning permission on the site
including limiting the height of the buildings. He considered that such a
condition was necessary and appropriate in view of the negotiations between
the applicant and the LPA. The Inspector’s decision letter makes no
reference to any landscape assessment or detailed assessment of the
landscape impact to the adjacent or wider areas.
3.3

The Inspector’s decision letter included the condition 19 as follows:
‘The buildings hereby permitted shall not exceed 15.7m in height, measured
from existing ground levels’.

3.4

The Secretary of State’s decision letter endorsed the recommendation of the
Inspector and in a decision dated 27th March 2007 granted outline
permission to application S.05/2138/VAR subject to 19 conditions including
the buildings not exceeding 15.7 metres in height.

3.5

Stroud District Council subsequently granted a further permission on 12
August 2011 to extend the time for implementing the outline permission
S.05/2138/VAR for a further three years. The same height condition was
attached with the reason given as ‘In the interests of visual amenity and to
reduce the impact of the buildings on the landscape’.

3.6

There have been five reserved matters applications submitted pursuant to
the outline permission related to configuration and phasing of the
development, these were approved in 2008. These include different
configurations of the B8 use that extends to the application site.

3.7

There is an extant planning permission (S.10/0590/VAR) which relates,
through a number of interim permissions, to the original November 2002
permission. This extends the period for development until 16th April 2013
and allows for 45,151 m2 of B8 buildings on the whole Javelin Park site. The
25

Page 25

case officer review of the application at that time considered that there were
no significant material considerations that had arisen since the original
application was granted and the new planning permission was therefore
granted on the same basis with the identical height restriction condition. The
case officer review lists the planning policies considered including Stroud
District Local Plan Policy EM2 which has a number of tests for large scale B8
storage and distribution uses including ‘that the proposal would not cause
significant harm to the appearance or character of the countryside or the
amenities of local residents’.
3.8

A retrospective application for the estate road was granted planning
permission in 24 September 2010 (S.10/1451/FUL).

26

Page 26

4.0

POLICY CONTEXT

4.1

As required by Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
(September 2004) planning applications should be determined in accordance
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
Planning Authorities must accord the priority to the development plan that
s.38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 confers. In doing
so they must identify the relevant provisions of the development plan and
reach a clear decision as to the extent to which the planning application is in
accordance with the development plan.

4.2

The development plan in this case comprises the adopted Waste Core
Strategy (2012), saved policies of the Waste Local Plan, saved policies of
the Structure Plan, the adopted Stroud District Local Plan, and Regional
Planning Guidance 10 (RPG10): Regional Planning Guidance for the South
West (September 2001). Appendix 3 contains the development plan policies
considered relevant to determining this application.

4.3

Material considerations include national policy as set out in the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Policy Statement 10
(PPS10). The NPPF does not include policy on waste management, which
is included in PPS10 which remains extant. National Policy Statements
(NPSs) are also material considerations and in this case the NPSs of
relevance are EN1 - Overarching NPS for Energy, and EN3 Renewable
Energy Infrastructure. In addition, the National Waste Strategy and
associated EU Directives from which many of the waste related policy
commitments flow are also relevant.

4.4

The NPPF advises that plan policies should not be considered out of date
simply because they were adopted prior to the publication of the NPPF
(paragraph 211). The NPPF was published on 27th March 2012. Paragraph
214 advises that for 12 months from the day of publication, decision-takers
may continue to give full weight to relevant policies adopted since 2004 even
if there is a limited degree of conflict with the NPPF. Paragraph 215 advises
that in other cases, and following this 12 month period, due weight should be
given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of
consistency with the Framework – the closer the policies in the plan to the
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given. The
weight to be given to different policies is considered in the Discussion in
Section 7 of this report.

4.5

The Discussion section of this report (Section 7) considers whether the
proposed development is in accordance with the development plan and other
identified material considerations.
27

Page 27

Waste Core Strategy
4.6

The Waste Core Strategy (WCS) was adopted by Gloucestershire County
Council on 21 November 2012. It therefore provides the most up-to-date
policy context against which the application should be considered. The WCS
explains how the County Council (as WPA) and its partners will address the
issue of planning for waste management in Gloucestershire in the period
2012 to 2027.

4.7

The policies of most relevance are summarised below:
x

x

x

x

x
x

Policy WCS6 – Other Recovery (including energy recovery) sets out the
amount of residual waste recovery capacity required to divert waste from
landfill up to 2027 comprising up to 145,000 tonnes per annum of
Municipal Solid Waste, and up to 73,000 tonnes per annum of
commercial and industrial waste. The policy identifies five sites as being
suitable for strategic residual recovery facilities (Appendix 2 of this
report, Figure 8) defined as having capacity over 50,000 tonnes per
annum, where planning permission will be granted, subject to meeting
criteria set out in the policy and in Appendix 5 to the WCS, and that
proposals for waste recovery are for Gloucestershire’s waste needs
alone unless managing waste arising outside of the County at that facility
is demonstrated to be the most sustainable option for that waste. The
application site at Javelin Park is one of the site allocations (Site number
4 – Appendix 2 of this report, Figure 9.
Policy WCS1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
reflects the NPPF and states that applications that accord with the
policies of the WCS will be approved without delay unless material
considerations dictate otherwise.
Policy WCS2 – Waste Reduction requires major development to be
supported by a statement of how waste arising will be minimised and
managed in an environmentally acceptable manner.
Policy WCS3 – Recycling and Composting sets a target for at least 60%
of household waste to be recycled or composted by 2020 along with
diversion of an additional 91,000-111,000 tonnes per year of C&I waste
from landfill.
Policy WCS4 – Inert Waste Recycling and Recovery aims to divert
85,000 tonnes per year of inert waste from landfill.
Policy WCS10 – Cumulative Impact requires the effects of previous and
existing waste management facilities on local communities to be
considered. Cumulative effect includes that on environmental quality,
social cohesion and inclusion, and economic potential.
28

Page 28

x

x

x

x

x

Policy WCS12 – Flood Risk sets out a presumption that all waste
development will be in areas of low flood risk (Flood Zone 1) unless no
other suitable sites are available. A Flood Risk Assessment is required
for all development of 1ha or more which should consider all sources of
current and potential flood risk. Developments should be designed to
take account of flood risk both on and off site, including use of
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS).
Core Policy WCS13 – Green Belt sets out presumption against
proposals for waste management that amount to inappropriate
development within the Gloucester – Cheltenham Green Belt except
where it can be demonstrated that there are ‘very special circumstances’
where the totality of the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm can
be clearly outweighed by other considerations.
Policy WCS14 – Landscape provides for developments that do not have
a significant adverse effect on local landscape (as identified in the
Landscape Character Assessment), or where the effects can be
mitigated, to be permitted. For developments judged to have a significant
adverse effect that cannot be fully mitigated, the social, environmental
and economic benefits of the proposal must outweigh any harm arising
from the impacts for the development to be permitted. Proposals within
or affecting the setting of the Cotswolds AONB will only be permitted
where there is a lack of alternative sites not affecting the AONB to serve
the market need, the impact on the special qualities of the AONB can be
satisfactorily mitigated, and the proposal complies with other
development plan policies.
Policy WCS15 – Nature Conservation (Biodiversity & Geodiversity)
provides for development to be permitted only where it would not conflict
with conservation of nationally important and designated sites (Sites of
Special Scientific Interest and National Nature Reserves), impacts can
be mitigated, the benefits of development outweighs the impacts on the
key features of the site, the proposal complies with other relevant
policies of the development plan; and for a SSSI there would be no
broader impact on the national network of SSSIs. Similar protection is
also afforded to local nature conservation designations. It requires
assessment of the impact of proposals on the natural environment, and
encourages contribution to conservation targets and incorporation of
beneficial features into design.
Policy WCS16 – Historic Environment provides for development that
would have a significant adverse impact on the integrity, character and
setting of heritage assets to be permitted only where the benefits clearly
outweigh the impacts on the key features of the site, or adequate
mitigation can be achieved, and the proposal complies with other policies
of the development plan. It introduces a presumption in favour of the
29

Page 29

x

x

conservation of designated heritage assets and heritage assets with
archaeological interest of equivalent significance.
Policy WCS17 – Design requires waste related developments to achieve
a high standard of design, with Design and Access Statements detailing
how the proposal reflects and responds to its environment and
surroundings, its durability, adaptability and sustainability including use
of SuDS to reduce water run-off, efficient use of site, and high quality
architecture and landscaping.
Policy WCS19 – Sustainable Transport promotes use of alternative
transport modes (to road) including rail and water subject to the
compliance with other development plan policies and the contribution to
a sustainable waste management system in Gloucestershire. For certain
development a Transport Assessment and Travel Plan is required.
Development that would have an adverse impact on the highway
network which cannot be mitigated will not be permitted.

Waste Local Plan
4.8

The WCS replaced many of the policies of the Adopted Waste Local Plan
2002-2012 (adopted 2004). However some of the saved policies remain in
force and form part of the development plan. Those of relevance are
summarised below:
x Policy 25 - Conservation Outside Designated Sites provides for
development to be permitted only where adverse impacts on features of
major importance for wild flora and fauna, natural and cultural heritage
can be prevented or mitigated.
x Policy 33 - Water Resources – Pollution Control provides for waste
development to be permitted only where there would be no unacceptable
risk of contamination to surface watercourses, bodies of water or
groundwater resources.
x Policy 37 – Proximity To Other Land Uses requires consideration of the
effect on the environment, amenity and health, the countryside and
landscape character of Gloucestershire, the local highway network, any
hazardous installation or substance and any adverse cumulative effect in
combination with other development in the area. Where appropriate,
measures to mitigate, attenuate and control noise, dust, litter, odour,
landfill gas, vermin, leachate and air emissions will be required.
x Policy 38 - Hours of Operation provides where appropriate for the WPA
to impose a condition restricting hours of operation on waste
management facilities to protect amenity.
x Policy 41 – Public Rights Of Way requires proposals to safeguard
existing public rights of way and where appropriate create and maintain
new ones.
30

Page 30

x

Policy 45 – Planning Obligations provides for the use of planning
obligations to mitigate a wide range of potential impacts of waste and
waste development including highways and traffic, landscape and wildlife
protection, amenity, environmental protection, awareness raising, and
provision of community facilities and open space.

Structure Plan
4.9

The saved policies of the adopted Gloucestershire Structure Plan Second
Review 1991-2011 (adopted 1999) form part of the development plan. Most
of the policies are not specific to waste related development. As the
Structure Plan was adopted in 1999 paragraph 215 of the NPPF applies and
the weight to be given to these should accord with their degree of
consistency with the NPPF. The policies of relevance are summarised
below:
x

x

x
x
x

x

x

x

Policy S.1 provides for the bulk of new development to be within and
adjacent to the larger towns at scales and locations that meet criteria
including conserving natural resources of minerals, best and most
versatile agricultural land, biodiversity and high quality landscape
Policy S.3 prioritises development within built-up areas, and recognises
that development on previously developed land in rural areas may be
intrusive in the countryside
Policy S.4 aims to ensure development in rural settlements is limited in
scale, and that development in the open countryside is strictly controlled.
Policy S.5 requires the adequacy of infrastructure to be taken into
account in determining the type, scale and location of development
Policy S.6 requires local character and distinctiveness, including
landscape, archaeology, historic environment, wildlife and the water
environment to be safeguarded and enhanced
Policy S.7 requires protection and enhancement of the environment
through design, traffic management and retention and provision of open
space
Policy E.4 requires commercial and industrial development within and
adjacent to villages to be appropriate in scale and well integrated with
settlements, local employment needs, and to local services and
infrastructure, especially public transport. It seeks to strictly control
commercial and industrial development in the open countryside limiting it
to small scale sensitive enterprises which are essential to agriculture or
forestry or other rural industries.
Policy T.1 requires new development to be located to minimise the
length and number of motorised journeys

31

Page 31

x

x
x
x

x

x

x

x
x
x
x

x

Policy T.2 promotes walking, safe pedestrian access and provision for
the needs of people with impaired mobility will be fully taken into
account.
Policy T.3 promotes cycling and safe convenient cycling routes
Policy T.11 encourages HGVs to use appropriate routes
Policy M.2 promotes the greater use of secondary, waste and recycled
materials as alternative to primary aggregates where environmentally
acceptable.
Policy WM.1 requires waste management facilities to operate on the
basis that waste will be treated and/or disposed of by employing the best
practicable environmental option (BPEO) for management of a particular
waste stream.
Policy WM.2 requires that primary waste management facilities should
be located near to major concentrations of waste arisings, principally
Cheltenham/Gloucester Urban area, the Forest of Dean and the
Stroud/Cirencester areas. Secondary facilities should be appropriately
located in other parts of the County. It sets out considerations to apply
including contribution to integrated waste management and plan
requirements, transport method, amenity, and impact on landscapes,
biodiversity, archaeology, agricultural land and water
Policy WM.3 provides for contributing to regional self sufficiency in waste
management capacity encouraging development primarily managing
Gloucestershire’s waste to be permitted in suitable locations
Policy WM.5 provides for energy from waste facilities in or near to the
Gloucester/Cheltenham area.
Policy WM.6 provides for disposal of Gloucestershire’s post–treatment
un-recovered waste residues in appropriate locations.
Policy EN.2 provides support for combined heat and power and district
heating
Policy EN.3 provides for renewable energy developments to be permitted
where they would not adversely affect the special character of the Areas
of Outstanding Natural Beauty or sites of nature conservation or heritage
conservation interest; and not cause demonstrable harm to landscape,
nature conservation, heritage, amenity, and would not dominate the
skyline and result in an unacceptable level of visual impact. In addition
the cumulative impact of existing, planned or proposed renewable
energy developments should be considered together with need and
mitigation of effects
Policy NHE.1 provides for protection of the countryside from harmful
development unless the social and economic needs of the area or wider
environmental objectives outweigh such harm.

32

Page 32

x

x
x

x

x

x
x

x
x

Policy NHE.2 requires development to protect and enhance biodiversity,
and provides for protection of internationally and nationally important and
designated wildlife sites.
Policy NHE.3 provides for protection of the best and most versatile
agricultural land.
Policy NHE.4 gives priority to the conservation and enhancement of the
Cotswolds AONB and restricts development within AONBs unless it is in
the national interest and there are no alternatives
Policy NHE.5 restricts development that would detract from the particular
landscape qualities and character of Special Landscape Areas including
between Gloucester urban area and the Cotswolds, including
Robinswood Hill
Policy NHE.6 provides for protection of the historic environment including
Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas,
and their settings, historic settlements and landscape, historic parks and
gardens, and sites of archaeological importance.
Policy NHE.7 provides specific protection to the Severn Estuary.
Policy W.1 provides for protection to water resources and provides for
development only where adequate water resources exist and it would not
lead to an unacceptable reduction in the quantity of surface and
groundwater and pose unacceptable risks to future supplies, amenity
nature conservation and fisheries.
Policy F.1 restricts development in areas of where it would be at risk of
flooding or increase the risk elsewhere
Policy P.1 provides for development only where it does not have an
unacceptable effect in terms of air, noise or light pollution; the quality of
surface or ground water; or contamination of the land or soil.

Stroud District Local Plan
4.10 The Local Plan was adopted in 2005 and so paragraph 214 of the NPPF is
relevant. It is not the purpose of the plan to cover policies for the
determination of waste proposals. However, policies of relevance are
summarised below:
x Policy GE1 restricts development that would be likely to lead to an
unacceptable level of noise, general disturbance, smell, fumes, loss of
daylight or sunlight, loss of privacy or have an 'overbearing effect'.
x Policy GE2 restricts development that is likely to create unacceptable
atmospheric or environmental pollution to water, land or air.
x Policy GE5 restricts development that would be likely to be detrimental to
the highway safety of any user of any highway or public right of way.
x Policy GE7 requires consideration of the adequacy of infrastructure to
support development
33

Page 33

x
x

x

x

x
x
x
x

x

x
x

x

Policy BE12 provides for development that affects the setting of a listed
building only where it preserves the setting of the affected listed building.
Policy BE14 restricts development that detrimentally affects
archaeological remains of other than national significance unless the
importance of the development outweighs the value of the remains.
POLICY NE3 restricts development that would adversely affect a Key
Wildlife Site, Local Nature Reserve or Regionally Important Geological or
Geomorphological Site unless the benefits of the development outweigh
the interest of the site.
Policy NE4 restricts development that would adversely affect a site
supporting legally protected species or its habitat unless safeguarding
measures can be provided through conditions or planning obligations to
secure their protection, and encourages development to contribute to
Gloucestershire Biodiversity Action Plan targets.
Policy NE5 seeks to protect and enhance wildlife corridors
Policy NE6 seeks to protect and enhance important landscape features
Policy NE7 seeks to protect nature conservation interest of watercourses
Policy NE8 restricts development within, or affecting the setting of the
AONB unless criteria are met including; the nature, siting and scale are
sympathetic to the landscape; the design and materials complements the
character of the area; important landscape features and trees are
retained; and appropriate landscaping measures are undertaken. Major
development will not be permitted unless it is demonstrated to be in the
national interest and there is a lack of alternative sites.
Policy NE10 requires development to conserve or enhance the special
features and diversity of the different landscape character types
identified in the Stroud District Landscape Assessment. It prioritises
protection of the quality and diversity of the landscape character, with
development only permitted where natural features and water features
that contribute to the landscape setting are retained and managed; there
is no unacceptable impact on long distance views; and the benefits of the
development outweigh any harmful effects on the landscape.
Policy NE13 provides for development only where high quality
landscaping appropriate to the area is proposed.
Policy TR1 provides for development to be permitted where use of
sustainable transport, the need for highway improvements, and provision
of parking is adequately dealt with.
Policy TR2 provides for development which makes provision for safe
convenient and attractive access for pedestrians taking into account the
needs of disabled people.

34

Page 34

Regional Policy
4.11 Regional planning policy is set out in RPG10. RPG10 includes targets for
waste recovery to 2015 with further landfill reduction targets included to 2020
that mirror those included in the EU Landfill Directive. Whilst RPG10 forms
part of the development plan for the area, it is considered that little weight
should be given to its policies regarding waste management requirements as
they are substantially out-of-date and do not reflect subsequent updates to
national planning policy and changes regarding the management of waste
including projections of waste arising and policy approaches. Furthermore,
the Government is in the process of revoking all Regional Spatial Strategies
including RPG10.
4.12 Notwithstanding this, policies of relevance are summarised below:
x Policy EN1 Landscape and Biodiversity provides for strong protection of
internationally and nationally important landscape areas and wildlife
sites, encouraging maintenance and enhancement of biodiversity.
Regard is to be had to significant landscape joint character areas with an
aim to conserve and enhance local character
x Policy EN2 Air Quality advises local authorities to ensure that air quality
considerations are properly considered along with other material
considerations in the planning process
x Policy EN3 Historic Environment advises local authorities and other
agencies to afford the highest level of protection to historic and
archaeological areas, sites and monuments of international, national and
regional importance, and indicate that new development should preserve
or enhance historic buildings and conservation areas and important
archaeological features and their settings
x Policy RE2 Flood Risk requires protection of land liable to river and
coastal flooding by directing away from floodplains, and promotes
sustainable drainage systems for surface water drainage.
x Policy RE5 Management and Transportation of Waste encourages
establishment of a mix of waste recovery methods regionally and subregionally that reduce reliance on landfill and avoid creating over-reliance
on any one method or facility. This is to assist in delivery of regional
targets for recovery and reduction in landfill. The policy also advises that
authorities give priority to the provision of waste management facilities
that will recover value from waste at or near the Principal Urban Areas
(PUAs).
x Policy RE 6 Energy Generation and Use advises local authorities (along
with other agencies) to help meet national targets for reducing
greenhouse gas emissions; promoting renewable electricity production
and use of renewable energy sources, including Combined Heat and
35

Page 35

Power; and have regard to the recommendations and detailed
background information contained in the regional assessment and target
setting report
4.13 The South West Regional Waste Strategy ‘From Rubbish to Resource’
(2004) includes an aim to ensure that less than 20% of waste is sent to
landfill by 2020. This does not form part of the development plan but did
inform the 2008 Proposed Changes to the un-adopted South West Regional
Strategy which in turn informed the WCS. The South West Regional Strategy
is therefore a material consideration.
4.14 The Regional Spatial Strategy for the South West was never adopted. It
reached the stage of Secretary of State’s Proposed Changes (July 2008) and
some of the background evidence was used to inform the Gloucestershire
WCS. However, given its status little weight should be accorded to the draft
policies contained therein.
4.15 Notwithstanding the caveat above, the policies that may be of some
relevance as context as regards waste management and renewable energy
include:
x

x

x

x

x

W1 Provision of Waste Sites identifies a need for MSW secondary
treatment (including residual recovery) capacity in Gloucestershire of
120,000 tonnes by 2013 and 200,000 tonnes by 2020; and 170190,000 tonnes C&I recovery capacity by 2013 and 260-290,000
tonnes by 2020 to meet landfill diversion targets.
W2 Waste Facilities and the Waste Hierarchy requires waste facilities to
be located close to where waste arises and for strategic facilities to be
in or close to main urban areas. Sites should have industrial use or be
previously developed, have scope for co-location of activities and for off
take of heat.
SD1 –The Ecological Footprint promotes wise use of natural resources,
a low carbon economy, and meeting national and regional targets for
renewable energy generation and waste production/recycling
SD2 – Climate Change seeks to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in
line with national targets, avoiding development in areas of flood risk
and building in resilience
SD3 – The Environment and Natural Resources seeks to protect the
environment and natural resources through ensuring development
respects the landscape and local character, environmental impact of
development is reduced, design reduces pollution and contamination
and maintains tranquillity, and helps deliver biodiversity targets

36

Page 36

x
x

x
x
x
x
x
x

x
x
x

RTS4 - Freight and the Primary Route Network promotes use by HGVs
of the primary route network
ENV1 Protecting and Enhancing the Region’s Natural and Historic
Environment seeks to avoid loss of, or damage to, important natural
and heritage assets especially sites of international or national
landscape, nature conservation, geological, archaeological or historic
importance. It sets out requirements for protection of Natura 2000
sites.
ENV3 Nature Conservation encourages enhancement and habitat
creation to meet targets.
ENV5 Historic Environment seeks to preserve and enhance the historic
environment.
F1 Flood Risk directs development to avoid areas of high flood risk and
development design to reduce risk.
RE1 Renewable Energy sets Gloucestershire a target of 50MWe
installed capacity by 2010.
RE3 Renewable Heat Targets proposed for the region.
RE4 Meeting the Targets Through Development of New Resources
requires planning authorities to consider impacts of development and
the need for development in protected areas to avoid compromising the
objectives of the designation.
RE6 Water Resources includes protecting groundwater from
contamination.
RE9 Air Quality requires planning authorities to consider impacts of
development and mitigation.
RE12 Recycled and Secondary Aggregates expects that provision will
need to be made for 121 m tonnes of secondary and recycled
aggregates to be utilised over the plan period to 2016 and 75.6 Mt
between 2016 and 2026.

National Policy
4.16 The ‘National Waste Strategy for England’ (2007) promotes a move away
from management of waste by landfill to more sustainable methods including
the recovery of waste utilising energy from waste. The strategy includes
targets for recycling & composting household waste (50% by 2020) and the
recovery of municipal waste (75% by 2020). Recovery includes recycling,
composting and other methods of extracting value from waste including its
use as a fuel. The Strategy also includes an objective to “secure better
integration of treatment for municipal and non-municipal waste”. Amongst
other things, the Government Review of Waste Policy in England (2011)
reiterates the need to divert waste from landfill and the role that energy from
waste can play in achieving this.
37

Page 37

4.17 Planning Policy Statement 10: Planning for Sustainable Waste Management
(PPS 10) provides national policy guidance for waste planning. It includes
key planning objectives for planning authorities to follow when delivering
planning strategies; the most relevant to the need for the development of
capacity for the recovery of residual waste are set out in paragraph 3 of the
PPS as follows:
x help deliver sustainable development through driving waste management
up the waste hierarchy, addressing waste as a resource and looking to
disposal as the last option, but one which must be adequately catered
for;
x provide a framework in which communities take more responsibility for
their own waste, and enable sufficient and timely provision of waste
management facilities to meet the needs of their communities;
x help implement the national waste strategy, and supporting targets, are
consistent with obligations required under European legislation and
support and complement other guidance and legal controls.
4.18

While much of PPS10 concerns plan making, paragraph 5 advises Waste
Planning Authorities to adhere to the following principles in determining
planning applications:
x controls under the planning and pollution control regimes should
complement rather than duplicate each other and conflicting conditions
should be avoided;
x work effectively with pollution control authorities to ensure the best use is
made of expertise and information, and that decisions on planning
applications and pollution control permits are delivered expeditiously.

4.19

Paragraph 22 specifically advises that when proposals are consistent with an
up-to-date development plan, waste planning authorities should not require
applicants for new or enhanced waste management facilities to demonstrate
a quantitative or market need for a proposal.

4.20

It also advises that planning authorities should consider the likely impact of
facilities on the local environment and on amenity (the issues are set out in
Annex E).

4.21

PPS10 (Annex E) identifies the following locational criteria to be considered
in testing the suitability of sites (generally in planning policy rather than
determining applications):
x
protection of water resources
x
land instability
x
visual intrusion
38

Page 38

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

nature conservation
historic environment and built heritage
traffic and access
air emissions, including dust
odours
vermin and birds
noise and vibration
litter
potential land use conflict

National Planning Policy Framework
4.22 The NPPF is a material consideration in planning decisions. This
supersedes all Planning Policy Statements (PPS) and Planning Policy
Guidance Notes (PPGs) with the exception of PPS10. PPS10 remains in
place until a National Waste Management Plan is published. However, the
NPPF provides national planning policy for a wide range of issues of
relevance to the application. It sets out a presumption in favour of
sustainable development which means, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise, proposals that accord with the development plan should
be approved without delay, and where the development plan is absent, silent
or relevant policies are out-of-date, planning permission should be granted
unless:
x Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this
Framework taken as a whole; or
x Specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be
restricted. (paragraph 14)
4.23

This national policy imperative is reflected in Policy WCS1 of the adopted
WCS.

4.24

In terms of defining sustainable development, the NPPF states that ‘The
policies in paragraphs 18 to 219, taken as a whole, constitute the
Government’s view of what sustainable development in England means in
practice for the planning system’ (paragraph 6). It reaffirms that there are
three dimensions to sustainable development (economic, social and
environmental) and the need for the planning system to perform a number of
roles in relation to these including:
x Economic, including provision of infrastructure
x Social, including supporting healthy communities, creating a high quality
built environment, and providing local services that reflect the
community’s needs
39

Page 39

x

4.25

Environmental, including protecting and enhancing the natural, built and
historic environment, improving biodiversity, using natural resources
efficiently, minimising waste and mitigating and adapting to climate
change including through a low carbon economy.

The NPPF goes on to provide more detailed policy for a range of issues of
relevance to the application, including the economy, transport, design,
climate change and flood risk, conservation of the natural and historic
environments, and sustainable use of minerals. These are expanded upon
where relevant elsewhere in this report.
National Policy Statements

4.26

The National Policy Statements on Energy are material considerations for
planning authorities, although their primary purpose is to provide policy
against which applications for major energy production infrastructure above a
certain size threshold (50 Megawatts) are to be determined by the Major
Infrastructure Unit (previously by the former Infrastructure Planning
Commission). Of particular relevance to this application is the Overarching
National Policy Statement for Energy (EN-1) and the National Policy
Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-3).

4.27 EN-1 sets out national policy for certain energy infrastructure. It has effect,
in combination with the relevant technology-specific NPS, on applications for
energy developments that fall within the scope of the NPSs. EN-1 states in
relation to Energy from Waste that while a prime purpose is to reduce the
amount of waste going to landfill it also recognises the importance of the
contribution that EfW power generation can make to the security of UK
electricity supplies with the increase in renewable electricity supplies from
other sources that may be intermittent.
4.28 EN-1 provides advice on generic impacts and how these should be
considered. Of particular relevance to this application is its advice on
developments outside nationally designated areas which might affect them
(paragraphs 5.9.12-13 of EN-1). It advises that the aim should be to avoid
compromising the purposes of designation, with projects designed
sensitively given the various siting, operational, and other relevant
constraints. However, it also states that the fact that a proposed project will
be visible from within a designated area should not in itself be a reason for
refusing permission.
4.29 EN-3 states that the recovery of energy from the combustion of waste, where
in accordance with the waste hierarchy, will play an increasingly important
role in meeting the UK’s energy needs. Where the waste burned is deemed
40

Page 40

renewable, this can also contribute to meeting the UK’s renewable energy
targets (paragraph 2.5.2). While it confirms that a proportion of the
biodegradable waste may be classed as “renewable” for the purposes of
Renewable Obligation Certificates (ROCs) eligibility it asserts this is not
relevant to determination of applications to which it relates (paragraph
2.5.10).
4.30 The importance that the Government attaches to Combined Heat and Power
(CHP) is reaffirmed where if an application does not demonstrate that CHP
has been considered, EN-3 (paragraph 2.5.27) advises that the IPC (now the
Major Infrastructure Unit) should seek further information from the applicant.
It advises that permission should not be given unless the applicant has
provided appropriate evidence that CHP is included or that the opportunities
for CHP have been fully explored. For non-CHP stations, developers may be
required to ensure that their stations are configured to allow heat supply at a
later date (with reference to previous government guidance on CHP).
4.31 EN-3 also advises on locational matters including development in nationally
designated areas such as AONBs, advising that development should only be
permitted if the objectives of designation of the area will not be compromised
by the development, and any significant adverse effects on the qualities for
which the area has been designated are clearly outweighed by the
environmental, social and economic benefits. This also applies when
considering applications for projects outside the boundaries of these areas
which may have impacts within them. The aim is to avoid compromising the
purposes of designation and such projects are to be designed sensitively
given the various siting, operational, and other relevant constraints. In para
5.9.13 it states that the fact that a proposed project may be visible from
within a designated area should not in itself be a reason for refusing
permission.

41

Page 41

National Infrastructure Plan
4.32 The National Infrastructure Plan sets out the Government’s strategy for
waste management to improve performance across the waste hierarchy,
from reducing material use all the way to minimising disposal without
recovery of value from waste. It identifies that this will require appropriate
behaviour change, delivery of infrastructure, and improvements in efficiency
and service quality. Actions to deliver the strategy include delivering the
necessary infrastructure to meet the requirements of the EU Waste
Framework Directive and improve the UK’s overall record on waste.
4.33 For energy, the ambitions include ensuring security of supply and reducing
the carbon intensity of the electricity system, with specific support for
renewable energy technologies (including biomass) and heat
networks/district heating.
European Waste Law and Policy
4.34 The Landfill Directive (Council Directive 1999/31/EC on the landfill of waste)
seeks to reduce the amount of biodegradable municipal waste going to
landfill and the associated emission of greenhouse gases, principally
methane. The Directive includes targets which were implemented in the UK
through the Waste and Emissions Trading Act. The Act aims to reduce
Biodegradable MSW sent to landfill to 35% of 1995 levels by 2020. It should
be noted that for the purposes of this Act MSW extends beyond waste that is
collected by local authorities and includes waste of a similar composition
generated by commercial sources.
4.35 The Waste Framework Directive (WFD) (Directive 2008/98/EC) seeks to
ensure principles of recovering value from waste with disposal as a last
resort are implemented across Member States. Sections of the WFD are
relevant to the provision of capacity for the recovery of value from waste in
the manner proposed. The Directive lays down fundamental waste
management principles: it sets out the waste hierarchy to be followed as “a
priority order in waste prevention and management” (article 4) which places
re-use then recycling in priority to other forms of waste recovery (e.g. energy
recovery) which itself takes priority over the lowest position in the hierarchy,
which is disposal (see below). It also requires that waste be managed
without endangering human health and harming the environment, and in
particular, without risk to water, air , soil plants or animals, without causing a
nuisance through noise or odours and without adversely affecting the
countryside or places of special interest (Article 13). Article 10 (1) states that

42

Page 42

“Member States shall take the necessary measures to ensure that waste
undergoes recovery operations”.
4.36 In addition the WFD seeks to ensure principles of self- sufficiency and
proximity are implemented across Member States. Article 16 requires
Member States to take appropriate measures to establish an integrated and
adequate network of waste disposal installations and of installations for the
recovery of mixed municipal waste collected from private households,
including where such collection also covers waste from other producers,
taking into account best available techniques. The network of sites shall
enable waste to be disposed of or to be recovered in one of the nearest
appropriate installations, by means of the most appropriate methods and
technologies, in order to ensure a high level of protection for the environment
and public health. While it does not necessarily require each authority to
make its own provision it is intended to encourage the development of an
adequate network with a range of facilities available to serve an area.
4.37 The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 transpose the WFD into
national law. The Regulations require all bodies involved in the production or
management of waste to take all such measures available to it as are
reasonable in the circumstances to apply the following waste hierarchy as a
priority order:
a)
prevention;
b)
preparing for re-use;
c)
recycling;
d)
other recovery (for example energy recovery);
e)
disposal.
4.38 Regulation 18 of the 2011 Regulations require the WPA when exercising its
planning functions to the extent that those functions relate to waste
management n(as here) to have regard to the duty in Article 13 of the WFD
i.e. that waste should be managed without endangering human health and
harming the environment, and in particular, without risk to water, air soil
plants or animals, without causing a nuisance through noise or odours and
without adversely affecting the countryside or places of special interest
4.39 The priority order may be departed from so as to achieve the best overall
environmental outcome where this is justified by life-cycle thinking on the
overall impacts of the generation and management of the waste. It specifies
the elements to be taken into account when considering the overall impacts
as:
a) the general environmental protection principles of precaution and
sustainability;
b)
technical feasibility and economic viability;
43

Page 43

c)
d)

protection of resources;
the overall environmental, human health, economic and social
impacts.

4.40 The EU Waste Incineration Directive (WID) specifies emission limits for
certain substances released to air as a result of burning waste material.
4.41 Since the WID was adopted the Integrated Pollution Prevention & Control
Directive (IPPC) has been introduced. This is currently implemented in
national law by the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010 (as
amended). The aim of the IPPC Directive is to prevent, reduce and eliminate
pollution by managing the activities of significant sites through issue of a
permit to operate. The permit regulates:
x
raw material and energy use
x
how the site operates and the technology used
x
emissions to air, water and land
x
how any waste produced is managed to meet the hierarchy
x
accident prevention
4.42 The activities at an installation are expected to be operated using “Best
Available Techniques”.
4.43 With the adoption of the IPPC Directive and the creation of the
Environmental Permitting regime administered by the Environment Agency,
compliance with the WID emission limits is considered as part of the
Environmental Permit application as a whole.
4.44 The Industrial Emissions Directive (IED) has been adopted to provide a
single coherent legislative regime and in the process replace seven existing
Directives that are currently implemented through the Environmental
Permitting Regulations (EPR). This includes the IPPC Directive and the
Waste Incineration Directive. It is in the process of being transposed into
national law and the Environment Agency has been guided by its
requirements in its arrival at its 'minded to' decision on the site
Environmental Permit.

44

Page 44

Other European Legislation and Policy
4.45 Other European legislation of particular relevance includes the Habitats
Directive (Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural
habitats and of wild fauna and flora). The Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2010 or ‘Habitats Regulations’ implement in national
law the Habitats Directive. Regulation 61 of the Habitats Regulations set out
the procedures to be followed when considering any developments that
might affect a European Site comprising Special Areas of Conservation
(SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs). As a matter of policy, the
Government has also chosen to apply the procedures described below,
unless otherwise specified, in respect of wetlands of international importance
(Ramsar sites). Competent authorities including planning authorities and the
Environment Agency are required to undertake an Appropriate Assessment
of a plan or project that is likely to have a significant effect upon a European
Site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects.
4.46

The first step in a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is to
ascertain whether the proposed plan or project would be likely to have a
significant effect on European Sites, through a screening exercise (Stage
One). If it cannot be demonstrated that there will not be a significant effect,
applying a precautionary approach, then an Appropriate Assessment of the
implications of the development for a site must be undertaken (Stage Two). If
an appropriate assessment is carried out then consent for a project can only
be granted if it concludes that it will not adversely affect the integrity of the
European site. This can be of particular relevance as development may
affect sites some distance away, including through dispersal and deposition
of emitted substances.

45

Page 45

Applicant’s Assessment of Conformity with Policy
4.47

The applicant’s own appraisal (undertaken prior to the publication of
the NPPF) of whether the proposal would aid, be neutral to or hinder delivery
of policies concludes that the only areas where the development may not be
entirely in accord with policies are visual impact. Here the applicant
identifies ‘material tension’ with Policy EN.3 of the Structure Plan; and minor
impact on the setting of heritage assets (Grade 2 and 2* buildings) and
therefore a potential level of conflict with Saved Policy 28 of the
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (now replaced by WCS Policy WCS16)
and Policy BE12 of the Stroud Local Plan.

4.48

With reference to the ES, the applicant assesses that significant
adverse visual impacts would only occur on three viewpoints close to the
proposal site, and asserts that such effects are considered to be localised
and only impact on a small number of properties. It contends that the
proposed development has been designed to reflect policy requirements,
and mitigation has been proposed to reduce the visual impact. The applicant
assesses visual impact as not being unacceptable in terms of the visual
amenity of local receptors and would not result in adverse cumulative visual
effects. The applicant asserts that the proposal must be considered against
the development plan as a whole, with which it is generally in accord.

4.49

With regard to the effects on the settings of heritage assets, the
applicant argues that these would not be significant, and the benefits of the
proposal in terms of mitigating climate change (carbon emissions savings)
should be weighed against any harm to the significance of the heritage
assets.

4.50

Overall the applicant concludes that the public benefits of the
proposal, in terms of provision of required waste management capacity,
energy generation including part that is renewable, employment creation,
and the provision of a visitor and education facility are of County and regional
significance, and therefore outweigh the local adverse effects identified.

4.51

Subsequent to the submission of the application and supporting
evidence, following a request from the WPA as part of the Regulation 22
process the applicant also prepared an assessment of the proposal for
conformity against the NPPF. This concludes that overall the introduction of
the NPPF does not materially alter the conclusions contained within the
original Planning Statement, but rather strengthens the case in favour of
approving the application.

46

Page 46

5.0

REPRESENTATIONS

5.1

As at 11th March 2013 4,355 public representations have been received.
These have been logged and lodged on the County Council website. The key
issues raised and reasons detailed for objection by the public contributors
are:

5.2

Visual and Landscape Impact
x The inappropriate nature and scale of building in close proximity to a
nationally designated area would result in damage and unacceptable
landscape and visual impact, particularly as it would be highly visible
from the AONB, Cotswold Escarpment and Cotswold Way and would
cause demonstrable harm;
x There is insufficient landscape mitigation;
x There would be an adverse impact on views from the Cotswolds AONB
and Cotswold way.
x It would have an unacceptable visual impact, and be contrary to existing
planning restrictions (15.7 metre height limit imposed in relation to Stroud
District Council Planning Permission S.01/1191).

5.3

Design
x The proposed design, including the size, scale and layout of the building
and the materials proposed, are totally out of keeping with the character
with its surrounding environment, to the detriment of the AONB‘s setting,
and other development in the area;

5.4

Amenity and Local Environment
x Inadequate control and adverse impact on amenity (noise, traffic, light,
odour, views) and on neighbouring properties and nearby users (40
residential properties within 1km) especially given 24/7 operation;
x The proximity to sensitive residential development;
x Lack of social mitigation in the form of planning gain for the residents and
users in proximity to the operation;
x Noise impacts - the current British Standard BS4142 dictates that the
planning application should not have an effect of more than 5db above
the lowest LA90 noise indices although this application works to 3db
above the lowest reading which is set as 41db. The noise survey is from
2010 and is not relevant to the current noise levels; The survey should
include supporting meteorological information; The applicant has not
been able to demonstrate that this British Standard can be achieved so
the application should be rejected. Need sufficient time to decipher the
information or to run a new study.

47

Page 47

5.5

Health
x

x
x
x

x
x
x
x

Concerns over impacts on physical and mental health, and effect of toxic
emissions (dioxins, cadmium and other heavy metals, and particulates
PM10 and PM2.5) in particular for children and the elderly;
Concerns over EU and safe legal limits for PM2.5 and ability for upgrading
of the facility should standards tighten
Concerns that emissions and ash have the potential to infiltrate and
pollute the water table;
Concern that the proposal should not be considered before the formal
findings of the Health Protection Agency (HPA) report into effects of
incinerators on ‘birth outcomes’ and risks to public health is completed;
Concerns over ingestion of cadmium in children over recommended
thresholds, as 20,477 children attending educational facilities within 5km;
Insufficient information on the emissions and their effect on respiratory
systems and respiratory disease;
Effects on the food chain around the facility
Concerns as Gloucester City is directly downwind from Javelin Park.

5.6

Ecology
x Concerns over negative environmental impacts on nearby protected
sites. This site is about 7km from the Cotswold Beechwoods Special
Area of Conservation - polluting emissions from an incinerator can
contribute to acid rain and cause damage to trees and plants
x The unacceptable impact on wildlife and ecology generally
x The in-combination effect of incineration at Javelin Park and consented
Moreton Valence gasification facility (combined total of up to 220,000 per
year) exceeding the 100,000 tonnes per year assessed in the GCCcommissioned Habitats Regulations Assessment 2010, which concluded
that potential significant effects on European Sites cannot be ruled out
for thermal waste facilities burning over 100,000 tonnes per annum.

5.7

Scale and Need
x The need for a facility of the size and capacity proposed is not proven,
appropriate or necessary, as GCC waste projections are too high (Defra
is planning for continued decline);
x The facility is far too big and inflexible to meet the county's requirements;
x Waste production is reducing and the combustible waste stream required
to run the plant would not be sufficient (leading to the required payment
of delivery clauses in contracts);
x Concerns over entering into a 25-year contract given uncertainties over
future waste needs;
48

Page 48

x
x

x
x

5.8

Concerns over ability to limit the facility to management of waste arising
within Gloucestershire
The facility is dependent on Commercial and Industrial waste being
brought in from outside the County which would be impossible to
monitor;
The facility is not being built to meet needs of Gloucestershire as stated,
but would use market mechanisms to attract waste from further afield;
There are already at least 10 incinerators, either with planning
permission or already being built on Gloucestershire’s borders which
between them would have the capacity to deal with over 10 times the
total of Gloucestershire’s household and industrial waste.

Technology and waste hierarchy
x The proposal does not meet the requirements of the Waste Hierarchy as
one proposal to deal with all waste would act as a disincentive to
prevent, re-use, and recycle, undermining with targets for recycling.
Current kerb-side recycling services are inadequate and green waste is
not collected which would be incinerated, therefore limiting the
movement of waste up the Waste Hierarchy;
x The choice of incineration is based on profit rather than the best solution
to manage waste;
x The incinerator would be expensive, outdated technology, and there are
much cheaper, better, less visibly intrusive and safer alternatives;
x The facility proposed would not be sufficiently flexible to manage the
waste stream for 25 years plus in a way that ensures recycling targets
are met;
x The facility would stifle recycling opportunities and wider waste
management enterprises;
x The principle of waste management over landfill is accepted, but
incineration is considered to be an outdated, expensive technology /
solution to manage waste and not the most environmentally sound
solution; there are much cheaper, better, less visibly intrusive and safer
alternatives;
x The efficiency of the facility is extremely low given lack of heat off-take;
x The technology proposed would produce greater levels of CO2 than gas
fired power stations;
x There is a lack of provision made for onsite sorting and processing of
waste to ensure all recyclable material is extracted prior to incineration;
x Insufficient information has been provided, and insufficient consideration
made of the possible alternatives to incineration. Insufficient justification
has been given by Gloucestershire County Council of their reasons for
selecting incineration as the ultimate option for waste disposal compared
to other technologies which have been dismissed as unviable;
49

Page 49

5.9

Location
x The site selection process and consideration of alternative options lack
credibility;
x This is a poor location / site that would be better suited for other uses;
x The proposal does not accord with the proximity principle (in that it may
be more sustainable for those areas on the fringes of the County to
dispose their waste in facilities geographically closer to them);
x The site is too exposed to accommodate a building of the size proposed,
which would be at complete odds with its surrounding environment and
setting (an industrial development in a rural location);

5.10 Disposal of residue
x Concerns over disposal of APC residues to specialist hazardous waste
facilities – specific concerns over potential impact on Bishop’s Cleeve or
sustainability of longer distance transport to disposal facilities.
5.11 Air Quality
x The geography of the area surrounding the facility would minimise the
potential dispersion of emissions from the stack - micro-climate of the
area would result in emissions remaining static and settling in the various
coombes along the Cotswold escarpment and in the Berkeley Vale;
x Insufficient monitoring of emissions is proposed off-site.
x Inadequate background monitoring of ambient levels of PM2.5 within 10
mile radius to enable monitoring of conditions before and after
construction and operation
5.12 Cumulative Impact
x The proposal has failed to adequately assess the effects of this proposal
together with the permitted incinerator scheme at Moreton Valence
(circa. 600 metres to the west)
5.13 Flood Risk
x The site and surrounding fields are subject to surface water flooding,
including during the heavy rain experienced in November 2012 when the
B4008 flooded leaving cars stranded on it. There were two complete
blockages in the upstream culverts and one to the south. The failure of
the B4008 ditch system caused property to flood. The proposed bunding
to the site would accelerate these processes not stop them.
x Determination of the planning application should halt until a detailed
hydrological survey has been completed to take into account the
groundwater flux and potential issues of settlement from pumping
groundwater, as requested in the previous Atkins report. All parties
50

Page 50

x

should have the opportunity to respond to this concern. This not a 1-100
or 1-1000 year event - it happens every winter.
The drainage system on the B4008 is not connected and there is only a
fall towards Stonehouse which causes this ditch to flood over a 5-6
month period in the winter. The area around this site is a natural flood
plain and has inherent drainage faults along both sides of the B4008.
Additional hard standing would result in an increase of flood risk to
property. Gloucestershire Highways are aware of this problem even
without this development but have not managed to resolve it. Any
additional flow from the proposed structure would cause this area to
become flooded more easily. All water courses seem to flow back to the
B4008 which cannot cope with the current run off. The application
documents do not understand the complex nature of the ditch system in
the area.

5.14 Historic/Heritage
x The 24 hour lighting of the facility would be to the detriment of the setting
of nearby listed building.
5.15 Transport and sustainability
x Insufficient road capacity;
x No method of delivery of waste other than by road (no rail or barge
delivery available);
x HGV traffic – one every minute at peak times;
x Junction 12 on the M5 is an accident spot.
5.16 Procedural
x Perception that genuine concerns are not given just consideration, and
expert opinions are rejected;
x Insufficient community engagement;
x The proposal has not been given the requisite Scrutiny by GCC
Committees prior to application submission;
x The application and procedure followed are contrary to the objectives of
the Localism Act 2011
x Concerns over process of letting the waste contract;
x Call for proposal to be called in as it is of more than local importance due
to its effect on the AONB and Natural England’s objection;
5.17 Cost and economics
x The project would be financially burdensome to the local council tax
payers (debt and financial penalties for under provision of waste) with
money better spent on reuse/recycling initiatives;
x The proposal would incur a cost of £75 million to the local tax payers to
provide the facility, as opposed to a forecast £150 million saving for
51

Page 51

x
x
x

x
x
x
x

which supporting figures have not be provided by Gloucestershire
County Council on the grounds of commercial sensitivity;
The business case and economic viability of the facility is unproven;
The withdrawal of PFI funding (circa. £92 million) leaves a funding gap;
The proposed EfW facility would not generate the employment
opportunities a full processing (recycling) facility could generate, being
200 employment opportunities for every 100,000 tonnes of waste
produced;
The development would exacerbate the lack of social mobility of
residents living in or near the facility (blight);
The proposal would be detrimental to the success and longevity of local
business (so detrimental to the local economy) and cause blight;
Impact on tourism and local economy especially those walking the
Cotswold Way, and it would put people off moving to Gloucestershire;
Negative impact on house prices

5.18 GlosVAIN - an alliance of town and parish councils, individuals
&organisations in the Severn Vale that oppose the development - has raised
a number of objections to the proposal submitted in several tranches. Its
initial submission focussed on raising queries in relation to the carbon
assessment using the WRATE tool including assumptions used calculating
the landfill gas recovery rate assumed in the applicant’s consultant’s analysis
and the amount of landfill gas produced within a landfill site that is actually
captured. Whilst the applicant sought to respond to these queries in June
2012, GlosVAIN responded to this on 3 October 2012 stating that the
response was inadequate and reiterating its request. It also raised queries
around the cumulative impact of additional traffic, including concerns over
the adequacy of the noise assessment and consideration of traffic noise as it
is expected to be unacceptable to local residents.
5.19 GlosVAIN’s next submission sets out its case against the proposal. These
concern the need for the plant; the visual impact; and human health
concerns. It considers that the case has not been made that the impacts are
outweighed by the social and economic benefits of the plant as required by
NPPF. In relation to need, it queries the basis for the sizing of the facility
claiming that it is much bigger than needed to serve Gloucestershire,
referring to the Inspectors' report into the WCS and citing emerging policy
from Europe that may result in restrictions on inputs to EfW during the life of
the plant. It agrees with the other parties objecting on visual impact grounds
considering the applicant's assessment to be biased and flawed with the
particular omission of the stack and associated plume. In relation to health
impact it raises concerns over raised background levels of particulates
(PM10), highlights that children are particularly sensitive to particulate matter
52

Page 52

pollution and a large number of children attend educational settings within 5
miles of the proposed incinerator site. It advocates that the precautionary
principle should be applied given the lack of evidence that ultrafine particles
(PM2.5) and other emissions do not harm human health and evidence
available that suggests that they do. It highlights that the HPA has
commissioned further research on health impacts of incinerators, due to
report in 2014. It questions assumptions and claims about the amount of
electricity produced that would be considered renewable. It also raises
concerns over the Habitat Regulations Screening Report and states that
burning 200,000 tonnes per annum could have the potential to result in
significant air quality impacts on Cotswold Beechwoods SAC. The
combination of the tonnes per annum being burned at Javelin Park and
Moreton Valence sites would be 222,000 tonnes per annum. It therefore
contends that it has not been demonstrated that there would not be harm
caused to the Cotswolds Beechwoods (and therefore requires appropriate
assessment before permission can be granted). Concerns are also raised
over the impact of nitrogen deposition on the Haresfield Beacon SSSI and
the wildflower rich limestone grassland of the Cotswolds Natural Area. Other
issues are raised in relation to the detail of the application. It includes 2
supporting documents: a review of the RPS report “Carbon Analysis Final
Report” for the Rufford Energy Recovery Facility (July 2008), and a
Statement of Evidence Particulate Emissions and Health in relation to the
Proposed Ringaskiddy Waste-to-Energy Facility (June 2009).
5.20 GlosVAIN’s next submission responds to the Regulation 22 information
provided by the applicant and seeks further information regarding the build
time for B8 compared to EfW as it may impact on construction traffic and
emissions; cumulative impact of traffic from the EfW and other developments
and effect on congestion and emissions/air quality; further request for
information regarding WRATE (as previously raised) and request for waste
composition sampling and use of data in WRATE (with a previous memo and
questions dated 27/02/12);
5.21 GlosVAIN’s next submission raises further questions under the Regulation
22 procedure requesting the applicant to provide a Zone of Theoretical
Visibility analysis taken from Haresfield Beacon promontory and provides the
proportion of the panoramic view from that location that comprises “extensive
commercial developments and urban areas”; an assessment of economic
impact of degrading the view from the Cotswold Way; assessment of the
visual impact on the escarpment caused by the plume; a comparison of
employment creation from the EfW compared to other technologies;
evidence that the visitor centre would encourage behaviour change; for
consultation with CABE to be made public; and for assessment of traffic
53

Page 53

emissions relating to import of waste from outside the County for the lifetime
of the building.
5.22 GlosVAIN’s next submission provides evidence for its Regulation 22 request,
and reiterates concerns about the possible visual impact disputing the
applicant's assessment. Specific concerns raised include the visual impact
assessment and request that the applicant provides a Zone of Theoretical
Visibility analysis taken from Haresfield Beacon and provides the proportion
of the panoramic view from that location that comprises “extensive
commercial developments and urban areas". It presents an alternative
photomontage from Haresfield Beacon. It also expresses concerns about
the design of the building and its orientation. It goes on to propose alternative
technology such as MBT as being preferable to EfW citing claims around
jobs and electricity generation efficiency. It includes an assessment of the
implications of the NPPF and disputes some the applicant’s assessment and
interpretation. It also again raises concerns about PM10 background levels.
It sets out a number of arguments that the application would not comply with
the WCS, including assessment of need and deliverability of the proposal on
the Javelin Park site citing the WCS Inspector’s report. Key issues include
disputing the evidence of need, landscape and visual impact, adequacy of
assessment of alternative options, and Habitats Regulations Assessment
and Appropriate Assessment.
5.23 GlosVAIN’s next submission focuses on potential health impacts claiming
that the applicant's modelling is flawed and includes a Proof of Evidence by
Professor Howard around the possible effect of PM2.5 and their presence in a
greater proportion than modelled for by the applicant. It calls for more
background monitoring of levels of bio accumulative toxins such as dioxins
before a decision is made and more frequent monitoring of emissions should
the plant be permitted.
5.24 GlosVAIN’s next submission raises concern around groundwater, flooding
and pollution. It focuses on the uncertainty expressed by Atkins consultants
to GCC as LLFA and the Environment Agency and raises the possibility of
groundwater pumping resulting in the release of historical contaminants molybdenum is specifically named - locked up in the land surrounding the
site. It call for the planning authority to ensure that it has sufficient
information, as identified and requested by partners (the Environment
Agency with regard to surface water flows and drainage capacity, and the
LLFA’s consultants) to make an informed decision. It cites evidence of
waterlogged fields during the summer of 2012, anecdotal evidence of stock
loss in adjacent farms which it attributes to highway engineering work
disturbing historical contaminants to support this claim.
54

Page 54

5.25 GlosVAIN’s next submission was provided in December 2012 in relation to
the further information provided as part of the Regulation 22 process. This
submission covered the following issues:
5.26 Health: GlosVAIN claims that there is no guarantee that facilities with an
Environmental Permit would be operated appropriately and meet WID
requirements. It cites research on cancer mortality in towns in the vicinity of
incinerators and installations for recovery and disposal of hazardous waste
and conclusions that there is statistically significant increase in the risk of
dying from cancer. It highlights that stack emissions cause acid rain which
promotes and aggravates existing respiratory conditions, and there is an
acute shortage of paediatric beds due to seasonal surge in respiratory
illness. It highlights that cadmium exposure in the affected area is already
above the recommended level, that increasing cadmium exposure would
have an adverse impact upon health; and that the HPA states that exposure
to the population as a whole should be reduced. Therefore, awarding
planning permission to the applicant for a facility that would increase
exposure to cadmium would be contrary to this part of the HPA’s advice.
However it also claims that the HPA’s statements are not based on evidence
and it failed to undertake an assessment of health impacts as it previously
committed to and that it is untenable that GCC can rely on EA and HPA for
advice on health impacts of incinerators.
5.27 GlosVAIN requests the following additional information:
1. Study of existing health of population and ‘real potential’ effects of
increase in cadmium exposure and EfW emissions
2. The applicant provides precise information on impacts on health all
emissions will have on local residents in proximity to Javelin Park,
especially PM2.5. If HPA cannot provide the information another source
will be required, and confirm with HPA their classification of health
impacts that are significant.
3. The planning authority to confirm whether it has consulted the
‘contaminated land department’ of Stroud DC about whether elevated
levels of cadmium are natural or caused by historic contamination
4. The applicant to provide evidence that research on health impacts of
incinerators (presented with its submission) is incorrect.
5. The applicant to provide risk assessment of effects of acid rain on health
of the population in the area as a whole (especially children) and on
those already suffering from respiratory illnesses.
6. The applicant to provide estimate of cost burden on NHS of additional
admissions
5.28 GlosVAIN also reiterated requests for information made in the previous
Regulation 22 consultation:
55

Page 55

-

-

-

-

The applicant to state the levels of ultra-fine particulates PM2.5 that they
estimate, and the maximum ground level concentrations they predict,
clarifying an anomaly pointed out by Professor Howard (1/3 vs 2/3 of
PM10)
The applicant to provide an unbiased range of predictions of
particulates (PM10 and PM2.5) levels, showing a more realistic
confidence envelope in line with Professor Howard’s recommendations
What additional health impacts may be expected upon residents in the
Birdlip area who may already have dangerously high body burden
levels?
What are the existing body burden dioxin levels of people living in
proximity to the Javelin Park site? The applicant should find reliable
information to produce an assessment. From this baseline, what impact
would the emissions (as estimated in the confidence envelope
requested in 2 above) have on local residents?

5.29 DCLG Guidance on Waste Framework Directive: GlosVAIN asserts that the
application does not meet EU guidance on use of the most appropriate
technology to protect health and the environment; that the WPA should
compare the costs of waste being managed in facilities close to
Gloucestershire’s borders; and that it conflicts with Article 13 (c) as waste
developments should not adversely affect the countryside or places of
special interest.
5.30 WCS conformity: GlosVAIN highlights that the amount of waste requiring
management by 2020 is up to 184,000 tonnes – so there will be over
capacity at this stage, and waste projections (by the WDA and in the
JMWMS) are too high. It asserts that the applicant will not commit to not
importing waste so the application should be refused. It claims there is no
need for the capacity proposed, citing information provided by WRAP, the
Confederation of Paper Industries and European Commission that there will
be over-capacity in EfW. It claims that the proximity principle means that
extant appropriate facilities over the county border should be considered. It
claims that the amount of C&I likely to be over-stated rather than understated
as the applicant claims. Detailed comments are set out in an Appendix,
stating that reliance on out of date and discredited figures in the JMWMS that
over-estimate household waste growth.
5.31 Flooding: Surface flooding: GlosVAIN identifies that the whole site flooded
in November 2012 and it is therefore not at ‘low risk’ from flooding; the
drainage ditch did not have capacity to accommodate flows in recent flood
event; the bund is for landscaping not flood defence; in storm conditions the
culvert blocks and the road floods; the attenuation basins are inadequate; the
56

Page 56

development would lead to increased runoff due to increasing impermeable
area, and there is a need to assess impact on land adjoining the site.
5.32 Groundwater flooding: There is a need for additional data on groundwater
level, pressure, flow and extent to inform the design and assess impact as
part of EIA not as condition which the applicant should provide information
now. It highlights that the M5 and A38 closed due to flooding recently. It
asserts that operational risks have not been assessed as assumed to be at
low risk. There is a need to assess impacts of flooding on the parts of the
building below ground (waste bunker and slag basement) including how to
manage potential contamination. There may be a need for emergency shut
down as access prevented by flooding. Emissions of dioxins relating to shut
down and start up need to be assessed. Contingency plans are therefore
needed for flooding during construction and a re-assessment of flood risk is
required.
5.33 The recent appeal decision APP/C1625/11/2155923 in respect of land at
Standle Farm, Stinchcombe: GlosVAIN states that it considers that the
Inspector has set a clear precedent on the unacceptability of large
developments near the AONB. GlosVAIN refers to the Inspector's decision to
dismiss the appeal because of the significant harm that the proposal would
cause to the setting of and views from the Cotswolds AONB and thus to its
landscape and scenic beauty, with the cumulative harm being of such
magnitude that it outweighs the benefits of the proposal. GlosVAIN points to
the proposed development at Stinchcombe being 1.5miles from the AONB
whereas Javelin Park is about 1km from the AONB and therefore much
more visible. GlosVAIN also refers to the Stroud District Councilcommissioned Review of the Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment
(LVIA) which is considered to show that the impact of the EfW is
unacceptable and identifies bias in the applicant’s assessment. The EfW
development is considered to have a greater impact than wind turbines
because of the overall bulk and footprint of the building compared to 4 wind
turbines. It therefore considers that the EfW can clearly not be given
planning permission on this site. Attention is drawn to another appeal
decision (ref: APP/H1840/A/06/2023564) concerning the development of a
haulage depot and storage buildings outside the AONB that was considered
to impact adversely on views outside of the Cotswolds AONB: In GlosVAIN’s
view mitigation is not possible of the damage to the historic environment and
the cumulative effect of this proposal on a number of heritage assets. It
points to the views of English Heritage who conclude that it is difficult to see
how the impacts of the proposals could be mitigated in a practical and
realistic way given the scale of the EfW. GlosVAIN shares English
Heritage’s view that this is not an appropriate location for such development
and maintains its opinion that the application should be refused.
57

Page 57

5.34 GlosVAIN submitted a further objection on 6th February 2013 in the form of a
report commissioned from consultancy Ynys Resources Limited titled
‘Review of Proposed EfW Development at Javelin Park’. The report would
appear to not raise any new concerns that have not been previously
considered focussing on whether the plant should be regarded as recovery
querying if it will pass the R1 efficiency test.
5.35 Stroud District and Gloucestershire Green Party raised concerns
regarding ecology and Habitats Regulations Assessment, highlighting that
the potential combined (in-combination) impact of the proposed development
and the 32,000 tpa gasification plant permitted at the adjacent Moreton
Valence site, should be modelled, referring to the General Development
Criteria applicable to all sites, in the WCS appendix 5. It also objects on
grounds that the development would result in a major visual intrusion on the
landscape and be contrary to existing planning restriction on maximum
height of development in this location. The emissions represent a serious
threat to health. The technology to be used is not best in terms of
greenhouse gas emissions. It believes that local views have been ignored,
contrary to the NPPF. The need for a facility of the size proposed is not
demonstrated because there will not be enough waste for the facility to
manage as: More waste would be recycled or composted; there would be an
over-supply of residual waste recovery capacity in future. The amount of
waste being produced is not growing at the rate used to underpin the
applicant’s assessment of the requirement due to: Previous MSW growth
projections for England and the UK have over-estimated growth; There has
been no growth in MSW in certain EU countries (including the UK); There is
a declining trend in household waste arisings. Over provision in treatment
capacity would result in reduced gates fees which would result in cost to the
County Council, and a long term contract is very poor value for money for
Gloucestershire council tax payers.
5.36 Further comments were made by the Green Party in December 2012 in
response to additional information provided by the applicants. This included
reiteration of concerns over the inflexible capacity proposed to deal with a
range of scenarios (of MSW growth) and the assumption that waste will grow
whereas it has been stable in the last decade. The development is therefore
not consistent with Policy WCS6 (c). C&I waste may be managed in facilities
outside Gloucestershire (Oxon and South Wales). Large scale EfW is not
the best solution and other residual waste management technologies are
available. GCC (WDA) has stated it is technology neutral and accessed PFI
on that basis. The predictions of waste growth in JMWMS are grossly
inaccurate and should not be used as basis for planning future provision in
WCS. C&I waste is also reducing (Defra figures are cited). Poor information
58

Page 58

presented on C&I with no evidence that waste managed in Gloucestershire
arises in the County. The application fails to identify how it would deal with
lower tonnages (low end of range) without importing C&I. MBT followed by
landfill has lowest greenhouse gas emissions (it cites Defra report
Economics of Waste Nov 2011). There is no mention of overcapacity (citing
Eunomia reports and evidence from WRAP, Confederation of Paper
Industries and European Commission) or accounting for C&I that may leave
the county to be managed at adjacent facilities.
5.37 Stroud District and Gloucestershire Green Parties made a further submission
in February 2013 referring to a recent Defra report which includes forecasts
of future household waste arisings, claiming that it supports arguments that
the County Council’s waste modelling is unreliable, the facility is too large
and is an inflexible way of managing waste into the future. It also refers to
again to reports indicating that there is an over-supply of consented residual
waste capacity in the UK.
5.38 Bisley Community Composting Scheme (BCCS) object to the proposal for
four reasons. A single large facility is inappropriate for a rural county like
Gloucestershire and smaller, locally based projects should be developed
instead. Managing waste at a single mass burn incinerator would undermine
efforts to increase recycling. The figures do not seem to make sense and
BCCS question whether waste would have to be transported into the County
to make the facility economically viable. The visitor centre and ecological
park are purely marketing and if permission were granted the contractor
should fund local volunteer environmental organisations using a percentage
of profits. If permission is granted the Council would send out a wrong
message which is counter to the need to re-use and recycle waste. BCCS
wonder what could be achieved if a small percentage of the money spent on
this scheme was spent on recycling in the County.
5.39 Blooms Garden Centre objects on the grounds that the mass and scale of
the building would adversely affect the existing outlook from the garden
centre. The proposal would result in noise, potential odour and a significant
increase in HGV movement at close proximity to the access to the garden
centre, which would adversely affect the amenity of the immediate area
discouraging visiting customers.
5.40

Neil Carmichael, MP for Stroud in a letter of 20th April 2012 highlighted
concerns expressed by his constituents including the design and visual
impact on residents and the AONB, the impact of a large amount of heavy
goods vehicle movements in the on the residential amenity of local residents,
and noise and odour impacts on the local area.
59

Page 59

6.0

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

Consultation responses from consultees are summarised below. These are
available in full on the County Council’s website and on request on CD.

6.2

Stroud District Council objects to the proposal on several grounds. The
size of the development would be detrimental to rural landscape and would
adversely affect the Seven Vale and Cotswolds AONB affecting views and to
and from the escarpment. Justification put forward by applicants fails to
mitigate harm to the AONB, its setting and the rural landscape, due to the
scale, height, massing and industrial character the proposal. The social,
environmental and economic benefits do not outweigh landscape harm,
contrary to Policy WCS14. The scale, height, massing and industrial
character of the proposal does not reflect or contribute positively to the
character and quality of the area contrary to policy WCS17. Due to evidence
of significant falling waste volumes and the number and capacity of permitted
residual waste schemes in the region, the County Council should urgently
reassess the need for the facility and other options should be assessed in
light of results. More efficient thermal treatment options are available which
have lower impact, are scalable and can be part of a dispersed solution.
Further information is required to determine if noise levels will be acceptable
including provision of data used in modelling. Further clarification is required
with regard to the modelling process, as is confirmation that the EA are
satisfied with the model used for the human health determinant. The
proposal fails the proximity principle test as it does not take account of
population growth patterns. Economic factors must be taken into account
regarding the local economy. No sustainability appraisal exists or other
assessment of the performance of alternative solutions which would be
required if the County Council were to arrive at a sound decision that the
benefits outweigh the costs. The market should not determine scale and
technology needed where there is such a harmful impact on rural landscape,
the Cotswolds AONB and its setting. Instead the site constraints, including
the availability of a residual heat user should determine both technology and
scale. That the Environment Agency be asked to confirm that the
appropriate health risk assessment model has been used. Further
information is required to categorically determine whether noise levels will be
acceptable.

6.3

The Environmental Health Officer has provided comments to the WPA
relating to air quality and human health and raised particular questions on
which the views of the Environment Agency as the permitting authority have
been sought. It has been confirmed that the human health impact
assessment provided goes beyond the requirements of the assessment that
is actually needed for this application.
60

Page 60

6.4

The Council submitted additional comments in response to the further
information provided through the Regulation 22 process. This reiterated
previous objections and stressed that further information was still required to
assess whether noise levels would be acceptable. While the conclusions of
the applicant’s modelling may not be disputed the Council seeks the
information to help explain the modelling and its working. The Council also
requested details that show directly the noise levels at residential properties
associated with the plant to assess whether the development will improve or
meet the criteria agreed with the Council (a maximum of +3dB above
background).

6.5

In December 2012 the District Council submitted a letter to the WPA
requesting that the application be referred to the Secretary of State for
determination in the event that the Council recommends approval, and
enclosing a letter sent to the Secretary of State. The letter states that the
proposal raises issues of more than local importance and gives the following
reasons for this criterion being met:
1.
Significant effects beyond the locality: it cites Policy WCS6 and that the
facility would manage all of the waste, and it states that WCS6
envisages 5 smaller facilities. The scale means that waste would be
imported to the county. It states that waste could be dealt with at
existing facilities outside of Gloucestershire and cites Eunomia
research indicating over capacity of EfW at national level by 2016 and
Secretary of State's decision on EfW at Middlewich in Cheshire refusing
permission citing over capacity.
2.
Conflicts with National Policy on important matters: The scale (bulk and
height) would impact on and harm the AONB and is larger than
developments considered acceptable previously (B8 permission
conditioned to limit height to 15.7m). The only basis for the scheme to
be allowed would be if the need was considered to outweigh the impact
– a balance that should be considered by the Secretary of State rather
than WPA. Cumulative visual impact of Javelin Park and the permitted
facility at Moreton Valence needs to be considered to comply with
Policy WCS10 and WCS14. A landscape assessment commissioned
by the District Council raises concerns over the methodology and
conclusions of the LVIA which should be tested through a call-in. It
cites the recent Stinchcombe wind farm appeal decision and the bar
being set high for developments in non-designated landscapes that
have an impact on designated landscapes and heritage assets. Given
existing and proposed capacity at county and regional levels, it submits
that there is no overriding need for the facility capable of justifying the
harm to the Severn Vale and AONB. If permitted it would contribute to
over-capacity of EfW. Other residual treatment technologies would be
61

Page 61

3.
4.

consistent with local and national policy with lesser impact on
landscape. It cites the WCS inspector’s report regarding Habitat
Regulations Assessment of the WCS which concluded that it cannot be
demonstrated that a proposal above 100,000 tonnes capacity would not
give rise to a significant effect, alone or in combination, on European
Sites. There has been no acknowledgement by GCC that there needs
to be an Appropriate Assessment and no consultation on this matter.
The stack height is required to reduce the impact of emissions on
ecological interests but increases the adverse visual impact.
Significant architectural issues: The bulk and height adversely impacts
the Severn Vale landscape and AONB.
Substantial regional controversy: The application is the most
controversial in the region and has generated a substantial amount of
objections. The County Council has strong financial interests in the
application, and the process and appearance of independence has
been harmed by the removal of a planning officer and appointment of
consultants to assist with the application. The Secretary of State would
be regarded as an independent arbiter.

6.6

Gloucester City Council recommends that the application is not determined
until the WCS is adopted; that it is not determined until the Environment
Agency has granted an Environmental Permit; that the need for the facility of
this size dealing with the proposed waste volumes is justified given the visual
impact of such a large building; it is disappointed at the lack of CHP and
recommends that if permitted it is conditioned to require it to be CHP-ready
and that opportunities for heat markets are explored; that the stack colour be
conditioned to be neutral grey; that local people should be employed at the
facility possibly required by condition; that if permitted conditions require a
high standard of maintenance and cleaning of the building and a seagull
management strategy; and that traffic management at Junction 12 of the M5
be considered.

6.7

Cheltenham Borough Council calls for further assessment to establish
whether all the energy aspects and carbon footprints have been fully
evaluated. Such an assessment should take into account the energy
required for recovering materials from the waste stream and compare that to
producing and/or refining virgin materials needed to replace those which are
incinerated by the proposed facility - as well as the effects of the production
of an equivalent amount of energy through the combustion of fossil fuels. It
anticipates that the results of such assessment could lead to reconsideration
of other options; including Mechanical Biological Treatment and Advanced
Thermal Treatment as management of waste using these technologies could
potentially result in a lower greenhouse gas emissions overall. It is not
convinced that studies regarding human health are robust.
62

Page 62

6.8

Tewkesbury Borough Council has no objection or detailed comments as
the proposal site is a significant distance away.

6.9

Forest of Dean District Council raises no objections and considers that the
facility will not have a significant landscape impacts when viewed from the
district and the setting of the Forest will not be significantly affected. It
considered that the proposals will have limited ecological impacts on the
District.

6.10 Stroud Town Council objects to the development on the basis of its opinion
that it will have negative environmental impact on protected sites. It cites the
conclusions of the HRA undertaken on the draft WCS, the fact that the facility
will have a throughput of 190,000 tonnes which in combination with the
permitted gasification plant at Moreton Valence gives a total throughput of
222,000 tonnes, and that the application does not assess the combined
impact of the two sites. Due to its size the proposal has unacceptable
landscape and visual impact particularly from the AONB. The facility will act
as a disincentive to prevent, re-use or recycle waste. For the facility to
operate at full capacity waste will have to be imported. The proposal will
result in adverse impacts on health.
6.11 Haresfield Parish Council submitted comments and observations on the
Design and Access Statement submitted with the application and consider
that it is too remote from industry and housing for it to economically provide
electricity and heat. Other issues raised include the ash processing facility
increases size; the visitor centre is not needed for use by local community
and would result in additional traffic; the bulk, height and industrial nature of
the facility is ugly and would be out of character with rural surroundings of
the Severn Vale and create harm to the landscape, including views from the
M5, the Beacon and Cotswold escarpment and destroy the historic
landscape including the setting of, and views from, historic sites and
buildings. The design has made no attempt to mitigate its impact on the
landscape which might be appropriate on an industrial estate. The pale
green cladding and photovoltaic panels on the roof will draw attention to the
building and the living wall should extend higher. The existing screening from
trees and hedgerows is totally inadequate. Lighting would urbanise the
environment and should be turned off at night. It was always intended that
former airfield development would be returned to agricultural use. The facility
would result in traffic congestion and a major contribution to air pollution. It is
an outdated technology that cannot be adapted. It considers that MBT would
be cheaper and more flexible. The existing watercourse on the site
boundary is subject to flooding.
63

Page 63

6.12 Haresfield Parish Council submitted additional comments in January 2013 in
response to the final Regulation 22 consultation expressing concerns over
the impact of the development on heritage assets including St Peter’s
church, The Old Vicarage, Haresfield Court, Mount, Farm, Chestnut Farm,
The Round House and The Mount, highlighting 30 listed buildings in
Haresfield which it feels have been inadequately considered by the applicant.
Visual impacts on Hardwicke Court and Haresfield Court Lodge are also
highlighted, together with visual impact of views from the AONB and
Cotswold Way. It considers that the scale, design, proportions, detailing and
materials of the proposed facility is out of scale and character with the rural
landscape of the Severn Vale, including of Haresfield. Suggestions to
reduce the impacts include green roof, green walls, improved landscaping,
use of more appropriate colour tones, use of LED lighting switched off at
night, and compensation to property owners in Haresfield. The Parish
Council also raises concerns over the amount of traffic and implications for
access to and from Haresfield of congestion on the B4008 and the junction
with Mount Lane.
6.13 Moreton Valence Parish Council objects on the grounds that the
development would be over-bearing, out of scale and out of character with
the existing rural nature of the area and cause demonstrable harm, and be
detrimental to enjoyment of the surroundings. The need for a facility of the
size proposed is not demonstrated because there will not be enough waste
for the facility to manage as the amount of waste being produced is not
growing at the rate used to underpin the applicant’s assessment of the
requirement. For the facility to operate at full capacity, waste will have to be
imported. The incinerator will act as a disincentive to prevent, reuse and
recycle waste contrary to waste hierarchy. There will be an adverse impact
on amenity due to impact on views from nearby properties, increased traffic,
noise and smells. Emissions will result in increase in levels of toxic
substances in the environment and there will be a cumulative impact due to
the proposed incinerator at the Old Airfield. Fear of impacts will also have an
impact on health. The impact of emissions from this facility combined with
the facility at the Old Airfield on the Cotswolds Beechwoods SAC needs to
be considered.
6.14 Stonehouse Town Council objects to the proposal on several grounds. It
expresses its concern that the proposal will increase risks to health and that
there will be adverse traffic impacts on A419 and the B4008. Waste will have
to be transported greater distances than if it were dealt with more locally. The
proposal will blight visual enjoyment of the area. The data does not
demonstrate the need for a facility of the size proposed because: More waste
will be recycled or composted and; the amount of waste being produced is
not growing at the rate used to underpin the applicant’s assessment of the
64

Page 64

requirement as national data shows that waste is reducing. There will be a
reduced emphasis on recycling. For the facility to operate at full capacity
waste will have to be imported. The proposal will destroy materials unlike
recycling which saves materials and enhances the prospect of jobs. Concern
about the depth and transparency of the consultation process. Waste could
be managed more productively rather than in a manner that could be
deleterious to the economy, natural environment (in particular the Cotswolds
Beechwoods) and health of the local community. It also raises concerns over
blight of visual enjoyment of the area.
6.15 Quedgeley Parish Council objects to the proposal on several grounds. The
size of the facility would have an adverse impact on the landscape and rural
character of the area and views to and from the Cotswold Escarpment and
Cotswold Way. The materials proposed are out of character with the rural
area. Stroud DC previously limited the height of development on the site to
15.7 metres. Serious concerns about the health impact. The emissions can
contribute to acid rain and could have an impact on the Cotswolds and
European sites especially when combined with the emissions from the
incinerator at Moreton Valance. The need for the facility is questioned on the
grounds that it was agreed at the examination into the WCS that the
Council’s projections for waste arisings were too high, and that Defra is
planning for a continuation of a downward trend in arisings. Considered that
the facility is too big and inflexible for dealing with County’s waste and will
lead to imports of waste which will be impossible to control. Also the proposal
will have a detrimental impact on recycling rates.
6.16 Standish Parish Council supports the submissions made by Stroud District
Council, CPRE, GlosVAIN, and the Cotswolds Conservation Board. It objects
on the grounds that the increase in traffic on the B4008 as a result of the
development would increase noise and pollution affecting residential
amenity, it would be detrimental to the character of the area and be visually
unacceptable, the visual impact on residents in Standish Lane of the grid
connection would be unacceptable, and that noise and smells may not be
contained within the building. It is opposed in principle to mass burn
incineration for dealing with Gloucestershire’s waste. It will have an adverse
impact on tourism due to the impact on views. There will also be an adverse
impact on house values and saleability of property – example provided. The
height restriction relating to the current permission should be respected. The
proposal will add to existing health issues especially respiratory issues and
increase in Cadmium levels. Projections of waste arising are too high and
other technologies such as MBT offer more flexible, cheaper solutions.
6.17 Hardwicke Parish Council supports the submissions by Stroud District
Council, CPRE, GlosVAIN, and the Cotswolds Conservation Board. It objects
65

Page 65

to the development at Javelin Park for the following reasons: the height
restriction imposed on the development already permitted on the site, the
visual impact, pollution and concerns about health, noise and smell, impact
on house prices, congestion on local roads and Junction 12 of the M5, and
the scale, technology, and amount of waste to be treated at the facility.
6.18 Natural England objects to the proposal due to the significant adverse
impacts on the special qualities of the Cotswold(s) AONB, and significant
adverse impacts on the setting of the AONB, the Cotswold National Trail and
the landscape and visual amenity of the non-designated areas in the Severn
Vale, all of which are considered to interact and add to the negative effects
on the landscape. In coming to this view Natural England have had regard to:
a) the impact on the landscape character and visual amenity of the Severn
Vale; b) the effects on the setting of the Cotswolds AONB; c) the effects on
the special qualities of the Cotswolds AONB and d) the effects on the
Cotswold Way National Trial. It is considered that the interrelationship of
these effects should be considered in the overall planning balance.
6.19 Natural England considers that the EfW plant would be a large scale
development of significant height and mass and that even located adjacent
to a motorway junction and an existing large scale built development that its
scale would be inherently at odds with the character of the Severn Vale
landscape. The scale of the proposed development in the flat landscape
means that there is little scope for effective mitigation. It is considered that it
would be an alien feature, exaggerating the effects of the development within
the Vale and blurring the distinction between urban and rural areas and
spreading the effect of existing industrial commercial premises. Its visual
impact is considered to dominate this part of the Vale forming a conspicuous
feature over a wide area which would draw the eye and detract from the
importance of the views across the Vale and to the surrounding hills. These
negative effects related to impact on landscape would be increased when the
associated plume is visible.
6.20 Natural England considers that the scale of the development adds to the
cumulative impacts of development so as to change this part of the Settled
Unwooded Vale from the current mix of rural areas interspersed with
commercial and industrial activity to a landscape locally dominated by
development of an industrial character. It is considered that the connections
to the grid should be decided with the application as the clutter of further
overhead lines could further encroach on the AONB. The impact on views
from and to the AONB would be long term, significant and adverse and
would not be capable of meaningful mitigation. Other visible industrial
development is not considered to make the proposal acceptable. The site is
just outside the boundary of the Cotswolds AONB but this is a case where
66

Page 66

the development will be particularly visible from important public viewpoints
affecting the special qualities of the AONB. Views from the Cotswold
National Trail are also considered to be adversely affected.
6.21 Natural England agrees with proposals to enhance stream habitat for bats
and minimise light spillage also to time construction to minimise impact on
the little ringed plover. Overall it has no concerns with regard to the impact of
emissions on habitats. Natural England agrees that the Habitats Regulations
Assessment (HRA) screening methodology, including screening distances,
modelled approach and assessment criteria was appropriate, as were the
critical loads used for pollutants, except for hydrogen fluoride. Natural
England requested that further assessment was undertaken using long-term
critical levels for 1 and 3 months for hydrogen fluoride, in addition to the short
term daily mean that was applied in the applicant’s original Screening
Assessment. The applicant subsequently undertook a supplementary air
quality assessment (dated 7th September 2012) for the Environmental
Statement Regulation 22 Submission. This demonstrated that the maximum
impact as a proportion of the lower critical load for both the 1-month and 3month averaging period is less than 1% and so emissions of hydrogen
fluoride were not likely to have a significant effect on European Sites, alone
or in combination with other sources. Natural England subsequently
confirmed that its concerns had been met.
6.22 Natural England was consulted on the WPA’s HRA and confirmed (email
dated 20/11/12) that it agreed that Appropriate Assessment could be
screened out and had no further comments on the HRA report. Natural
England considered the critical loads and predicted levels against Air
Pollution Information System (APIS) and is satisfied bar one issue in relation
to the Hydrogen Fluoride assessment. This was subject to a further
information request to the applicant under the Regulation 22 procedure and
Natural England has now confirmed it is satisfied with the information
provided.
6.23 The Environment Agency (EA) in its original representation (14th May
2012) raised a number of concerns over the ES and the Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA). This included questioning whether the FRA met the
requirements of a Level 3 assessment as set out in guidance (PPS25 at the
time) in terms of detail and adequate assessment of fluvial flood risk from the
catchment of the drainage ditch on the site. In addition concerns over the
calculations of run-off and flow rates under certain conditions, and the
adequacy and appropriateness of the drainage strategy including SuDS were
also raised. It also requested further details on foul water drainage and
management of waste water from processes and the ash bunker. In a
further response to additional information provided as part of the Regulation
67

Page 67

22 process (17/10/12), the Environment Agency continued to express
concern over the adequacy of the assessment of risk of flooding from
upstream catchment either via the culvert beneath the B4008 or, in the event
of the culvert being blocked, over the road and onto the site. It requested
further details of modelling of the culvert, of management of flood flows
through the site, and on design of ponds, swales and bio-retention areas, but
did not maintain an objection and subsequently confirmed that, based on this
additional information, which should be incorporated into or added as an
addendum to the existing FRA, it had no further queries from a flood risk
perspective. The Environment Agency stated (09/11/12) that although the
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) has responsibility for groundwater flood
risk, it is satisfied that there is nothing within the contents of the Technical
Note on Groundwater Flooding to give it cause for concern on matters of
groundwater.
6.24 The Environment Agency provided a further representation in December
2012 on the additional information provided as part of the Regulation 22
process. This states that the Agency is satisfied with the additional
information provided by the applicant with regard to SuDS, but recommend
that planting and habitat creation is conditioned. With regard to fluvial flood
risk It is satisfied that the channel capacity is adequate to deal with worst
case scenario flows, and pleased that additional channel capacity being
created. It agrees that bunding would prevent flooding of site and the
adjacent strip of land would convey flows back to the watercourse, but
recommends that additional space is made in this strip (adjacent to the bund)
to accommodate flows (0.4-0.5m3 per second) and prevent flow back to the
road. It clarifies that the flooding experienced in November 2012 was not
fluvial and so is the responsibility of LLFA. It recommends addendum report
to the FRA is produced into the causes of flooding and works necessary to
remedy this. It recommends that space made adjacent to site and parallel to
B4008 to accommodate water and avoid flow back to B4008. The EA has no
objections on flood risk grounds but supports the LLFA in seeking
opportunities to improve flood management through the development.
6.25 The Environment Agency submitted additional comments on 1st February
2013. The Agency is currently consulting on its ‘Minded to’ decision to issue
a permit and on the draft Permit itself. It has confirmed that it had “a
reasonable degree of certainty that there are no land-use planning reasons
for us to raise an objection to the planning application, subject to the
conditions recommended” (as reproduced below). Prior to this, it responded
on specific issues raised:
x
Stack height - it is satisfied that the applicant has undertaken a suitable
sensitivity analysis study to establish an optimal height for the flue gas

68

Page 68

x

x
x

x

discharge stack, and it will report in detail on this in its draft EPR
decision document.
R1 efficiency calculation (to qualify the facility as a recovery operation)
– it is noted that the developer’s application shows that the qualifying
threshold for recovery status of 0.65 should be exceeded, but had not
determined its application for R1 qualification.
IRAP-h risk model for Human Health Risk Assessment of dioxin and
furan emissions – it is satisfied that appropriate methodologies have
been applied in the use of the proprietary software tool IRAP-h.
HRA Screening – while not commenting on the GCC HRA screening
report, the Agency has undertaken its own Stage 2 Assessment
(Habitats Regulations) as part of the EPR application assessment of
operational impacts from the proposed development, and as a result
has concluded that a further Stage 3 Appropriate Assessment is not
necessary. Natural England confirmed agreement with the Agency’s
assessment conclusion that there would be no likely significant effect
on any Habitats Directive site.
Flue gas dispersion modelling – the Agency is satisfied that an
appropriate air dispersion modelling software tool has been used for the
predictions contained in the Applicant’s Air Quality Assessment Report
submitted as part of the EPR Application.

6.26 The Agency reminds GCC that its process is not complete and the
Environmental Permit ‘minded to’ draft documents are still subject to public
consultation. It recommends that if planning permission is granted, the
following conditions be attached to the decision notice:
Condition: Development shall not begin until a detailed surface water
drainage scheme for the site, based on drawing title Schematic Drainage
Layout, reference 18917-SK-500-01 Revision D, dated July 2011, and
incorporating sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the
hydrological and hydrogeological context of the development, has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning Authority. The scheme
shall also include:
x
details of landscaping and habitat creation
x
details of protection and enhancement measures for the watercourse
x
details of how the scheme shall be maintained and managed after
completion.
The scheme shall subsequently be implemented in accordance with the
approved details before the development is completed.
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect
water quality and improve habitat and amenity.
Condition: If, during development, contamination not previously identified is
found to be present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise
agreed in writing with the Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the
developer has submitted, and obtained written approval from the Planning
Authority for, a scheme of remedial measures detailing how this unsuspected
69

Page 69

contamination shall be dealt with. The scheme shall thereafter be carried out
in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect controlled waters.
6.27 It also recommends that in order to maximise the potential for heat recovery
the applicant enters into an appropriate legal agreement to support the
delivery of the necessary infrastructure that would be required to supply
future neighbouring users of the recovered energy and heat.
6.28 English Heritage objects to the proposal and consider that planning
permission should be refused in the context of the development plan policies
and the NPPF. Whilst it accepts that the proposal will not result in physical
impacts to the significance of designated heritage assets, it disagrees with
the conclusions reached in the applicant’s submitted information. It considers
that the proposals will result in substantial cumulative harm to the historic
environment through impacts to the significance of the number of heritage
assets and specifically to their settings. Whilst it accepts that the impacts to
the settings of individual receptors could not be regarded as substantial harm
in themselves, the cumulative effect of a number of such impacts is
considered to constitute substantial harm to the historic environment that
includes scheduled ancient monuments and Listed Buildings. In particular it
does not consider that the views in-combination have been carefully
considered and that consequently the full effects of the proposals upon the
historic environment have not been teased out from the mass of data.
Furthermore it is not considered that the proposals could achieve substantial
public benefits that would outweigh the impacts on heritage assets. It is not
convinced it is possible to mitigate visual impact of the development in a
practical or realistic way. The application is recommended for refusal as it
would result in substantial harm to the historic environment and that this is
not considered an appropriate location for such a development.
6.29 The Highways Agency (HA) in its comments stated that it is satisfied with
the review of predicted development trip generation and trip distribution. It
accepts that the waste proposals would not result in a material change in
local traffic conditions when compared to existing B8 warehouse distribution
development consents for the Javelin Park proposal site. It is satisfied with
the review of network committed development and future traffic growth. It
concurs with the findings of the Transport Assessment with respect to the
likely environmental impact of predicted waste development traffic. It makes
no objections to the conclusions of the Transport Assessment with respect to
day to day plant operational scenarios. The Highways Agency accepts that
construction HGV demand would not exceed ultimate day-to-day operation of
the proposed plant and therefore no further assessment of construction HGV
70

Page 70

impact is necessary. The Highways Agency consultation response
ultimately concluded that it was clear that the day-to-day operational impact
of the proposed residual waste scheme would have a similar, if not reduced,
network operational traffic impact when compared to the existing B8
distribution warehouse development permissions at Javelin Park. However,
in order to allow the withdrawal of the existing Highways Agency TR110
holding objection, further information and clarification was required with
respect to the following matters:
1.
Provision of the Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) WDA
weighbridge data in order to allow validation of the core waste
development traffic demand profile assumptions set out in the formal
Transport Assessment document.
2.
Clarification from GCC WDA that the proposals for bulk transfer of
waste to the site from Waste Transfer Stations located in outlying
County Districts is appropriate.
3.
Additional details from the applicant setting out how construction staff
traffic demand would likely be managed, particularly during AM & PM
‘rush hour’ peaks and what the effects of maximum construction traffic
might be on operation of M5 J12.
6.30 Following submission of additional information as part of the Regulation 22
process, the HA withdrew its holding objection subject to conditions being
attached to any permission requiring amongst other items that a Construction
Traffic Management Plan be submitted and approved prior to
commencement, and a comprehensive Travel Plan be prepared and agreed
prior to occupation. These conditions are as follows:
1. The construction of the development hereby permitted shall not
commence until there has been a construction traffic management plan
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and
Local Highway Authority (in consultation with the Highways Agency
acting on behalf of the Secretary of State for Transport). The plan shall
include construction vehicle movements, construction vehicular routes to
and from the site, contractors, specific measures to be adopted to
mitigate construction impacts in pursuance of the Environmental Code of
Construction Practice and a scheme to encourage the use of Public
Transport amongst contractors. The development plan shall be carried
out strictly in accordance with the approved construction management
plan.
2. A comprehensive Travel Plan will be developed for all elements of the
development hereby permitted. The acceptability of the travel plan will
need to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and Local
Highway Authority (who shall consult with the Highways Agency on
71

Page 71

behalf of the Secretary of State for Transport), in advance of the
occupation of the development.
The Travel Plan will need to be prepared in line with prevailing policy and
best practice and shall include as a minimum:
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

The identification of targets for trip reduction and modal shift
The methods to be employed to meet these targets
The mechanisms for monitoring and review
The mechanisms for reporting
The penalties to be applied in the event that targets are not met
The mechanisms for mitigation
Implementation of the travel plan to an agreed timescale or timetable
and its operation thereafter
Mechanisms to secure variations to the Travel Plan following
monitoring and reviews

A review of the targets shall be undertaken within 3 months of the
occupation of the development, and on an annual basis thereafter, at the
time of submission of the annual Travel Plan Report
Reason(s) for the direction given at b), c) or d) overleaf and the period of
time for a direction at e) when directing that the application is not granted
for a specific period:
1. In the interest of highway safety, the efficient operations of the local
and trunk road networks, and to safeguard the amenities of
neighbouring residents.
2. In order that the development promotes public transport, walking and
cycling, and limits the reliance on the private car.
6.31 The Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment
(CABE)/Design Council has no objection to the proposal. It commends the
EfW facility design considering that it represents a high-quality design
solution, particularly as regard to the building's form and how it is viewed in
the local context. However, it considers more work is necessary with regard
to the detailing of the facility to ensure that the comprehensive design
solution is achieved. In particular it has drawn attention to the detailing of the
cladding panels and the appearance of the stack as two aspects requiring
further consideration to ensure the longevity of the buildings appearance and
ultimately the success of the design. These are matters CABE has proposed
be addressed through conditions and negotiated at the local level.
72

Page 72

6.32 The Health Protection Agency (HPA) was invited by Gloucestershire
County Council (GCC) and Gloucestershire Primary Care Trust (PCT) to
provide comment on the application. It concluded that overall the predicted
emissions from the proposed installation will be compliant with the Waste
Incineration Directive. The HPA undertook specific analysis with particular
regard to cadmium as a substance for which results indicated that the
tolerable daily intake for children may already be exceeded at background. It
has confirmed that the contribution from the facility makes only a very small
addition to the total burden arising (from food). Any additional health risk
from this exposure, as reported in the applicant's human health risk
assessment, is considered to be negligible. As such the assessment
presented in the ES is considered to be a robust approach and in line with
standard Human Health Risk Assessment methodologies. The proposal will
not be able to operate without a permit from the Environment Agency that
must be satisfied that the installation will be operated appropriately and meet
Waste Incineration Directive emission limits. HPA’s general position is that
modern, well-managed incinerators only make a small contribution to levels
of air pollutants and any impact on health is likely to be small and not
detectable.
6.33 NHS Gloucestershire the Primary Care Trust (PCT) for Gloucestershire is
requested to comment on certain types of application, where health issues
may be a consideration. Its initial response made a number of points: It
commented on the absence of coverage of PM 2.5 levels in the Human
Health Risk Assessment. It considers that the proposal would make a
positive contribution to employment and this links to improvements in health.
Co-location of businesses that could utilise heat should be reviewed as new
businesses could be attracted to the area as a result of any free heat.
Consideration should be given to deferring consideration of the application
until results of an HPA study on the potential link between incinerators and
health outcomes due in March 2014. Odour may have an impact but this is
not possible to assess as no information provided. A more detailed traffic
assessment would be useful to aid understanding concerning noise and
particulates. Psychosocial and mental health impacts should also be
assessed. Noise assessment does not consider impacts on local agricultural
workers and residents at the nearby travellers’ site and from any back-up
generator that might be needed. The applicant responded to this through the
Regulation 22 process following which NHS Gloucestershire confirmed it has
not identified any significant health concerns and deferred to the current
expert advice provided by the HPA.
6.34 The PCT provided further comments in December 2012 on the additional
information provided by the applicant. It raises some concerns over how the
73

Page 73

noise assessment takes account of idling HGVs, and what measures can be
taken to address noise and particulate emissions from idling/queuing HGVs.
6.35 National Grid has no objection as the proposal does not impact on any of its
assets.
6.36 Gloucestershire County Council Highways overall has no objection
subject to conditions. The development would not result in any material
detriment to the operation of the local highway network and would actually
result in a slight net improvement in traffic conditions set against the
alternative of a B8 warehouse development. Satisfactory opportunities for
sustainable transport to the site in terms of walking, cycling and use of bus
modes have been taken up by the applicant. A safe and suitable access to
the site can be achieved for all people. The proposed level of parking for
cars, motorcycles and bicycles is adequate. Detail of motorcycle/bicycle
parking spaces should be conditioned. Proposals for routeing HGVs via an
HGV Management Plan are welcomed and a requirement for such a plan
should be included in conditions. The proposed Travel Plan and associated
initiatives should be secured by way of a planning condition. The limited net
increase in traffic flows generated by the proposed development is not
significant and would not have a severe impact on the surrounding highway
network.
6.37 The following conditions were proposed:
Condition 1
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted the vehicular
access shall be laid out and constructed in accordance with the submitted
plans with the area of access road within at least 50m of the carriageway
edge of the public road surfaced in bound material, and shall be maintained
for the duration of the development.
Reason: - To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring the access is
suitably laid out and constructed.

74

Page 74

Condition 2
The buildings hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the vehicular
parking and turning and loading/unloading facilities have been provided in
accordance with the submitted plans and those facilities shall be maintained
available for those purposes for the duration of the development.
Reason:- To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that adequate
parking and manoeuvring facilities are available within the site.
Condition 3
No works shall commence on site on the development hereby permitted until
full details of a shared pedestrian and cycle link to be provided between the
B4008 and the visitor and staff entrances have been submitted to and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and the link shall then be
constructed in accordance with those agreed details before any of the
buildings hereby permitted are occupied.
Reason:- To reduce potential conflict between vehicular and pedestrian
traffic.
Condition 4
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of
secure and covered cycle storage facilities for a minimum of 10 bicycles has
been made available in accordance with details to be submitted to and
approved in writing by the LPA.
Reason:- To ensure that adequate cycle parking is provided and to promote
cycle use
Condition 5
No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the local planning authority. The approved Statement shall be
adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall:
i. specify the type and number of vehicles;
ii. specify the operating hours and vehicle delivery hours;
iii. provide for the parking and manoeuvring of vehicles of site operatives
and visitors;
iv. provide for the loading and unloading of plant and materials;
v. provide for the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the
development;
vi. provide for wheel washing facilities;
vii. specify off site construction vehicle routing (including local signage
strategy);
viii. specify details of supporting staff / operative travel management
initiatives; and
75

Page 75

ix. specify details of the management of abnormal loads.
Reason: To reduce the potential impact on the public highway.
6.38 Gloucestershire County Council Waste Planning Policy made detailed
comments:
x
The proposal potentially meets the full capacity gap for MSW waste
recovery and could potentially meet the bulk of the capacity gap
requirements to divert C&I waste currently going to disposal by landfill
in Gloucestershire in accordance with the waste hierarchy. The
proposal accords with WCS policy on need requirements for waste
recovery.
x
Clarification should be sought regarding the fraction and sustainability
of any C&I waste arisings which might be imported from outside the
county
x
Javelin Park is identified as a strategic waste recovery site for the
management of residual MSW and C&I waste in WCS Core Policy
WCS 6. The Inspector’s report on the WCS includes a summary of his
reservations regarding development at this site (as well as the four
others). The lack of suitable alternative sites and introduction of
flexibility into policy WCS6, allowed him to find the allocation sound.
The Inspector had particular concerns regarding compliance with the
Habitats Regulations and landscape impact associated with the
development at this site and these matters should therefore be
considered with care.
x
Visual impacts on the landscape and of the setting of the AONB are
important and have to be considered against Core policies WCS14 and
WCS 17 and relevant criteria in Appendix 5.
x
Highways impacts need to be considered against policy WCS19. Noted
that unimplemented existing permitted B8 would have highway impacts.
x
Flood risk impacts need to be assessed against policy WCS12. Noted
that development involves a significant engineering operation and
sinking below ground levels.
x
HRA issues were a significant and contentious matter in the discussion
at the WCS Independent Examination. Relevant emissions readings
provided by the applicant are similar to those produced in support of the
site allocation in the WCS. It is noted that readings are below levels
which might trigger the need for an Appropriate Assessment under the
HRA Regulations. Screening to establish whether AA is required should
be undertaken. Relevant policies are WCS15, WCS6 (b) and WCS10.
x
There may be issues regarding the impact to the setting of various
historic assets located near to the site which need to be considered.
Relevant policy is WCS16.

76

Page 76

x
x
x

x

x

Cumulative impacts need to be assessed against policy WCS10 taking
into account development of a waste facility at Moreton Valence.
The proposal should be consistent with WCS2 regarding waste
reduction.
The proposal to recycle bottom ash from the facility, which would
potentially produce a substitute for primary aggregate is a better option
than disposal to landfill and is supported by policy. This activity should
be assessed for consistency with policy WCS4.
The proposal does not constitute a major renewable energy
infrastructure project under S15 (2) of the Planning Act 2008. The
electricity produced is sustainable and makes a contribution towards
renewable energy needs. This appears to be a by-product the need for
which should be assessed in the context of the primary purpose of
which is to manage residual MSW.
The need for renewable energy provided by the facility should be
assessed against energy policy as well as the NPPF. The proposal
would make a greater contribution to energy efficiency if CHP was
adopted as part of the proposal. The WCS doesn’t include any energy
targets.

Further comments were made by the Waste Policy Team in January 2013:
x

x

x

The Waste Policy Team within County as the Waste Planning Authority
has recommended the imposition of a condition that is concerned with the
origin of waste arisings. It is the view of the team that as there has been
no justification to manage waste from outside of the county then there is
no alternative but to place a restriction on the importation of waste from
outside the county. The WPA accepts that waste should be managed
within its own areas and recognises that there could be movements of
waste across borders where this meets other objectives. WCS Policy 6
(c) is in place in order to implement this policy.
If it were the intention to manage only waste arisings in Gloucestershire
then Waste Core Strategy Policy 6 (c) doesn’t apply. If there is an
intention to manage waste from outside of the county then this has not
been demonstrated to be the most sustainable option to the satisfaction
of the WPA. It is considered that in order to be compliant with Core
Strategy Policy 6 (c) and to ensure that the movement of waste is
specifically controlled measureable limits should be placed on the
locational origin of waste being brought to the site.
It is recommended that the following condition be imposed:
“Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Waste Planning Authority there
will be no importation of residual waste to be accepted for processing at
the site from outside the administrative area of Gloucestershire. Records
of the source of waste shall be maintained by the operator with summary
data being provided to the Waste Planning Authority within 7 days of any
written request.”
77

Page 77

Reason: To ensure that identified need for this waste facility is managing
waste from within Gloucestershire in order that the importation of residual
waste is undertaken in a manner compatible and is consistent with Core
Policy WCS6(c) of the Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy (2012).

6.39 Gloucestershire County Council County Ecologist provided detailed
comments including on mitigation of potential effects in 2 consultation
responses. The first in June and the second in September 2012:
Summary of Advice in memo dated 14th June 2012:
6.40 With regard to the construction phase the County Ecologist advised that a
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) with specific ‘method
statements’ for mitigation of potential effects on bats, badgers, breeding
birds, reptiles, and to protect water quality and manage water, if implemented
would provide the necessary safeguards to protect biodiversity on and away
from the site during this phase. The County Ecologist concluded that the
design of the development together with the proposed mitigation measures
(CEMP) make it very unlikely that bats would be adversely affected or
require the need for a derogation licence to be obtained from Natural
England under Regulation 53 of the Habitats Regulations. With regard to
overall enhancement the County Ecologist noted that the SuDS features
being proposed may have some local biodiversity benefits and should be
embedded into a Landscape and Ecological Management Scheme.
6.41 With regard to the applicant’s Habitats Regulations screening assessment of
effects on European Sites (including SPA, SAC and Ramsar sites) the
County Ecologist identified the only substantive issue as potential air quality
changes from the EfW emissions. The County Ecologist advised that the air
quality assessment part of the Habitats Regulations Screening Assessment
appeared to be appropriate, and that the advice of Natural England and the
Environment Agency on the validity of the applicant’s conclusion is required.
As regards in combination effects, based on Environment Agency advice, if
there are a number of thermal waste treatment sites operating together, all of
which contributed less than 1% of the critical load to a European site, then
there should be no in-combination effects to consider. It was not clear
whether any other plans and projects have been considered in-combination
with the proposed EfW in another way and so the WPA should cite which
plans and projects might be significant to consider in regard to this issue.
6.42 The County Council as WPA is a competent authority under Regulation 7 of
Habitats Regulations meaning that the WPA must, before deciding to give
78

Page 78

permission for a planning proposal which is likely to have a significant effect
on any European Site (either alone or in combination with other plans and
projects), make an Appropriate Assessment of the implications in view of a
European site’s conservation objectives. The County Ecologist advised that
the final advice to the WPA would record how an opinion as to whether the
County Council needs to carry out an Appropriate Assessment of this waste
application was reached. This opinion can then be considered when a
decision is made on the planning application.
6.43 With regard to National Sites (including SSSIs and NNRs) the County
Ecologist concluded that habitat loss and dust impacts can be screened out
as having significant impact due to the distance away from the nationally
designated sites. A robust CEMP would manage construction risks which for
some national sites is the prevention of water pollution. Operational threats
of water and air pollution would be controlled by an Environment Agency
Environmental Permit. Air quality impacts are considered and concluded that
they would not be significant to national sites.
6.44 With regard to local sites the County Ecologist recommended that a CEMP
would enable construction risks to be managed effectively.
6.45 The County Ecologist noted that Natural England considered the survey
effort, assessments of impacts and mitigation proposals satisfactory and did
not raise any concerns for habitats and species on or near the site subject to
the measures to enhance the stream habitat for bats, minimise light spillage
and avoidance of disturbance to little ringed plover are implemented
successfully.
6.46 The County Ecologist made the following recommendations:
Pre-determination:
Further information as follows to be submitted at the earliest convenience.
1. On the advice of Natural England the use of Hydrogen Fluoride (HF)
critical levels on APIS (Air Pollution Information System) for both 1 and 3
months in addition to using a short term HF critical level as a daily mean
needs to be evaluated by the applicant. GCC should request an
additional evaluation statement from the applicant to pass to Natural
England with a request for them to state their advice as to:
a) whether the proposal is likely to have a significant effect on the
internationally important interest features of any European Site, alone
or in combination with other plans and projects; AND
b) whether the proposal is likely to have a significant effect on any SSSI.

79

Page 79

GCC should seek their advice on the effect of the EfW proposal on
designated sites in combination with other plans and projects (we should
list the main ones for them to consider).
2. GCC should clarify with the applicant if, other than the in-built
assumption about in-combination effects within the air quality modelling
methodology, whether any other plans and projects have been
considered in-combination with the proposed EfW in another way. The
WPA to cite which plan and projects might be significant to consider in
regard to this issue.
3. GCC should obtain a specific evaluation by the applicant’s ecologist on
the lux plan for the lighting on the western side of the development which
takes account of the proposed landscaping especially with respect to
light sources from the building being visible to and disturbing bats.
Assurance that light disturbance to foraging bats has been fully
minimised at this part of the site is needed. Some additional landscaping
(trees) might be needed to better mitigate light impact.
4. A Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) needs to be
presented by the applicant to provide assurance that legally protected
species, habitats and nearby sites will not be unduly affected. The CEMP
should including the following relevant items:
a) Text containing measures to avoid or mitigate impact on legally
protected species, valued existing habitat and nearby sites. The text
should be based on the draft Landscape and Ecological Management
Plan and also Chapters 5, 9 and 11 but particularly Section 9.5 and
Table 9.12 of the Environmental Statement.
b) Measures that demonstrate that impacts on bats can be avoided
and/or minimised in such a way that an EPS licence is not likely to be
required, or that if an EPS licence is necessary it will be likely to be
granted by Natural England. This to include temporary lighting
considerations and any tree loss.
c) Measures to avoid harm to badgers and reptiles should they occur just
prior to construction activity commencing (e.g. a survey before
construction begins, actions in respect of restricting access to open
pits/trenches etc. if needed)
d) Measures to protect habitat that may be used or become used by little
ringed plover or other breeding birds
e) Measures for any other protected species as may be unexpectedly
discovered
If acceptable the CEMP should form part of any permission if granted.
80

Page 80

5. Revision of the SuDS to satisfy EA concerns is required, i.e. in respect of
biodiversity provision of swales, wetland filters, set back outfalls and
other measures.
Summary of advice in memo dated 19/09/12:
6.47 ‘Supplementary Air Quality Information’ submitted by the applicant
addressed the Hydrogen fluoride issue raised by Natural England. None of
the figures in the results exceed 1% of the Critical Load. Using
recommended Environment Agency and Natural England methodology such
figures lead to the conclusion that the development (alone or in combination)
would not be likely to give rise to significant effects on European Sites. With
regard to lighting and bats the County Ecologist was satisfied that the
applicant had addressed the issue that showed that for the main bat activity
season (when there could be a significant impact on bats) the southern and
western stream corridors remain useable for foraging/commuting. The
County Ecologist did not consider that remaining potential for disturbance
represents a significant impact and the mitigation measures to minimise light
spillage from internal lighting of the western elevation during the hours of
darkness were appropriate and could be left to condition later as part of any
permission. Overall the enhancement of the stream corridor will be beneficial
to bats. The County Ecologist agreed with the conclusion that temporary
lighting during the construction phase of the development would not impact
significantly on foraging/commuting bats. The design of the development
together with the proposed mitigation measures make it very unlikely that
bats would be adversely affected or require the need for a derogation licence
to be obtained from Natural England under Regulation 53 of the Habitats
Regulations.
6.48 The final CEMP (to be drawn up by/with the contractor) needs to be
conditioned as part of any planning permission that may be granted. In
respect of this matter a collection of ecology related method statements have
been produced that will be incorporated into a final CEMP.
JP/CEMP/4/1 ‘Management of Fuels, Oils, Chemicals and Other Hazardous
and Polluting Substances’.
JP/CEMP/3/1 ‘Procedure for Water Management’
JP/CEMP/5/1 ‘Ecology – Bat Method Statement’
JP/CEMP/5/2 ‘Ecology – Badger Method Statement’
JP/CEMP/5/3 ‘Ecology – Breeding Birds Method Statement’
JP/CEMP/5/4 ‘Ecology – Reptile Method Statement’
6.49 Management of SuDS features should be embedded into a final Landscape
and Ecological Management Scheme which needs to be submitted if the
development is granted permission.
81

Page 81

6.50 The County Ecologist made the following recommendations:
Pre-determination:
1 The applicant to provide a revised version JP/CEMP/5/1 ‘Ecology – Bat
Method Statement’ of this document with a small correction included.
2 GCC to obtain the views of Natural England about the further information
on Hydrogen Fluoride and also their final advice on whether the
development proposal is likely to have a significant effect on a European
Site (either alone or in combination with other plans or projects).
3 After taking into account the views of Natural England and also ideally
the Environment Agency on European Site impact the WPA, as
competent authority under the Habitats Regulations, should record its
conclusion through the completion of a written Habitats Regulations
Assessment (HRA).
If the HRA concludes that the development proposal is not likely to have
a significant effect on a European Site (either alone or in combination
with other plans or projects) then permission for the development could
be granted. The County Ecologist recommended that should the
development be subsequently permitted then the following items should
be attached:
1. Condition – A Landscape and Ecological Management Scheme based
on the Proposed Landscape Plan Drawing Number GCC-ISRS-LAN942-03-01 and Appendix 8.7 and Table 9.12 of the Environmental
Statement shall be submitted to and approved by the WPA prior to the
commencement of the development. The scheme shall be carried out
as approved by the WPA.
Reason: To conserve and enhance biodiversity and local amenity in
accordance with Policy WCS12 of the WCS (nearing adoption) and
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act
2006 which confers a general biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities.
2. Condition – Prior to the commencement of the development for both
the construction and operational phases a Lighting Scheme shall be
submitted to the WPA for approval in writing. The Scheme is to be
based on Appendix 5.2 Lighting Design Report dated 2011, Section 3
and Appendices of the Argus Ecology Report dated 15th August 2012
and JP/CEMP/5/1 ‘Ecology - Bat Method Statement. The scheme
shall include the following details
i)
the position, height and type of all lighting,
ii)
the intensity of lighting and spread of light (Lux plans),
iii) the measures proposed to minimise impact of the lighting on
bats and the environment generally including the particular
82

Page 82

measures for reducing light spill from internal lighting of the
western elevation
iv) the periods of day and night when such lighting will be used for
construction, operational, maintenance and emergency needs.
The approved scheme shall be implemented for the duration of the
development.
Reason: To ensure the foraging and commuting of bats is not
discouraged at this location in accordance with ODPM Circular
06/2005 and Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act 2006 which confers a general biodiversity duty upon
Local Authorities whilst exercising their functions.
3. Condition – For submission of the CEMP the text below provides a
useful template and incorporates ecology alongside other matters
(which may not be an exhaustive list).
No development hereby permitted shall commence until a
Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) is submitted to
and approved in writing by the WPA. The approved CEMP shall be
implemented for the duration of the development prior to operation.
The CEMP shall include the following items:
Hours of working
Travel Plan
Ecology
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)
vi)

JP/CEMP/5/1 ‘Ecology – Bat Method Statement’ or Method
Statement based on the contents of JP/CEMP/5/1
JP/CEMP/5/2 ‘Ecology – Badger Method Statement’ or Method
Statement based on the contents of JP/CEMP/5/2
JP/CEMP/5/3 ‘Ecology – Breeding Birds Method Statement’ or
Method Statement based on the contents of JP/CEMP/5/3
JP/CEMP/5/4 ‘Ecology – Reptile Method Statement’ or Method
Statement based on the contents of JP/CEMP/5/4
A plan to identify all vegetation including trees to be retained on
site and details of their protection.
Management of injurious plants or invasive non-native species.

Dust
vii)

A scheme to demonstrate how the impacts of dust shall be
minimised during the construction of the development.
viii) A scheme to demonstrate that no mud, dust or debris shall be
deposited on the public highway.
83

Page 83

Noise
ix)

A scheme to minimise and mitigate the impacts of noise and
vibration (including on-site vehicles, plant and machinery) during
the construction phase of the development.

Visual Impact
x)

A scheme to show how construction works on site will be
managed to mitigate their visual impact, including keeping the
site tidy and details for the storage of materials.

Water Management
xi)

P/CEMP/3/1 ‘Procedure for Water Management’ or Method
Statement based on the contents of JP/CEMP/3/1.

Management of Hazardous and Polluting Substances
xii)

JP/CEMP/4/1 ‘Management of Fuels, Oils, Chemicals and Other
Hazardous and Polluting Substances’ or Method Statement
based on the contents of JP/CEMP/4/1.

Reason – To protect the environment and local amenity in accordance
with paragraphs 36, 109, 120, 123 and 125 of the NPPF and local
policy
4.

Advice Note - In relation to the County Council’s Service Level
Agreement with the Local Biological Records Centre and to assist
in the strategic conservation of countywide biodiversity, all species
and habitat records from the ecological work commissioned by the
applicant should be copied [preferably in electronic format] to the
Gloucestershire Centre for Environmental Records (GCER).

The County Ecologist considered these recommendations to be in
accordance with the WCS (nearing adoption), NPPF and ODPM
Circular 06/2005 and in accordance with Section 40 of the Natural
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (this confers a general
biodiversity duty upon Local Authorities whilst exercising their
functions).
6.51 The County Ecologist also prepared a Habitats Regulations Screening
Assessment (February 2013), which concluded that it is not likely that there
84

Page 84

would be significant effects on any European site from the Javelin Park EfW
development either alone or in-combination with other plans and projects.
6.52 Gloucestershire County Council County Archaeologist made no
objection in respect of impact on below ground archaeological remains within
the application site. There are potential archaeological issues arising from
grid connection power lines to the development, whether these are sited over
or underground. However, due to its nature and scale, and the character of
the historic landscape, the County Archaeologist believes that the impact on
the character of the historic landscape is underestimated by the applicant
citing 'discrepancies' in the applicant’s assessments of impacts. The
proposed development will have no impact on heritage assets within the
application site but will have an adverse effect on the historic landscape of
the area, and will result in harm to the setting of some of the most significant
heritage assets in the vicinity of the application site. In the context of the
NPPF (especially policies 132-134), and of local planning policies, planning
permission should therefore be refused unless it can be demonstrated that
the development is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh this
harm.
6.53 Gloucestershire County Council Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)
requested that a Stage 3 FRA be undertaken. Consultants acting on behalf
of the LLFA concluded that further information is required before a full
assessment of groundwater flood risk and means of managing this could be
made. Concerns were based on the effect of dewatering and risk of
subsidence, including of the M5. The LLFA’s consultants recommended that
a detailed hydrogeological risk assessment be undertaken with an emphasis
on groundwater flux, interception and flooding is required. In response to
further information supplied by the applicant it was concluded that the issue
could be overcome through attaching a suitable condition to any permission
granted.
6.54 The LLFA provided further comments in December 2012 on the additional
information provided by the applicant as part of the Regulation 22 process.
This stated that water flows need to be prevented from spilling back on to the
B4008 for any proposal to be acceptable, and this could be achieved by
working with Gloucestershire Highways to ensure their culverts at this point
are capable.
6.55 The Gloucestershire Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) objects
to the proposal on the grounds that it is not needed to manage
Gloucestershire’s waste; other alternative technologies and configurations of
facilities have not been considered; there has been insufficient co-operation
with neighbouring authorities contrary to the Duty to Cooperate; there will be
85

Page 85

damage to the landscape and setting of the Cotswolds AONB. Its initial
objection included that consideration of the proposal prior to the publication
of the WCS Inspector’s report would be premature. Further comments were
received on 10 September concerning the report of the Inspector and his
conclusions on the need for residual waste management capacity. The
capacity of the proposed facility is not needed to meet Gloucestershire’s
residual waste disposal requirements as waste growth has been overestimated. The WCS identifies other sites and it can be assumed that these
will come forward and so there will be less residual waste available for
management at Javelin Park. The proposal cannot rely on attracting C&I
waste as some may go to other facilities in the region. Overcapacity will
result in waste being diverted from recycling contrary to WLP 15 of the
Waste Local Plan (WLP), or spare capacity will manage waste from outside
the County contrary to statements in the draft WCS and no statement has
been produced that this proposal will be the most sustainable option in
accordance with policy WCS4(c). Reductions in greenhouse gas emissions
are not substantiated. The consideration of alternatives is flawed because:
technologies have been assessed in isolation and not with regard to Javelin
Park; excessive weight placed on GCC choosing EFW for its reference case
in PFI application; Javelin Park is not free from environmental constraints
due to landscape sensitivity; option of multiple sites has not been assessed.
Assessment of opportunities to use facilities in neighbouring counties has not
been explored so cannot be demonstrated that proposal offers the most
sustainable option. The visual effects will be highly damaging to the
Cotswolds AONB and the local landscape and mitigation will not be possible.
6.56 The Cotswolds Conservation Board (CCB) objects to the proposal and it
considers that it is contrary to the NPPF, Policy 26 of the Gloucestershire
Waste Local Plan and Policy NE8 of the Stroud Local Plan. In particular the
Board is concerned about the visual impact of the development both locally
and on the Cotswolds AONB. There will be a large magnitude of change in
landscape character because the proposal will be a prominent feature. The
impact of views from the Cotswold Way would result in a major significant
effect. Development is not in the national interest and the impact of views
from the AONB cannot be mitigated and so remains contrary to Policy 26 of
the WLP. CCB notes that Policy 26 was not saved but its view is that this
should still be a material consideration.
6.57 The CCB provided further representations in December 2012 on the
additional information provided as part of the Regulation 22 process. It
makes reference to Stinchcombe windfarm appeal (dismissed) and the
weight given by Inspector to the length of the National Trail from which the
development is visible (drawing parallel to the applicant’s assessment of the
visual impact of Javelin Park) and that impacts on setting and views from the
86

Page 86

AONB conflict with policy. CCB continues to consider that the proposal is
contrary to the NPPF, Policy 26 of the Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan [nb
this is not saved] and Policy NE8 of the Stroud Local Plan, and therefore
Board maintains its objection to these proposals.
6.58 County Councillor Blackburn objects on the grounds that the design is
ugly and does not fit into the local community and will be an overbearing
presence in all local views. He also calls for the owners of The Lodge and
the residents or business owners in the parishes of Haresfield, Hardwicke
and Standish adversely affected by the Javelin Park Waste facility or traffic
or activities arising from the development to be compensated. He asserts
that there should be 5 or 7 smaller sites closer to the source of waste. The
residual waste capacity requirement is less than the capacity of the facility.
The facility will discourage recycling and will have to import waste. Objection
is raised to the technology that results in harmful emissions. Local
topography and weather conditions will mean emissions affect local
communities and environment. Any permission should be conditional on
more up to date technology being employed, monitors placed outside the
plant to check emissions, requirement to supply heat for district heating.
There will be an adverse impact due to increased traffic resulting from the
facility. There has been a lack of proper community engagement.
6.59 Gloucestershire Friends of the Earth objects on the grounds that an
Appropriate Assessment of the effects of the development is required, and
questions the use of the ADMS stack emissions dispersal model rather than
the AERMOD model that was used in the HRA of the Core Strategy. It also
objects to the proposal because there is a perception that there would be
local impacts on health; there is no proven need for the incinerator; there
would be adverse impacts on the local economy; there would be adverse
impacts on views from the AONB; there would be greater releases of
greenhouse gases than if the waste were managed in other ways. It
believes that the facility is too large to meet the local requirements for the
management of residual MSW. Reliance on C&I waste as a feedstock to
make up the difference between the requirement for the treatment of residual
MSW and the need to ensure the facility is operating at full capacity is
unrealistic and unsustainable. There is already more capacity for commercial
waste in Gloucestershire than local arisings and this leads to significant
levels of imports including over long distances. Overprovision would result in
lower gate fees for C&I waste. Most of the residual waste stream could be
recycled and recycling would provide more jobs. Innovation in the economy
through development of recycling businesses would be stifled.

87

Page 87

6.60 Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust (GWT) shares the views of Natural England
and endorses any views from Natural England regarding impacts on the
Cotswolds Commons and Beechwoods SSSI and SAC.

88

Page 88

7.0

DISCUSSION

7.1

This section of the report considers and assesses the merits of the proposal
against the development plan and other material considerations, including
national policy, taking into account the representations made on the
application during the public consultations including those made in relation to
the Environmental Statement and additional information provided by the
applicant.
NEED AND JUSTIFICATION

7.2

Policy
There is a clear need for the development of new waste management
facilities within Gloucestershire to reduce the amount of waste going to
landfill and to address Key Issue 9 and Strategic Objective 3 of the WCS.
Key Issue 9 identifies that there are currently no residual waste recovery
facilities for Municipal Solid Waste (MSW) for the waste that cannot be
recycled or composted and limited recovery capacity for Commercial &
Industrial (C&I) waste, leading to an over-reliance on landfill which needs to
be reversed. This also reflects requirements of European and national waste
policy including the need to drive management of waste away from disposal
to landfill and up the waste hierarchy. (see above).

7.3

The recently adopted WCS indicates that the WDA (WDA) is seeking to
procure landfill diversion capacity from 2015 for a period of 25 years, and it
estimates that provision needs to be made for the treatment of between
112,000 – 170,000 tonnes per annum (tpa) of residual MSW by 2040. It
identifies that this tonnage is likely to require either one large strategic site of
about 5 hectares or 2-3 smaller sites of about 2 hectares each.

7.4

The WCS makes provision for a maximum of 145,000tpa for the recovery of
MSW during the plan period to 2027.

7.5

The maximum residual MSW treatment requirement of 145,000 tpa in the
WCS reflects the most recent projections by the WDA which suggest that the
requirement during the plan period (to 2027) is between 108,000-145,000 tpa
depending on future rates of waste growth and the amount of waste which is
recycled.

7.6

The WCS identifies the need for waste recovery facilities with sufficient
capacity for the composting and recycling of between 91,000 to 111,000 tpa
and recovery of between 43,000 –73,000 tpa of C&I waste diverted from
landfill by 2020. This level of provision in total could be met on 1 large
89

Page 89

Strategic site (8 ha of land in total), 2 Strategic sites or possibly 3 to 4
smaller Strategic sites (of minimum 2 ha each).
7.7

Hence the total (MSW and C&I together) WCS requirement for additional
residual recovery capacity in Gloucestershire is identified as between
151,000 tpa (108,000 MSW plus 43,000 C&I) and 218,000 tpa (145,000
MSW plus 73,000 C&I) during the plan period to 2027.

7.8

These requirements are reflected in policy in Core Policy WCS6 - Other
Recovery (including energy recovery), which makes provision for the
following residual waste recovery capacity to achieve the WCS' landfill
diversion objectives:
x
MSW: Up to 145,000 tonnes/year
x
C&I: Up to 73,000 tonnes/year

7.9

Policy WCS6 states that planning permission will be granted for strategic
residual recovery facilities (defined as larger than 50,000 tonnes/year) within
the outline boundaries of the site allocations shown in Appendix 5, including
the application site at Javelin Park (Site 4). The policy requires criteria to be
satisfied including criterion (c) that any proposals for waste recovery are for
Gloucestershire’s waste needs unless it can be demonstrated, through a
supporting statement, that the management of waste arisings from outside of
the county at that facility would be the most sustainable option.

7.10 The Waste Framework Directive guidance on the application of the R1
efficiency formula in Annex II for incineration facilities (referred to in the WCS
at paragraph 2.52) specifies a minimum energy conversion efficiency value
that EfW plants need to reach to qualify as a ”recovery” operation rather
than waste disposal. The Environment Agency is the competent authority to
determine compliance with the formula and will do so through its own
determination process. The applicant has submitted an R1 Assessment
Application for the design stage, which is yet to be determined by the
Agency. At the design stage there will only be a provisional approval, and
confirmation of meeting R1 threshold can only take place following
commissioning and operation. R1 status is renewed on an annual basis.
7.11 The recent Defra publication ‘Energy from Waste – A Guide to the Debate’
(February 2013) clarifies existing policy and explicitly recognises this issue in
the following terms:
"The distinction between having R1 status or having a plant being
classified as a disposal facility is important for planning purposes and in
the application of the proximity principle. It is therefore important that
operators strive towards demonstrating that energy from waste is a
recovery operation according to the WFD definitions. Interested
90

Page 90

operators should contact the relevant competent authority who, based on
an application from the operator, will assess whether or not a municipal
solid waste combustion facility meets or exceeds the threshold and can
be considered a recovery operation." (para 52)
7.12 Advice from the Environment Agency is that the type of plant proposed
should meet the R1 efficiency threshold. Were it not to meet it then the
application would need to be considered as a facility that diverts waste from
landfill without meeting the strict definition of recovery. In that context the
DEFRA Guide states that:
"...energy recovery from residual waste has a lower greenhouse gas
impact than landfill. It would therefore be considered higher than landfill
in the waste hierarchy (paragraph 41)
7.13 In its draft decision document on the Determination of the Application for an
Environmental Permit (20th February 2013) the Agency acknowledges that
the applicant has calculated that the EfW will have an R1 factor of 0.72 when
generating electricity only (municipal waste incinerators must achieve an R1
factor of 0.65 to quality as recovery). The Agency goes on to state that:
“from the information provided in the EPR application we consider it likely
that the proposed plant design will meet the design stage criteria for the
plant to be considered as a ‘recovery’ operation in the context of the
WFD.
7.14 It should be noted that this plant is only one of two for which the Agency has
received an R1 application in the country.
7.15 It is therefore considered on that it is reasonable to treat the proposals as
being for waste recovery for planning purposes. Even if the plant were not to
be regarded as being for waste recovery, it nonetheless should be considered
positively in waste management terms since the incineration of waste with
generation of energy is considered preferable (from a climate change point of
view) when compared with the alternative of disposal to landfill.
7.16 Saved Policy WM5 of the adopted Gloucestershire Structure Plan 2nd
Review provides for energy from waste facilities in or near to the Gloucester/
Cheltenham area.
7.17 European (Landfill Directive, Waste Framework Directive) and national waste
policy (National Waste Strategy 2007, PPS10) require compliance with the
waste hierarchy, reduction in landfilling and increasing recovery of waste, with
recycling and composting prioritised over other forms of recovery such as
energy from waste unless otherwise justified.
91

Page 91

7.18 Regional planning policy (RPG10) includes targets for waste recovery to
2015 to contribute towards landfill reduction targets included to 2020 which
mirror those included in the EU Landfill Directive. The South West Regional
Waste Strategy (2004) which informed the 2008 Proposed Changes to the
(unadopted) South West Regional Strategy, which in turn informed the WCS,
includes an aim to ensure that less than 20% of waste is sent to landfill by
2020.
Planning Considerations
7.19 As described in Section 2 of this report, the proposed EfW facility would have
a maximum annual operational throughput of 190,000 tonnes of waste per
annum (tpa). The facility would manage primarily residual MSW delivered
under contract by Gloucestershire County Council but the application form
indicates that up to 65,000 tpa could be from C&I sources. The applicant
anticipates that in the first 5-10 years of operation (2015-2025) between twothirds and three-quarters of the waste treated at the facility would be residual
MSW and the remainder would be C&I waste. Thereafter the proportion of
residual MSW treated is likely to slowly increase. It is anticipated that the
facility would be in use for at least 30 years. This means that if the facility
were to commence operations in 2015, it would be operational until at least
2045.
7.20 It should be noted that the throughput figure provided is a nominal design
capacity determined by the thermal capacity of the plant. The actual
throughput would be determined by the nature of the waste being delivered
to the facility and in particular it’s calorific value (CV). CV determines how
much heat is produced when materials are combusted – the higher the CV
the more heat is produced. Combustion equipment is designed to operate
within a certain temperature range and therefore more or less waste may be
managed depending on how much heat that waste is likely to produce.
Changes to waste composition (and therefore CV) may result from, amongst
other things, recycling activity whereby certain materials are removed from
the waste stream, and this may mean the actual input could go up or down.
However 190,000tpa is considered by the applicant to be the average
throughput most likely to be achieved when taking into account the facility’s
thermal capacity which needs to be met to maintain the target energy output.
7.21 Residual waste is the term commonly used to describe the element of a
waste stream which remains after other constituent parts (e.g. glass, metals)
have been removed for recycling. This is described in the application as
waste which remains after the appropriate efforts have been made to reduce,
recycle or compost the waste, bearing in mind the prevailing local
92

Page 92

circumstances. Prevailing local circumstances which the applicant considers
would ensure that waste delivered to the facility is ‘residual’ include:
x
The County Council’s recycling aspirations for municipal waste
x
Economic drivers of landfill tax and gate fees for landfill and recovery
facility gate fees (which it is suggested would be higher than those at
recycling facilities).
7.22 The applicant’s rationale for developing a facility with a capability of dealing
with190,000 tpa of residual waste is based in part on information in the
Gloucestershire Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS 2007
to 2020) (JMWMS), which was published in April 2008, and the draft version
of the Gloucestershire WCS which was most current at the time of the
application (Revised Gloucestershire WCS, June 2011). It should be noted
that since the original application was submitted, the WCS has been adopted
and it includes slightly lower residual C&I waste recovery requirements (as
set out in paragraph 7.8 above). These changes were addressed in further
submissions made by the applicant in November 2012.
7.23 The JMWMS identifies that by 2020 the amount of residual MSW requiring
treatment (after minimisation, recycling and composting) will be in the region
of 150,000 tonnes, (or in a worst case scenario possibly 270,000 tonnes), of
residual MSW. The applicant anticipates that the total amount of MSW
requiring management (and in turn the amount of residual MSW) will
increase and this is due to the predicted increase in households. The
Gloucestershire Housing Trend Analysis and Population and Household
Projections Final report (May 2011) indicates that the number of households
in Gloucestershire is predicted to increase by at least 18% between 2009
and 2031 (an additional 56,600 households).
7.24 The WCS (Table 1) identifies that 375,000 tonnes of C&I waste was
produced in 2008. The applicant refers to a Core Strategy background paper
(Technical Paper WCS-A Waste Data Update 2010 - November 2010) which
identifies that 314,000 tonnes of C&I waste was landfilled in 2008.
Additionally the applicant notes that the 2010 Defra National C&I Waste
Survey identifies that 526,188 tonnes were produced in Gloucestershire in
2009, questions the reasons why this higher arisings figure was not taken
forward in the WCS, and proposes that this is in fact a more accurate
estimate. Reference is also made to projections that anticipate that between
110,000 and 120,000 tonnes of C&I waste will be landfilled by 2020 (Table
2b Technical Paper WCS-A Waste Data Update 2010 - November 2010).
The applicant considers that this waste should in fact be recovered in
accordance with the Waste Hierarchy and if this were done the maximum
requirement for the recovery of C&I waste would then be up to 193,000 tpa.
93

Page 93

7.25 The applicant also notes that the calculation of the C&I waste recovery
capacity gap assumes that capacity of 176,000tpa is already in existence
whereas the WCS states that there is no such capacity (paragraph 2.53). If
there is no such existing capacity, the applicant suggests the current
capacity gap is therefore a further 176,000tpa greater, standing at
369,000tpa.
7.26 The applicant suggests an alternative method for the identification of the
need for residual C&I waste recovery based on the following:
x There is no operational capacity for the treatment of residual C&I waste
in Gloucestershire (WCS, paragraph 2.53);
x The total amount of C&I waste arising is 526,188 tpa (see above)
x A recycling rate of 65% for C&I waste being achieved (65% being
considered to be ambitious).
7.27 This method suggests that the amount of residual C&I waste recovery
capacity required is 184,166 tpa (this is the amount remaining after 65% of
526,188 has been recycled).
Planning Considerations - Source of waste
7.28 With regard to the source of the waste, the applicant maintains that there is
‘no assumption’ that waste from outside of Gloucestershire would be
managed at the facility. However, this position is subject to the applicant’s
assessment of the amounts of residual waste arising in Gloucestershire
being realised. In any event the applicant considers that in principle the
facility is likely to represent the most sustainable management option for any
imported residual waste. The applicant’s position is based on:
a. recovery of residual waste will always be more sustainable than disposal
by landfill (as set out in the waste hierarchy);
b. the level of residual waste recovery capacity (existing and under
construction) elsewhere in the south-west is well below requirements;
c. waste would only be delivered to the facility if this was a viable
(economically sustainable) option;
d. the location of the facility adjacent to the M5 means that the transport of
waste from beyond the county could be more sustainable, in transport
terms, than if it were to be managed closer to its source and/or using
less suitable highways.
Discussion
7.29 WCS Policy WCS6 identifies a requirement for additional residual waste
recovery capacity in Gloucestershire of up to 218,000tpa. The amount of
94

Page 94

residual MSW and C&I landfill diversion capacity offered by this proposal
(190,000tpa) is clearly in line with this policy requirement and would make a
substantial contribution to its delivery.
7.30 It is difficult to be precise when determining future requirements for residual
waste treatment capacity which are based on two key factors as follows:
1. The amount of waste produced
2. The proportion of waste left over (residual waste) after separation for
recycling.
7.31 Objectors to the application have considered both these factors in their
arguments that a facility of the capacity being proposed is not required on the
grounds that:
i. Waste will not grow to the extent set out in the projections underpinning
the waste management capacity requirements in the WCS; and;
ii. The proportion of waste left over will be less than that predicted.
7.32 Waste projections are inherently uncertain and the amount of waste that will
require management and the requirements for residual waste recovery
capacity were considered at length and in detail at the WCS examination and
in the Inspector’s report, and ultimately reflected in the recovery requirement
set out in Policy WCS6. The examination took place in early 2012 and the
Inspector provided his report to the WPA in August 2012. In light of the fact
that this matter was considered so recently significant weight should be given
to the WCS and the requirements for waste treatment capacity identified
therein.
7.33 In support of their arguments that the facility is too large and is an inflexible
way of managing waste into the future, the Stroud District and
Gloucestershire Green Parties have referred to a recent Defra report
‘Forecasting 2020 Waste Arisings and Treatment Capacity’ (February 2012)
which includes forecasts of future household waste arisings. However, in
seeking permission for a facility intended to manage C&I waste as well as
MSW, the applicant has allowed for flexibility as it is intended that any
surplus capacity which might result from reduced arisings of MSW will be
utilised to manage waste from C&I sources.
7.34 As acknowledged in the WCS, while there have been advances in the
development of recycling and composting capacity there are no facilities
within the County offering capacity for the recovery of residual waste and, as
a result most of Gloucestershire’s waste is currently sent to landfill. Some
capacity has been permitted (32,000 tpa at Moreton Valance) and this was
taken into account in the WCS assessment of residual recovery
requirements.
95

Page 95

7.35 Taking the above into account it is clear that this proposal would meet the
majority of current and future WCS requirements for the recovery of
Gloucestershire’s residual waste, including all of the municipal waste and
potentially a large proportion of the C&I waste generated in the county,
helping to minimise the amount of waste sent to landfill. It is therefore
considered that the application is in conformity with policy WCS6 in terms of
providing required residual waste management capacity.
7.36 The proposal would also be in conformity with PPS10 objectives to, provide
sufficient capacity to meet needs, helping to deliver national and EU targets
particularly diversion of waste from landfill and in the process driving waste
management up the waste hierarchy.
7.37 In the absence of this facility and other proposals coming forward, even if the
60% recycling and composting target were to be achieved, a substantial
proportion of Gloucestershire’s MSW would continue to require
management. Similarly, C&I waste managed at this facility could also
continue to be disposed of to landfill as it is now. Such a position would run
counter to European, national and local objectives for the management of
waste.
7.38 While the applicant has stated there is no intention or assumption to import
waste to the facility, this position is predicated on the residual waste
production projections used to underpin this application being realised. The
applicant has therefore not categorically ruled out the possibility that, at
some point, it could be necessary to import waste from outside of the county
to ensure that the facility continues to operate at its optimum throughput. In
light of this, and the fact that WCS Policy WCS6 (c) requires that any
management of imported waste represents the ‘most sustainable option’, the
applicant makes a case that the facility would, indeed represent the most
sustainable option.
7.39 However, at this stage it is not possible for the applicant to be precise about
the source and nature of any waste to be imported or about the availability of
any alternative management options and so only an in principle case, based
on what is considered likely has been made at this stage and a condition is
therefore necessary to limit the source of waste to that arising within
Gloucestershire. However, it is considered that greater certainty is required
to meet the requirements of Policy WCS6(c). This does not mean that
WCS6(c) could not be satisfied in the future. Should the applicant wish to
import waste from outside of the County then an application to amend this
condition could be submitted at that time providing it was supported by
sufficient information to meet the requirements of Policy WCS6 (c) . The
96

Page 96

applicant’s resistance to the use of an associated condition is noted, but for
the reasons above it is proposed that any permission for this facility should
be conditional on controls on the source of waste to ensure compliance with
policy WCS6 (c).

7.40 In terms of conformity with policy, as the proposal is close to and accessible
from the main centres of population in the County of Gloucester, Cheltenham
and Stroud, and meets the provisions of the development plan, it is
consistent with Structure Plan (Second Review) Policies WM2 and WM5.
The proposal also appears consistent with Structure Plan Policy WM3 in
terms of providing EfW capacity to cater primarily for Gloucestershire’s
waste.
7.41 The WCS clearly identifies a need for the development of residual waste
recovery capacity and the capacity that would be provided by this facility if
consented and built, would make a substantial contribution to delivery of the
WCS policy objectives and to the waste management needs of
Gloucestershire. Many representations have questioned the need for a
facility of this size, fearing that it may hinder delivery of recycling and require
import of waste from outside of the County.
7.42 Since the capacity of the facility approaches the upper limit of required
capacity identified in the WCS it is therefore recommended conditions to
ensure the proposal accords with WCS Policy WCS6 to the effect that annual
throughput shall not exceed its nominal capacity of 190,000 tonnes and that
the facility shall only receive waste from within the county of Gloucestershire.
Its capacity is within the range of figures set out in the WCS as recently
considered and agreed as sound by the planning inspector. In addition, the
facility would operate beyond the plan period and most current longer-term
projections by the WDA indicate a growing requirement for residual waste
recovery capacity up to 2040. The requirements for residual waste recovery
capacity set out in the WCS take account of the JMWMS target to
compost/recycle at least 60% household waste by 2020. In the context of
national waste policy and other authorities this is considered to be an
ambitious target and so it is not considered that this proposal can be said to
be hindering recycling.
7.43 It is therefore concluded with regard to the need for this proposal in terms of
its provision of residual waste landfill diversion capacity that, subject to the
proposed condition, it accords with and makes a substantial contribution to
delivering WCS Policy WCS6 and with regional and national waste policy in
meeting the need for residual waste recovery capacity. It would provide for
the full residual MSW waste recovery requirement in Gloucestershire to be
97

Page 97

met and also for a substantial proportion of the capacity requirement for the
recovery of residual C&I waste identified in the WCS to be met, and driving
waste out of landfill - the option of last resort. In the event that the operator
of the facility wished to import waste to the facility from outside of
Gloucestershire it would be necessary for conformity with WCS policy WCS6
to be shown under the terms of the proposed condition.
LOCATION
Policy
7.44 Land at Javelin Park is identified as one of five sites for a strategic residual
recovery facility in Core Policy WCS 6 of the WCS (Appendix 2 of this report,
Figures 8 and 9). The identification and selection of Javelin Park in the WCS
reflects an extensive process of assessment by the County Council as both
the WPA and WDA. The process is summarised below to provide context.
7.45 The work carried out by the WPA initially assessed 329 potential sites within
Gloucestershire against exclusion criteria to screen out sites not considered
to be strategic, and then a shorter list of 110 sites were subjected to
assessments against more detailed criteria covering the following :
Highways; Flood Risk; Archaeology; Contaminated Land; Public Rights of
Way; Landscape; Geodiversity; Ecology/Biodiversity.
7.46 During the assessment process, four ‘zones’ (A to D) were identified into
which sites meeting the criteria fell. ‘Zone C’ was considered to be the
preferred locational area due to its consistency with national and regional
strategy which advises that waste should be disposed of near to where it is
produced. Zone C also avoids the floodplain and AONB and so is less
constrained than other areas. This process eliminated a further 43 sites and
the remaining sites were then assessed to establish their deliverability (in
accordance with paragraph 18 of PPS10) through establishing landowner
intentions and elimination of sites that were found to contain incompatible
development such as modern office blocks, hotels, retail or residential areas.
The process resulted in identification of the ten sites below. These were
subject to public consultation:
7.47 Sites within Zone C:
x
Industrial Est. Former Moreton Valence Airfield (Javelin Park)
x
Aschurch/Tewkesbury Industrial Estate (Easter Park area)
x
Wingmoor Farm West
x
Netheridge Sewage Treatment Works
x
Moreton Valence Airfield
98

Page 98

x
x
x
x
x

Railway Corridor (Land North of Railway Triangle)
Stroudwater Area (Nastend Farm)
Hunt’s Grove/Hardwick (Land adjacent to Quadrant Business Centre)
Wingmoor Farm East
The ‘Gilder Land’ nr Wingmoor Farm West

7.48 The following sites outside Zone C were included to allow a degree of
flexibility:
x
Foss Cross Industrial Estate
x
Hurst Farm, Lydney
x
Land at Lydney Industrial Estate (Part of)
7.49 The sites were then subject to a scoring process. The following sites were
given the highest scores for being suitable for the treatment of residual
household waste (ranked in order of score):
x
Javelin Park
x
Land at Moreton Valance
x
Netheridge Sewage Treatment Works
x
Wingmoor Farm West
x
Wingmoor Farm East.
7.50 Apart from the Netheridge STW site, which was eliminated due to
deliverability issues, the above sites were included in the final WCS for
examination. It should be noted that the Inspector agreed that their inclusion
was appropriate and the above sites are named in the adopted WCS Policy
WCS6.
7.51 The applicant states that both the WDA and WPA approaches used to
identify sites are considered sound and their conclusions are robust and
notes that both exercises identified the same four sites as suitable for
development of a strategic residual waste recovery facility.
7.52 The applicant’s own assessment of these four sites using criteria in Annex E
of PPS 10, concluded that Javelin Park is the least constrained for the
following reasons:
x
It is located outside of the Green Belt;
x
The site is a suitable shape, size and topography;
x
It is a brownfield site with permission for B8 use;
x
The site has excellent access to the strategic highway network;
7.53 The assessment also notes that the site:
x
Is relatively free from obvious environmental constraints and where the
site does have any identified constraints these are all minor with the
99

Page 99

x
x

exception of one moderate constraint (ostensibly associated with a
single residential property);
Has potential for utilisation of secondary heat produced from the
combustion process;
Is available and deliverable.

7.54 With regard to the three other sites assessed, the applicant found the land at
Moreton Valence has more constraints, in particular a large part of the
unoccupied site is Greenfield, access to the strategic highway network is
slightly constrained and it was considered to have less potential for
utilisation of heat. Wingmoor Farm East and Wingmoor Farm West are both
located within the Green Belt and this means that an EfW facility could not be
developed in either location unless very special circumstances were
demonstrated (reflecting national and emerging local Green Belt policy). This
would be especially difficult in light of the fact that there are other suitable
sites available (Javelin Park and Moreton Valance). The access to these
sites is also not as good as that to Javelin Park or Moreton Valance as it
would be necessary for HGVs to pass through settlements before reaching
the strategic highway network. In addition the applicant considers that there
may not be sufficient available land for an EFW at Wingmoor Farm West.
7.55 Through its own assessment, together with consideration of the WDA and
WPA site selection exercises, the applicant concludes that Javelin Park
represents the most suitable site for developing a strategic residual waste
recovery facility within Gloucestershire.
7.56 Appendix 5 of the WCS sets out general development criteria for all sites
identified in Policy WCS6. It also provides locational information associated
with Javelin Park. This shows that there are 6 hectares of land committed for
B8 employment use adjacent to the north of the site. There are also 2
residential properties within 250 metres and the site is adjacent to Blooms
Garden Centre and some smaller retail units to the north. A large area
c.2km to the north (known as Hunts Grove) has been permitted for
residential development. In terms of environmental considerations, it
identifies the following:
x Access/highways - The site is in very close proximity to Junction 12 of
the M5 and so has very good trunk road accessibility, although
congestion issues at Junction 12 are highlighted.
x Airport safeguarding - the site lies outside all safeguarding zones for
Gloucestershire Airport and MOD aerodromes
x CHP potential – given limitations of retrofitting to connect to existing
uses, the largest potential is seen as being from new developments
including approximately 4400 residential properties allocated or in
100

Page 100

x
x
x

x

x
x
x

x

SHLAAs, plus an extant existing permission at Hunts Grove for c.1775
properties, a school and 5.75ha of land for employment uses. The
neighbouring 6 hectares of Javelin Park has permission for B8
(storage/distribution);
Archaeology - eight Grade II Listed buildings within 1km of the site
boundary and one Scheduled Monument
Contamination – the site and adjoining land is not classified as
‘contaminated land’ under the Environment Act 1995
Ecology – there are no designated sites within 1km, but several
nationally (SSSIs) and internationally (SPA, SAC, Ramsar) important
sites within 10km. Protected species have been recorded at or close to
the site including barn owls, badgers, and several species of bats
Flood risk – the site is in Flood Zone 1 – low probability of fluvial flooding.
It overlies a secondary (undifferentiated) aquifer with low groundwater
risks
Geodiversity - no recorded geological features on the site or within 250m
of its boundary
Green Belt – the site is outside the Green Belt
Landscape and visual impact - the area is relatively low and flat,
therefore any facility would be clearly visible from the Cotswolds AONB,
the M5 and the surrounding low-lying areas
Rights of Way - no public paths within or near the site

7.57 Key development criteria for the site in Appendix 5 are:
x Access/highways – Transport Assessment to include a full assessment
of the site access and routes to connect to the M5, and beyond to the
wider principal road network. Material increase in HGV traffic along the
Standish road via Stonehouse needs to be prevented. Contributions
towards maintenance and junction improvements along the transport
routes to and from the site may be required. In particular improvements
are likely to be required to junction 12 of the M5 and the A38. Congestion
problems at peak times at the Junction 12 to the M5. Highways Agency
has programmed improvement for Junction 12 in 2010/11
x Ecology – described more fully elsewhere in this section of the report
7.58 The policy does not attempt to prescribe what type of waste management
technology should be developed at the site.
7.59 Adopted Gloucestershire Structure Plan (2nd Review) Saved Policy WM.2
requires 'primary' waste management facilities (including centralised landfill
or EfW facility) to be located near to major concentrations of waste arisings,
including the Cheltenham /Gloucester urban area, subject to meeting criteria
similar to those applying to WCS6 and Appendix 5 of the WCS. Policy WM.5
101

Page 101

- Energy from Waste provides for energy from waste facilities in or near to
the Gloucester/Cheltenham area. Policy S.1 provides for the bulk of new
development to be accommodated within and adjacent to the County’s larger
towns which would result in continued concentration of municipal waste
arisings in the existing urban areas.
7.60 Stroud District Council’s emerging Core Strategy (Preferred Strategy, 2012)
acknowledges Javelin Park as a potential site for an energy- from-waste
plant and potential source of energy for neighbouring development.
7.61 The NPPF advises that "planning policies and decisions should encourage
the effective use of land by re-using land that has been previously developed
(brownfield land), provided that it is not of high environmental value.”
7.62 PPS 10 Annex E advises that in testing the suitability of sites, waste planning
authorities should consider a range of issues (summarised in Section 4 of
this report) which are considered in other sections of this report in the context
of potential impacts of the proposed development as considered in the
Environmental Statement as well the concerns and objections raised by
consultees and in representations.
7.63 PPS10 states that planning strategies should enable waste to be disposed of
in one of the nearest appropriate installations; In terms of the need to factor
‘deliverability’ into the site selection process, paragraph 18 of PPS10 states
that waste planning authorities should avoid unrealistic assumptions on the
prospects, for the development of waste management facilities, or of
particular sites or areas, having regard in particular to any ownership
constraint which cannot be readily freed, other than through the use of
compulsory purchase powers.
7.64 RPG 10 Policy RE5 requires that waste planning, disposal and collection
authorities, the Environment Agency and waste management and water
companies should cooperate to establish a mix of waste recovery methods
e.g. recycling, composting, energy recovery etc, regionally and subregionally, that will reduce reliance on landfill and will avoid creating overreliance on any one method or facility. This will assist in delivery of regional
targets for recovery and reduction in landfill. The policy also advises that
authorities give priority to the provision of waste management facilities that
will recover value from waste at or near the Principal Urban Areas (PUAs).
7.65 The unadopted Regional Waste Strategy states that waste should be
disposed of as close to possible where it is produced. It adopts a ‘sequential’
approach to waste facility siting with first priority given to land within
Gloucester or Cheltenham, second to locations on the edge of those urban
102

Page 102

areas and third, other locations within ‘close proximity’ of them (up to 16km
away); and in Policy W2 that waste should be managed as close as
practicable to where it arises (urban areas) and be located on industrial sites
or other previously developed land, and take opportunities to use rail
transport and maximise use of by-products of waste management processes
including heat. The RSS planned major growth at Gloucester and
Cheltenham and it may reasonably be expected that these areas will
continue to account for the majority of MSW arisings and much of the
potential increase in overall waste production.
Planning Considerations
7.66 The applicant’s justification for selecting Javelin Park for the development of
an EfW facility flows from work carried out by the WDA (which was intended
to identify a suitable site for the treatment of residual MSW) and the WPA (as
part of the preparation of the WCS). The work undertaken by the WDA was
informed by extant waste planning policy (the adopted WLP). The WLP
allocated six strategic sites, and included land at Javelin Park, which was
specifically identified as suitable for ‘Waste to Energy Recovery’. The WDA
study also concluded that Javelin Park was the most suitable site.
7.67 The WPA identified Javelin Park as suitable for the development of strategic
residual waste treatment capacity along with three other sites in the
emerging WCS. Relevant adopted policy allocating the Javelin Park for such
a use is now set out in Policy WCS 6. The applicant’s view, that the process
undertaken to identify sites for allocation in the WCS is robust, is shared by
the Inspector that examined the WCS (paragraph 113 of the Inspector’s
Report, August 2012). The Inspector did make some observations regarding
the challenges associated with the development of a full-scale EFW on this
site which revolve around potential landscape and visual impacts, but also
note that similar concerns were expressed for all of the preferred locations
put forward in the WCS. In addition no evidence of any ‘showstoppers’
emerged through the examination for any of the five sites now proposed in
Policy WCS6 and hence the findings on deliverability of sites should be read
in that context (paragraph 118 of the Inspector’s Report).
7.68 The applicant’s own assessment of the four sites identified in the emerging
WCS, is that Javelin Park is the least constrained, and therefore the most
suitable for the following reasons:
x It is located outside of the Green Belt;
x The site is a suitable shape, size and topography;
x It is a brownfield site with permission for B8 use;
x The site has excellent access to the strategic highway network;
103

Page 103

Discussion
7.69 The applicant’s assessment of the suitability of the site is considered to be
reasonable and fair and, while each site has its merits, it is agreed that, for
the development of an EfW facility of the size proposed, Javelin Park
represents the most suitable of the four locations allocated in the WCS (now
sub-divided into 5 sites). Unlike Wingmoor Farm East and Wingmoor Farm
West, Javelin Park is not located on land covered by any designation
including the Green Belt and, when compared to land at Moreton Valance,
Javelin Park has benefits including its better strategic access and brownfield
character. The location of the Javelin Park site beyond the Green Belt is
especially important as protection of Green Belt is a core planning principle
in the NPPF and this is reflected in WCS policy WCS 13. The selection of
Javelin Park over Moreton Valance is also consistent with NPPF policy which
encourages the re-use of previously developed land. Surplus heat
generated by the facility could be readily available to service (existing and)
planned development proximate to the facility, as described in Appendix 5 of
the WCS. It is recommended that conditions are attached to any permission
requiring appropriate pipework to be fitted to enable export of surplus heat to
the site boundary (Condition 27) and for an updated CHP feasibility study to
be prepared and regularly updated (Condition 28).
7.70 The applicant highlights that the assessment of the Javelin Park site which
accompanied the WCS did not identify deliverability issues in terms of
landowner intentions. However, this situation altered during the course of
the preparation of the WCS as one of the landowners withdrew their consent.
As a result the size of the allocation in the WCS was reduced. The
application is within the site allocated in the WCS Policy WCS6 and
delineated in Appendix 5 of the WCS.
7.71 The fact that two separate extensive site selection studies identify Javelin
Park as one of the most suitable locations for the development of a strategic
residual waste recovery facility is an especially convincing factor in
concluding that this location has been correctly identified as appropriate for
development in the manner proposed. Ten years ago the Waste Local Plan
also identified the application site as specifically suitable for an EfW
development after also having been the subject of independent examination.
When looking for sites for the development of strategic residual waste
treatment capacity within Gloucestershire, land at Javelin Park has
repeatedly been identified as suitable.
7.72 The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Regulations 2011 specify that where an EIA is required, the resulting
104

Page 104

Environment Statement associated with a proposal should include an outline
of the main alternatives studied and an indication of the main reasons for the
choice made, taking into account the environmental effects. The information
on alternatives supplied by the applicant as described in Section 2 of this
report regarding the ES, satisfies this requirement to provide an outline of the
main alternative locations considered and providing reasons for the choice
made.
7.73 Although less weight should be given to older regional and structure plan
policy, particularly where it is not consistent with the NPPF (or PPS10), the
selection of Javelin Park for development of an EfW facility would be
consistent with such policy. In particular policies RE5 of RPG10 and
Structure Plan Policies WM2 and WM5 which respectively provide for the
location of waste facilities close to waste arisings and energy from waste
facilities to be located in or near to the Gloucester/Cheltenham area. This
position is also reflected in the un-adopted South West Regional Spatial
Strategy which proposed a sequential approach to the identification of sites
with first priority given to land within Gloucester or Cheltenham, second to
locations on the edge of those urban areas and third, other locations within
‘close proximity’ of them (up to 16km away). This approach is cited as
specifically informing the site selection process used for the WCS.
7.74 The processes used to select Javelin Park are credible. In identifying Javelin
Park as a suitable site due regard has been had to the environmental
constraints within Gloucestershire as well as other relevant factors, including
the proximity to the main centres of population within the County. PPS10 has
been used to guide the site selection criteria as well as the approach taken in
the GCC site selection studies, and in the applicant’s own review of the
outcomes of these studies. It is concluded that PPS10 has been
appropriately applied in the comparative site assessment process associated
with this proposal and that the approaches selecting Javelin Park as a
suitable site for development (as outlined above) are consistent with national
policy and guidance.

LANDSCAPE, VISUAL IMPACT AND DESIGN
Policy
7.75 The NPPF recognises in its core principles the importance of creating a high
quality built environment, and the protection and enhancement of our natural
environment, recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the
105

Page 105

countryside. The conservation and enhancement of the natural environment
is sought through the protection and enhancement of valued landscapes and
soils, and the encouragement of the effective use of previously developed
land. Para 115 of the NPPF states that great weight should be given to
conserving landscape and scenic beauty in AONBs which should have the
highest status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty, and in
paragraph 116 that planning permission should be refused for major
developments in National Parks and AONBs except in exceptional
circumstances where they are demonstrated to be in the public interest. The
NPPF does not include a policy that seeks to protect the setting of such
areas. PPS 10 recognises the importance of good design and considers that
waste management facilities should be well designed so they contribute
positively to the character and quality of the area in which they are located.
Poor design is itself undesirable and is considered to undermine a
community’s acceptance of waste facilities.
7.76 National Policy Statement EN-1 (paragraphs 5.9.12-13), which appears
material in the present context, advises that for developments outside
nationally designated areas but which might affect them, the aim should be
to avoid compromising the purposes of designation and projects should be
designed sensitively given the various siting, operational, and other relevant
constraints. It further makes it clear that the fact that a proposed project will
be visible from within a designated area should not in itself be a reason for
refusing permission.
7.77 WCS Policy WCS14 signals an intention to permit waste development where
it would not have a significant adverse effect on the local landscape,
identified through landscape character assessment, or unless the impact can
be mitigated. Where significant adverse impacts cannot be fully mitigated, it
provides for the social, environmental and economic benefits of the proposal
outweighing any harm arising from the impacts. Proposals affecting the
setting of the Cotswolds AONB are only to be permitted where it can be
demonstrated that;
x
there is a lack of alternative sites not affecting the AONB to serve the
market need; and
x
the impacts on the special qualities of the AONB (including its setting
and recreational opportunities) can be satisfactorily mitigated; and
x
the proposal complies with other relevant development plan policies.
In the case of major development within the AONB, a proven public interest
must be demonstrated but that is not stated in the case of proposals affecting
the AONB setting.

106

Page 106

7.78 Waste development is supported under Policy WCS17 where a high
standard of design is achieved through a Design and Access Statement
which details how the proposal responds to its environment and
surroundings, its durability, adaptability and sustainability including the use of
high quality architecture and landscaping. Saved WLP Policy 37 requires
development to take into account its effect on the environment including the
impact on countryside and the traditional landscape character of
Gloucestershire, including the cumulative effect in combination with other
development within the area.
7.79 Gloucestershire Structure Plan (second review) includes several policies
which are relevant to the landscape considerations, although these now date
from before 2004 and must be considered in relation to the NPPF. Policy
EN.3 provides for renewable energy developments to be permitted where
they would not adversely affect the special character of the AONBs and not
cause demonstrable harm to landscape, by dominating the skyline and result
in an unacceptable level of visual impact. Policy WM2(e) seeks to ensure
that waste management facilities have no adverse impact on important
landscape areas and in Policy S6 (a) the quality of the landscape is
safeguarded and enhanced. Policy NHE.1 provides for the protection of the
countryside’s character, appearance and non-renewable and natural
resources from 'harmful' development unless the social and economic needs
of the area or wider environmental objectives outweigh such harm. Policy
NHE4 gives priority to the conservation and enhancement of the Cotswolds
AONB. Development within or affecting the setting of the AONB is only to be
permitted if siting and scale are sympathetic to the landscape and the design
and materials complement the character of the area. Policy S7 requires the
protection and enhancement of the environment through a number of means,
including design.
7.80 The Stroud District Local Plan Policy NE8 seeks to protect the Cotswolds
AONB and gives priority to the conservation and enhancement of its natural
beauty with development affecting its setting only permitted if; the nature,
siting and scale are sympathetic to the landscape; the design and materials
complement the character of the area; and important landscape features and
trees are retained with appropriate landscaping measures undertaken. Major
development must be on sites for which there is a lack of alternatives and be
in the national interest.
7.81 The protection of landscape character types in the district is provided for in
Stroud District Local Plan Policy NE10 judged against the impact on the
features and diversity of the different landscapes identified in the Stroud
District Landscape Assessment. Development will only be permitted if
natural features that contribute to the landscape setting are retained and
107

Page 107

managed; there is no unacceptable impact on long distance views; and the
benefits of the proposed development outweigh any harmful effects on the
landscape.
7.82 Although the Cotswolds AONB Management Plan 2008-13 is not part of the
development plan it has been approved by the Secretary of State and
endorsed by Stroud District Council in 2009. Decision makers have a duty
under the Countryside and Rights of Way Act (2000) to have regard to the
purposes of designation of the AONB when making decisions in relation to or
affecting land within the AONB. The plan identifies the principle elements
that make the Cotswolds AONB special including its dry-stone walls, ancient
semi-natural woodlands, veteran trees and hedges as well the settlement
pattern and their relationship to landscape. The 'special qualities' of these
are acknowledged to be the distinctive character of one of the best known
landscapes in England and its tranquil, generally high quality experience of
attractive English lowland countryside which offers a wide range of walking,
cycling and horse riding opportunities for quiet enjoyment by visitors
including two National Trails.
Planning issues
7.83 The ES contains a significant amount of information on the landscape and
visual impacts of the proposals with a detailed assessment informing the ES.
In response to objections raised concerning the adverse effects upon the
Cotswolds AONB and specific requests, additional information on a number
of matters has been received and is the subject of further consultation and
comment.
7.84 The landscape and visual impacts of the proposal have been assessed
separately against, the baseline conditions, and a Landscape and Visual
Impact Assessment (LVIA) based upon the methodology set out in the
Landscape Institute and Institute of Environmental Assessment guidelines.
Consultations regarding the assessment were undertaken by the applicant
with Gloucestershire County Council, Stroud District Council, Gloucester City
Council, Forest of Dean District Council, Natural England and the Cotswolds
Conservation Board. Opinions were sought regarding the methodologies for
the LVIA and for the production of visualisations, and also for the selection of
viewpoint locations. The consultation responses received resulted in several
additional viewpoint locations being selected, no comments were received in
respect of the LVIA methodology and only minor comments were received in
respect of the visualisation methodology.
7.85 The applicant’s assessment work is also informed with a Zone of Theoretical
Visibility Plan (ZTV) which shows the theoretical visibility of the building
108

Page 108

(maximum height 48m) and stack (height 70m) within 15 km of the
surrounding area. The ZTV is generated from ordnance survey information of
the landform including the curvature of the Earth but does not take into
account the screening effects of any intervening vegetation or buildings. The
ZTV assumes that the observer’s height is set at 2m above the ground level
so that the maximum extent of likely visibility can be appreciated.
7.86 During consultation, GlosVAIN called for a ZTV analysis to be taken from
Haresfield Beacon promontory and for the applicant to establish the
proportion of the panoramic view from that location that comprises “extensive
commercial developments and urban areas”. The methodology used by the
applicant is compliant with the guidelines for landscape and visual impact,
with the LVIA and landscape character assessment methodology described
and the significance of effects defined. The technical assessment considers
the baseline conditions, including the various landscape designations, as
well as the description of the landscape and townscape character of the area
in which the proposal would sit. Potential visual receptors have been
identified and the landscape effects on the fabric and character of the
landscape considered. The visual effects from representative viewpoints
have been assessed including photomontages of the proposals. The
methodology employed in the LVIA accompanying the application considers
the sensitivity of receptors and the predicted magnitude of the impact of
change to arrive at an assessment of the significance of the impact of the
proposed development.
7.87 The selected 34 viewpoints including photomontages were considered by the
County Council’s consultants, BV, to be comprehensive in relation to the
study area, and competently and accurately prepared. There is sufficient
information available to assess the landscape and visual impact aspects of
the development. There has been a great deal of rigour applied to the
landscape assessment work and it involves a high level of professional
judgement. It is nevertheless, appreciated that there is a degree of
subjectivity in any analysis work and that different individuals including
professionals can make different judgments on these matters including
predicted impacts and the weight attached to these. This is apparent from
BV’s assessment, the views of Natural England, specialist landscape advice
sought by Stroud District Council and is also explicitly accepted in the LVIA
methodology itself.
7.88 A large number of objections have been received on design, landscape and
visual impact grounds. Despite the justification put forward by the applicants,
objectors do not consider that the scale, height, massing and industrial
character of the proposed EfW structure is appropriate or that the harm to
the Cotswold AONB, its setting and the rural landscape is mitigated.
109

Page 109

Additionally, objectors consider that the social, environmental and economic
benefits of the proposal do not outweigh the landscape harm. Objectors
consider the scale, design and materials of the building to be out of character
with the surrounding rural environment, to the detriment of the AONB’s
setting, and the height to be contrary to the 15.7m height restriction imposed
on the extant permission for the site.
7.89 Natural England objects and raises a number of concerns relating to
landscape and visual impacts, summarised as the impact on the landscape
character and visual amenity of the Severn Vale; the effects on the setting of
the Cotswold AONB; effects on the special qualities of the Cotswold AONB,
and effects on the Cotswold Way National Trail. It considers that the interrelationship of the effects should be considered in the overall planning
balance. The scale of the proposed development in the flat landscape
means that there is little scope for effective mitigation. Although it
acknowledges that the site is outside the boundary of the Cotswold AONB it
considers that this is a case where the development would be particularly
visible from important public viewpoints, thereby affecting the special
qualities of the AONB. While it accepts that the applicant has attempted to
take account of the landscape context in the building design and
landscaping, there is little scope for mitigating the impacts. The CPRE
considers that because of the sheer scale of the development in terms of
height and mass the proposals are considered damaging to the setting of the
AONB and to views from it. Natural England recognises that the design of
the building and associated landscaping have attempted to take account of
the landscape context but still considers the visual effects would be highly
damaging to the Cotswold AONB, its setting and the local landscape, and
that these effects would not be capable of meaningful mitigation.
7.90 GlosVAIN is very critical of the applicant's assessment stressing that the EfW
plant will be visible from a large area of the AONB, extending to 23.15km2.
Its impact on the highly sensitive Haresfield Beacon AONB receptor is
considered to be understated because the view does not “already
contain/include extensive commercial developments that are clearly visible”.
Furthermore, the proposed development is considered to have adverse
effects on views to and from the Cotswolds, being much larger than other
types of waste management facility that could have been provided on the
site. GlosVAIN considers that there is bias in the LVIA and that the applicant
has downplayed the significant effect on the most sensitive local receptors
and has exhibited a lack of appreciation for the local context. It therefore
considers that the applicant’s analysis is flawed and invalid and should be
afforded little weight, with recent appeal decisions elsewhere in the Severn
Vale supporting a refusal.

110

Page 110

7.91 GlosVAIN does not recognise CABE as an aesthetic arbiter and considers
that the design and orientation of the building is inappropriate and that there
is inadequate mitigation of its visual impact. As the development would be
the largest industrial installation in this area of the Severn Vale, in close
proximity to the AONB it considers it would damage its setting.
Consequently, the development would be out of keeping with the
surrounding character and would materially affect the special qualities of the
AONB. The applicant's claim that the impact on views from the Cotswold
Way, a World-class long distance footpath, would be limited is considered a
misleading under statement and consequently the economic impact of the
degradation of views are not considered to have been properly assessed in
terms of tourism. GlosVAIN’s contention is that there would be a significantly
adverse effect by the introduction of this proposed development at Javelin
Park (replete with stack plume) into the landscape in the context of views
from Haresfield Beacon. Additionally, it considers that the impact of the
plume has been downplayed.
7.92 GlosVAIN suggests, along with other objectors, that the recent appeal
decision (APP/C1625/11/2155923) relating to the erection of four wind
turbines, at Standle Farm, Stinchcombe raises similar issues to this
application and, as that appeal was dismissed, this has a bearing on the
determination of the currents application. The main issues in the
Stinchcombe appeal decision were the impact upon the character and
appearance of the surrounding area, including the nearby Cotswolds AONB;
the effect on proposed living conditions of local residents; the impact on the
setting of heritage assets; cumulative impacts and whether any harmful or
adverse impacts are outweighed by national objective of promoting
renewable energy. The relevance of this decision is discussed below.
Design assessment
7.93 Javelin Park is a brownfield site extending to some 12 hectares in rural
surroundings with significant urban influences of commercial, industrial and
infrastructure development in the immediate vicinity. The application site
itself is approximately 5.1ha of land on the southern side of the site located in
an open setting within the Severn Vale. As acknowledged in the applicant's
Zone of Theoretical Visibility study, any tall new development would be
visible over a wide area. A garden centre occupies the northern corner of the
adjacent land and planning permission has been granted for warehouse
development over the remainder. The permission has been implemented via
the access road construction, but no buildings have been erected to date.
The extant permission nonetheless confirms the acceptability of built
development at the site as described in Section 3 of this report and
considered further in the discussion below.
111

Page 111

7.94 The site is relatively well screened by young trees and hedgerows from local
views to the east and south, although it is very open to view from the M5 to
the West. The size of the garden centre building and its white finish makes
the site easy to locate in both local and longer distance views, and highlights
the importance of sensitive selection of the colouring of external finishes.
7.95 There has been a two-stage public engagement process in which views were
sought on aspects of the building design including the height of the building,
the risk of light pollution, the alternative treatments to the roof and the impact
of the building on the AONB.
7.96 The application includes a Design and Access statement, which explains
how the architectural design has evolved in the context of the interpretation
of local environmental studies as well as feedback from local consultees and
the public. The Design and Access statement explains how the proposed
facility has been arranged on the site having regard to its functional
requirement, the physical limitations and opportunities of the site. At the
outset, the applicant acknowledged that the scale and massing of the
proposed facility, and its height, would be a particular issue because it would
be a prominent visible structure, from a number of nearby properties, as well
as the protected landscape of the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty. The applicant states that its design team took an iterative approach
to the design development process including the use of photomontages to
respond to the visual impact concerns seeking to achieve an imaginative
high quality design.
7.97 The applicant's design solution has evolved to satisfy two competing
objectives; the most effective integration of the development within the site
constraints, and the need to create separation between the operational
processes and the education/visitor facility. Accordingly, the tallest elements
of the process would be positioned to the west end of the site adjacent to the
M5, following the logic that the building cascades down in scale towards the
east maximising separation from the B4008 and enabling a significant
landscaped buffer to be created. Early proposals to accommodate the
development on the site have been modified to avoid unsightly vehicular
ramps and to provide an overall reduction in building height together with
improved sustainability and biodiversity with the retention of trees and the
existing watercourse. While the residual ash and discharge pump rooms and
bunker have been sunk into the ground by up to 13m to avoid elevated
access ramps, little apparent consideration was given to the potential
benefits of sinking the main element of the building, which would reach a
maximum roof height of 48m.
112

Page 112

7.98 The EfW building is, by necessity, a large structure, especially when related
to other buildings in the locality. The size of the building is dictated by the
engineering processes it is designed to contain, especially the waste
reception hall where sufficient headroom is required for tipping operations
and the overhead crane, which feeds the furnaces. The bulk of the steamgenerating boilers, flue gas treatment plant and hoppers for residues also
influence the height of the remaining building, which has to be sufficiently
high to allow for the necessary maintenance space above the boilers and
electricity generating turbines and potential replacement of key components.
7.99 The applicant considers that the overall design objective has been to create
a contemporary building with a strong dynamic simple form, articulated and
separated into distinct elements of function that convey the stages of the
internal process, and at the same time a credible solution to a large imposing
building .To reflect the linear nature of the EfW process the building is long
and relatively narrow, meeting the applicant’s objective of creating a simple
and legible statement of the process. It is accepted by the applicant that the
facility, by virtue of its function, would be of greater height and mass than
existing features in the local landscape and would be prominent from
locations closer to the site because of its scale. The relationship between the
proposed development and the skyline of the Cotswolds escarpment, when
viewed from the west has been an important design consideration.
7.100 The Design and Access statement indicates that a variety of forms for the
building were considered, including curved roofed solutions, but on analysis
this was considered to produce a rather 'fussy' design of greater volume and
height. It is from this work that the proposed design of a deconstructed
angular form of rectangular shells emerged which the applicant considers
provides a much more cohesive and functional form with a fragmented roof
helping to contain its mass and integrate the design with the surrounding
geography and topography.
7.101 To integrate the building into its surroundings the applicant has focussed on
the landscape treatment around the perimeter and breaking up the scale of
the building. There is proposed to be a significant screen of planting and
mounding to the east of the building to mitigate visual impacts from the areas
in close proximity to the eastern side, at the same time containing the ground
level activity, including vehicle movements within the site. The 8 to 9m high
mound would be formed from materials excavated to sink parts of the
building into the ground. The screening and separation of the proposed
facility may be considered a significant improvement on the permitted
warehouse building which is very close to the B4008 with little opportunity for
natural screening, although the proposed EfW facility will clearly be
significantly larger.
113

Page 113

7.102 The long north and south elevations of the facility would be arranged into five
elements to break up the facade and assist in reducing the visual mass of
the development. This is further aided by the treatment of the base of the
building with a dark grey cladding material and a green living wall. The roof
profile is designed in a series of steps with different elevations, overhanging
verges and angles of pitch. Different colour finishes to the external metal
cladding have been selected to break up the overall scale of the long
facades and to accentuate the individuality of the key elements. The building
elements would be finished in soft tonal greens and greys with the roof
finished in a tonal range of greens. The applicant states that this is intended
to emulate agricultural field patterns when viewed from elevated positions.
The applicant's view is that the overall composition helps blend the
development into the landscape from more distant views. The elevation
facing the M5 motorway is to have a translucent finish so that the internal
function of the building may be appreciated.
7.103 The site and building would be illuminated. Light spillage from the building’s
internal activities would be minimal (as described elsewhere in this section)
and site security lighting will include modern lanterns chosen to limit the
angle of light from any bulbs and therefore contain light pollution with a
reduced system in use at night time.
7.104 In considering the size and scale and the visual impact of this development
there are two key issues; firstly whether the design is acceptable in the
setting of the site, and secondly whether the visual impact of the
development on the locality has been adequately dealt with and is
acceptable.
7.105 The applicant’s design parameters for an EfW plant on this site have
stressed the importance of a high quality building, where engineering and
landscape design are integrated to create a new landmark feature or focus in
this rural location.
7.106 The principles employed by the applicant have attempted to address the
criteria introduced by the inspector at the WCS inquiry with a deconstructed
form and the use of tonal green grey finishes, together with the living wall,
seeking to break up the elevation building. The orientation of the building
reflects site constraints and practicalities but also minimises the elevation
that would be directly visible from the Cotswolds and particularly Haresfield
Beacon.
7.107 It is considered that the applicant’s design solution has responded to the
challenges imposed by the building's function and has resulted in a striking
114

Page 114

and contemporary structure within a landscape setting. The overall height of
the building remains a disadvantage, but it is acknowledged that some
elements of the building will be sunk which will reduce its overall height and
the resultant visual impact. Although the bulk of a building of this type cannot
easily be lost within the site there would have been some advantages from
sinking other parts of the building or sinking deeper, which could have
allowed the height to be reduced further. Nevertheless, the orientation of the
building offering a narrow elevation to the local road and towards the AONB
should help mitigate its visibility from the AONB, and its arrangement within
the site is appropriate and follows a logic.
7.108 In response to the submission of further information by the applicant and
objections from a number of consultees, the County Council requested
consultants BV to comment on whether the proposal demonstrates that the
highest standard of design has been employed and also whether the
potential impact on the setting of the AONB has been addressed through
potential mitigation measures. BV reviewed the architectural proposals
against Policy WCS17 and concluded that the proposed building is a very
strong architectural statement and is very large-scale when viewed in close
proximity. BV accepted that the design team have worked hard to break up
the massing of the building while reflecting the industrial process within the
building, and that the use of colour would contribute to mitigation particularly
the use of greys in the upper part of the building which in certain light
conditions should cause the building to be lost against the sky. In conclusion
it was considered by BV that the building utilises a high standard of design
although there is a case for ensuring that the cladding, components do not
become over complex with a suggestion that a green roof approach be
applied to help address the seasonal changes of greens throughout the year.
7.109 There is no doubt that the applicant has taken steps to commission a
distinctive design that responds to the challenges of the site. The bold
rectangular forms and their juxtaposition give the building its own
architectural identity. The individual finishes that have been selected give
variations in texture and colour, in order to reduce the visual impact of the
overall mass of the structure, whilst providing interest to the building and
helping to absorb it into its setting. However, the scale and prominence of
the building in this open locality remains an issue which is addressed in the
‘Landscape and Visual Impact’ discussion below.
7.110 The proposed development represents a high-quality design solution which
has been commended by the Commission for Architecture and the Built
Environment (CABE), particularly as regard to the building’s form and how it
would be viewed in the local context. However, whilst CABE commended
many aspects of the design it considers more work is necessary with regard
115

Page 115

to the detailing of the facility to ensure that a comprehensive design solution
is achieved. In particular it drew attention to the detailing of the cladding
panels and the appearance of the stack as two aspects requiring further
consideration to ensure the longevity of the building’s appearance and
ultimately the success of the design. These are matters that CABE has
agreed could be addressed through conditions and negotiated at the local
level.
7.111 Subject to the outstanding design and materials issues being adequately
addressed, the design of the development represents an intelligent
architectural solution to a difficult technical challenge, providing a
contemporary building. In design terms, therefore, the building represents a
distinctive and positive statement through its bold form and high quality
architecture set within a high quality landscape setting, which accords with
the design tests set out in the NPPF, PPS10, WCS Policy WCS 17 and
Structure Plan Policy S7. Subject to the inclusion of planning conditions
requiring clarification of those elements of detailed design referred to,
samples of the non-reflective materials to be agreed and controls on site
illumination, this aspect of the development is acceptable.
Landscape and Visual Impact
7.112 The application site has been developed since 1939 and was in use as an
aerodrome until 1962. Subsequently some of the buildings were converted
to a trading estate while others were demolished. More recently, outline
permissions have been granted for warehouse development, the most recent
permission being granted in April 2008 with an imposed height restriction of
15.7m following a public inquiry. The permissions permit construction of
warehouse buildings over a significant footprint of the site with built
development closer to the site boundaries than the current application under
consideration proposes.
7.113 The principle of development on this brownfield site has been accepted. The
issue, therefore, in landscape terms, is not the acceptability of industrial form
of development on the site but the appropriateness of the form of
development proposed and whether it can be absorbed into the surrounding
landscape in a satisfactory manner. In the Stroud District Local Plan there is
reference to the site’s intended use for waste management development,
albeit that it acknowledges that such justification is left to the Waste Local
Development Framework.
7.114 In both the pre-application public consultation and in response to the
submission of a planning application, a considerable number of concerns
have been expressed about the visual impact of the development both locally
116

Page 116

and on the Cotswolds AONB. This includes objections from Natural England
and the Cotswold Conservation Board. The objections from English Heritage
and the County Archaeologist are also relevant in this context.
7.115 Gloucestershire has a diverse landscape. In 2006 a Landscape Character
Assessment was produced on behalf of Gloucestershire County Council
which identified 22 landscape types within the county. It accompanied two
earlier district landscape assessments for the Forest of Dean (2002) and the
Cotswolds (2004). That 50% of the county is within AONBs highlights the
sensitivity of the landscape and also the difficulty of finding appropriate sites
for essential strategic waste development within the county. The Cotswolds
AONB is situated 1.3 km to the east of the site, just beyond the main railway
line. National planning policy confirms AONBs as having the highest status
of protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty.
7.116 Whilst this development has avoided an AONB and Green Belt location it is
appropriate to consider whether, in the light of the many specific
representations, the proposals would cause such demonstrable harm to the
setting of the AONB sufficient to warrant the refusal of permission. The
acceptability or otherwise of the proposal, in landscape and visual impact
terms, depends on: the magnitude and nature of the change that would be
experienced from the different viewpoints; and the impact of those changes
on the landscape character, after mitigating measures proposed by the
applicant are taken into account.
7.117 For county-level landscape character assessment purposes the application
site is situated within the Vale of Berkeley Character Area, which is
described as a settled un-wooded Vale. The key characteristics of the area
are soft gently undulating flat landscape with intermittent locally elevated
areas of mixed arable and pastoral land use enclosed by a network of
hedgerows. There is limited woodland cover, with the rural area bordered by
large urban and suburban areas interspersed with commercial and industrial
premises. The Vale includes a major transport corridor (M5) and a network of
pylons and transmission lines, with the latter being some distance to the west
of the application site.
7.118 The Cotswolds AONB Landscape Character Assessment subdivides the
AONB into a series of 19 broad landscape types and 68 geographically
distinct landscape Character Areas. The closest of these Character Areas to
the application site itself is the Vale of Gloucester Fringe which embraces the
low-lying area along the AONB boundary. Key features of this area include a
proliferation of building styles indicating proximity to large urban centres and
rural areas bordered by large urban and suburban areas.

117

Page 117

7.119 The Landscape Strategy and Guidelines for the Character Area, arising from
the character assessment published by the Cotswolds Conservation Board
(CCB) states: “The rural areas that provide a setting to the Cotswold
escarpment are highly sensitive to development, particularly those which are
as yet only marginally affected by neighbouring towns, transport routes and
infrastructure.” and “Vale landscapes’ prominent views from upland areas
with wide vantage points such as the Escarpment are particularly sensitive to
the effects of large scale built development”. The CCB expects local
authorities to be mindful when determining planning applications of both the
possible positive and negative impacts of a development within the setting of
the AONB on the natural beauty and special qualities of the AONB, and to
seek the views of the Board when significant impacts are anticipated. In
particular the CCB highlights the fact that the setting of the Cotswolds AONB
does not have a geographical border. It makes reference to the location,
scale, materials or design of a proposed development, or land management
activity, determining whether it affects the natural beauty and special
qualities of the AONB. Specifically, it states that a very large development
may have an impact even if some considerable distance from the AONB
boundary.
7.120 The LVIA considers that, in terms of the application site, the development
involves a large magnitude of change resulting in an effect of 'minor to
moderate' significance. Because the development can be seen as enabling
the regeneration of a derelict site the effects of the proposed development on
the landscape fabric are considered by the applicant to be 'neutral’. In terms
of the local landscape character (within 2.5km of the site) the sensitivity of
the landscape is only considered 'moderate' because the coherence of the
landscape is interspersed with industrial and commercial uses and significant
road infrastructure of the M5 and A38.
7.121 Whilst the proposed development would comprise a new structure, large in
scale within the flat landscape, prominent by virtue of this, the applicant’s
view is that the established landscape pattern would not change, but the
development would exert a change upon the surrounding character due to
the size of the facility, which would be more widely visible than existing
structures. The applicant considers that there would be a 'medium'
magnitude of change to the character resulting in an effect of 'moderate'
overall significance (and therefore no significant change), in EIA terms, with
localised change occurring around the site and the adjacent M5 and A38
corridor.
7.122 To the south-east of the site, within approximately 2.5km, lies an area of the
Cotswolds AONB that is considered to have a high landscape sensitivity (to
adverse impacts of development), with the landform rising in elevation up the
118

Page 118

Cotswolds Escarpment, affording long views out across the Severn valley.
The applicant accepts that the introduction of uncharacteristic new elements
in this area has potential to result in adverse change. However, because the
proposed development lies outside the AONB and the building styles and
vegetation that contribute strongly to local character would be unaffected,
change to the AONB from the development is considered by the applicant to
be negligible.
7.123 The applicant’s assessment of the visual effects relates to the agreed
representative viewpoints situated both close to the site and more distant
locations, including within the Cotswolds AONB and along the Cotswold Way
long-distance footpath. Photomontages have been prepared illustrating the
change in view predicted to occur from selected viewpoints. Additionally in
further selected viewpoints, the applicant has produced an outline of the
proposed development superimposed onto the existing view. The applicant
has summarised the findings of the assessment, with the conclusion that of
the thirty-four viewpoints assessed, twelve would experience effects
considered to be potentially significant in EIA terms (significance of effect
'moderate' to 'major' or greater). Of these the visual effects on six of the
viewpoints are considered both 'significant' and 'adverse'. The applicant
points to all of these sites being within 2.5km of the facility, and three being
from private residential properties (Lower Green Farm, Hiltmead Farm and
Sheep House) that are between 250m and 1km of the site.
7.124 The applicant considers that the design has had regard to the juxtaposition of
the proposal against the Escarpment skyline with the stepped roof profile
with varied pitch angles echoeing the natural profile variations seen along the
Escarpment. It contends that the resultant building silhouette would be
sympathetic to the natural changes in elevation along the top of the
Escarpment and would not appear discordant in this context.
7.125 The applicant considers that the development would not result in any
material effect upon the setting or special qualities of the Cotswolds AONB
and that changes in the landscape character would be localised and not
have any material adverse effect upon the traditional character of the
County. It is contended that the development would be set within a
landscape where a variety of land uses are present without any strong
unifying character. The applicant has submitted further information in
response to requests for additional clarification on a number of matters and
concludes that adverse change to views towards the Cotswold Escarpment
would be “very limited” and “should not be considered unacceptable”.
Discussion

119

Page 119

7.126 The application site is situated in the open countryside. The site is visible
locally, being readily seen from the adjacent M5 motorway and elevated
positions to the east of the site on the Cotswold escarpment, which forms
part of the Cotswolds AONB. There are a number of other visual receptors
in the wider locality and the development would be prominent from locations
closer to the site, including local rights-of-way, by virtue of its size and scale.
Further afield, within the Severn Valley, views would tend to be better
screened by both intermediate vegetation cover and buildings, changes in
local topography and other structures. From higher ground both East and
West of the Valley the development would be visible set in an expansive
context of diverse land uses with a mosaic of agriculture crossed by the
major transport route of the M5 and interspersed with commercial and
industrial activity which is already a feature on the edge of Gloucester and
Stonehouse.
7.127 The planning inspector that examined the Gloucestershire WCS made the
following comments in relation to the Javelin Park site in his report. In
paragraph 121 he stated that:
“The site is very open to views from a wide area including parts of the
Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. There seems little doubt
that a thermal treatment facility of some size would require a tall
emissions stack to satisfy the requirements of the HRA process. ERM
stated during the examination hearings that it would generally be
possible to design a pollution control system to avoid any adverse effect
on the integrity of a European site. The issue at Javelin Park is how that
solution would interplay with the landscape and visual impact of the
resulting development design. In this context, I note that previous
planning permissions at the site have limited by condition the height of
any buildings to around 16m.”
7.128 In paragraph 125 he went on to state that: “I have considerable reservations
that the sites allocated will lead to the delivery of the required other recovery
capacity. At Javelin Park and Moreton Valence the accommodation of any
substantial built development that needs to include an emissions stack of any
significant height would, in my opinion, present the designers with a
challenge in the distinctive landscape context. Whichever of the two sites
was developed first would then, in my view, pose an even greater challenge
for the development of the other when the cumulative impact came to be
assessed against policy WCS7” (now Policy WCS10).
7.129 However, as referred to previously, he did not identify any ‘showstoppers’
when considering deliverability of any of the sites, and did not delete any of
the allocated sites from the Plan.
120

Page 120

7.130 There was a Public Inquiry (ref APP/C1625/V/06/1199309) in 2006 in relation
to warehouse development at Javelin Park. In the decision the Inspector
makes a brief reference to the planning conditions in terms of the height of
the buildings on site and considered that it was “necessary and appropriate
in view of the negotiations between the applicant and the Local Planning
Authority, and from the site inspection judging from the impact of the
neighbouring buildings at the garden centre”. The Inspector’s decision to
endorse a height restriction on the site of 15.7m was maintained in the
Secretary of State's decision letter. Whilst it does not appear that the height
limit was fully tested in terms of a landscape impact assessment it
nevertheless remains material to development management decisions on the
site. The full context to the planning decisions at the site and the known
background to this height condition are set out in the planning history section
to this report (Section 3). While previous decisions are material
considerations due to the importance of consistency in decision making, in
this case there are distinct differences to the proposals in terms of the need
for the development and its physical characteristics, the type of development
(a County-matter waste use versus B8 industrial), and the policy context,
particularly the recently adopted WCS including the allocation of this site.
The approved warehouse developments are shown positioned much closer
to the eastern boundary of the site being just 5m from the back of the
footway at its south east corner and 25m from the southern boundary. This
compares with 130m and 45m respectively in the application for the EfW.
7.131 The Stinchcombe wind energy appeal decision (APP/C1625/11/2155923) for
the erection of four wind turbines involved the consideration of landscape
and visual impacts, albeit in another part of the Severn Vale well to the south
of the proposed development. The turbines were proposed within a flat and
gently undulating landscape within the broad river valley, with the Cotswolds
AONB situated 2km to the east of the site, visible from a number of heritage
assets including Berkeley Castle, a Grade 1 listed building. Whilst all
applications have to be treated on their own merits it is apparent that wind
turbine proposals involve a different form of development, albeit in a setting
with some similarities, to the current proposal. The proposed four wind
turbines would have been significantly higher than the proposed
development at 120m to the blade tip, with blades rotating for much of the
time and therefore drawing attention to their presence. The inter-visibility of
the wind turbine development would also result in a cumulative impact from
four structures drawing attention over a wide area. The location of the
turbines was not underpinned by a detailed site-finding exercise supporting
local plan policy and site allocation. In these terms it is considered that the
appeal decision has limited relevance to the determination of the current
121

Page 121

application which must be judged its own context according to its own
characteristics.
7.132 The application site was extensively landscaped around its edges some 10
to 15 years ago with a perimeter hedge, shrub and tree planting all of which
is becoming established. A number of small trees would need to be removed
along with some shrubs and silver birch along the southern and south
eastern corner of the site as part of the construction which would keep the
watercourse clear and would not significantly alter the site or its setting. A
comprehensive landscape scheme has been submitted to provide
containment to the site and particularly screen the site from direct views from
the adjacent B4008 road. It is considered that the quality of the landscape
scheme proposed within the site, including specimen tree planting, is of a
high standard.
7.133 The combustion process that would take place as part of the proposed
development would produce a plume, composed primarily of water vapour
emitted from the 70 m high stack. The degree to which this plume would be
visible is determined by air temperature and humidity of the plume in relation
to that of the surrounding atmosphere, and the prevailing weather conditions.
Modelling work undertaken by the applicant indicates that a plume could be
expected to be visible between 18% and 22% daylight hours per annum with
the visible plume generally running horizontally from the stack and varying in
average length between 40 m and 50 m, but extending to more than 70 m for
2.8% to 5.3% of the time. Because a plume would generally be visible for a
small proportion of time, in the colder months, the applicant concludes that
the plume would not lead to any significant additional adverse visual effects.
It is considered that the stack would not impact on views either because of its
slender nature, grey finish and the absence of a permanent plume.
7.134 The stack to the proposed plant would be much taller than the main building
but would have a different impact because it would not intrude in the same
way due to its slender profile. It would be a readily visible feature which in
some views would break into the skyline. The generally seasonal plume from
the stack would be transient in its nature and extent, and in these terms is
not considered to significantly add to the impacts.
7.135 The County Council’s consultants BV reviewed the landscape evaluation,
concluding that at five of the seven viewpoints the applicant's assessment
had understated the impacts and that as a result an 'adverse' to 'major
adverse' impact could be expected at an additional five viewpoints from the
development. BV concluded that the landscape effects on the Cotswolds
AONB are a major issue and did not agree with the applicant's assessment
with regard to the magnitude and significance of the effect on views from the
122

Page 122

Cotswold escarpment. It considered that in relative close proximity there
would be a 'significant adverse' effect on views from the Cotswold AONB
based on the criteria defined in the ES. However, BV did not consider this
unacceptable and based on field observations believed that the landscape,
when viewed from the Cotswold Way, does have the capacity to
accommodate the proposed development. BV's field observations showed
that large-scale buildings are already found in the landscape particularly in
the vicinity of Stonehouse and the urban fringe of Gloucester. In addition,
the large light coloured roof-scape of the Blooms Garden Centre adjacent to
the application site was assessed to be very apparent in the landscape. It
noted that these large-scale built forms are seen in the context of the much
wider panoramic landscape of the Vale of Gloucester and other points of
interest or focus when viewed from the Cotswold escarpment.
7.136 In further assessment work undertaken by BV on behalf of the County
Council the potential impact on the setting of the AONB was further
considered. In the context of the M5 corridor and the wider landscape of the
Vale of Gloucester, and when seen in views from the Cotswold Way, scarp
slopes and hilltops of the Cotswolds, the design proposals were considered
appropriate given the scale of the development and the precedent of other
large-scale buildings found in the landscape and urban fringes of
Stonehouse and Gloucester. While the development would have a
significant effect on the landscape and views in close proximity as indicated
in the ES but that mitigation measures have been included as part of the
design process (orientation of building; stepped nature of the building; and
the measures to break-up the massing when viewed from the AONB). With
regard to the local context, measures have been incorporated in the design
to mitigate the visual effects. However, it confirmed that it is a large scale
development which would register significantly in the landscape. In
conclusion, it considered that in relative close proximity there would be a
significant adverse effect on views from the Cotswold AONB based on the
criteria defined in the ES, but that the development would be acceptable in
the context of the wider landscape. To aid this BV recommended further
consideration of the visual relationship between the north-west elevation of
the building and the M5 corridor, the use of green roofs and the
colour/cladding proposals.
7.137 Some weight must be attached to the view of the Inspector in his report of
the WCS examination which highlighted the physical context of the site and
its constraints. The Inquiry Inspector’s and Secretary of State’s views in
terms of the specific height limit applied to the consented B8 use are also
material although apparently these were not the result of, or informed by,
detailed landscape assessment. Natural England has maintained its
objection on the landscape, visual effects and significant adverse effect on
123

Page 123

the special qualities of the Cotswold AONB. Both English Heritage and the
County Archaeologist have raised objections to the possible impact on the
historic environment set within the same area. It is apparent from the ‘Zone
of Theoretical Visibility' work undertaken by the applicant that the proposed
development would potentially be seen from a wide area, although from
many viewpoints intervening buildings, hedgerows and woodland would
constrain views to some degree. By virtue of its scale the applicant accepts
that the proposed development would be very evident from locations in close
proximity to the site including residential properties and rights of way. In
terms of the visibility of the proposed development in the wider area the
applicant considers that this is defined by a combination of landform and
screening features.
7.138 The applicant’s landscape assessment has indicated that there would be
impacts from the introduction of such a large structure within this part of the
Severn Vale and from some locations there would be a significant 'adverse'
visual effect. As noted from the additional work undertaken on behalf the
County Council there are differing views on the nature and significance of the
impacts and how widely they may be experienced. Natural England
considers the scale of the development would be inherently at odds with the
character of the Severn Vale landscape and would appear as an alien and
conspicuous feature dominating this part of the Vale. Particular weight must
be placed on the existing character of the area and its general openness.
7.139 The applicant’s mitigation measures are limited in nature and comprise onsite landscaping and mounding, together with care in the orientation of the
building and its presentation in a stepped form. On the balance of the
different assessments and opinions expressed it is considered that the
development would give rise to a higher magnitude of change than
suggested by the applicant. The degree of change would erode the
perception of rural character with the introduction of a prominent building
which is a visually intrusive urban feature, in stark contrast to the intimacy
and scale of the existing landscape. This is likely to result in some loss of the
open character and the natural rural appearance to this part of the Severn
Vale.
7.140 In terms of the general visual amenity there would be local views from the
surrounding area, some of which would be dramatically altered because the
proposed development would appear against the open sky. It is also
acknowledged that the proposed development would appear incongruous in
some views due to its height and mass, yet would not be readily apparent
from others because of the presence of intervening vegetation or structures.
The assessments above have indicated that from some viewpoints the visual
impact has been understated. Whilst the on-site landscape mitigation assists
124

Page 124

from some viewpoints, overall it is considered there will be an adverse visual
impact to the locality.
7.141 Natural England has highlighted that the effect on the landscape character of
this part of the Seven Vale is also important because it forms part of the
setting of the Cotswolds AONB. In planning policy terms it is necessary to
determine whether the development would affect the setting of this AONB.
The County Council's consultant BV considers that in relative close proximity
there would be a significant adverse effect on views from the Cotswolds
AONB, although it considers the development acceptable in the wider
landscape.
7.142 It is accepted by the applicant that there would be elevated views from
vantage points along the top of the Cotswold escarpment including the
Cotswolds Way. The development is outside the Cotswolds AONB and
views from it, including from the Cotswold Way, would generally be against
the backdrop of the landscape within the Severn Vale, with other built
development visible to the north of the site. It is considered that there would
be some visual impact which would affect the noted special qualities of the
area. Whilst this issue is finely balanced, overall the proposed development
is not considered to be so prominent that material harm would be caused to
the setting of the AONB or that its presence would have an unacceptable
impact on long distance views.
7.143 In terms of the relevant planning policies the development is considered to
have an adverse impact on the landscape contrary to WCS Policy WCS14
and Waste Local Plan Policy 37. At closer quarters the building would be
seen as a much more dramatic structure breaking the skyline, and unduly
prominent to the extent that it conflicts with the objectives of development
plan policies. Given the nature of this form and scale of development in this
location it is considered that the proposals conflict with Stroud District Local
Plan Policy NE10, the NPPF in terms of the effect on the intrinsic character
of the countryside, and Structure Plan Policies NHE1and S6(a) although
these Local Plan and Structure Plan policies should be accorded less weight
because they are now quite dated and do not fully reflect the NPPF.
7.144 Whilst the proposed development conflicts with some development plan
policies, the plan policies should be considered as a whole and it should be
noted here that several policies including WCS Policy WCS 14, Structure
Plan Policy NHE1 and Stroud District Local Plan Policy NE10 all recognise
the potential for other public, including social, environmental and economic
benefits, to outweigh harm to the landscape that may arise in certain
circumstances.

125

Page 125

HISTORIC HERITAGE AND ARCHAEOLOGY
Policy
7.145 The NPPF provides for the protection of heritage assets: Paragraph 132
advises that “When considering the impact of a proposed development on
the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given
to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the
weight should be.” Paragraph 133 states that “Where a proposed
development will lead to substantial harm to or total loss of significance of a
designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse
permission, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or loss
is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or
loss...”. Paragraph 134 goes on to advise that “Where a development
proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a
designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public
benefits of the proposal…”.
7.146 Accordingly, due weight must be given in the decision making process to the
impact of development on the significance of heritage assets and their
settings. Although the NPPF replaced Planning Policy Statement (PPS) 5
‘Planning for the Historic Environment’, the Practice Guide to PPS5
containing guidance on the treatment of heritage assets within the planning
system, including the setting of heritage assets, remains relevant and is
useful in applying the NPPF principles.
7.147 Policy WCS 16 of the WCS sets the local policy context for waste
management development having a significant adverse impact upon heritage
assets, including their integrity, character and setting. Permission would only
be granted where it can be demonstrated that a) the benefits clearly
outweigh the impacts, or, the proposal includes adequate measures to
mitigate adverse impacts and the proposal complies with other relevant
policies in the development plan. Similarly, the Stroud District Local Plan
Policies BE12 and BE14 provide for the protection of Listed Buildings and
archaeological remains of other than national significance, and seek to resist
detrimental effects, unless the importance of the development outweighs the
value of the remains. Structure Plan Policies WM2(e), S6(c) & (d), EN3(a)
and NHE.6 seek to protect historic assets, but can be accorded less weight
because the policies are now quite dated and are not fully consistent with the
NPPF particularly in that they provide limited flexibility to consider and
balance the benefits of a proposal against its impacts.

126

Page 126

Planning Considerations
7.148 The Environmental Statement accompanying the application includes a
desk-based assessment to enable the direct physical impacts of the
development on all the heritage assets around Javelin Park to be
considered. Within the application site there are no archaeological sites or
other heritage assets identified other than evidence of ridge and furrow
cultivation and the site of the Moreton Valance airfield. To assess the
potential for the presence of previously unrecorded archaeological remains
and the need for on-site evaluation, the development history of the site, the
results of geotechnical investigation, and information on remediation works
were reviewed. It is apparent that the extensive surface disturbance within
the site would have disturbed any archaeological remains present to the
extent that no remains meriting preservation could survive, and that the site
had negligible archaeological potential.
7.149 In terms of the development proposal the issue is the extent of any impacts
on the settings to historic assets in the vicinity of the site. Both the County
Archaeologist and English Heritage have raised objections to the proposal
because they consider that there would be an adverse effect on the historic
landscape of the area which would result in harm to heritage assets in the
vicinity of the site. English Heritage considers that the proposals would result
in a higher level of impact with substantial cumulative harm to the historic
environment through impacts to the settings of heritage assets.
7.150 As part of the EIA, the applicant was requested to provide greater
information in relation to the setting of heritage assets to ensure this impact
of the development had been thoroughly considered. A further technical
note has clarified how the analysis was undertaken, supplemented by a
revised detailed assessment of the impact using photomontages as well as
an assessment of the impact of the development on the historic landscape,
based on the County’s Historic Landscape Characterisation (HLC).
7.151 The Severn Valley is a rural landscape of mainly small to medium sized
fields, with prominent hedges and trees, with a settlement pattern consisting
of small villages and hamlets, many of medieval origin, nucleated around
prominent church buildings. Visible archaeological evidence of earlier
settlements are present, in the form of medieval moated sites surviving as
earthworks, such as the Mount at Haresfield. Despite the presence of
several transport corridors, the area is considered by the County
Archaeologist to retain a strongly rural character as far north as the
application site and a predominantly rural character as far north as the
junction of the A38 and the B4008.

127

Page 127

7.152 There is extensive evidence of human settlement and management of the
landscape in the area surrounding Javelin Park. This includes burial sites
and settlements of prehistoric date, through to archaeological evidence of
Roman and medieval activity, as well as houses and designed landscapes of
the post-medieval period. A large number of heritage assets survive as
visible sites or buildings in the landscape including archaeological sites
designated as scheduled monuments in addition to listed buildings. The
historic landscape includes the steep slope of the escarpment to the east of
the application site with a typical mosaic of small, often irregular, fields, with
surviving examples of earthworks with ridge and furrow cultivation. Along the
edge of the scarp slope there are numerous sites of prehistoric activity some
of which are designated as scheduled monuments, the closest to the
application site being Haresfield Beacon.
7.153 In summary, the applicant identifies the potential for impacts on the settings
of twenty heritage assets. Its assessment indicates that impacts range from
'neutral' to 'slight adverse' and 'slight to moderate adverse', and 'no impacts'
on the settings of any heritage assets ‘in-combination’ with the proposed
development. The impact on the historic landscape character of the local
area has been assessed as 'minor', leading to a 'slight adverse effect' on the
local historic landscape character. The County Archaeologist considers that
because of its nature and scale, and the character of the historic landscape
in which it is proposed, the applicant’s assessment underestimates the
impact of the development on the character of the historic landscape which is
considered ‘moderate to large’.
7.154 Consultees reviewing the applicant’s report consider that there are some
discrepancies in the assessments of impacts. The most significant examples
of this are considered to be: Hardwicke Court (listed building grade II*), a
medieval house, set within undesignated parkland and with an associated
lodge (listed building grade II). The house faces east-south east across
parkland towards the application site and would have a clear view of the
proposed development set against the Cotswold escarpment. Whilst the
applicant assessed the impact on the setting of Hardwicke Court as 'slight
adverse', the County Archaeologist considers it to be at least 'moderate
adverse'. The Mount moated site (scheduled monument) and the adjacent
Haresfield church (grade II* listed building) both have clear views towards
the application site from a slightly elevated position. The impact of the
development on the setting of The Mount was assessed in the ES as 'none'
and in the subsequent report (September 2012), as 'slight adverse', with the
impact on the church setting assessed as 'slight to moderate'. The County
Archaeologist considers that both sites have high value, and that the
proximity and scale of the proposed development, would cause the impact to
be 'moderate to large adverse'.
128

Page 128

7.155 Haresfield Beacon hill fort (The Bulwarks and Ring Hill; scheduled
monument) is situated on the edge of the Cotswold escarpment overlooking
and close to the application site. Clear views are available from the western
end of the hill fort and (partially screened by trees) from its north western
perimeter. There are also good views of the site in combination with the
development from the Hardwicke area to the west. Within the ES the impact
has been assessed as 'slight adverse'. However, because of the existence
of a prominent major built development in the valley landscape a relatively
short distance away from the monument, clearly visible from the hill fort, the
County Archaeologist considers the impact should be addressed as
'moderate to large'. There are similar issues in respect to other scheduled
monuments situated on the edge of the escarpment to the south of
Haresfield, a view which is also shared by English Heritage. There would
also be significant impacts on the settings of a number of grade II listed
buildings in the immediate vicinity of the proposed development such as
Haresfield Court, with its associated park and lodge, and Hiltmead.
Discussion
7.156 The applicant’s setting assessment has looked in detail at the visibility of the
proposed development both within the landscape and in relation to the
established 34 viewpoints considered as part of the landscape visual impact.
A detailed assessment of each of the closest 15 remaining heritage assets
(one had been removed by quarrying) has considered the potential for ‘incombination’ views between the heritage asset and the EfW development.
Whilst there is the potential for some views of the asset and the proposed
development the applicant concluded that there was no adverse effect on
the significance of the asset and no impacts arising from views ‘incombination’ with the current proposal. This was due to the intermittent
visibility with the influence of localised screening as a result of vegetation
and variations in topography.
7.157 The County Archaeologist considers that while the proposed development
would not have an impact on heritage assets within the application site it
would have an adverse effect on the historic landscape of the area, and in
her judgement will result in harm to the setting of some of the most
significant heritage assets in the vicinity of the application site. The County
Archaeologist considers that in the context of the development plan policies
and the NPPF, planning permission should be refused unless it can be
demonstrated that the development is necessary to achieve public benefits
that outweigh this harm. English Heritage recommend the application be
refused and furthermore do not consider the proposals achieve substantial
public benefits that would outweigh the impacts, and similarly are not
129

Page 129

convinced it is possible to mitigate visual impact of the proposed
development, reasoning that it is not an appropriate location for such a
development. The applicant has provided two further technical notes in
rebuttal to the responses of the County Archaeologist and English Heritage
which challenge the adequacy of their assessments.
7.158 There is clearly a divergence of opinion between the applicant and
consultees about the impacts of the proposed development on the setting of
the heritage assets. It is noted there is an element of subjective judgement
in these assessments and therefore there are differing views between
professionals. Local residents and other objectors also have expressed
similar concerns related to views on the landscape and the visual impact of
the proposal. Whilst it is recognised that these assessments may overlap,
the judgements concerning the landscape impacts of the development are
considered separately in this report. The material test in WCS Policy
WCS16 is that planning permission for waste management development that
would have a significant adverse impact upon heritage assets, including their
integrity, character and setting should only be granted if the benefits of the
development outweigh the impacts. The NPPF test relates to the
significance of the asset and a judgment as to whether substantial harm or
less than substantial harm would be caused. Depending on the level of any
such harm the public benefits should either shown to be substantial,
outweighing any such harm, or in cases where there is a lesser harm should
be weighed in the balance against more limited public benefits.
7.159 Whilst the proposed development would introduce a new built development
of considerable mass and height, far exceeding in size any other built
structures in the surrounding landscape, the applicant’s evidence does
appear robust and well founded. It is based on a clear methodology with the
impacts on the heritage assets in local and distant views described in detail.
7.160 The application site is in a countryside location which is not unscarred by
development. There is the M5 motorway and Javelin Park was a former
aerodrome with some built development and further consented warehouses.
The closest heritage assets are 300m and 870m distant from the site beyond
the M5 motorway and 870m to the east, which separate them from the
proposed development. While there will be some change to the historic
environment, after carefully reviewing all the information it is not considered
that the submitted evidence demonstrates that the development would give
rise to a significant adverse impact on the integrity, character and setting of
these or other heritage assets as defined in WCS Policy WCS16. Therefore
in terms of the relevant NPPF policy test it is not considered that the
development will cause ‘substantial harm’ to heritage assets in the locality.
Additionally, the general absence of ‘in combination views’ between the
130

Page 130

heritage assets and the proposed development also indicates that the lesser
test of ‘less than substantial harm’ does not fall to be considered.
7.161 In terms of heritage assets and their settings, it is considered that the
submitted proposals are in general accord with the WCS Policy WCS 16 and
with guidance in the NPPF. There is some degree of conflict with Stroud
District Local Plan Policy BE12 in terms of the impact on the settings of
Listed buildings which are near to the site, but the significance of effect on
assets is not quantified in this policy, and on the basis of the distance
separation and intervening vegetation it is not considered that material harm
would be caused by the development. Policy BE14 of the Stroud District Plan
would be complied with as there would be no detrimental effects on
unscheduled archaeological remains of local importance.

TRAFFIC AND TRANSPORT
Policy
7.162 In respect of traffic and transport there are a number of policies that are
applicable. Policy WCS19 of the WCS seeks to minimise the impact of
waste management on Gloucestershire's roads and the wider environment.
Transport Assessments are required for certain developments and where a
travel plan is necessary a legal agreement is expected to secure the
development of the travel plan and appropriate contributions, including the
cost of monitoring. Development that would have an adverse impact on the
highway network which cannot be mitigated will not be permitted.
7.163 The NPPF promotes sustainable development and encourages development
that generate significant movements to be located where the need to travel
will be minimised (paragraph 34) the provision of safe and suitable access
(para32) with opportunities for other modes exploited (paragraph 35).
7.164 Transport policies within the Structure Plan seek to locate new development
to minimise journeys through the use of public transport and the promotion of
walking and cycling (policies T1,T2 and T3) with appropriately designed
facilities. To accord with the Stroud District Plan development must not be
detrimental to highway safety or the users of public right of way (Policy GE5)
with safe, convenient and attractive access for pedestrians taking into
account the needs of disabled people, within sites and where appropriate to
the surrounding area (Policy TR2). Appropriate levels of parking are required
in accordance with the Council’s Parking Standards (Policy TR1).

131

Page 131

Planning Considerations
7.165 The ES accompanying the application includes details of the estimated traffic
flows and assessments of the additional flows on the capacity of nearby
junctions including those with the M5 motorway. Following the initial
assessment of the ES and consideration of consultee responses additional
information was requested in order to provide a proper assessment of the
effect of construction traffic on the Strategic Road Network and specifically
Junction 12 of the M5. In addition more details of the bulk haulage
movements that would be anticipated to serve the more distant County
Districts of Cotswold and Forest of Dean was requested. Representations in
respect of the proposed development have raised concerns about the impact
from the construction stage of the project in particular and the ability of the
local junctions to cope with the additional traffic.
7.166 In terms of the transport aspects the application site is situated just to the
south of junction 12 of the M5 motorway which forms part of the Gloucester
County Council Advisory Freight Network . Access to the M5 junction is via a
roundabout and associated private access road onto the B4008. This
roundabout is located 550m to the south west of junction 12 of the M5
motorway. This provides opportunities for strategic road connections both to
the County waste catchment in general and sites for products and wastes
generated by the incineration process.
7.167 North of the M5 Junction 12, the B4008 continues and links to the A38 at the
Cross Keys roundabout. The A38 is part of the county principal road network
and is the primary link from the south into Gloucester itself and to the west of
the River Severn. The A38 forms a bypass of the southern suburbs of
Hardwicke and Quedgeley and is the primary access into the Waterwells
Business Park and the new suburb of Kingsway. The A38 is a two lane dual
carriageway, subject to the national speed limit. The B4008 link between the
proposal site and M5 J12 is of a high standard design with a 60mph speed
limit suitable for accommodating large HGV movements. The connection to
the Javelin Park site is via a roundabout specifically designed to
accommodate industrial traffic, including bulk articulated HGVs. This
immediate section of the B4008 also provides footways on both sides of the
road within the vicinity of the site, with a continuous footway along the
eastern side of the B4008 providing a link into Hardwicke and Gloucester.
Dedicated bus stops, lay-by and shelters are provided for both north and
south bound bus services. Bus service 14 uses these stops, providing an
hourly service Monday to Saturday between 6:40 and 22:15 and 8 buses a
day on Sundays. These facilities and services would help encourage staff
and visitors to travel by alternative travel modes to private car.

132

Page 132

7.168 The B4008 south of Javelin Park is typically more rural in nature with no
dedicated footway/ cycleway provision. HGV trips towards Stonehouse and
Stroud are already prohibited by an existing 7.5T vehicle weight prohibition
(as part of the Gloucester County Council Cotswold Lorry Management Zone
initiative), although access is permitted for HGVs to allow for loading and
unloading to premises within the Zone. This section of route could,
therefore, only be utilised by local waste collection vehicles serving
properties within the zone, with all other development HGV trips being
directed to utilise the strategic route connections to the north of the site.
7.169 The Javelin Park site is located centrally to the County waste catchment
area, being close to the main centres of population of Gloucester,
Cheltenham and Stroud. The site was selected as being a suitable location
for a strategic waste facility following a lengthy and comprehensive site
selection exercise. Key advantages of the Javelin Park site, in highway and
transport terms, include the site’s proximity to the Strategic Road Network
(M5) and the Principal Road Network (A38) routes, together with good
accessibility to the main sources of waste arisings in the County. This key
locational advantage can be expected to minimise operational route miles for
vehicles serving the site. There are no waterway or rail connections to the
site and currently no waste materials are transported by these alternative
means within the County. In this context it is accepted that at the current time
it would not be practical to pursue other multi-modal transport solutions
sought in WCS Policy WCS19.
7.170 In operational traffic terms, the residual cumulative impacts of the proposed
development have been assessed against the impacts of the extant B8
commercial distribution warehousing permitted planning land use for the site
(i.e. the net difference between traffic predicted for the EfW plant and the
existing permitted use).
7.171 The proposed development would be served by two accesses onto the
existing private access road. The receipt of waste and other materials
together with the removal of bottom ash and other residues is proposed to
take place between 07.00 and 19.00 Monday to Sunday with the majority of
waste inputs during the daytime hours of 08.00 and 16.00. This would
provide operational flexibility and receipt from more distant waste transfer
stations and household recycling centres, although only limited waste inputs
would take place during the weekend, (typically less than 5% of total weekly
input).
7.172 The applicant states that the total average number of weekday HGV
movements between the hours of 7:00 and 19:00 has been calculated to be
208 (104 in and 104 out), assuming no back loading operational movements,
133

Page 133

with the peak around 13.00 hours, at 40 movements. This assumption
appears reasonable since it has been based on a ‘first principles’ approach
and takes into account main site operating assumptions such as anticipated
site processing capacity, site operating / delivery hours and anticipated input
/ output vehicle tonnage. This assumption also reflects the traditional
arrangement of municipal waste collection which mean that few vehicles are
full until after the morning rush-hour. The facility is anticipated to employ up
to 40 members of staff and although it would operate on a 24-hour basis,
there would only the small number present for the evening shift. Additional
traffic movements can also be expected to be generated by the visitor centre.
In total an additional 109 traffic movements are predicted between 7.00 and
19:00 each weekday, associated with staff and visitors. Therefore on
average there is expected to be a total of 317 traffic movements each
weekday between 7:00 and 19:00. The HGV traffic movements during the
road peak periods (8:00 to 9:00 and 17:00 to 18:00) are predicted to be 5
and 2 respectively , with 14 and 13 traffic movements associated with staff
and visitors, in the same periods. The HGV traffic delivering material to the
site is anticipated to mainly use the M5 (74%) or the A38 (26%). Outward
HGV movements involving bottom ash residues and metals for recycling, are
anticipated to utilise the M5 only.
7.173 The majority of traffic movements generated by the proposed development
would utilise the strategic motorway network. Furthermore, the operation of
the EfW would actually have less of an impact on the transport network when
compared to the impact of that part of the permitted B8 commercial
warehouse development that would not be constructed if this development
were to be permitted. The EfW use would attract approximately 75 fewer
vehicle movements per day, although the number of HGV movements would
be greater by around 50 a day. The applicant’s analysis of the impact of the
development on the strategic and local highway networks shows that the
traffic movements generated by the proposed development would not have a
significant impact on the transport networks.
7.174 Junction 12 of the M5 was the subject of junction capacity improvements
which were completed and opened in the Spring 2011. Site observations
since the improvements indicate that traffic conditions on the junction
operate with generally free flow conditions during weekday peak hour
periods, with limited traffic queues. A review of off-peak and weekend
conditions by the applicant has not identified any traffic congestion issues.
7.175 14 collisions have been reported to the police, in which personal injury
occurred, in and around local junctions (including junction 12 the M5).
However, given the nature of this part of the highway network and the
amount of traffic using it, together with the generally low HGV collision
134

Page 134

frequency and a lack of common causation factors, it is not considered that
there are prevailing road safety issues that would justify refusing the planning
application on highway safety grounds.
7.176 Having regard to this issue, the applicant does not consider the development
would result in any material detriment to the operation of the local highway
network and that the proposed development would actually result in a slight
net improvement in traffic conditions set against the alternative of a B8
warehouse development. This assessment is agreed with by the Local
Highway Authority and the Highways Agency. The section of the B4008 in
the vicinity of the proposed development is an existing principal distributor
road which experiences traffic flows in the order of 700-900 vehicle
movements per hour. The addition of the application site traffic is predicted to
result in total traffic increases less than the current daily fluctuation in flows.
7.177 The existing 325m of access road including new roads within the site would
be sufficient to stack 15 HGVs off the public highway thereby avoiding the
potential of vehicles having to wait on the B4008 and interfering with the free
flow of traffic on the public highway. 45 parking spaces for staff and visitors
including 4 disabled spaces are to be provided along with covered and
secure cycle/motorcycle parking, staff showers and changing facilities and a
food preparation area to encourage staff to remain onsite in working hours.
Other initiatives are to be promoted through a travel plan. It is considered
that these arrangements are satisfactory to meet site requirements.
7.178 In construction traffic terms there would be additional vehicle movements
which would vary across the anticipated three-year temporary construction
period depending on the nature of the main activities taking place on site on
any particular day. It is not, however, anticipated that HGV movements would
be any greater than that associated with the eventual operation of the site.
During some periods of the construction work, it is anticipated that 250 to
300 operatives could be based on the site during the central twelve-month
period of construction process work. This would require off-site car parking to
be provided and this can be secured by way of a suitably worded planning
condition.
Discussion
7.179 Having regard to the information submitted in support of the planning
application (which has been accepted by both the Local Highway Authority
and the Highways Agency) it is considered that the development would result
in some overall net benefits to the transport network and have environmental
benefits when compared to the predicted impacts previously accepted in
respect of the permitted B8 warehouse development at Javelin Park. The
135

Page 135

application is not the subject of an objection from the Local Highway
Authority (subject to appropriate conditions), and the Highway Agency raises
no objection subject to the inclusion of conditions requiring a construction
traffic management plan and a travel plan. These conditions are considered
to be appropriate for the proposed development and will ensure that the
applicant’s proposals are implemented with due regard to highway safety
and the promotion of alternatives to the private car.
7.180 Accordingly, the traffic and transport aspects of the proposed development
are considered to accord with development plan policies requiring
appropriately designed facilities which encourage access by a wide range of
transport modes and necessary highway improvements which would not
cause unacceptable harm to the local environment or highway network. The
development therefore meets the requirements of Structure Plan Policies T1;
T2; and T3; Stroud District Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR2 and WCS Policy
WCS19 together with the relevant objectives to paragraphs 34 and 35 of the
NPPF. The development is not detrimental to highway safety or the users of
public right of way and includes safe, convenient and attractive access for
pedestrians taking into account the needs of disabled people, meeting
Stroud District Local Plan policies GE5 and TR2. There would be appropriate
levels of parking in accordance with the Council’s Parking Standards and
Stroud District Local Plan Policy TR1.
7.181 It is recommended that a condition be attached to any permission requiring a
Travel Plan to be prepared and implemented. In addition it is recommended
that a legal obligation be used to secure funds to enable implementation and
monitoring of the Travel Plan and ensure compliance with WCS Policy
WCS19 and the routing of HGVs to ensure lorries use appropriate routes
consistent with Structure Plan Policy T11.
AMENITY
Policy
7.182 WCS Policy WCS1 reflects the NPPF and the presumption in favour of
sustainable development, which by definition involves improving the
economic, social and environmental conditions in the area. The Key
Development Criteria (Appendix 5) that apply to all of the strategic residual
recovery facilities provided for in Policy WCS6 address aspects of amenity,
including consideration of the effect of development on noise, dust, fumes,
smell and traffic on the surrounding area and highway network. The Key
Development Criteria for Javelin Park of relevance to protection of amenity
include:

136

Page 136

x

x

Traffic impacts, and the need to prevent HGV traffic along the Standish
Road via Stonehouse, and to assess traffic flows at Junction 12 of the
M5 at peak times
Effect on local amenity in terms of noise, dust, artificial illumination,
overshadowing and outlook.

7.183 The NPPF includes a Core Planning Principle to always seek to secure high
quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future
occupants of land and buildings. Paragraph 120 of the NPPF advises that
planning decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate for its
location. The effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, the
natural environment or general amenity, and the potential sensitivity of the
area or proposed development to adverse effects from pollution, should be
taken into account. Paragraph 123 goes on to advise that decisions should
aim to avoid noise from new development giving rise to significant adverse
impacts on health and quality of life, and mitigate and reduce to a minimum
other adverse impacts on health and quality of life arising from noise.
Paragraph 125 advises that decisions should limit the impact of light pollution
through encouraging good design.
7.184 The locational criteria in Annex E PPS10 include consideration of amenity
issues of visual intrusion, traffic, air emissions and dust, odour, vermin, noise
and vibration, and litter.
7.185 The saved policies of the Waste Local Plan of relevance include Policy 37
(considering the effect of developments on the environment, occupant and
user amenity and health, and any adverse cumulative effect in combination
with other development in the area, and use of measures to mitigate,
attenuate and control noise, dust, litter, odour, landfill gas, vermin, leachate
and flue emissions) and Policy 38 (restricting hours of operation to protect
amenity).
7.186 Structure Plan (2nd Alteration) saved Policy WM2 addresses amenity
considerations, requiring (clause c) the amenity of local communities and
access to the countryside to be safeguarded and where possible enhanced.
Policy P1 requires that provision only be made for development where it
does not have an unacceptable effect in terms of the environment and local
community in terms air, noise or light pollution.
7.187 Stroud District Council Local Plan Policy GE1 seeks to prevent development
that would be likely to lead to an unacceptable level of noise, general
disturbance, smell, fumes, loss of daylight or sunlight, loss of privacy or have
an overbearing effect, and Policy GE2 addresses unacceptable atmospheric
or environmental pollution to water, land or air that may result from
137

Page 137

development. Policy GE5 seeks in part to prevent development that would
be likely to be detrimental to any user of a public right of way.
Planning Considerations
7.188 A large number of the representations received from the public refer to the
adverse effects on residential amenity including visual aspects, the loss of
existing views from properties close-by (citing 40 residential properties within
1km), and increased traffic, noise and occasional smells (for instance when
the EfW plant is shut down for maintenance when waste may build up).
7.189 The application site is a brownfield site situated in a rural area which locally
is dominated by the presence of the M5 motorway. There are a limited
number of sensitive receptors in proximity to the site. The nearest residential
property (and receptor for amenity impacts) is The Lodge, 50m from the site
boundary to the east of the B4008. Other residential properties include
Hiltmead Farm (approximately 230 m to the west of the site on the opposite
side of the M5), Old Airfield Farm, (approximately 700 m to the southwest of
the site), St Joseph’s Travellers Park (approximately 450 m to the west of the
site), Lindas Home (approximately 600 m to the west of the site) and
Broadfield Farm, Parkend, Parkend Farm (all situated along the A38
approximately 850 - 900m to the west of the site). Blooms Garden Centre is
also in close proximity (250m) to the proposed development site.
7.190 The ES includes consideration of issues addressed by the development plan
policies as concern general amenity and its specific components. The
assessments relating to noise, air quality and human health concluded that
the proposed development would not result in any significant impacts during
construction or operation of the facility. The cumulative impacts of the
proposed development with others were also assessed within the ES. This
concluded that significant cumulative impacts are unlikely to arise.
7.191 The application proposals include the retention of most of the existing tree
screen to the eastern boundary as well as the addition of land mounding and
further tree planting which would add to the containment on the development
from the eastern side. The EfW building itself (rather than the site boundary)
would be some 160m from The Lodge. This separation, the intermediate
landscaping and the substantial tree and hedgerow screen currently existing
to the road frontage of this property would ensure that the impact from the
development is satisfactorily contained locally.
7.192 The ES identifies that residential properties at Hiltmead Farm, Lower Green
Farm and Old Airfield Farm would experience moderate to major or greater
visual effects. Views from Hiltmead Farm and Old Airfield Farm would be
138

Page 138

across the M5 while views from Lower Green Farm would be from a greater
distance across countryside partially obscured by vegetation.
7.193 The adjacent Garden Centre is orientated so that its entrance would face the
proposed development. The site is, however, contained by substantial
hedgerow and trees. Again the impact on the amenity of these premises
needs to be considered in terms of the extant planning permission for
warehouse development on the adjoining land which if constructed would
bring built development closer to the site boundaries. It is not considered
that the proposed development would harm the setting of the Garden Centre
because of the existing and proposed additional landscaping, the separation
of HGV traffic to its own roundabout access, and because views towards the
Garden Centre would be across the large expanse of car park.
7.194 The impact of the development on traffic is considered above. The amount
of HGV and other vehicle movements and the hours of operation have the
potential to impact on amenity through noise, vibration and dust. The site is
adjacent to the M5 and the applicant’s assessment indicates that the local
noise climate is dominated by road traffic noise from the motorway. The
arrangement of the plant, with the significant components of the 24 hour
operation, including the air condensers, enclosed within the building and
closest to the M5, together with the provision of a bund at the eastern side of
the site should help ensure that impact of the proposed site activity is
contained and that isolation from the B4008 is maximised.
7.195 The applicant’s assessment of potential noise effects during the construction
phase has shown that there is a potential for noise to cause nuisance at the
nearest noise sensitive receptor to the development site (The Lodge),
although not from construction of the main building as it is sufficiently distant
from the property. However, through the programming of the works,
implementation of suitable mitigation measures and good site practice, the
effects from construction can be controlled such that there should be no
residual significant impact.
7.196 The applicant’s assessment indicates that noise generated during the
operational phase would increase noise levels experienced at The Lodge but
the noise threshold limits stipulated by Stroud District Council would not be
exceeded. Noise impacts on all other receptors are considered by the
applicant, based on its assessment, to be negligible. Therefore the operation
of the facility would not be expected to cause a significant impact on the
current noise climate at surrounding residential and commercial receptors.
7.197 The applicant’s assessment of noise change due to variation in traffic flows
on the local road network shows that the noise levels would not result in a
139

Page 139

significant impact. Unless associated with local waste collections, all HGV
traffic would only use the northbound routes of the B4008, avoiding travelling
past the closest residential property. The proposed limit on the times of HGV
movements together with the enclosure of the tipping and process areas
should ensure that the activity and noise is contained to protect residential
amenity. The imposition of conditions to restrict HGV vehicle delivery times
and the use of white noise reversing bleepers on vehicles operating in the
external areas of the site should ensure the protection of residential amenity
from noise.
7.198 All waste handling would be within the building, but there may be potential for
odour from delivery, deposit and temporary storage of waste within the
tipping hall. This part of the building would be fitted with doors and air would
be drawn by forced draught fans from the tipping area bunker hall and boiler
hall into the furnace to feed the combustion process. This would result in
negative air pressure within the building which would prevent the escape of
odours. The high temperatures within the combustion chambers would also
destroy odorous compounds. Regular mixing of wastes in the bunkers would
prevent anaerobic conditions and associated generation of odours. However
there may be potential for odours to arise for instance when the proposed
EfW plant is shut down for maintenance. The adoption of an Odour
Management Plan, addressing amongst other things the need to reduce risk
of odours from delivery vehicles, will address such an issue should planning
permission be granted and a condition is proposed to that effect.
7.199 The applicant’s assessment of potential vibration effects has indicated that
receptors in the vicinity of the site would not be adversely affected by
vibration inducing construction activities (no piling within 100m, of the
nearest property) and therefore would not result in a significant impact, and
there is no reason to doubt these findings.
7.200 Waste would be delivered to the site on covered or enclosed vehicles and
deposited inside the tipping hall and therefore the potential for litter to be
blown around, causing a litter nuisance around the site is small. There is the
potential for dust to arise around the site from the movement of lorries and,
particularly during the site construction works when material would be moved
about. During construction works the use of a wheel-wash would help
prevent mud or dust being carried from the site onto local roads.
7.201 There is a network of public rights of way to the east of the site across open
fields leading to Haresfield and nearby hamlets. While these rights of way
would not be directly affected by the development, there would be views from
a number of locations from which the proposed development would be highly
visible. However these views would be transient in nature and although the
140

Page 140

rights of way appear to be lightly used at present it is not in any event
considered that there would be an adverse effect on their recreational value
sufficient to warrant an objection, particularly taking account of the
orientation of the proposed development and the intervening new landscape
features within the application site.
Discussion
7.202 The facility is sufficiently distant from most residential and commercial
properties so that with suitable mitigation the impact of noise, vibration and
dust would be limited. Mitigation of potential impacts from the construction
phase should include implementation of best practice construction methods
through operation in accordance with Construction Environmental
Management Plan, and a suitable condition is proposed to this effect.
Appropriate mitigation measures and more detailed controls will be imposed
by the Environment Agency on the environmental permit for the site (if and
when issued). The conditions proposed here will deal with the scope of
amenity issues so far as is appropriate in terms of planning control.
7.203 A development of this type and scale clearly has the potential to adversely
affect amenity, particularly local visual amenity but also in terms of noise,
vibration, dust and odour. Management practices adopted during the
construction of the facility, including hours in which construction is
undertaken and vehicles enter and leave the site and adoption of a
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) can mitigate
potential noise and impacts on nearby residential and commercial properties.
Production and approval of a CEMP is recommended for imposition as a
condition.
7.204 Potential noise impacts resulting from operation of the facility would be
mitigated through design and configuration, design of the fabric of the
building, and operational management, and it is recommended that
conditions be attached to any permission requiring monitoring and remedial
action of required to limit and control potential noise impacts. Dust and
odour management plans would enable management of these issues and it
is recommended that such conditions be attached to any permission.
7.205 Overall the impact of the facility on amenity (apart from adverse effects on
visual amenity of a number of properties), with appropriate mitigation as
recommended, is likely to be minor and the proposal will accord with Policies
WCS1 and WCS6 of the WCS, saved Policies 37 and 38 of the Waste Local
Plan, Policy WM2 of the Structure Plan 2nd Review, and Policies GE1, GE2
and GE5 of the Stroud Local Plan.

141

Page 141

ECOLOGY
Policy
7.206 Policy WCS15 of the WCS addresses nature conservation (biodiversity and
geodiversity). The policy safeguards nationally important sites - Site of
Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) or National Nature Reserves (NNRs) from
inappropriate waste development, and recognises that development outside
of such areas can still have an adverse impact on them. The policy also
seeks a net gain for biodiversity from developments through the
incorporation of beneficial features into their design and layout, particularly
where this would make a positive contribution to a Strategic Nature Area
(SNA).
7.207 Policy WCS6 of the WCS criterion (b) requires that proposals are supported
by sufficient information for the purposes of an Appropriate Assessment of
the implications of the proposal, alone or in-combination with other plans and
projects, upon any European Site which comprise Special Area of
Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar sites.
7.208 The General Development Criteria for strategic residual recovery facilities in
Appendix 5 of the WCS include Ecology/HRA require surveys to determine
whether notable species, habitats or designated sites may be affected by the
development, identify mitigation and/or compensation measures, provision of
landscaping and biodiversity enhancements, and measures for aftercare and
long term management. The Key Development Criteria for Javelin Park
include ‘ecology/HRA’ and identify that the presence of protected species
has been confirmed in the surrounding area (e.g. badger and barn owl) but
reptiles, nesting birds and bats may also occur on the land itself. It states
that there is some probability (not high) that water voles and great crested
newts may use land around the margins of the land. Onsite habitat features
include scrub and regenerating brownfield land and there are boundary
features including hedgerows and a watercourse which could be affected by
new development.
7.209 In respect of the General Development Criteria for a Habitats Regulations
Assessment (HRA) any appropriate assessment (AA) would need to ensure
that there would be no adverse effect on the integrity of any SAC, SPA or
Ramsar site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects. In
particular, the Severn Estuary SAC, SPA, Ramsar, Walmore Common SPA,
Ramsar, Cotswold Beechwoods SAC and Rodborough Common SAC
require specific consideration.

142

Page 142

7.210 Waste Local Plan Saved Policy 25 (Conservation Outside Designated Sites)
affords protection to more local wildlife interest requiring proposals to
demonstrate that any adverse impacts on features of major importance for
wild flora and fauna, natural and cultural heritage can be prevented or
mitigated.
7.211 Adopted Structure Plan (2nd Review) saved policies WM2 (e), S6, and NE2
and Stroud District Local Plan (2005) Saved Policy NE4 are also relevant as
they provide for the protection of internationally, nationally, regionally and
locally important nature conservation sites, and distinctive wildlife and
habitats.
7.212 The NPPF advises that the planning system should contribute to and
enhance the natural environment, including through minimising impacts on
biodiversity and providing net gains in biodiversity where possible (para 109).
It requires planning authorities to conserve and enhance biodiversity in
determining planning applications by refusing permission where significant
harm cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated or, as a last resort,
compensated for. It also encourages opportunities to incorporate biodiversity
in and around developments.
7.213 The majority of public comments (many identically worded) raise objection on
the basis that in their opinion the development would have a negative
environmental impact on protected sites, citing the Habitat Regulations
Assessment of the WCS (ERM, 2010) and concerns over effects on the
Cotswold Beechwoods SAC of the proposed development in combination
with the consented gasification plant at Moreton Valence. The HRA
undertaken for the WCS concluded that 'potential significant effects on
European sites cannot be ruled out' for Javelin Park for thermal waste
facilities over 100,000 tonnes per annum.
Planning Considerations - Nature Conservation interest of the site
7.214 The County Ecologist has been consulted on nature conservation issues and
his advice has been reflected in consideration of the evidence presented
and compliance of the proposal with policy and any conditions that may be
deemed necessary to be applied to any permission.
7.215 The application site does not form part of any site designated for nature
conservation importance at local, national or international levels. There are
no designated sites within 1km of the site. As identified in the WCS the
nearest European Site is the Severn Estuary SAC, SPA, Ramsar at a
distance of c.6 km. Other nearby European Sites include Walmore Common

143

Page 143

SPA, Ramsar (c.6.5 km), Cotswold Beechwoods SAC (c.7 km) and
Rodborough Common SAC (c.7.5 km).
7.216 Barn owls and badgers have been recorded within 10m of the application
site. Polecats and bat species including noctule (Nyctalus noctula); brown
long-eared (Plecotus auritus) and Soprano Pipistrelle (Pipistrellus pygmaeus)
have been recorded within 1km of the site.
7.217 The most notable feature of the site in terms of nature conservation interest
and legislative protection is its use by foraging bats along the southern
corridor (along the stream) which is reported by the ES. This area also
supports a community of breeding birds.
7.218 The ES identifies eight species that have been recorded on the site with
special legal protection, as summarised in the table below (reproduced from
Table 9.6 of the ES):
Species
Representation in Survey Area
Barbastelle bat
Limited foraging in southern boundary of site on 1
of 3 survey occasions.
Greater horseshoe bat
Small number of recordings on southern
boundary on 3 of 3 surveys, probable occasional
use for foraging.
Common pipistrelle bat
Southern boundary favoured foraging destination
for relatively small numbers of pipistrelle likely to
be roosting <1km to E or S of site.
Soprano pipistrelle bat
Limited activity with occasional foraging on
southern boundary, despite presence of roost
within 1km.
Myotis sp. bats
Frequently recorded foraging in small numbers,
mostly along southern boundary, on site later
than common pipistrelle.
Noctule bat
Very infrequent overflights, no foraging activity.
Little ringed plover
Maximum 1 pair attempted to breed, utilising
cleared land to north as well as on site.
Badger
Sett <10m to south of site boundary but limited
activity on site, confined to southern boundary
corridor.
7.219 Barbastelle and greater horseshoe bat are protected under Annex II and
Annex IV of the Habitats Directive. Other bat species are protected under
Annex IV. All bats are also protected in England through the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 [Habitats Regulations] which
transposes the Habitats Directive and by their listing under Schedule 5 of the
1981 Wildlife & Countryside Act (as amended). The ES reports that the bat
survey indicated that there are no potential bat roosts on site, and
development of the site would not involve the need for a derogation licence
(Reg. 53(1) and 53(2)(e) of the Habitats Regulations). Nevertheless
144

Page 144

because bats are protected by the Wildlife & Countryside Act and also that
certain bats are priority species (barbastelle, noctule, soprano Pipistrelle,
greater horseshoe and others) under the English List (S41 Natural
Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006) there remains a
need to fully consider whether the development could completely avoid
disturbance to bats or that any disturbance would be at an insignificant level.
7.220 Foraging bats utilising the southern peripheral landscape (stream corridor)
are therefore a material consideration and evidence provided by the
applicant shows that this part of the site is regularly used by a small
population of common pipistrelle and also less intensively by small numbers
of greater horseshoe bat. Another rare species, barbastelle, was recorded
on one of the three survey visits but it is unlikely to be dependent on habitat
quality or connectivity within the site. Soprano pipistrelle and Myotis bats also
use the site, with occasional overflights by noctule bats. Of the bat species
recorded on site, greater horseshoes are the most likely to be affected by
disturbance. They are known to be more sensitive to lighting and so forage in
darker areas within habitat corridors. Activities which damage habitat
connectivity could be construed as disturbance to such bat species with
potential to affect the conservation status of them in the local area. Evidence
from the applicant's bat survey suggests an origin from roost sites that are
remote (>4km) from the site and the small number of records indicates the
southern habitat corridor is not an important foraging area for greater
horseshoe bats. As disturbance effects on bats as a result of the proposed
development would be limited they are not considered to be liable to affect
their conservation status.
7.221 The welfare of badgers is afforded under the Protection of Badgers Act 1992.
There is limited evidence of badgers using the site, and activity appears
restricted to the southern boundary corridor. The security fence is assumed
to restrict access. The low risk of badgers entering the site during the
construction phase would need to be managed through a Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP).
7.222 A total of 28 species of bird were recorded within the site, of which 13 were
probable or possible breeding species, with the open habitats (recently
cleared) supporting a possible breeding attempt by little ringed plover. Little
ringed plover are protected through listing under Schedule 1 (part 1) of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).
7.223 There is no evidence of reptiles or amphibians using the site, with the risk
assessment identifying a low risk of occurrence of great crested newts on the
site.

145

Page 145

7.224 In its review of the ES on behalf of the WPA, the Council’s consultants BV
questioned a number of the conclusions of the bat survey contained in the
Environmental Statement, particularly the survey effort, the ‘local’
significance of the site for barbastelle and greater horseshoe bats, and the
assessment of impacts as being of minor significance. The applicant’s
consultant ecologists have rebutted all of the criticisms and provided
additional information as part of the Regulation 22 process. Having taken
the advice of the County Ecologist it is considered that the surveys were
undertaken in accordance with Bat Conservation Trust guidelines. The
results indicate that while the site is used regularly by several protected bat
species, the site is likely to be only a small part of a wider local area for
foraging bats. The potential impact of the development on both bats and
breeding birds, with appropriate mitigation as suggested, would not be
significant. Indeed, the landscaping proposed may enhance the site for bat
species. In conclusion the construction and operation of the proposed
development would comply with relevant protected species legislation.
7.225 The vegetation and habitats on the site itself are all of recent origin reflecting
its previous industrial use and disturbed nature. The largest single habitat is
ephemeral – short perennial vegetation, comprising an open sward of herbs
established on a relatively coarse substrate, with other areas of more
established grassland, and planting of native and ornamental shrubs in the
south-eastern and eastern margins of the site. This habitat mix may be
considered as Open Mosaic Habitat on Previously Developed Land Priority
Habitat (as defined by the JNCC). The habitat features provide nesting
opportunities for warblers (whitethroat, lesser whitethroat and chiffchaff) and
foraging for finches (linnet and goldfinches). One pair of spotted flycatchers
was recorded breeding on the site.
7.226 Potential impacts from the construction phase are identified in the ES as
habitat loss (principally scrub) and disturbance to certain species, including
from construction/operational activity and lighting. The significance of
impacts is assessed based on the scale of the importance of the feature of
interest and the magnitude of predicted impact. Impact on little ringed plover
is assessed as ‘moderate’ (although the effect, through loss of habitat, would
occur without the development as the open ground that this species requires
would scrub over or through implementation of the extant B8 permission). All
others impacts are assessed as being negligible or minor.
7.227 The applicant proposes to mitigate construction phase impacts through the
preparation and implementation of a CEMP. Mitigation measures proposed
for the construction phase include avoiding site clearance during the bird
breeding season and maintenance of the southern landscape corridor for use
by foraging bats. Additional measures proposed for inclusion in the CEMP to
146

Page 146

further reduce risk of impacts on protected species include undertaking a
pre-construction reptile survey, avoiding disturbance to little ringed plover,
ensuring no impact on badger setts, and prevention of lighting impacts on the
stream corridor during the bat activity season. Avoidance of disturbance to
breeding little ringed plover in the construction phase includes installation of
bunting and tape, plus avoidance of leaving exposed aggregates as the
species nests on open ground and may be attracted to it.
7.228 Having taken advice from the County Ecologist it is considered that the
conclusion of the applicant’s consultants that temporary lighting would not
impact significantly on foraging/commuting bats is correct. A Bat Method
Statement is relevant to this aspect and has been submitted for inclusion in
the CEMP. In terms of the construction phase, the assessment of the
significance of impacts is considered accurate and the development, with
implementation of the proposed mitigation measures as part of the CEMP
would remove the risk of significant adverse effects on protected species. It
is recommended that preparation, adoption and implementation of the CEMP
should be made part of a condition should permission be granted for the
development.
7.229 The applicant considers that the operational phase is not likely to result in
any additional direct impacts such as habitat loss, with the proposed
landscaping and habitat creation having an overall positive impact through
enhancement of habitats for breeding birds and foraging bats. Potential
impacts from lighting, noise, physical disturbance, emissions to air and to
water have also been identified but with suitable mitigation in place these are
not considered to be significant and the applicant concludes that protected
species legislation would not be breached. Mitigation measures proposed
for the operational phase include incorporation of landscaping to provide
habitats and maintain the foraging area for bats along the southern boundary
of the site. The design of lighting to direct light away from the boundary and
landscaped areas together with reducing light spillage from the western
elevation of the building is also proposed.
7.230 In response to questions arising during the consultation, and further requests
for information under the Regulation 22 process, the applicant used lux plans
to determine worst case scenarios of illumination. It is important to take into
account when the proposed development site would be lit particularly in
relation to the main bat activity season (approximately late March to
October). Some light disturbance to bat activity on site is predicted but this
would only happen during occasional night time maintenance operations.
Even so there would still be good areas of the stream corridor available to
bats including for greater horseshoe bats and other light sensitive species.
The lux plans and assessment presented show that for the main bat activity
147

Page 147

season (when there could be a significant impact on bats) the southern and
western stream corridors remain useable for foraging/commuting animals.
The assessment also concludes that there is some potential for disturbance
to the stream corridor at the western end of the proposed development site
meaning that the few bats using this side of the site could possibly be
affected.
7.231 Having taken the advice of the County Ecologist it is not considered that this
represents a significant impact and recommend that mitigation measures are
taken to minimise light spillage from internal lighting of the western elevation
during the hours of darkness. Appropriate measures for minimising/avoiding
this identified impact have been put forward and are the use of blinds or
intelligent lighting or tinted glass. It is considered that this could be
addressed through applying a condition to any permission that may be
granted for the development. Natural England agrees with the proposals to
minimise light spillage into the main bat foraging area, and the impact on
bats from lighting is not considered to be sufficient to cause prolonged or
significant impact to foraging or commuting activity of any species. Overall
the enhancement of the stream corridor proposed would be beneficial to bats
as agreed by Natural England.
7.232 For the operational phase, habitat protection and enhancement would be
achieved through preparation, adoption and implementation of a Landscape
and Ecological Management Scheme. Management of lighting to avoid
impacts on the southern boundary and stream corridor (for example through
directing light away from this area by using shields or cowls on security
lighting) could be achieved through preparation, adoption and
implementation of a Lighting Plan. It is considered that these could be
achieved through applying conditions to any permission granted for the
development.
Habitats Regulations Assessment
7.233 An assessment is required by Regulations 7 and 61(1) of the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (the Habitats Regulations). This is
not simply a policy requirement but a legal requirement. As described above
it is also required in relation to Policy WCS6 of the WCS, NPPF (paragraphs
113, 118 & 119) and the Habitats Regulations which implement the Habitats
Directive (Directive 92/43/EEC on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and
Wild Flora and Fauna) into national law. The WPA can only permit the
development if it goes through the procedure required by regulation 61
(article 6(3) of the Habitats Directive) which is described in more detail in the
following paragraphs. .

148

Page 148

7.234 The Habitats Regulations set out the procedures to be followed when
considering any developments that might affect European Sites which
include Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection Areas
(SPAs). (As a matter of policy, the Government has chosen to apply the
procedures described below, unless otherwise specified, in respect of
wetlands of international importance (Ramsar sites)). Competent authorities
are required to undertake an appropriate assessment (AA) of a plan or
project that is likely to have a significant effect upon a European Site, either
alone or in combination with other plans or projects having regard to the
Site’s conservation objectives.
7.235 The first step in the regulation 61 procedure is to screen the application to
ascertain whether the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect on
European Sites. This is to be undertaken on a precautionary basis. This
means that a project should be subject to an AA of its implications for the
European Site in view of the site's conservation objectives if it cannot be
excluded, on the basis of objective information, that it will have a significant
effect on that site, either individually or in combination with other plans or
projects.
7.236 If, following screening, an AA is required, then permission may not be
granted unless the AA concludes that the project will not have an adverse
effect on the integrity of the European Sites.
7.237 In carrying out an assessment under the Habitats Regulations considerable
weight should be given to the views of Natural England on the habitats
issues.
7.238 In producing the WCS a HRA Final Report was undertaken on behalf of the
County Council (ERM, December 2010). This included the allocation of
Javelin Park (‘site 4’) as a strategic residual recovery facility. This concluded
in that policy context that for a development of an EfW at Javelin Park with a
throughput larger than 100,000 tonnes per annum with stack height of
80metres it could not be concluded at the WCS stage that there would be no
likely significant effects from air pollution on European Sites, specifically air
pollution effects on the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC. This meant that a
specific habitats assessment would have to be carried out at the planning
application stage when the design details of an actual EfW facility (rather
than a generic one) could be analysed. Policy WCS6 therefore requires that
proposals at Javelin Park are supported by sufficient information for the
purposes of an AA of the implications of the proposal to be undertaken.

149

Page 149

The Applicant’s Habitats Regulations Screening Assessment
7.239 The applicant has undertaken a screening assessment under the Habitats
Regulations of the potential impacts of the proposed development on
European Sites in terms of habitat loss; air quality impacts from process
emissions, vehicle emissions and dust; water quality impacts including
ground and surface water pollution and abstraction; and disturbance. Whilst
the screening assessment itself has to be completed by the WPA as
competent authority, the applicant’s work has contributed to the WPA’s own
assessment.
7.240 An initial screening of the above impacts by the applicant concluded that the
development was unlikely to have a significant effect on any European Sites
other than potentially from air quality impacts associated with process
emissions. As such a more detailed assessment of air quality impacts was
undertaken by the applicant.
7.241 Emissions to air of oxides of nitrogen, sulphur dioxide and ammonia
represent potentially the greatest concern in ecological terms, given the
potential to have a fertilising and acidifying effect on habitats and vegetation
(NOx and SO2). Sensitivity varies between habitats and particular
components of habitats, and is reflected in a series of Critical Loads for
deposition of nitrogen and acidity. Dispersal of emissions can result in
impacts on habitats some distance from the emissions source.
7.242 The air quality modelling, which informed the applicant’s Screening
Assessment was based on assumptions that the facility would thermally treat
190,000 tonnes of waste per annum, and that it would comply with the
requirements of the Waste Incineration Directive 2000/76/EC (WID) and
emissions would be regulated under the terms of an environmental permit.
The gases generated during the combustion process would be treated and
cleaned before being released into the atmosphere. The facility would
include an Air Pollution Control System (APC) which would use NOx
reduction, acid gas scrubbing and fabric filters to treat the combustion gases.
7.243 The applicant has undertaken an air quality assessment as part of the EIA
(described elsewhere in this report). This included modelling of emissions
from the proposed EfW stack and the dispersion and deposition of nitrogen
and acidifying pollutants to sensitive ecological receptors surrounding the
site in line with Environment Agency guidelines. This included all SACs,
SPAs and Ramsar sites within 15km of the site of the proposed
development, and all Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs), National
Nature Reserves (NNRs), Local Nature Reserves (LNRs), local wildlife sites
and ancient woodland within 2km of the location of the installation.
150

Page 150

7.244 Several representations have questioned the use of the ADMS dispersion
model as when used in the HRA for the WCS (2010) it produced divergent
results to those from the AERMOD model. In the Air Quality Assessment
included in the ES (Volume 3 Appendix 13.1), the applicant’s consultants
explain that the ‘ADMS’ model was used in modelling stack emissions for the
EIA of the proposed EfW facility in preference to the AERMOD model (both
models were used in the HRA of the WCS). An alternative model, AERMOD,
was not considered appropriate due to the topography around the site. The
applicant’s assessment states that AERMOD has known issues with
modelling terrain in the locality of a facility which has a similar height or is
higher than the stack. In such circumstances AERMOD models a significant
proportion of the plume impacting the terrain, while ADMS models in detail
the plume rise over and around hills as well as plume impaction upon them.
7.245 The HRA for the WCS also explains the rationale for the use of the different
models (paragraph B1.2.1):
“In the first instance, as an extensive number of model runs were needed,
AERMOD has been selected as the principal model to be used for this
study due to the faster model run times compared to ADMS. However, for
a selection of potential waste sites, additional runs were carried out using
ADMS to provide an insight into the influence of terrain.”
7.246 Natural England has not raised any concerns about the use of ADMS for the
Javelin Park application and has not asked that AERMOD modelling be used
in assessing potential impact on European Sites. In response to a request
from the County Council about use of the ADMS model the Environment
Agency confirmed (letter dated 1st February 2013) that it is satisfied that an
appropriate air dispersion modelling software tool has been used for the
predictions contained in the Applicant’s Air Quality Assessment Report
submitted as part of the EPR Application.
7.247 The modelling predicted that the concentration of pollutants would be below
the Environment Agency adopted thresholds (less than 1% of the air quality
objective or Critical Load) at which potentially significant impacts may start to
occur at all of the European sites within 15km of Javelin Park, so the
contribution was assessed to be insignificant. This includes levels of
nitrogen deposition at Cotswold Beechwoods SAC, a site highlighted as
being particularly sensitive to air quality impacts due to existing high
background levels of nitrogen deposition. However, the level predicted in a
very small number (5 of 140) of results was only marginally below the 1%
threshold at 0.94%, although across the SAC the average result was well
below the threshold at 0.57%.
151

Page 151

7.248 Due to its sensitivity, the applicant undertook a survey of the most vulnerable
part of the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC (Pope’s Wood) which the modelling
identified as potentially receiving the highest levels of deposition from the
proposed development. This was to assess evidence of actual ecological
effects occurring due to nutrient enrichment from existing high background
levels of nitrogen deposition. It was concluded that there was no evidence of
eutrophication (nutrient enrichment) currently adversely affecting its
conservation status. On the basis of the air quality modelling results and the
findings of the field survey the applicant concluded in the Screening
Assessment and the ES that the small predicted increase in nitrogen
deposition would be unlikely to have a measurable or significant effect on the
Cotswold Beechwoods SAC. As such the proposed EfW facility is not
considered by the applicant to be likely to result in adverse effects on any
European Sites.
The WPA’s Habitats Regulations assessment
7.249 The WPA as competent authority under the Habitats Regulations has
undertaken a Habitats Regulations screening assessment of the proposed
development, drawing on information submitted by the applicant, its own
information and also from statutory and Local Authority consultees. The
screening assessment also considered representations made on the impact
upon European Sites through the EIA/planning application consultation
process. It is also relevant to consider, when carrying out the screening
exercise, proposed mitigation measures which will be secured by condition
or planning obligation providing the WPA is satisfied that those measures will
be effective to offset or mitigate the effects which would occur in their
absence. It is considered that the mitigation measures here are likely to be
sufficiently effective to enable them to be taken into account in carrying out
the Habitats Regulations assessment.
7.250 The Screening Report considered European Sites within 15km of the
proposed development site and the potential impacts through disturbance,
water pollution, plus emissions and changes in air quality. The risk of
significant effect on the ecological requirements of each European Sites’
qualifying features as a result of the proposed development through
disturbance, through water or through air, alone and in combination with
other plans or projects, was assessed. All European Sites are too distant
(6.3km – 12.2km) from the site for there to be any risk of direct habitat loss.
7.251 There is small possibility of disturbance to bats from the Forest of Dean Bat
Sites SAC foraging on or near the site, but this can be avoided through the

152

Page 152

CEMP together with enhancement of bat foraging habitat during the
operational phase through implementation of the landscaping scheme.
7.252 The risk of impact through water quality changes is assessed as not
significant given the distance from the Severn Estuary Ramsar/SPA/SAC
and that pollution control measures would be implemented during the CEMP
and operational phase (through an Environmental Permit), and also through
landscaping measures that include a Sustainable Drainage Scheme.
7.253 With regard to potential impacts through air, the WPA’s screening
assessment concurs with the conclusions of the applicant’s screening
assessment that the impact of various air quality factors are modelled and
predicted to be less than 1% of long term benchmarks. The 1% test is not a
threshold of harm but one that indicates the starting point from which harm to
European Sites might occur rather than will occur. In considering incombination effects of other EfW developments at Moreton Valence and
Avonmouth the results of air quality assessments and HRAs of these
facilities were considered. In both cases the critical load for chemicals that
could affect European sites was below the 1% threshold. In addition in the
consideration of in-combination effects the Environment Agency guidance on
Environmental Permitting states that:
“Where the concentration within the emission footprint in any part of the
European Site(s) is less than 1% of the relevant long term benchmark
(Environmental Assessment Level, Critical Level or Critical Load), the
emission is not likely to have a significant effect alone or in combination,
irrespective of the background levels”.
7.254 Therefore the WPA concludes in its HRA Screening Report that the
proposed development would not be likely to result in significant effects on
any European Site, either alone or in combination with other plans or projects
and that a Stage Two Appropriate Assessment does not need to be carried
out.
7.255 In its representation on the application, Natural England stated that it agreed
with the measures proposed to enhance the stream habitats and minimise
lighting impacts (both for bats) and to avoid disturbance to little ringed plover
through timing of construction works. Natural England also agreed that the
assessment methodology including screening distances, modelling approach
and assessment criteria was appropriate, as were the critical loads used for
pollutants, except for hydrogen fluoride. Natural England requested that
further assessment be undertaken using long-term critical levels for 1 and 3
months for hydrogen fluoride, in addition to the short term daily mean applied
153

Page 153

in the applicant’s original Screening Assessment. The applicant
subsequently undertook a supplementary air quality assessment for the ES
Regulation 22 Submission. This demonstrated that the maximum impact as a
proportion of the lower critical load for both the 1-month and 3-month
averaging period is less than 1% and so emissions of hydrogen fluoride were
not likely to have a significant effect on European Sites, alone or in
combination with other sources. Natural England subsequently confirmed
that its concerns had been met.
7.256 Natural England was consulted on the WPA’s Screening Assessment and
subsequently confirmed that it agreed that a Stage Two Appropriate
Assessment can be screened out, and had no further comments. The
Environment Agency did not comment on the HRA Screening Report.
However it confirmed that it has undertaken its own Stage 2 Assessment
(Habitats Regulations) as part of its assessment of the permit application of
operational impacts from the proposed development, and as a result has
concluded that a further Stage 3 Appropriate Assessment is not necessary.
Discussion
7.257 The development site is previously developed land and is not covered by any
protective designations. It has some ecological interest, particularly for
foraging bats and for breeding birds. The applicant proposes a range of
mitigation measures to minimise the potential for adverse impacts on
biodiversity, including legally protected species, which includes retention of
the most important areas of habitat (particularly along the southern boundary
of the site along the drainage ditch), and avoidance of disturbance to these
areas and to species using the site. This would be achieved through
implementation of a CEMP with ‘method statements’ for given species, and
design of lighting to reduce potential impacts on foraging bats. The
proposed landscaping would enhance the development site’s biodiversity
interest as would the Sustainable Drainage Scheme which includes wetland
features. With these mitigation and enhancement measures in place the
development would not have an adverse effect on protected species or
biodiversity (ecology) generally.
7.258 A number of representations, including a large number from members of the
public, have raised concerns over the potential impact of air emissions from
the combustion process at the proposed facility on European Sites,
particularly the Cotswold Beechwoods SAC. The Habitats Regulations
assessment that the WPA has undertaken, drawing on information provided
through the EIA process, demonstrates that the development of the
proposed EfW facility alone, or in combination with other plans or projects,
would not be likely to result in significant effects on any European Site
154

Page 154

adopting a precautionary approach. Representations have questioned the
emissions modelling used by the applicant in its Habitats Regulations
Screening Report, but it is considered that the model used is appropriate
given the findings of the WPA’s screening report and agreement of its
conclusions by Natural England and with the Environment Agency’s
conclusion that an appropriate assessment is not required.
7.259 Therefore it is considered that the application would comply with local,
regional and national policies, and with the requirements of the Habitats
Regulations and Directive, and there are no grounds for refusal on the
grounds of impact on ecology (biodiversity). It is recommended that
conditions be attached to any permission, requiring measures to avoid and
minimise the potential for adverse effects on species using the site, to
improve its overall value for biodiversity and to be in accord with WCS
Policies WCS6, WCS15, WLP saved Policy 25, Gloucestershire Structure
Plan 2nd Review saved Policy NHE.2, Stroud Local Plan saved policies NE3,
NE4, NE5, NE6 and NE7, RPG10 Policy EN1, and the NPPF. These should
include the adoption and implementation of a Construction Environmental
Management Plan (CEMP), a Landscape and Environmental Management
Scheme, and a Lighting Scheme. See comments above regarding the
relevance of mitigation measures to the Habitats Regulations assessment.
AIR QUALITY
Policy
7.260 The WCS does not contain any specific policies relating to air pollution or
human health although it may be taken to be implicit in that the site selection
process involved rigorous assessment including modelling of air emissions
and prediction of possible impacts on sensitive receptors. The adopted
Stroud Local Plan Policy GE2 restricts development that would be likely to
create unacceptable atmospheric or environmental pollution to water, land or
air.
7.261 RPG 10 Policy EN2: Air Quality requires local authorities to ensure that air
quality considerations are properly considered along with other material
considerations in the planning process, particularly where any air quality
management areas have been designated. Saved Policy P.1 of the
Gloucestershire Structure Plan (2nd Alteration) similarly restricts
development that would have an unacceptable effect in terms of air pollution
although this is given little weight as it has been adjudged to be overly
restrictive in its intent as compared with NPPF.

155

Page 155

7.262 The NPPF paragraph 122 advises that local planning authorities should
focus on whether the development itself is an acceptable use of the land,
and the impact of the use, rather than the control of processes or emissions
themselves where these are subject to approval under pollution control
regimes - in this case the Environment Agency environmental permit. Local
planning authorities should assume that these regimes will operate
effectively. The NPPF states that to avoid unacceptable risks from pollution,
planning decisions should ensure that new development is appropriate for its
location. The effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, the
natural environment or general amenity, and the potential sensitivity of the
area or proposed development to adverse effects from pollution, should be
taken into account (paragraph 120).
7.263 PPS 10 (Para 5) stresses that Waste Planning Authorities should adhere to a
number of principles in determining planning applications, with controls under
the planning and pollution regimes complementing, rather than duplicating
each other. Planning authorities are advised to focus on land use issues
leaving matters relating to control of the pollution aspects of a waste
management facility for the pollution control permitting authority. Planning
authorities are advised to work on the assumption that the pollution control
regime will be properly applied and enforced. PPS 10 states (paragraph 30)
that modern, appropriately located, well run and well regulated facilities,
operated in line with current pollution control techniques and standards
should pose little risk to human health. The detailed consideration of a waste
management process and the implications, if any, for human health are the
responsibility of the pollution control authorities. Para 31 goes on to state that
where concerns about health are raised, waste planning authorities should
avoid carrying out their own detailed assessment of epidemiological and
other health studies. The advice is that planning authorities should generally
leave the issue of the effect of a proposed development on human health to
the pollution control authorities.
Planning Considerations
7.264 The effect of a proposed development on the health of the wider population
(both physical and mental health) is a material consideration. A large number
of representations cite concerns over the possible effect of the proposed
development on the health of the local population. Public fear of adverse
health effects can itself lead to anxiety and is capable of being a material
consideration even where there is no objective evidence to support such a
fear. In this case, the results of the public consultation (see Section )
indicate that there is a high level of public concern about the potential health
impacts from emissions from the stack and the facility. The key health
concerns can be summarised as:
156

Page 156

x

x
x
x
x

x

x
x

The emission and effect of toxic chemicals (dioxins, cadmium and other
heavy metals, and fine particulates) in particular for children and the
elderly;
Concerns over raised background levels of particulates (PM10);
Lack of incontrovertible evidence that ultrafine particulates (PM2.5) and
other emissions do not harm human health;
Concerns that emissions may pollute water;
Premature to consider the application prior to the findings of the Health
Protection Agency (HPA) report into effects of incinerators on birth
outcomes and risks to public health being available;
Concerns over ingestion of cadmium in children over recommended
thresholds, given that over 20,000 children attend educational facilities
within 5km of the site;
Insufficient information provided on the emissions and their effect on
respiratory systems (asthma / respiratory disease)
Effects on the food chain around the facility;

7.265 In dealing with air quality issues it is important to understand that two
separate legislative frameworks apply to the proposed EfW plant. The role of
the planning system is to examine whether the proposal accords with the
land-use and other environmental policies set out in the Development Plan;
this is the responsibility of the County Council through determination of the
planning application. Quite separately the operator of a EfW Plant must seek
and operate in accordance with an Environmental Permit which is
administered by the Environment Agency. The Environmental Permit is
intended to ensure that the plant operates without damage to the
environment or harm to human health resulting from pollution. This
distinction is significant because many of the objections made to the impact
of emissions on air quality are matters for Environmental Permitting rather
than the planning application. PPS10 (paragraph 5) advises waste planning
authorities that controls under the planning and pollution control regimes
should complement rather than duplicate each other.
7.266 As regards current advice on the potential health impacts of EfW plants, the
Health Protection Agency (HPA) issued a statement giving national advice
on health issues in November 2005 as part of its role to provide expert
advice on public health matters. In 2010 the HPA published updated advice
in the light of the latest research literature. The HPA’s position remains
unchanged that: "Modern, well managed incinerators make only a small
contribution to local concentrations of air pollutants. It is possible that such
small additions could have an impact on health but such effects, if they exist,
are likely to be very small and not detectable." The HPA also reviews

157

Page 157

individual Environmental Permit applications to ensure that any specific
installation would not present a risk to public health.
7.267 The design and operation of EfW plants is governed by the Integrated
Pollution Prevention & Control (IPPC) and the Waste Incineration Directives
(WID) which, through the Environmental Permitting Regulations, set the
framework within which the Environment Agency assesses any application
for an environmental permit (see above). WID requires adherence to specific
emission limits for a range of pollutants, and assessment criteria are set out
in Environment Agency Guidance (H1) which specifies reference standards.
7.268 As well as satisfying itself that plant design and operation would minimise or
eliminate key pollutants from the combustion process, the Environment
Agency must also ensure that emissions from the proposed stack do not
exceed set emission limits. To do this a range of data including the chemical
content of the emissions, local topography and climate are applied to a
dispersion model, which determines, amongst other things, the stack height
required to ensure that emissions do not exceed levels at ground level that
pose a potential threat to health. The possible effects on pollutant thresholds
at sensitive receptors are also examined as the Environment Agency has
responsibilities under the Habitats Regulations.
7.269 Reflecting recommended practice in parallel with the submission of the
planning application, the applicant has submitted an application for an
environmental permit for the operation of the plant to the Environment
Agency. This is in the process of being rigorously examined and is subject to
its own consultation process. The Agency has announced that it is 'minded
to' issue a permit unless new evidence comes to light. If a permit is issued it
would mean that the Agency is satisfied that the proposed design and
operational regime for the plant would meet the required standards; as part
of the permit, the Agency would set limits on various key pollutants and
established a monitoring regime. Without such a permit any development
authorised by planning permission would not be implementable.
7.270 As an operational control, the issue of an environmental permit is not
dependent on the grant of planning permission. Planning control remains the
responsibility of the County Council, and in the process of determining the
application for the EfW plant, Members must be satisfied that there is no
conflict with planning policies dealing with air quality and pollution and that
the use of the Site is acceptable in planning terms - although members may
take account of the fact that pollution control will be regulated by the Agency.
PPS 10 advises as follows:
“27. The planning and pollution control regimes are separate but
158

Page 158

complementary. Pollution control is concerned with preventing pollution
through the use of measures to prohibit or limit the release of substances
to the environment to the lowest practicable level. It also ensures that
ambient air and water quality meet standards that guard against impacts
to the environment and human health. The planning system controls the
development and use of land in the public interest and should focus on
whether development is an acceptable use of the land, and the impacts of
those uses on the development and use of land. Waste planning
authorities should work on the assumption that the relevant pollution
control regime will be properly applied and enforced.”
7.271 The ES accompanying the planning application deals comprehensively with
air quality and explains the assessment of emissions and their potential
impact undertaken in line with Environment Agency Guidance to support the
Environmental Permit application. It states that even when modelling a
scenario with greater use and higher emissions than actually expected no
adverse impact associated with emissions from the plant is predicted.
7.272 In addition, in view of the proximity to the site at Moreton Valance granted
permission for an Advanced Thermal Treatment (ATT) waste management
facility, a cumulative assessment of air quality effects has been carried out
assuming both the proposed development and the ATT plant were operating
simultaneously. The ES states that even if the combined contribution is
added to the background concentration, no breaches of air quality objectives
are predicted.
7.273 The ES includes a human health risk assessment, which examines exposure
to emissions to air from the EfW plant if operational, and the potential risk
this could pose. The key pollutants studied were dioxins, furans and certain
metals, all of which potentially have long term health effects. Particulate
emissions (or PM10), which are generated primarily by road traffic were also
studied. Taking the worst case scenario of weather conditions, plant
operation characteristics and content of the waste stream, no significant risk
was identified in the study as a result of predicted emissions from the
process.
7.274 The general approach to the assessment of the impact of air quality on
human health is to evaluate the highest predicted contribution of the
emissions to ground level concentrations of pollutants at any point in the
vicinity, irrespective of the occupancy of the location. In addition, the
predicted contribution at a number of sensitive receptors has also been
evaluated.

159

Page 159

7.275 Whilst the Health Protection Agency has commenced new research on
potential effects of incinerators on birth outcomes, it maintains its advice that
‘modern, well managed incinerators make only a small contribution to local
concentrations of air pollutants. It is possible that such small additions could
have an impact on health but such effects, if they exist, are likely to be very
small and not detectable’. As the recent Defra publication ‘Energy from
Waste – A Guide to the Debate’ (February 2013) states:
"The HPA will continue to review any new research findings on the
health effects of incinerators published in peer reviewed journals and
update its advice as necessary. ....The conduct and publishing of new
research is a key part of an accepted ongoing scientific process to
increase the evidence base, and doing so does not necessarily indicate
that the level of risk has changed, that the associated advice should be
altered, or a more precautionary approach taken.” (paragraph 131).
7.276 For most substances released from the proposed plant, the most significant
effects on human health would arise by inhalation. Air quality objectives
described in the ES have been set by the various authorities at a level which
is considered to present minimum or zero risk to human health.
7.277 No significant adverse effects are predicted to SACs, and other protected
nature conservation sites (dealt with elsewhere in this report) and the
proposal is therefore considered to be consistent with international, national
and local policy requirements.
7.278 The emissions dispersal model showed that the dispersal of emissions with a
stack of 70m would result in a small increase in the concentration of
pollutants (nitrogen dioxide, sulphur dioxide, hydrogen fluoride, arsenic and
chromium were identified specifically) at ground level downwind of the stack,
but at such levels that they would not exceed the Environment Agency
thresholds below which no harm is predicted.
Discussion
7.279 A large number of representations raised concerns that dioxins, furans and
some heavy metals in the emissions have the potential to damage the health
of the community, because they are carcinogenic, could cause birth defects
or other respiratory diseases, or could damage the immune system.
However, there is no reason to doubt that with the flue gas treatment process
and other controls required by the environmental permit, the quantities of
these chemicals and particulates emitted to the atmosphere would be
extremely small and their impact negligible. The Health Protection Agency
concluded that there is also no evidence of increased incidence of illness,

160

Page 160

especially the conditions of most concern to objectors, in the vicinity of
modern EfW facilities in the UK or Europe.
7.280 A number of representations consider that there is considerable uncertainty
over the impact of emissions and urge the Council to invoke the
precautionary principle and withhold planning permission. The
precautionary principle has been adopted at EU level within the general
framework of risk analysis. The UK Government interpreted the principle's
purpose as being to "create an impetus to take a decision notwithstanding
scientific uncertainty about the nature and extent of the risk, i.e. to avoid
'paralysis by analysis' by removing excuses for inaction on the grounds of
scientific uncertainty." (United Kingdom Interdepartmental Liaison Group on
Risk Assessment, 2002. The Precautionary Principle: Policy and
Application). The principle does not feature in National Planning or Waste
Policy. The emissions from the process would be subject to extensive
cleaning and rigorous controls in line with the EU Waste Incineration
Directive (WID) and subject to direct control through an Environmental
Permit if granted. Accordingly, it is considered that there is no reason, or
valid justification to withhold permission on these grounds.
7.281 Exhaust fumes from traffic, dust, and odour could also impact on air quality.
The impact of exhaust emissions from additional traffic generated by the
development has been assessed against overall traffic levels locally. The
conclusion in the ES, that the impact of vehicle emissions would be
negligible is accepted.
7.282 It is clear that the effect on health from emissions arising from the proposed
operation of the facility is a major concern to many. It is acknowledged that
public concern over such risks in itself can be a material planning
consideration. However, it is considered that the evidence provided and the
responses received from the relevant authorities provide sufficient assurance
that concerns expressed will not be realised and are not supported by
evidence, and that the facility would not result in unacceptable adverse
effects on human health. Therefore little weight should be given to these
concerns. Further detailed assessment of emissions is covered by the
Environmental Permitting process and in the unlikely event that the
emissions prove to be unacceptable then a permit would not be granted by
the Environment Agency. Without such a permit any development granted
planning permission would not be implementable.
7.283 The Waste Framework Directive requires that "waste be managed without
endangering human health and harming the environment, and in particular,
without risk to water, air , soil plants or animals, without causing a nuisance
through noise or odours and without adversely affecting the countryside or
161

Page 161

places of special interest" (Article13). It is considered that the above
coverage of noise, amenity, air emissions, habitats and landscape
assessment satisfies this requirement demonstrating that the proposed
operation will not endanger any of the above.

FLOOD RISK
Policy
7.284 The development plan provides detailed guidance on the assessment and
management of flood risk. WCS Policy WCS12 includes the presumption
that all waste-related development will be located in areas of low flood risk,
(Flood Zone 1) unless it can be demonstrated that there are no suitable
alternative sites available. The policy also requires that a Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA) considering all sources of potential flood risk be
undertaken for all development of 1 hectare or more. In addition, the policy
requires that the design of all new development takes account of current and
potential future flood risk from all sources both on and off-site including in
particular the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS). Policy WCS6 of
the WCS general and key development criteria for the sites identified for
strategic residual recovery facilities (Appendix 5) includes ‘Flood Risk /Water
Protection’. This requires that surface water mapping be undertaken and in
common with Policy WCS12, that a site-specific FRA be undertaken that
includes a Drainage Impact Assessment to assess appropriate SuDS
techniques adopted to attenuate run-off and ensure that the development
does not exacerbate flood risk elsewhere.
7.285 Gloucestershire Structure Plan 2nd Review Saved Policy F.1 similarly
provides only for development where it would not be at direct risk from
flooding and/or would increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. RPG10 Policy
RE 2 advises that development should be away from river and coastal
floodplains and encourages use of SuDS. As regards water quality, Waste
Local Plan saved Policy 33 provides for development only where there would
be no unacceptable risk of contamination to surface or ground water.
7.286 National policy in the NPPF also advises that planning authorities should
direct development away from areas at highest risk, but where development
is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere. More
detailed guidance on flood risk assessments is provided in the Technical
Guidance to the NPPF– Flood Risk including that these should include the
effect of the new development on surface water run-off and its potential to
increase flood risk elsewhere through the addition of hard surfaces. The
NPPF Technical Guidance does not differentiate levels of FRA.
162

Page 162

Planning Considerations
7.287 The proposed development site is in Flood Zone 1 (low probability of fluvial
flooding) and so the location is consistent with policy WCS9 and the NPPF.
The development would increase impermeable surfaces to 2.25ha (building
1ha, roads and parking, 1.25ha), although as described previously there is
an extant planning permission for development of the site for B8 use which
would, if implemented, lead to the development of a large impermeable area.
Locally agreed information derived from the Environment Agency Flood Map
for Surface Water identifies that surface flows across the northern part of the
site may be experienced in an extreme event, resulting in localised ponding.
7.288 The applicant carried out a Flood Risk Assessment to support the application
and Environmental Statement (January 2012). The ES, drawing on the FRA,
identifies that the stream (drainage ditch) channel, passing along the site’s
southern and western boundaries into which surface water drains, has
sufficient capacity to accommodate flows for a 1 in 1000 year flood event,
and so it is considered that resulting flood risk to the site from it is low.
Groundwater flood risk is also considered to be low due to the impermeable
nature of the underlying soils. In its review of the ES commissioned by the
County Council, consultants BV concluded that it was confident with the
conclusion of the assessment that the development would not result in any
significant adverse impacts on the surface waters and flood risk and would
result in a minor overall improvement in terms of runoff rates.
7.289 In terms of groundwater quality, the site overlays a secondary
(undifferentiated) aquifer with groundwater risks classified as low. Site
investigations have identified shallow and localised groundwater in places on
the site, with no shallow standing water table present. The Environmental
Statement concludes that the construction and operational phases of
development would not result in any adverse effects on groundwater. The
site is not within a groundwater abstraction source protection zone and no
potable groundwater abstraction licenses have been identified within 1km of
the site. The ES identifies risk of adverse impacts on surface water quality in
the construction phase due to construction activities including plant
maintenance and accidental spillages of materials. Mitigation is proposed
so that runoff from site roads would be intercepted in gullies and passed
through interceptors prior to discharge into the detention basins, which
themselves would also provide treatment (settling) prior to discharge into the
drainage ditch. The applicant states that ‘best practice construction
methods’ (silt traps, covering stockpiles, and bunded fuel storage) would be
implemented during construction to mitigate risks to surface water quality.
The operation of the facility would comply with requirements of the
163

Page 163

Environmental Permit issued by the Environment Agency, which would
ensure pollution control measures are satisfactory. The impact on water
quality of the development on the local receiving watercourse and the Severn
catchment as a whole is considered by the applicant to be neutral.
7.290 A number of representations and consultees have raised concerns over the
adequacy of information on groundwater conditions beneath the site and the
potential effects of excavation and sinking the bunker and boiler room to
between 13 and 14m.
7.291 The Environment Agency in its original representation (14th May 2012) raised
a number of concerns over the ES and the FRA. This included questioning
the adequacy of the FRA in terms of its assessment of fluvial flood risk from
the upstream catchment of the stream on the site. In addition, concerns over
the calculations of run-off and flow rates under certain conditions, and the
adequacy and appropriateness of the drainage strategy including SuDS were
also raised. It also requested further details on foul water drainage and
management of waste water from processes and the ash bunker. Requests
for further information were made to the applicant under the Regulation 22
process, in response to concerns raised during the consultation period.
7.292 The applicant responded to these issues but in response to the further ES
Regulation 22 consultation (17th October 2012) the Environment Agency
continued to express concern over the adequacy of the assessment of risk of
flooding from upstream catchment either via the culvert beneath the B4008
or, in the event of the culvert being blocked, over the road and onto the site.
It requested further details of modelling of the culvert, and of management of
flood flows through the site. It did not maintain an objection. In response to
these concerns the applicant (Technical Note of 6th November 2012)
provided additional information confirming that both 1 in 100 (plus an
allowance for the effects of climate change) and the 1 in 1000 year flows
would be contained easily in the channel in “normal” operation, i.e. with the
upstream culvert in full operation and suffering no blockage. As an
engineered channel, the stream has been designed to accommodate flood
flows up to the 1 in 1000 year return period event. The applicant has also
provided additional evidence of SuDS design to demonstrate sufficient
capacity to accommodate flows, and also that the proposed landscaping
bunds would act to divert any overland flows south into the channel. The
Environment Agency, in its response to the Regulation 22 consultation in
December 2012, has confirmed this was to its satisfaction and that it has no
outstanding queries.
7.293 The County Council, under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010, is
the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) for Gloucestershire and has
164

Page 164

responsibility for surface and groundwater flood management. The LLFA
highlighted the surface water information indicating potential for surface
water flooding (ponding) to the east of the motorway in an extreme flood
event, and reiterated requests made by the Environment Agency for a Stage
3 FRA to be undertaken including identifying mitigation measures for surface
water flooding including consideration of size, layout and selection of
sustainable drainage elements. As LLFA, the Council commissioned
consultants Atkins to provide expert advice on the risk of groundwater
flooding and to identify additional information that may be required with
respect to baseline information and mitigation. This concluded that further
information was required before an assessment of groundwater flood risk
and means of managing this could be made, including baseline data on
hydraulic conductivity of the bedrock at the depth to which the foundations
would be laid. It also raised concerns over the effect of dewatering and the
associated risk of subsidence, including of the M5 in an extreme case. The
report recommends that such information be required to assess potential
impacts on groundwater quality. Overall it recommends that a detailed
hydrogeological risk assessment with an emphasis on groundwater flux,
interception and flooding be provided by the applicant.
7.294 In response, the applicant (via its technical consultants) issued a technical
note (28th September 2012) rebutting the points raised and re-stating that the
conclusions in the Environmental Statement remain valid. Atkins, acting on
behalf of LLFA, remained concerned about the adequacy of information on
the impact of the proposed development, but recommended that attaching a
suitable condition to any permission granted requiring a hydrogeological
assessment to be undertaken prior to commencement would overcome the
issue. Such an assessment should include:
i.
An evaluation of groundwater flux beneath the site, including
identification of key pathways within the Lias, elevations of pathways
and associated pressure heads;
ii.
A thorough evaluation of the lateral hydraulic conductivity of the
underlying Lower Lias strata at least to the depth of the deepest
foundation;
iii.
Identification and design of mitigation measures required to manage
the risks identified in paragraphs 1 and 2 above both during
construction and for the completed scheme;
iv.
In the event that discharges of groundwater or increases in
groundwater level will arise as a result of the scheme mitigation the
Flood Risk Assessment shall be updated and submitted for approval;
v.
Assessment of any impact of the bunker on groundwater flow,
specifically addressing the potential impact on the adjacent M5
motorway with respect to flooding as a result of changes in
groundwater levels together with any other potential environmental
165

Page 165

impacts that might be identified. Where changes on groundwater
level, whether as a result of dewatering or otherwise, are identified
then the potential for subsidence in the area and specifically beneath
the M5 shall be addressed.
7.295 The Environment Agency has stated that it is satisfied that there is nothing
within the contents of the Technical Note on Groundwater Flooding prepared
as part of the Regulation 22 process (Flood Flows in the on-site channel and
overland flow, Ramboll 6th November) to give it cause for concern on
matters of groundwater (response dated 09/11/12).
7.296 The site (the access road) experienced flooding during the period of very wet
weather in November 2012, which has been highlighted in a number of
representations. The Environment Agency has confirmed that the flooding is
not from fluvial sources but recommends that the cause of flooding and
necessary remedial works be further investigated with the LLFA. It is
satisfied with the design of water retention features on site, and also
highlights the opportunity afforded by the development to improve water
storage on or adjacent to the development site to help manage flood risk in
future.
Discussion
7.297 The location of the proposed development in Flood Zone 1 (low probability of
fluvial flooding) is consistent with WCS Policy WCS12,, Policy F1 of the
Structure Plan 2nd Review and with national policy as set out in the NPPF.
The development design incorporates measures, including detention basins,
to attenuate run-off to rates equivalent to those for a 1 in 100 year storm
event from greenfield land. These are set out in the conceptual Drainage
Strategy within the FRA. The applicant has also confirmed that they will give
consideration to additional measures to reduce run-off including porous
paving to parking areas and green roofs. With regard to water quality, oil
interceptors and silt traps are included in the SuDS design, together with
swales and bio-retention areas that would assist in reducing risk of pollution
and improving water quality prior to discharge into the receiving stream. It is
considered that the applicant has demonstrated that the risk of flooding from
the catchment of the drainage ditch on site and from surface water flooding is
also low, given the separation from the rest of the upstream catchment by
the B4008 and culvert beneath the road which effectively limits (‘throttles’)
flows into the site.
7.298 It is considered that the FRA is adequate and consistent with requirements of
the NPPF and associated Technical Guidance on Flood Risk. The FRA and
additional information provided by the applicant concerning the risk of
166

Page 166

surface water flooding, the capacity of the drainage within the site, and the
proposed drainage scheme (existing stream and additional SuDS)
demonstrate that the proposed development would not be likely to be at risk
of flooding from surface water, and would not increase the risk of flooding
elsewhere, and presents an opportunity to improve surface water flood risk
management on the site.
7.299 The issue of the quality of information available on existing groundwater
conditions against which to make a judgement of the level of risk of flooding
and need for mitigation remains a concern. The LLFA’s consultants have
taken a precautionary approach and identified inadequacies in the
information from previous surveys in terms of providing a comprehensive and
conclusive picture of groundwater conditions. The technical advice from the
LLFA’s consultants is that the risks may be managed satisfactorily through a
hydrogeological survey being undertaken prior to commencement to confirm
groundwater conditions, and hence inform the detailed design and
engineering of the excavation and building.
7.300 Considering the advice from the County Council’s/LLFA’s technical
consultants, it is considered that this is an issue that can be managed
through engineering and the management of the construction process. It is
therefore recommended that a condition be attached to any permission
issued requiring the applicant to undertake additional hydrogeological
assessment prior to commencement, addressing groundwater conditions to
sufficient depth, with design and if necessary mitigation measures to deal
with the risk of groundwater and its management affecting the development
or adjacent land including the M5. This is necessary to ensure it would be
fully in accordance with development plan policies WCS Policy WCS12 and
WCS6 (a), Structure Plan 2nd Review Saved Policy F.1, RPG10 Policy RE 2
and the NPPF.
SOCIO-ECONOMIC AND COMMUNITY EFFECTS
Policy
7.301 WCS Policy WCS1 is intended to be a local expression of national planning
policy that establishes a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
WCS1 clarifies that sustainable development includes that which improves
the economic and social (as well as environmental) conditions in the area.
Policy WCS10 (which is rooted in paragraph 21 of PPS10), is concerned with
ensuring that proposals do not result in adverse cumulative impacts including
those on social cohesion and inclusion and economic potential. Policy
WCS10 also highlights other potential impacts, such as traffic, and these are
considered elsewhere in this report.
167

Page 167

7.302 While not listing Javelin Park as employment land requiring specific policy
protection, Chapter 4 of the Stroud District Local Plan notes (Table 4.2), that
the site already has B8 planning permission and that the loss of employment
land is generally undesirable as it may lead to the loss of employment
opportunities within the district. The emerging Stroud District Council Core
Strategy (2012 Preferred Strategy) notes that its preferred area for strategic
growth south of Gloucester is at Hunts Grove. The expectation is that over
500 new homes could be developed in this area, and, due to its proximity it is
possible that the proposed EfW facility could help ensure the sustainability of
this development by providing a source of energy in the form of heat.
7.303 The wider importance of energy supply to the economy and social well-being
is noted in National Policy Statement EN-1 (NPS EN-1) (paragraph 2.2.1).
Furthermore this policy statement specifically considers the regard to be
given to socio-economic impacts of new energy infrastructure. Section 5.12
of NPS EN-1 expects the applicant to provide information on socio-economic
impacts and specifies what this might include, and also expects the decision
maker to take into account identified impacts and benefits. Although the
proposal is of a size below the threshold to which NPS EN-1 can be directly
applied, it is a material consideration that may be taken into account.
7.304 Relevant socio-economic considerations in PPS10 include, firstly, that
planning authorities should deliver “strategies which provide a framework in
which communities take more responsibility for their own waste, and enable
sufficient and timely provision of waste management facilities to meet the
needs of their communities” (Paragraph 3); and secondly, waste
management facilities should not result in cumulative impacts, which,
amongst other things, detrimentally impact on “social cohesion and inclusion
or economic potential” (Paragraph 21).
7.305 The NPPF includes core land-use planning principles, those concerned with
socio-economic impacts that need to be considered with regard to this
application are those which expect planning decisions to proactively drive
and support sustainable economic development to deliver the homes,
business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local places that the
country needs. Every effort should be made objectively to identify and then
meet the housing, business and other development needs of an area, and
respond positively to wider opportunities for growth, and to take account of
and support local strategies to improve health, social and cultural wellbeing
for all, and deliver sufficient community and cultural facilities and services to
meet local needs. In addition, through implementation of the NPPF, the
Government expects that significant weight should be placed on the need to
support economic growth through the planning system.
168

Page 168

7.306 Government support for Energy from Waste facilities and acknowledgement
that such facilities can deliver economic benefits is included in the
‘Government Review of Waste Policy in England’ (Paragraph 22). This has
been reiterated in the recent Defra publication ‘Energy from Waste – A Guide
to the Debate’.
Planning Considerations
7.307 The applicant provides an assessment of the socio-economic impacts of the
proposal in the ES, as follows:
x
The creation of approximately 300 temporary construction jobs for the
33 months of construction and 40 permanent jobs;
x
8% of the construction workforce would comprise new apprenticeships
and a new apprentice would be appointed every two years during the
facility’s lifetime;
x
Local businesses would be supported through the procurement of
products and services;
x
Reduced risk to the County Council (and council tax payers) of
incurring increased waste management costs (estimated to be £150
million over 25 years) due to increasing landfill tax (currently £64 per
tonnes, rising by £8 per year to £80 per tonnes on 1 April 2014 with
possible further increases);
x
Contribution to national energy security through provision of 14.5 MW
electricity;
x
The facility would make a contribution to enabling the community to
take on responsibility for managing its own waste in a more sustainable
manner.
x
A visitor centre that would help educate school children and the
community about taking responsibility for waste and waste
management generally;
x
The recovery of metal and bottom ash by-products, which would be
sold on as metal and aggregate;
x
Visual impacts due to scale of facility. These are assessed by the
applicant to have a localised impact due to the facility’s scale which
lessens with distance leading to no fundamental change in visual
amenity;
x
Impact on local amenity due to noise, air quality and health impacts.
The applicant’s assessment is that these would not be significant during
construction or operation of the facility;
x
Impacts resulting from increased traffic. These have been assessed by
the applicant as being less than if the extant planning permission for
storage and distribution were to be implemented;
169

Page 169

x

Impacts resulting from public concern about the proposal. These are
said to have been mitigated through the availability of information
provided by both the applicant and the County Council.

7.308 The provision of renewable energy, visual impacts amenity, health and traffic
is considered elsewhere in this section of the report.
Discussion
7.309 The following socio-economic benefits of the facility were considered by the
WDA when agreeing to procure the residual waste management solution
offered by the applicant at its meeting on 12 September 2012:
x
A partially renewable and price stable source of electricity, resulting in
possible reduced energy costs to Council services including schools
and other public sector bodies in Gloucestershire e.g. hospitals with
surplus electricity sold to the grid.
x
The possibility of heat being provided to local commercial and domestic
users.
x
Recycled metal and secondary aggregate by-products
x
Employment as described above with interviews guaranteed to those
Gloucestershire residents meeting the person specification.
x
A visitor centre and wildlife area incorporating an outdoor classroom
intended to educate schoolchildren and other visitors about waste
management and biodiversity.
7.310 A number of representations raise concerns over possible adverse socioeconomic impacts of the proposal including: on the local economy (due to
blight) and in particular for businesses associated with tourism and recycling;
house prices; cost to Council tax payers; health; employment opportunities;
social mobility of local residents; and lack of planning gain to mitigate social
impacts.
7.311 Comments that there will be detrimental impacts on the local economy are
not supported by evidence of actual impacts being realised as a result of the
development of EfW facilities elsewhere. Such concerns are common when
these types of facilities are proposed. Furthermore the suggestion that
Javelin Park might be developed for such a facility has been public
knowledge for at least ten years and there is little evidence that this has
resulted in impacts on the local economy or deterred inward investment. It
should be noted that the major re-development of the Bloom’s Garden
Centre took place in 2004 after the Waste Local Plan had been adopted
identifying Javelin Park as a suitable location for the development of an
Energy from Waste Facility.

170

Page 170

7.312 There is also a suggestion that property prices may be affected. Evidence
put forward by Standish Parish Council is that in one instance a potential
buyer was deterred in commencing with the purchase of a property once
they became aware of the proposal. There is a possibility that prices of
property in the vicinity of the proposal site may be affected but it is noted
that, while this is not desirable, any such effect can be expected to be short
term, being based on worst case perceptions of the impacts of such a facility.
In any event it should be noted that consideration of impacts on house prices
from development lies outside the remit of the planning system and Members
are not to attach weight to the point.
7.313 There are also concerns that the proposal would result in an adverse impact
on tourism due to its visibility from the Cotswolds AONB and in particular the
Cotswold Way. Landscape and visual impact are dealt with elsewhere in this
Report, but it is noted that views of the facility from this position would be
distant, and in some places completely obscured, and would only potentially
affect a small part of the route, and so it is considered that the existence of
the facility would be unlikely to inhibit tourists from using this route.
7.314 The WCS notes that the economy of Gloucestershire has performed well
relative to the rest of the South West with above-average earnings and that
this is attributed to the County’s balanced industrial structure. Based on
evidence submitted with the application this proposal is likely to enhance the
economic performance of the County through the provision of additional
employment and opportunities to local businesses to provide materials and
services associated with the operations and maintenance of the facility
together with the development of skills within the workforce.
7.315 Objectors have questioned the general viability and affordability of the facility
and suggested that, for a number of reasons, future additional financial
burdens will be placed on the County Council. The WDA has undertaken the
procurement in a manner intended to ensure that Value for Money has been
obtained and assessed that the project is affordable within the Council’s
Medium Term Financial Strategy. The WDA estimates that, over the project
lifetime, savings to the County Council of £190 million will accrue. In
procuring the residual MSW treatment solution the WDA prepared an Outline
Business Case (OBC) which demonstrated its financial viability. Following
the withdrawal of central Government funding (in the form of PFI credits) a
strategic review of the OBC was carried out which showed that the OBC
remained valid. This was considered and endorsed by Cabinet in March
2011.
7.316 Waste Strategy for England 2007 places emphasis on the cost-effective and
timely delivery of major elements of waste management infrastructure, the
171

Page 171

diversion of waste from landfill and the management of waste in a more
sustainable manner. The WPA would be entitled to have regard to certain of
the financial implications to the County Council of the proposed development
not proceeding. The financial cost that would be incurred by the County
Council, in terms of a requirement to acquire additional disposal capacity, if
the facility did not become operational is a material consideration which
should be given weight when deciding on this application. This position is
supported by advice separately provided by Counsel to the Council.
7.317 A concern has been expressed that operation of the proposed facility would
lead to reduced gate fees and this would price other activities which are
managing waste further up the waste hierarchy, such as recycling, out of the
market. It is suggested that more jobs would be provided if the waste was
recycled rather than burnt at the proposed facility, however as is considered
elsewhere in this report, the development of the facility is intended to deal
with residual waste and providing the County Council remains committed to
its recycling aspiration will not prevent recycling from coming forward and, in
turn, associated jobs.
7.318 The land in question is currently vacant and, despite permission being
granted on the site for a B8 employment use, has been in this state for some
considerable time. It is therefore currently contributing nothing to
employment whereas if permission is granted for the proposed development
it is highly probable that it would go ahead and the associated employment
would materialise. In the current challenging economic climate, development
proposals offering employment opportunities are to be welcomed. In their
comments on the proposal Gloucestershire NHS Trust notes the positive
relationship between the employment that would be provided by this
proposal and health.
7.319 Overall, it is considered that the proposal would result in considerable
economic benefits to the economy of Gloucestershire; in particular it would
provide an important boost to employment and skills at a time when the
economic climate is especially challenging. The proposal provides for 40
permanent jobs resulting from the on-going operation of the facility and
inevitably other jobs would be supported and created as part of the
associated supply chain. Jobs and energy provided by this proposal integrate
well with the District Council’s vision for a preferred area for strategic growth
at Hunts Grove south of Gloucester and would help improve the
sustainability of this development. Direct impacts on health of the proposal
are considered elsewhere in this report, but in terms of other social impacts,
it is not considered that there would be any of an adverse nature and, social
benefits in terms of improving individual's knowledge and awareness
regarding waste management and biodiversity would result. It is therefore
172

Page 172

concluded that the proposal is consistent with the economic and social
elements of Core Policy WCS1 and in turn the NPPF from where Core Policy
WCS1 is derived. Furthermore there is no evidence to suggest that this
proposal would, when taken together with other existing waste management
activity, result in a detrimental cumulative impact on the economic potential
or social cohesion or inclusion and, as far as these matters are concerned, it
is therefore concluded that the proposal is consistent with Policy WCS10. In
accordance with the Government’s objectives that planning should promote
economic growth, weight should be given to the fact that this proposal would
result in new local employment opportunities at both the construction and
operational stages.
7.320 In managing all of the residual MSW arising in Gloucestershire into the future
there is no doubt that the facility would make a significant contribution to
ensuring that the community of Gloucestershire is making provision for the
management of its own waste and this is consistent with PPS10. The energy
supplied by the facility would undoubtedly make a contribution to the security
of energy supply nationally, the social and economic importance of which is
acknowledged in NPS EN-1.
7.321 The costs that would be incurred by the County Council (and in turn the
council tax payers of Gloucestershire) if this facility were not developed are
considerable and, when taken with the need to comply with the requirements
of national and EU waste law and policy, it is concluded that this is an
important material consideration that should be given weight in making a
decision on this proposal.
ENERGY AND CLIMATE CHANGE
Policy
7.322 There is no WCS policy specifically addressing the need to mitigate the
impact of waste management on climate change through the contribution it
makes to greenhouse gas emissions. However, Strategic Objective 5 –
Minimising Impact does reference the need to ensure that the contribution
waste management can make to climate change is minimised. This has been
used as a strategic objective in the Sustainability Appraisal of the Plan and it
is also recognised in the body of the Strategy (Para 4.177).
7.323 The Structure Plan 2nd Alteration Policy EN.2 promotes combined heat and
power and community heating schemes with an expectation of feasibility
studies being provided by developers and promoters of large scale
development. This policy has been assessed to be consistent with the NPPF
approach and therefore can be accorded weight in the decision associated
173

Page 173

with this application. Policy EN.3 supports renewable energy developments
subject to consideration of how such developments might have adverse
impacts on the special character of AONB, sites of nature conservation or
heritage conservation interest; dominate any prominent skyline or vista
defined in local plans; result in unacceptable level of visual impact (with
particular regard to the cumulative impact of existing, planning or proposed
renewable energy development). The policy also expects such development
to be properly justified with possible environmental effects documented to
show how these might be satisfactorily mitigated. While Policy EN.3 may be
considered to be overly restrictive in the light of NPPF it should be accorded
some weight in considering the renewable energy generation offered by the
proposed facility.
The NPPF advises that when determining planning applications, local
planning authorities should not require applicants for energy development to
demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low carbon energy. LPAs
should look to approve such applications providing their impacts can be
'made acceptable'. The NPPF also looks to local authorities to develop a
positive strategy to promote energy from renewable and low carbon sources
and to identify opportunities where development can draw its energy supply
from decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply systems and for
co-locating potential heat customers and suppliers. While this is concerned
primarily with the location of development which utilises heat, it does indicate
Government support for exploitation of such energy sources.
7.324 PPS10 makes no comment on the contribution waste management may
make towards climate change or the production of energy. In the absence of
a renewable or low carbon energy strategy for Gloucestershire or any
associated local policies it is appropriate to now make reference to Regional
Planning Guidance for the South West (RPG 10) and the relevant policies of
the Gloucestershire Structure Plan (2nd revision). The National Policy
Statement for Energy and the National Policy Statement for Renewable
Energy Infrastructure which while not forming part of the development plan
can be a material consideration in this decision.
7.325 RPG 10 Policy RE 6 advises local authorities (along with other agencies) to
help meet national targets for reducing greenhouse gas emissions;
promoting renewable electricity production and use of renewable energy
sources, including Combined Heat and Power; and have regard to the
recommendations and detailed background information contained in the
regional assessment and target setting report. While the stated targets were
due to be met in 2010 the policy still expresses an aspiration to be met. As
the proposal would provide energy, an element of which would be classed as
renewable (8.12 MW), it is appropriate to consider this contributing towards
the regional targets in RPG 10. The GCC Annual Monitoring Report
indicates production of renewable electricity in Gloucestershire represented
174

Page 174

up to 8.52% of the South West region's total installed capacity for renewable
electricity in 2010/11. The majority of this (12.78 MW) is sourced from landfill
gas, which will diminish over time. The proposed facility would therefore
make a substantial contribution to renewable power production in the county
and aid in meeting the Regional targets by a further 4%.
7.326 The National Policy Statements on Energy (EN-1 & EN-3) confirm the priority
for promoting renewables and that energy produced from parts of waste that
are from 'natural' sources are classed as renewable. In particular it explicitly
recognises the increasingly important role that the recovery of energy from
the combustion of waste would play in meeting the UK’s energy needs.
(Paragraph 2.5.2 of EN-3). It recognises that a proportion of the waste may
not be biodegradable and hence not classed as “renewable” for the purposes
of Renewable Obligation Certificates (ROCs) eligibility - the Government
subsidy supporting renewable energy production. The NPS explicitly states
that eligibility or otherwise for ROCs is not an issue of relevance to the
national determination process - and by inference the determination of any
planning application. NPS EN-1 emphasises the benefits of CHP enabled
generating plants, and requires applications that do not propose CHP to
explain why CHP is not economically or practically feasible, provide details of
any potential future heat requirements in the area that the station could meet;
and detail the provisions in the proposed scheme.
7.327 The 2011 Government Review of Waste Policy in England identifies the
important contribution that the recovery of energy from waste makes towards
the UK achieving its renewable energy targets, minimising landfill, and
helping to meet UK carbon budgets. It sees no conflict between
development of further EfW capacity and the drive to move waste further up
the hierarchy in the medium (2030) to long term (2050) considering it to be
an ‘excellent’ use of many wastes that cannot be effectively recycled and
would otherwise go to landfill (Para 214). The 2011 Review document
identifies the climate change reduction benefits of energy recovery as
including prevention of some of the negative greenhouse gas impacts of
waste in landfill. Moreover, the energy generated from the biodegradable
fraction of this waste offsets fossil fuel power generation. In the case of the
non-biodegradable component, whilst it acknowledges it carries the same
negative climate impacts of other fossil fuels, it does offer comparative fuel
security, provided it is recovered efficiently. The efficiency of recovery should
be confirmed by compliance with the Waste Framework Directive R1
efficiency formula discussed previously.
7.328 The Climate Change Act specifies targets for reduction in UK CO2 emissions
by at least 26% by 2020 and all UK greenhouse gas emission by at least
80% by 2050.
175

Page 175

7.329 The Waste Framework Directive 2008 as transposed into national law
through the Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 seeks to mitigate
the impact of waste management on climate change by making the waste
hierarchy a legal requirement for waste producers (see above), including
operators of waste management facilities to manage waste in accordance
with the hierarchy, and setting a level of efficiency against which to
determine whether incineration facilities qualify as ”recovery” operations or
they should be classed as “disposal”.
7.330 The Waste Strategy Review 2011 summarises the Government's position on
how the waste hierarchy should be applied in the case of energy recovery. It
explains that deviation from the waste hierarchy is allowed where it can be
clearly demonstrated there is a better environmental outcome from doing so.
In this context it is necessary to consider the relative net contribution of these
processes to greenhouse gas production, which would in turn depend on the
composition of feedstocks and technologies used. This is referred to as
Global Warming Potential (GWP) and is normally expressed as carbon
dioxide equivalent.
Planning Considerations
7.331 Although the proposed facility is primarily a development to manage residual
waste it would generate energy in the process - a proportion of which would
be renewable. Therefore, the appropriateness of the scheme is also
considered in the context of relevant energy policy; climate change policy
and combined heat and power policy. Of the 14.5 MW that would be
exported to the distribution network, approximately 56% (8.12 MW) would be
classed as renewable energy. The 56% figure is based on the assumption
that 56% of the weight of waste received would be carbon neutral biomass.
This assumption is supported by a waste composition analysis carried out by
the WDA in 2008. While this relates to MSW the expectation is that C&I
waste dealt with at the facility would be of a similar composition. This is
supported by research such as that undertaken by the Environment Agency
Wales into the biodegradable content of C&I waste.
7.332 The applicant has provided an assessment of Global Warming Potential
(GWP) of the proposed facility against the baseline of landfill as part of the
Environmental Statement (Appendix 13.5). This assessment has been
carried out using the Environment Agency's Waste and Resources
Assessment Tool for the Environment (WRATE). This tool estimates
greenhouse gas emissions generated as a result of construction, operation
and transportation associated with the proposed plant. It also estimates the
reduction in greenhouse gas emissions that would otherwise result from the
176

Page 176

equivalent generation of power from fossil fuel based power stations, and
from the avoidance of the production of landfill gases (carbon dioxide and
methane) as a result of diversion of the waste from landfill that would be
managed at the facility.
7.333 The result of this assessment has shown that managing waste at the EfW
facility would result in a net annual reduction of 40,480 tonnes of CO2
equivalent per annum against a baseline of continued reliance on landfill.
For context, this amount can be compared with the estimated net total
annual emissions from the County Council's own operations of 46,261
tonnes in 2010 reported in the annual Climate Change Strategy monitoring
report.
7.334 A number of representations and consultations, notably from GlosVAIN,
challenge the assumed proportion of waste that would be renewable over the
life of the plant as being too high (reflecting changes in composition) and
therefore the amount of renewable energy that would be generated. It also
disputes whether the proposal is consistent with the waste hierarchy and
NPS EN-1. GlosVAIN also queries the assumptions and data underpinning
the WRATE assessment particularly the waste composition data used and
the landfill gas recovery rate (the amount of landfill gas produced within a
landfill that is actually captured) which is important given this contains the
powerful greenhouse gas, methane and so assumptions can affect the
results and relative effects of alternative management. In response to the
Regulation 22 request on WRATE the applicant responded that the
calculated landfill gas recovery rate is not explicitly stated in the model
outputs.
Discussion
7.335 It is considered that the need for the applicant to demonstrate that EfW
complies with the waste hierarchy as required by the Waste Framework
Directive is largely achieved as provision of the facility is to deal with residual
waste as part of an integrated strategy whereby reuse and
recycling/composting will be maximised. Recovery of residual waste with a
significant food waste content through combustion could be construed as
failing to comply with the hierarchy. In the case of food waste all District
Councils are expected to have separate food waste collection in place prior
to the proposed commencement of operation of the facility. This would also
allow for the WCS policy promoting anaerobic digestion (AD) to take effect.
7.336 The scale of claimed greenhouse gas savings over landfill can only be
confirmed with knowledge of the landfill gas capture rate applied in the
applicant’s WRATE modelling exercise. Assessments undertaken for
177

Page 177

applications elsewhere do indicate potential sensitivity to this parameter.
However the 75% value that GlosVAIN claims is recommended by DEFRA
appears to come from a national landfill gas inventory model called MelMod.
This has been subject to peer review which recommends that extraction
rates should be set to between 0 and 50% depending of the type of landfill
under consideration. Thus the DEFRA funded review indicates that a figure
as high as 75% capture would be unlikely to be justified.
7.337 In the event of the methane capture rate from landfill being higher than that
modelled, the advantage shown of EfW over landfill would be less. However
having reviewed the evidence on realistic landfill gas capture rates, EfW is
still likely to represent an improvement over landfill when all associated
greenhouse gas emissions are taken into account. This is confirmed by the
recent Defra Guide to Energy from Waste.
7.338 However, I do have some remaining concerns in that the possible carbon
savings shown are less than indicated by the 2008 the WDA's WRATE
assessment were the plant to export heat from commencement of operation.
In the process of burning waste, EfW plants produce heat. This heat is
transferred to water which becomes steam used to drive a turbine. It is this
turbine that generates electricity. During the process a significant amount of
hot water and steam is created and much of the heat remains in the water
following power generation. This heat energy can be put to use for space
heating if distributed off site via a 'heat loop'. When set up in this way the
plant is operating in a Combined Heat & Power or CHP mode. This mode
maximises the energy gained from the waste feedstock, and reduces
wastage of the thermal energy that would otherwise be lost to the
environment in the vicinity of the plant.
7.339 The applicant states in relation to the R1 efficiency formula (paragraph
5.4.12 of the ES) that the proposed plant would achieve an energy efficiency
factor even when only generating electricity which if confirmed by the Agency
would qualify the plant as a recovery operation under the WFD. The
technical assessment of CHP potential of the shortlisted sites undertaken for
the WCS (WCS Technical Evidence Paper WCS-Q December 2010)
demonstrates the potential for CHP at the Javelin Park site, which is
reflected in Appendix 5 of the WCS in that there would be a limited demand
for a retrofitted heat network within existing nearby development. There is
potential for a heat network to be incorporated within any future development
due to the number of possible new dwellings associated with potential
development nearby.
7.340 The NPPF supports looking actively at heat off-take opportunities and in this
context it is noted that the applicant proposes that the facility would be
178

Page 178

developed as being “CHP ready” which would allow heat to be supplied to
nearby heat users when such opportunities are realised. However, the
utilisation of heat from the facility does not form a part of the current planning
application, as, at the time of submission, no committed heat off-take
opportunities have been identified.
7.341 In conclusion, the proposal would deliver an important energy generating
development within Gloucestershire which would make a significant
contribution towards meeting the need to grow an energy infrastructure that
reduces dependency on continuing supply of finite fossil fuel. In addition it
would make a significant contribution to sustaining renewable power
production in the county and in the process enhance Gloucestershire's
contribution towards meeting the RPG targets. While the actual renewable
energy contribution may fluctuate over time in line with the changing
composition of the waste feedstock, following the guidance in NPS this
shouldn't be a critical factor in determining this application.
7.342 The applicant’s assessment of overall greenhouse gas production, as well as
the assessment presented by the objectors, both demonstrate that
management of residual waste at the proposed EfW facility would be
beneficial in terms of reducing the amount of greenhouse gas emissions that
would otherwise be produced if this waste were to continue to be managed
at landfill. It would therefore be in accord with the WCS (Strategic Objective
5), Structure Plan (2nd Review) Policy EN.3 in terms of contributing
renewable energy, and Policy RE6 of RPG10.
7.343 Given the associated benefit of using the heat generated and the
requirement of Structure Plan (2nd Alteration) Policy EN.2, including the
carbon savings identified in the GCC 2008 WRATE assessment of options
where EfW with CHP emerged as the preferred option, it remains an
important consideration that should be pursued during the operation of the
facility. The applicant has expressed its commitment to on-going
investigation into potential should viable opportunities present themselves in
future. The applicant has indicated its willingness to accept a planning
condition requiring the submission of an annual report setting out the
measures that have been undertaken to secure utilisation of heat from the
facility. It is therefore recommended that a condition be attached to any
permission requiring an updated CHP Feasibility Review assessing viable
opportunities for the use of heat from the development to be submitted at
regular intervals supported by on-going monitoring and exploration of viable
opportunities.

179

Page 179

CONTAMINATION
Policy
7.344 The WCS has no policies specifically addressing protection of water
resources or land quality although these matters were considered in the
Sustainability Appraisal of the WCS policies under Strategic Objective 11. To
prevent the pollution of land, air and water in Gloucestershire and to apply
the precautionary principle. Derived from this objective are 4 media focused
objectives aimed at preventing pollution and protecting and enhancing soil /
land quality/ water quality in Gloucestershire.
7.345 Waste Local Plan Saved Policy 33 - Water Resources – Pollution Control
states that proposals for waste development will only be permitted where
there would be no unacceptable risk of contamination to surface
watercourses, bodies of water or groundwater resources. Structure Plan
Policies W1, F1, and P1 state that proposals will only be permitted which
would not have an unacceptable effect on the quantity or quality of surface or
groundwater resources or would increase flood risk. Stroud District Local
Plan Policy GE2 prohibits development that would be likely to create
unacceptable pollution to water or land.
Planning Considerations
7.346 The application site is largely made ground and the ES indicates that much
of the site is contaminated by past industrial use as a military airfield and
aircraft assembly. The aircraft assembly use was discontinued in 1962 and
the assembly hangers were converted to a trading estate, with other
buildings and runways left to deteriorate. The hangars were demolished
between 2002 and 2005, with the remaining hard standing removed in 2007.
The site has been subject to extensive investigation, and the preparation and
execution of a remediation strategy for asbestos that was completed in 2008.
A further ground investigation was undertaken on the site in 2010 under
instruction of the County Council to establish the suitability of ground
conditions for a “strategic waste management facility” proposed in the WCS
site allocation.
7.347 The central part of the proposed building would be excavated into the ground
to a maximum depth of 13m. Foundations are likely to be piles into bedrock.
This raises two issues; firstly the potential for the disturbance of
contaminated material during these works and how this would be managed;
and secondly the impact of any de-watering of the excavation required as
construction proceeds, which may release quantities of potentially
contaminated water, which could pollute the surrounding groundwater,
unless proper controls are in place. Piling of foundations may also be a
180

Page 180

possible cause of contamination because disturbance of the ground could
create new pathways for the migration of pollutants off-site. Additionally, any
site dewatering must not affect the integrity of the nearby M5 by causing
potential instability/subsidence.
7.348 The applicant has provided an assessment of the potential impacts from the
proposed development on the geology and groundwater at the site. The
assessment considers the geological setting, designated geological sites,
contaminated land, hydrogeology, geohazards and geotechnical issues
associated with the proposed development and the site. The assessment
was undertaken for the site and up to 1km from the site where receptors
might be impacted. This was to identify any potential historic land uses which
may have contributed to contamination issues within the site and potentially
sensitive land uses in the surrounding area that could be impacted if
contaminants were mobilised.
7.349 The assessment addressed the sensitivity of receptors and magnitude of
potential impacts, to determine the significance of each impact. The
assessment has also been used to assess constraints on the development
from geology and ground conditions, including areas where development
should be avoided and where mitigation measures might be needed. This
concludes that no significant impacts have been identified to groundwater
resources and best practice mitigation measures should be implemented.
The applicant proposes that these measures largely be reflected in the
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). A strategy would be
prepared outlining where remediation and/or mitigation measures are
required for contamination prior to construction works commencing with the
appointed Contractor developing this strategy into a detailed methodology for
the site works for agreement with the WPA. A protocol to address
unexpected contamination would be incorporated into the CEMP to deal with
cases of any potentially contaminated materials being encountered during
excavations.
7.350 The assessment recognises that dewatering of excavations during the
operation stage may have a temporary effect on the shallow local
hydrogeological regime but it is believed to be unlikely to have any
permanent effect on groundwater flow. There is still a degree of uncertainty
over the robustness of the evidence concerning potential effects of
construction below ground level on groundwater flows, which remain a
concern as described elsewhere in this report.
7.351 During construction, surface water quality could be affected by run-off from
earthworks, fuel and machinery storage, circulation areas and works to the
drainage system, as well as general construction activities. If permitted, once
181

Page 181

the development was operational, the main impacts would be run-off from
buildings, areas of hard standing, and landscaped areas. In all cases, normal
controls including a water storage and settlement lagoon, would apply to
manage these impacts. Special arrangements would be in place to prevent
contamination from hazardous material storage areas, whilst process water
contamination is unlikely as the plant water cooling system is a closed loop,
with the recycling of water included as part of the site processes.
7.352 The Environment Agency as consultee to the application has not raised any
concern in relation to potential for contamination release. Stroud District
Council as Environmental Health Authority with local responsibility for the
contaminated land register has not raised any concerns on this matter. The
site would also be subject to a site condition report produced in support of
the Environmental Permit application.
7.353 GlosVAIN has raised concerns over disruption to groundwater flows in the
area of the site has already resulted in adverse consequences, and that
further work is required in order to assess the implications of the proposal.
They make reference to apparent unexplained incidence in livestock loss in
farms in the vicinity of the site following installation of a three-arm
roundabout junction to provide access to Javelin Park from the B4008 and
eventual closure of two local farms. However a contaminant has not yet been
conclusively identified, although GlosVAIN suggests a possible cause may
be from high levels of molybdenum, a metal used in the aircraft industry to
strengthen the metal casing of planes, which has been shown to affect cattle.
They request that further research be undertaken to determine historical
contamination pathways and the possible implication of this for the proposed
development as a result of groundwater flows that may be displaced.
Discussion
7.354 Development of the site offers the opportunity to remediate fully historically
contaminated land, and the proposal would therefore enhance the
environmental quality of the site and accord with Strategic Objective 11 of
the WCS. However given that unexpected contamination may be discovered,
it is proposed that a condition be attached to any permission requiring the
applicant to actively monitor groundwater conditions on-site during the
course of construction and operation to ensure that there are no adverse
impacts as a consequence of the development in order to comply with WLP
Saved Policy 33, Structure Plan Saved Policies W1, F1 and P1, and Stroud
District Council Policy GE2.

182

Page 182

WASTE MINIMISATION AND MANAGEMENT OF RESIDUES
Policy
7.355 WCS Policy WCS2 places an expectation on all development to incorporate
the principles of waste minimisation and re-use. Planning applications for
major development are to be supported by a statement setting out how any
waste arising during the demolition, construction and subsequent occupation
of the development will be minimised and managed in an environmentally
acceptable manner. This policy is supported by Gloucestershire ‘Waste
Minimisation in Development Projects’ Supplementary Planning Document
(SPD) (September 2006) which was adopted to supplement Policy 36 in the
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan (October 2004) dealing with this issue.
Local policy is also supported by national legislation based on the Waste
Framework Directive which enshrined the concept of the waste hierarchy in
law by making it a legal requirement for waste producers, including operators
of waste management facilities to manage waste in accordance with the
hierarchy. With regard to management of residues from the proposed facility,
Policy WM6 of the Structure Plan (2nd Review) expects that post-treatment
residues are disposed of in appropriate locations and WM2 is concerned with
the increasing the use of waste as a recycled aggregate in place of primary
aggregate.
Planning Considerations
7.356 For operators of large waste management sites the requirement to manage
residues with the waste hierarchy is enforced through the Pollution
Prevention and Control (PPC) regime regulated through the Environmental
Permitting Regulations (England and Wales) 2010. PPC aims to prevent
emissions and waste production and where that is not practicable, reduce
them to acceptable levels. Where waste is produced, to ensure it is
recovered or, where that is technically and economically impractical, it is
disposed of while avoiding or reducing any impact on the environment. This
matter is assessed by the Environment Agency during the permit application
process.
7.357 The principal wastes produced as a result of the proposed development
would be construction/excavation material arising from the construction
phase and Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA) and Air Pollution Control (APC)
residues from the operational phase. Waste would also be generated from
the site demolition phase at the end of the life of the development but that
would be addressed under a site clearance plan to be submitted at that time.

183

Page 183

7.358 The applicant has provided a Waste Minimisation Statement (WMS)
prepared in accordance with the adopted Gloucestershire ‘Waste
Minimisation in Development Projects’ SPD. In addition a Site Waste
Management Plan (SWMP) has also been prepared and submitted as part of
the application. The SWMP covers the management, reporting and analysis
of waste produced as part of the construction to ensure that it is dealt with
legally, safely and economically.
7.359 As indicated above, the two principal types of solid waste or 'by-products'
that would be produced from the operation of the EfW facility are IBA and
APC residues. Separate handling/preparation facilities are proposed which
occupy a significant part of the proposal's footprint. IBA is the inert burnt-out
residue from the combustion process and approximately 6 tonnes per hour of
this would be produced at full capacity. The volume of IBA generated would
equate to approximately 25% of the overall volume of the waste managed at
the site. IBA typically comprises a mixture of non-combustible elements
including glass, brick, rubble, sand, grit and metal as well as ash from
combusted waste. It would be processed onsite to extract metals for
recycling and for use as a secondary aggregate. Any oversize or reject
materials (typically 10% by weight) from the processing plant would be
categorised and then sent for reuse, recycling or disposal. The recycled
aggregate, recovered metals and reject material would be transported from
site via HGV. The recycled aggregate would act as a replacement for primary
aggregate for a range of suitable engineering and construction applications
resulting in a benefit of saved carbon emissions and avoided extraction of
primary mineral.
7.360 APC residues comprise fine particles of ash and residue from the flue gas
treatment process, which are collected in the bag filters. It is estimated that
the operations would generate approximately 1 tonne of APC residues per
hour which equates to between 3 and 4% of the overall tonnage of the waste
processed at the site. Due to the alkaline nature of APC residues, they are
classified as hazardous waste. APC residues would be transported offsite in
sealed tankers to a Permitted Hazardous waste disposal facility.
Alternatively the residues may be taken to an appropriate treatment facility
where, for example, they could be re-used in the neutralisation of acid
wastes in the chemical industry or used in cement manufacture.
7.361 The applicant has identified a waste management company with a landfill in
Northamptonshire licensed to accept APC residues as the preferred operator
to accept the APC residues from the site. This site is some distance from the
proposed facility - around 130 miles each way.

184

Page 184

7.362 GlosVAIN has queried the sustainability of reliance on a facility at such a
distance from the site and the associated carbon emissions. Concerns have
also been raised about the possibility that the APC may end up being
disposed of at the more local Wingmoor Farm landfill instead.
Discussion
7.363 The WRATE modelling presented by the applicant assesses the carbon
footprint of the proposal included the transport of APC residues in its overall
carbon calculation. While no breakdown of the emissions has been provided,
in general the carbon emissions of the transport contribution to the overall
assessment are found to be small.
7.364 The applicant recognises that reliance on landfill is in itself less than ideal
and commits to continuing to explore alternative options for the disposal and
treatment of the APC residues throughout the operational lifetime of the
facility. This would be based upon a regular review of the market taking full
account of social, environmental and economic factors and also potential
emerging technologies. Therefore a condition is proposed to ensure that this
occurs if permission is granted, so as to minimise waste and reliance on
landfill and accord with policies WM6, WCS2 and WCS3, and PPS10.
7.365 The use of bottom ash as a secondary aggregate would help to replace
primary sources of aggregate in appropriate uses, and so would contribute to
resource efficiency and be consistent with Structure Plan Saved Policy M2.
CUMULATIVE IMPACT
Policy
7.366 WCS Policy WCS10 requires when determining proposals that regard is
given to the cumulative effects of previous and existing waste management
facilities on local communities in terms of environmental quality, social
cohesion and inclusion, and economic potential, and assessment of noise,
odour, traffic (including accessibility and sustainable transport
considerations), dust, health, ecology and visual impacts. This mirrors the
advice in PPS10 on site selection and suitability.
Discussion
7.367 The applicant has undertaken an assessment of potential cumulative effects
of the proposed EfW plant during both the construction and operational
phase of the project. In consultation with the local planning authorities
significant proposed development projects were identified within 5km of the
185

Page 185

site that could have the potential to result in significant environmental effects
in combination with the proposed facility. The nature of likely significant
environmental effects that may arise from the identified projects were
considered in light of the predicted environmental effects of the proposed
development including air quality and landscape. The conclusion of the
applicant’s assessment was that significant cumulative environmental effects
are unlikely to arise from the construction and operation of the proposed EfW
facility.
7.368 This assessment included the energy from waste (gasification facility)
permitted at Moreton Valence. This plant is proposed adjacent to an existing
established waste facility and at the planning consideration stage did not
require EIA because of the limited throughput and size of the facility. The
design of the building, together with existing vegetation cover and proposed
landscaping was considered to help assimilate the building into the
landscape such that effects were considered negligible, being seen in distant
views against the backdrop of the Severn Vale beyond.
7.369 The applicant’s assessment of cumulative impacts is considered to be
thorough and reasonable. The potential impacts of the proposed
development, alongside proposed mitigation measures, outlined in this
report, have addressed the relevant issues theme-by-theme. These issues
are included in the ES and have explicitly included an assessment of ‘in
combination’ and cumulative effects of the proposal.
7.370 Having regard to the assessment and also the scale and quantum of
development already permitted at Javelin Park it is considered that the
cumulative impacts of the proposal have properly been assessed and have
been taken into account fully in the determination of this application and
accords with WCS Policy WCS10.

HUMAN RIGHTS
7.371 The requirements of the Human Rights Act 1988 must be considered.
7.372 The Human Rights Act 1998 has the effect of enshrining much of the
European Convention on Human Rights into UK law. Under 6(1) of the Act, it
is unlawful for a public authority to act in a way, which is incompatible with a
convention right. A person who claims that a public authority has acted (or
proposes to act) in a way which is made unlawful by Section 6(1), and that
he is (or would be) a victim of the unlawful act, may bring proceedings
against the authority under the Act in the appropriate court or tribunal, or may
rely on the convention right or rights concerned in any legal proceedings.
186

Page 186

7.373 The main Convention rights relevant when considering planning proposals
are Article 1 of the First Protocol, which guarantees the right to peaceful
enjoyment of possessions, and Article 8 of the Human Rights Act 1998,
which guarantees a right to respect for private and family life. Article 8 also
provides that there shall be no interference by a public authority with the
exercise of this right except in the interests of national security, public safety,
or the economic well-being of the country, for the prevention of disorder or
crime, for the protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the
freedom of others. Rights under both ECHR provisions are qualified and may
be subject to lawful interference if it is considered that they are proportionate
(under Article 8) and strike a fair balance between the public and private
interest (under Article 1 of the First Protocol).
7.374 The convention rights of the adjoining residents under Article 8, the right to
respect for private and family life, and Article 1 of the First Protocol, the right
of enjoyment of property are potentially engaged. A grant of planning
permission may infringe those rights, but they are qualified rights, as noted
above. In assessing that balance when making a decision, the WPA may
also take into account that the amenity of local residents could be adequately
safeguarded by conditions. Indeed, depending on the conclusion reached as
to the level of efficacy of the safeguards, it may be concluded that there is
minimal interference with Convention rights in any event.
7.375 In this instance, assuming there to be an interference, it is not considered
there would be any disproportionate interference with the human rights of
adjoining residents. On that basis, it is considered that the public interest
represented by the needs of the wider community for modern waste facilities
to secure the long-term management of waste in the County (and in the
absence of better acceptable alternative sites) should take precedence over
the impact of the proposals on the Convention rights of the private
individuals.
7.376 Accordingly the grant of planning permission for this development would be
in accordance with Convention rights and entirely lawful.

187

Page 187

EQUALITY ACT 2010
7.377 As a public authority, in the exercise of its functions the Council is subject to
the requirements imposed by section 149, namely:
1.
A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard
to the need toa) Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited or under this Act;
b) Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic who do not share it;
c)
Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it
7.378 The relevant protected characteristics are:
x Age;
x Disability
x Gender reassignment
x Pregnancy and maternity
x Race
x Religion and belief
x Sex
x Sexual orientation;
7.379 The WPA undertook public consultation on the application and supporting
material. Notices were placed in the Stroud News & Journal and
Gloucestershire Citizen for the consultation on the original application
submission, the amended submission from the applicant, and three
consultations on additional information provided under Regulation 22 of
Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations 2011. Documentation was
made available in hard copy at the offices of the County Council and Stroud
District Council, and all documentation made available on its website. It went
beyond the minimum statutory requirements for consultations on the
application in terms of the time made available for comments at key stages
and also posted all representations onto its website and in doing so did not
discriminate against any group or individual in terms of their ability to
participate in the consultation exercise.
7.380 The proposal includes a visitor centre, which would promote greater
understanding of the waste management issues amongst all groups in the
local community. The education facility would also advance equality of
opportunity and foster good relations between persons who share a
protected characteristic and those that do not share it.

188

Page 188

7.381 The development would be designed to be accessible to all community
groups, including by different means of transport.
7.382 It is therefore considered that the Authority has had due regard to the
requirements of the Equalities Act throughout the processing and
consultation on this application. It is also considered that the applicant has
shown due regard to these duties as illustrated in the submitted Statement of
Community Involvement that accompanied the application.

189

Page 189

8.0
CONCLUSIONS
PERMISSION

AND

REASONS

FOR

GRANT

OF

PLANNING

8.1

This is a highly significant planning application which has attracted very
considerable interest and a large number of representations. As has been
discussed elsewhere in this report there remain objections from statutory
consultees, in particular Natural England and English Heritage, and Stroud
District Council. The considerations relating to the WCS have highlighted the
complexity of waste issues and the challenge of arriving at a strategy and
sites acceptable to all stakeholders.

8.2

In formulating the recommendation, all of the evidence and the potential
impacts of the development that are considered to be material to determining
this application have been carefully examined. This has included analysing
the applicant’s planning application, the ES (and additional information under
regulation 22) and other supporting documentation, and the representations
and comments from consultees and members of the public. All material
issues have been addressed in the ES (including the additional information)
and it is considered to be comprehensive and adequate. The fact that some
of those making representations to the WPA do not agree with it, or with
some aspects of it, is not unexpected and this does not prevent it from being
a proper ES.

8.3

For the reasons set out above, it is considered that there is no requirement
for an AA to be carried out by the WPA as Competent Authority under the
Habitats Regulations. The need for such has been duly screened out
adopting the required precautionary approach and having regard to the
nature and characteristics of the proposals, the proposed mitigation (which
will be secured by condition) and to the conservation objectives of the
European Sites. There is therefore no legal prohibition arising from habitats
considerations which prevents the grant of planning permission.

8.4

In accordance with section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 the decision on this application should be taken in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. There
are a large number of relevant development plan policies and the question of
whether the proposals accord with the development plan should be
considered overall and with regard to those policies which are of the greatest
relevance to the proposals and which are most up-to-date.

8.5

The recently adopted WCS identifies a clear need for residual waste
treatment capacity in the County, and identifies the application site at Javelin
Park as one of five potential locations for a strategic residual waste facility
with capacity in excess of 50,000 tonnes per annum.

190

Page 190

8.6

The proposed EfW facility would clearly provide capacity to divert from
landfill all of Gloucestershire’s residual municipal solid waste and most if not
all of its residual commercial and industrial waste. There is currently no
alternative treatment capacity within Gloucestershire for residual municipal
solid waste, and with the clear policy imperatives to reduce landfill and move
the management of waste up the hierarchy, combined with the environmental
and financial implications of continuing to landfill waste, plus the WCS
commitment to providing sufficient capacity to manage waste arising within
Gloucestershire during the plan period, the need for such capacity is clear.

8.7

The application site is previously-developed land where the principle of
development is well established, with an existing permission for a large scale
B8 use on the site, a service road already constructed, and with a large
garden centre to the north. The proposed development would generate
employment during construction and operation.

8.8

The application site was allocated in the WCS following extensive appraisal
and testing, notwithstanding a concern expressed by the Inspector at its
Examination about the challenge of accommodating a large energy-fromwaste plant at this site.

8.9

The location has a number of benefits, particularly the proximity to the M5
motorway and accessibility from the main urban areas of the County, which
generate the majority of waste and at which significant future housing and
economic growth is planned and is likely to occur. There are no significant
transport or traffic issues raised by the development and it would accord with
the requirements of Structure Plan Policies T1; T2; T3 and T4; Stroud District
Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR2; and WCS Policy WCS14 together with the
relevant objectives to paragraphs 34 and 35 of the NPPF. The development
would not be detrimental to highway safety or to users of public rights of way
and would include safe, convenient and attractive access for pedestrians
taking into account the needs of disabled people, in line with Stroud District
Local Plan policies GE5 and TR2 and WCS Policy WCS19. There would
also be appropriate levels of parking in accordance with the Council’s
Parking Standards and Stroud District Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR12.

8.10 The site is itself relatively unconstrained, and not covered by any protective
designations, with low intrinsic value for wildlife and amenity. With mitigation
there would be no adverse impacts on nature conservation including on
nationally important or European sites. It is also lies outside areas having a
high probability of fluvial flooding. It is in a predominantly rural area with few
residential properties whose amenity may be affected by the development in
proximity. The presence of the M5 already reduces amenity particularly
through constant background traffic noise. The proposed development
would generate similar levels of traffic comparable to the consented
warehouse use and does not give rise to traffic safety or capacity issues.
191

Page 191

8.11 The proposed design is a result of an iterative process to meet technical and
architectural challenges. The bold forms and the approach to handling the
mass of the structure represents an intelligent and high-quality design
solution commended by CABE. The design of the building is striking, and
would be a statement consistent with that set out in Appendix 5 of the WCS.
There are some outstanding matters in terms of detailing to the building and
external colour finishes but subject to a condition covering these matters the
design and overall appearance accords with the design test in WCS Policy
WCS17 and Appendix 5, Stroud District Local Plan Policy BE2, and with
PPS10.
8.12 The consideration of landscape and visual impact matters has further
highlighted the diverse range of opinions, including amongst different
professionals commenting on the application. The applicant considers that
whilst the very nature of the development means it would be a prominent
feature in the landscape, the visual impacts have been minimised through
design and orientation and that there would not be any material effect upon
the setting of the Cotswolds AONB. Natural England and others maintain an
objection on the grounds of significant adverse impacts on the special
qualities of the AONB, the setting of the AONB, the Cotswold Way National
Trail, and the non-designated Severn Vale. English Heritage and the County
Archaeologist maintain objections on the grounds of the substantial
cumulative harm to heritage assets, specifically their settings, although the
latter accepts that such considerations may be outweighed by other factors.
8.13 In this rural location the development would erode the perception of rural
character with the introduction of a more prominent building which would be
a visually intrusive urban feature. This would be likely to result in some loss
of the open character and the natural rural appearance to this part of the
Severn Vale. There would be some adverse effects on visual amenity on a
small number of residential properties.
8.14 It is accepted by the applicant that there would be elevated views from
vantage points along the top of the Cotswold escarpment including the
Cotswold Way. The development is outside the Cotswolds AONB and views
from it, including from the Cotswold Way, would be generally against the
backdrop of the landscape within the Severn Vale, with other built
development visible to the north of the site. It is considered that there would
be some adverse visual impact which would affect the noted special qualities
of the area. Whilst this is finely balanced, the proposed facility would not be
so prominent that material harm would be caused to the setting of the AONB
or so that its presence would have an unacceptable impact on long distance
views.
8.15 The proposed development would appear intrusive in some views due to its
height and mass and yet would not be readily apparent from others because
192

Page 192

of the presence of intervening vegetation. The visual impact of this proposal
and the effect on the character of the landscape is therefore considered
contrary to WCS Policy WCS14 and WLP Policy 37. At closer quarters the
building would be seen as a much more dramatic structure breaking the
skyline, and unduly prominent to the extent that it conflicts with the objectives
of development plan policies. Given the nature of this form and scale of
development in this location, the proposals conflict with Stroud District Local
Plan Policy NE10, the NPPF in terms of the effect on the intrinsic character
of the countryside, and Structure Plan Policies NHE1and S6(a) - although
the Structure Plan and Local Plan policies should be accorded less weight
because they are now quite dated and are not fully consistent with the NPPF
particularly in that they provide limited flexibility to consider and balance the
benefits of a proposal against its impacts.
8.16 There is a divergence of opinion between the applicant and some consultees
about the impacts of the development on the setting of heritage assets. The
development plan policy test in terms of heritage assets is more definitive
than the approach to landscape matters and specifically relates to the
individual asset. The objections from the County Archaeologist and English
Heritage have been carefully considered along with two further technical
notes from the applicant rebutting the objections and particularly the
consultee assessments. The applicant’s evidence does appear robust and
well founded, based on a clear and relevant methodology. However English
Heritage and the County Archaeologist consider that the applicant’s
assessments under-estimate the impacts on the settings of some heritage
assets.
8.17 The application site is in a countryside location where there is already
significant change from the M5 motorway and the development of Javelin
Park with further consented warehousing. The closest heritage assets are
300m and 870m distant from the proposed development site. While there
may be some adverse effect on the historic environment, after carefully
reviewing all the information it is not considered that the available evidence
demonstrates that the development would give rise to a significant adverse
impact on the integrity, character and setting of these or other heritage
assets as defined in WCS Policy WCS16. In terms of the relevant NPPF
policy test it is, therefore, not considered that the development will cause
‘substantial harm’ to heritage assets in the locality. Additionally, the general
absence of ‘in combination views’ between the heritage assets and the
proposed development that would indicate that there is no conflict with the
further NPPF test of ‘less than substantial harm’.
8.18 In terms of heritage assets and their settings, it is concluded that the
submitted proposals accord with WCS Policy WCS 16 and with guidance in
the NPPF and Policy BE14 of the Stroud District Plan. Whilst there is a
193

Page 193

degree of conflict with Stroud District Local Plan Policy BE12 in relation to
the settings of Listed buildings this is not to the extent that material harm
would be caused by the development.
8.19 The outstanding objection from English Heritage claims that the proposal
could not achieve substantial public benefits that would effectively outweigh
impacts on the historic environment. Such benefits are required by the
NPPF and also Policy WCS16 of the WCS. However, no evidence to
substantiate this view has been provided and it is not clear how English
Heritage has weighed these factors to arrive at such a judgement.
8.20 The conflicting views of technical consultants are noted with regard to the
potential significance of groundwater conditions and the absence of definitive
survey information. However, on balance, the LLFA's technical advisors
judgment is accepted, namely that a condition requiring a more detailed
hydrogeological assessment and a method statement setting out how issues
may be dealt with through engineering and construction would be a
satisfactory means of addressing and managing this issue. In terms of flood
risk, the Environment Agency confirms that the flooding experienced in
November and December 2012 was not of fluvial origin, and that the
development offers the opportunity to improve the management of surface
water flood risk including through incorporation of Sustainable Drainage
Systems and maintenance of the existing watercourse within the landscaping
of the site.
8.21 In applications of this scale a judgement is required taking account of the
pressing need for modern waste management facilities, the framework of
waste planning policies, other development plan policies and material
considerations. The very recent adoption of the WCS means it should be
given significant weight in any decision. While it is appreciated that the
development does not accord with some policies in terms of landscape
impacts, it is considered that the overall balance of Development Plan policy
imperatives and other material planning considerations, in this case, is in
favour of the development.
8.22 Whilst the proposed development conflicts with some development plan
policies, it should be noted that several policies including WCS Policy WCS
14, Structure Plan Policy NHE1 and Stroud District Local Plan Policy NE10
all recognise the potential for other public, including social, environmental
and economic benefits, to outweigh harm to the landscape that may arise.
Whilst there would be some disadvantages of the development of the Javelin
Park site for the proposed use, the assessment submitted as part of the
application demonstrates that this site performs better against a range of
criteria compared to the other strategic sites identified in the WCS.
194

Page 194

Accordingly, it is considered that the proposals do accord with the
development plan taken as a whole but that, in any event, material
considerations outweigh such breaches of policy as exist and support the
grant of planning permission.
8.23 The development as proposed has sought to mitigate the impacts through
the design solution involving a stepped form with the orientation of the
building offering a narrow elevation to the local road and towards the AONB.
On-site landscaping will help mitigate its visual impact in the local scene and
provide containment. The access arrangements with a purpose built
roundabout access and close proximity to the M5 and the local road network
will ensure that HGV traffic is confined to appropriate strategic and local
highway networks. The development makes use of a brownfield site and is
considered to achieve a sustainable form of development of long term
importance to the strategic waste long term waste management needs of the
county.

8.24 It is also recommended that any permission should include detailed
conditions referred to in Section 7 above. Whilst recognising this is an
application for a permanent building with a design-life of approximately 30
years, there is potential for components being refurbished or replaced over
time. Should the facility cease to be operational for any reason, including at
the end of its design-life, it is important that any potentially redundant
structure should not remain in place and accordingly a condition is
recommended to provide for the restoration of the site at the time that the
proposed EfW plant ceases to operate.
8.25 Overall it is consider that the benefits and need for a modern waste
management facility diverting waste from landfill and recovering energy from
waste in the process, well located in relation to the areas of the county where
waste will arise, which better complies with national and EU waste
management policy than the current alternatives, support approval of this
development subject to the prior completion of a legal obligation and the
detailed conditions set out in Section 9.
8.26 This application is therefore recommended for approval by the Committee for
the following reasons:
x
x

The application site at Javelin Park is one of five potential locations for a
strategic residual waste facility with capacity in excess of 50,000 tonnes per
annum.
The proposed EfW facility meets a clear need for a recovery capacity for all
of Gloucestershire’s residual municipal solid waste and most if not all of its
residual commercial and industrial waste. The Environment Agency has
195

Page 195

x

x

x

x

confirmed in its draft decision document for the Environmental Permit that
the facility is likely to achieve the design stage criteria to qualify as a
‘recovery’ facility and so it is reasonable to assume that it will achieve this.
This facility reduces reliance on landfill meeting a pressing need for residual
waste recovery capacity consistent with WCS Policy WCS6, close to the
areas where waste arises and moves the management of waste up the
hierarchy.
The location is readily accessible to the main urban areas of the county. The
purpose built roundabout access and close proximity to the M5 motorway
and the local road network ensure that the HGV traffic is confined to
appropriate strategic and local highway networks. There are no significant
transport or traffic issues and it accords with Structure Plan Policies T1; T2;
T3 and T4; Stroud District Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR2; and WCS
Policy WCS14 together with the relevant objectives to paragraphs 34 and 35
of the NPPF. The development would not be detrimental to highway safety or
to users of public rights of way, with safe pedestrian access and facilities for
disabled people, in line with Stroud District Local Plan policies GE5 and TR2
and WCS Policy WCS19. Levels of car parking meet the Council’s Parking
Standards and Stroud District Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR12.
The site has low intrinsic value for wildlife and has no adverse impacts on
nature conservation including nationally important or European sites. There
is no requirement for an Appropriate Assessment (AA) to be carried out by
the WPA as Competent Authority under the Habitats Regulations, particularly
having regard to the nature and characteristics of the proposals, and the
proposed mitigation. There is no legal prohibition arising from habitats
considerations which prevents the grant of planning permission. The
application complies with regional and national policies, and with the
requirements of the Habitats Regulations and Directive, in conformity with
WCS Policies WCS6, WCS15, WLP saved Policy 25, Gloucestershire
Structure Plan 2nd Review saved Policy NHE.2, Stroud Local Plan saved
policies NE3, NE4, NE5, NE6 and NE7, RPG10 Policy EN1.
The air quality aspects of the development, supported by available evidence,
indicates that the facility would not result in unacceptable adverse effects on
human health and that the Environment Agency will have detailed regard to
these matters as part of the Environmental Permitting process. Development
will fully remediate this historically contaminated site and enhance
environmental quality complying with WLP Saved Policy 33, Structure Plan
Saved Policies W1, F1 and P1, and Stroud District Council Policy GE2.
The secure delivery of this waste management facility is of benefit to the
economy of Gloucestershire providing jobs and long term security for the
population and businesses in the management of its own waste consistent
with WSC Policy WCS1 Policy WCS10, and the potential for a local energy
supply beneficial in terms of reducing the amount of greenhouse gas
emissions that would otherwise be produced if this waste were to continue to
be managed at landfill. It therefore accords with the WCS (Strategic
Objective 5), Structure Plan (2nd Review) Policy EN.3 in terms of contributing
renewable energy with the potential for further benefits from the heat
generated. The use of bottom ash as a secondary aggregate would help to
196

Page 196

replace primary sources of aggregate and contribute to resource efficiency
consistent with Structure Plan Policy M2.
x

x

x

x

The EfW design represents an intelligent and high-quality design with its
impacts mitigated through the design solution involving a stepped-form and
careful orientation of the building offering a narrow elevation to the local road
and towards the AONB. The development utilises a brownfield site where the
principle of significant development is well established. On-site landscaping
will help mitigate its visual impact in the local scene and provide containment
so that overall it accords with the design test in WCS Policy WCS17 and
Appendix 5, Stroud District Local Plan Policy BE2, and with PPS10.
The form of the development would introduce a prominent building causing
some loss of the open character and the natural rural appearance to this part
of the Severn Vale contrary to WCS Policy WCS14 and WLP Policy 37
conflicting with Stroud District Local Plan Policy NE10, the NPPF in terms of
the effect on the intrinsic character of the countryside, and Structure Plan
Policies NHE1 and S6(a).
The development is outside the Cotswolds AONB and views from it,
including from the Cotswold Way, would be generally against the backdrop
of the Severn Vale, which includes other built development. It is considered
that there would be some visual impact which would affect the noted special
qualities of the area, but that the overall setting of the AONB or long distance
views would not be harmed. The proposed mitigation measures in the layout
and design to the EfW, together with the nature and scale of development
already permitted on the application site, and the adjacent land, were
considered to be particularly relevant to this context.
The development would not impact on the integrity, character and setting of
heritage assets in the vicinity, sufficient to amount to ‘substantial harm’ or
‘less than substantial harm’ because of the general absence of ‘in
combination views’ between the heritage assets and the proposed
development, and the distance separation. Some impact on the setting of
listed buildings is expected but not to the extent that material harm would be
caused therefore no conflict with the relevant development plan policies.

x

The presence of the M5 has an effect on the amenity of the area and whilst
there would be some adverse effects on visual amenity to a small number of
residential properties this is not considered unduly harmful. With appropriate
mitigation and controls, the impacts are likely to be minor and accords with
Policies WCS1 and WCS6 of the WCS, saved Policies 37 and 38 of the
Waste Local Plan, Policy WM2 of the Structure Plan 2nd Review, and Policies
GE1, GE2 and GE5 of the Stroud Local Plan.

x

The development offers the opportunity to improve the management of
surface water flood risk and through a more detailed hydrogeological
assessment and engineering to address groundwater concerns including
possible effects on adjacent land including the M5. This accords with
policies WCS Policy WCS12 and WCS6 (a), Structure Plan 2nd Review
Saved Policy F.1, RPG10 Policy RE 2 and the NPPF.

197

Page 197

x

The cumulative impacts of the development have been assessed,
particularly in terms of the scale and quantum of development already
permitted at Javelin Park, and considered to accord with WCS Policy
WCS10.

x

Whilst the development conflicts with some development plan policies,
several policies including WCS Policy WCS 14, Structure Plan Policy NHE1
and Stroud District Local Plan Policy NE10 recognise the potential for other
public, including social, environmental and economic benefits, to outweigh
harm to the landscape that may arise. In these terms the development of the
Javelin Park site performed better against a range of criteria compared to the
other strategic sites identified in the WCS.

x

The decision on the application has been in accordance with section 38(6) of
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 which provides that
applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The judgement on the application has taken account of the pressing need for
waste management facilities, the framework of waste planning policies, other
development plan policies and material considerations. The recent adoption
of the WCS has been given significant weight in the decision as
recommended by the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). Whilst
the development does not accord with some development plan policies in
terms of landscape impacts, it is considered that the overall balance of
Development Plan policy imperatives and other material planning
considerations, in this case, favour the approval of the development.

x

x

The Structure Plan and Local Plan policies have been accorded less weight
because they are now quite dated and are not fully consistent with the
NPPF, particularly in that they provide limited flexibility to consider and
balance the benefits of a proposal against its impacts

x

The balance of the considerations supports the approval of the development
having regard the proposed mitigation measures and benefits, together with
the need for a modern waste management facility recovering energy from
waste, well located in relation to the areas of the county where waste will
arise, which better complies with national and EU waste management policy.
The facility achieves a sustainable form of development of long term
importance to the strategic long term waste management needs of the
county.

x

To ensure the development is undertaken in accord with development plan
policy and is appropriately regulated to protect amenity and other aspects of
acknowledged importance detailed controls through conditions are required.

RECOMMENDATION
That planning permission be GRANTED for the reasons set out within this report
and summarised in Section 8 and subject to
198

Page 198

(1) The conditions detailed in Section 9 of this report and
(2) Completion of a legal undertaking (under Section 106 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990) on or before 21 September 2013 securing the costs of
monitoring the travel plan
(3) To the Secretary of State not exercising his ‘call in’ powers to determine the
application himself
Statement of compliance under the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) (England) amendment No 2) Order
2012.
In dealing with the application the Council has worked with the applicant in a
positive and proactive manner. There have been pre-application discussions with
the applicant to assist with the identification of issues with the development
proposal involving key consultees. Additional information has been sought to
ensure that all material aspects of the proposal are adequately informed through
the formal process for requesting additional information referred to as a Regulation
22 request.. The Waste Planning Authority has sought solutions to identified
issues through liaison with consultees, the consideration of further representations
received and liaison with the applicant/agent as necessary. Conditions have been
proposed having regard to Circular 11/95 and in accordance with advice contained
in ODPM Circular 05/2005 'Planning Obligations' the relevant obligations have been
sought to mitigate and control the development.

Background documents
Submitted Planning Application and accompanying Environmental statement.
Planning application Case file Ref 12/0008/STMAJW
Development plans
Cotswolds AONB Management Plan 2008-13
Consultee responses
Letters of representations

199

Page 199

9.

PLANNING OBLIGATIONS AND SCHEDULE OF CONDITIONS

Heads of Legal obligation
The cost of monitoring the travel plan:
Reason: To meet the expectation in Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policy
WCS19
SCHEDULE OF PLANNING CONDITIONS
Time limit
1. The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than three years from
the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990, as amended by section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act.
Notification of commencement
2. The operator shall notify the Waste Planning Authority of the date of the start of
each phase of development in writing at least 5 working days prior to each
phase. The phases of development shall comprise: completion of access road
under condition 20; the commencement of construction of the buildings; the
commencement of commissioning trials; the opening of the visitor/education
centre; and the date when the development will become fully operational.
Reason: To ensure that the Waste Planning Authority is aware of the progress
with the development over the period of construction and to ensure all other
conditions of the planning permission are complied with at the appropriate time.
3. Approved Plans
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
following site layout and elevational drawings except in respect of those elements
shown for illustrative or indicative purposes (and so noted on the drawings) and
except as otherwise required by any of the conditions set out in this permission:
x Drawing Number 11034_PL10 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Elevations Sheet 1 – January 2012
x Drawing Number 11034_PL11 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Elevations Sheet 2 – January 2012
x Drawing Number 11034_PL13 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Gatehouse – January 2012
x Drawing Number 11034_PL15 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Ancillary Buildings – January 2012

200

Page 200

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Drawing Number 11034_PL27 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– South Elevation Sector 1 – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL28 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– South Elevation Sector 2 – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL29 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– South Elevation Sector 3 – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL30 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– North Elevation Sector 1 – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL31 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– North Elevation Sector 2 – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL32 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– North Elevation Sector 3 – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL33 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– East Elevation – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL34 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– West Elevation – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL35 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Detailed Wall Section Bottom Ash – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL36 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Detailed Wall Section Refuse Bunker – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL37 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Detailed Wall Section Visitor Centre – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL38 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Detailed Wall Section Boiler / Turbine Hall – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL39 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Detailed Wall Section Flue gas Treatment – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL40 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Detailed Wall Section Tipping Hall – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL41 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Detailed Wall Section Tipping Hall / Offices – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL43 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Detailed Wall Section Bottom Ash Gable – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL44 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Detailed Wall Section FGT Gable – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL45 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Administrative Block Elevations – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL04 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Proposed Site Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL05 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level 0, Level 1 and Basement Plans – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL06 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level 2, Level 3 and Roof Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL08 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Longitudinal Section – January 2012
201

Page 201

x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Drawing Number 11034_PL09 (Part 4 of the Planning Application
Document)– January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL12 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Fencing and Gating Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL16 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level 0 Sector 1 Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL17 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level 0 Sector 2 Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL18 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level 0 Sector 3 Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL19 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level 1 Sector 1 Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL20 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level 1 Sector 2 Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL21 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level 2 Sector 1 Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034(0)PL22 (Part 4 of the Planning Application
Document) – Level 2 Sector 2 Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL23 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level 3 Sector 1 Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL24 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level 3 Sector 2 Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL25 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level - 1 Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 11034_PL26 (Part 4 of the Planning Application Document)
– Level - 2 Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number GCC-ISRS-LAN-942-03-01 (Part 4 of the Planning
Application Document) – Proposed Landscape Plan – January 2012
Drawing Number 18917-SK-500-01 (Part 4 of the Planning Application
Document) – Schematic Drainage Layout – January 2012

Reason: To enable the Waste Planning Authority to regulate and control the
development of the land to ensure that the development is implemented in
accordance with the approved plans, in the interests of the amenity of the area
and to comply with Stroud District Local Plan Policy GE1.
Community Liaison Group
4. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until details of a
Community Liaison Group set up specifically for dealing with complaints from
members of the public about matters associated with the development during its
construction and whilst the plant is operational, including the notification of the
complaints to the Waste Planning Authority, have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. Any complaints scheme
set up and run by the Liaison Group shall be operated during the hours when
any work or activity in connection with that development is taking place. The
202

Page 202

scheme shall include details of the arrangements for recording and responding
to complaints including an identified out of hours telephone contact. The
approved scheme shall be implemented and adhered to fully in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason: To secure the monitoring of the development in the interests of the
amenity of the locality, to respond to local community concerns and to comply with
Stroud District Local Plan Policy GE1
Finished Materials
5. Notwithstanding the submitted details, no development hereby approved shall
commence until a detailed scheme for the external finish of the main building
and chimney stack have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Waste Planning Authority. Such scheme shall include details of:
a. The type and colours of all external construction materials;
b. The design and layout of all external cladding materials; and
c. The overhanging verge details to a scale of 1:50 of all the west and east
facing roofs.
The development shall be implemented in full accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure the appropriate appearance of the development to comply
with Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policy WCS17; Gloucestershire
Structure Plan (Second Review) Policy S7 and Stroud District Local Plan Policy
NE8.
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)
6. No development hereby approved shall commence until a Construction
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The approved CEMP shall be
agreed in consultation with the Highways Agency and the Highways Authority
and shall be implemented in full as approved and shall be adhered to throughout
the construction phase of the development.
7. The CEMP shall include:
Hours of working
i) A scheme (consistent with paragraph 5.9.6 of the Environmental Statement,
Volume 1, Main Report (January 2012)) providing details of the proposed
construction operations, including the days and hours of working for
construction of the development hereby approved.
Construction Traffic Management Plan
ii) A Construction Traffic Management Plan, which shall: specify the type and
number of vehicles expected to be using the site on a regular basis;
specify the vehicle delivery hours and the means for ensuring that delivery
203

Page 203

vehicles comply with those hours; provide for the parking and
manoeuvring of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; provide for the
loading and unloading of plant and materials; provide for the storage of
plant and materials used in constructing the development; specify off site
construction vehicle routing (including local signage strategy); specify
details of supporting staff / operative travel management initiatives; specify
details of the management of abnormal loads; specify measures to be
adopted to mitigate construction impacts in pursuance of the
Environmental Code of Construction Practice; and include a scheme to
encourage the use of Public Transport amongst contractors.
Ecology
A scheme to minimise and mitigate potential impacts on ecological interest
during construction implementing the management actions contained in:
iii) JP/CEMP/5/1 ‘Ecology – Bat Method Statement’ or Method Statement based
on the contents of JP/CEMP/5/1.
iv) JP/CEMP/5/2 ‘Ecology – Badger Method Statement’ or Method Statement
based on the contents of JP/CEMP/5/2.
v) JP/CEMP/5/3 ‘Ecology – Breeding Birds Method Statement’ or Method
Statement based on the contents of JP/CEMP/5/3.
vi) JP/CEMP/5/4 ‘Ecology – Reptile Method Statement’ or Method Statement
based on the contents of JP/CEMP/5/4.
vii) A plan to identify all vegetation including trees to be retained on site and
details of their protection.
Dust and odour
viii)A scheme to minimise and mitigate the impacts of dust and odour during the
construction of the development.
Noise and Vibration Management Plan
ix) A scheme to minimise and mitigate the impacts of noise and vibration
(including from vehicles, plant and machinery) during the construction
phase of the development to ensure that the specified noise levels at the
identified sensitive residential dwellings in condition 41 are not exceeded.
Contaminated Land
x) A scheme to show the measures to be taken to ensure that contamination
identified at the site does not result in any significant environmental
impacts during construction.
Management of Hazardous and Polluting Substances
xi) A scheme to manage and mitigate potential impacts from the storage of
Fuels, Oils, Chemicals and Other Hazardous and Polluting Substances’
based on the contents of JP/CEMP/4/1
204

Page 204

Surface Waters and Flood Risk
xii) A scheme outlining the measures to be adopted at the site to reduce the
potential for adverse water quality impacts during the construction phase
in accordance with JP/CEMP/3/1 ‘Procedure for Water Management’ or
Method Statement based on the contents of JP/CEMP/3/1.
Lighting
xiii)A scheme for lighting during the construction phase. The Scheme shall
include the following details:
x The position, height and type of all lighting;
x The intensity of lighting and spread of light (Lux plans);
x The measures proposed to minimise impact of the lighting on bats and
the environment generally including the particular measures for reducing
light spill from internal lighting of the western elevation; and
x The periods of day and night when such lighting will be used for
construction, and emergency needs.
Temporary Site Fencing
xiv)

A scheme setting out the arrangements for securing the site boundary and
any spaces within the site that require isolation during works including
specifying the types, height and method of installation of site
fencing/hoarding throughout the construction phase.

Weed control
A scheme to manage any Japanese knot weed and invasive non-native species
found on the site.
Reason: To protect the environment and local amenity in accordance with
paragraphs 36, 109, 120, 123 and 125 of the National Planning Policy
Framework; Gloucestershire County Council Waste Core Strategy Policies WCS14,
WCS15, WCS6 (Appendix 5), Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan Policies 25, 37,
and 38; Gloucester Structure Plan saved Policies WM2, S6, NHE2, P1 and Stroud
Local Plan Policies GE1,GE2,NE4 and NE6, to demonstrate and provide assurance
that legally protected species, habitats and nearby sites will not be unduly affected.
In the interests of highway safety, the efficient operation of the local trunk roads
networks and to safeguard the amenities of the area, meeting the requirements of
Stroud District Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR12, and Gloucestershire Waste Core
Strategy Policy WCS14.
Waste Minimisation
8. With the exception of survey works, no excavations shall commence on site until
a detailed strategy and method statement for minimising the amount of
construction waste resulting from the development has been submitted to and
205

Page 205

approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The statement shall
include details of the extent to which waste materials arising from the demolition
and construction activities will be reused on site and demonstrate that the
maximum use is being made of these materials. If such reuse on site is not
practicable, then details shall be given of the extent to which the waste material
will be removed from the site for reuse, recycling, composting or disposal in
accordance with the waste hierarchy. All waste materials from demolition and
construction associated with the development shall be reused, recycled or dealt
with in accordance with the approved strategy and method statement.
Reason: To minimise the amount of construction waste arising from the
development for final disposal in accordance with Gloucestershire Waste Core
Strategy Policies WCS1 and WCS2, and the Gloucestershire County Council
Supplementary Planning Document ‘Waste Minimisation in Development
Projects’ (September 2006).
Controlled Waters Protection Method Statement
9. No piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative measures shall
commence until a detailed hydro-geological study has been undertaken and a
Controlled Waters Protection Method Statement has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The submissions must
include details of:
i.

ii.
iii.

iv.
v.
vi.

A ground investigation scheme providing a detailed assessment of the risk to
all receptors that may be affected by development or disturbance, including
those off site;
An options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of any
remediation measures required and how they are to be implemented;
An assessment of risks of groundwater flooding and settlement associated
with any dewatering that may be required during the construction of the
development:
An assessment of risks to surface waters on and off the site that may be
affected by the construction works
The method of construction associated with all site excavations and
foundation works including the piling foundation works;
The method of controlling and discharging groundwater encountered during
construction to avoid pollution of surface water and the underlying
groundwater through any dewatering, drainage and discharges including
details of how impacts on surface flows, groundwater flow path and
groundwater levels will be controlled both during and post construction and
how any potentially adverse effects will be mitigated particularly in relation to
the risks of groundwater flooding and settlement from dewatering. The
hydrogeological study must include:

206

Page 206

vii.

viii.

a. An evaluation of groundwater flux beneath the site, including
identification of key pathways within the Lias, elevations of pathways and
associated pressure heads;
b. A thorough evaluation of the lateral hydraulic conductivity of the
underlying Lower Lias strata at least to the depth of the deepest
foundation;
c. Identification and design of mitigation measures required to manage the
risks identified in bullet (a) and (b) above both during construction and for
the completed scheme;
d. Assessment of any impact of the sunken bunker on groundwater flow,
specifically addressing the potential impact on the adjacent M5 motorway
with respect to flooding and potential subsidence as a result in changes
in groundwater levels/flows together with any other potential
environmental impacts that might be identified.
In the event that discharges of groundwater or increases in groundwater
level would arise as a result of the scheme, the Flood Risk Assessment shall
be updated and submitted for approval by the Waste Planning Authority.
Where changes in groundwater level, whether as a result of dewatering or
otherwise, are identified as likely then the potential for subsidence in the
area and specifically beneath the M5 shall be investigated and where
necessary addressed. The scope of the investigation and mitigation
measures, including design identified as part of the study shall be agreed in
writing with the Waste Planning Authority prior to works commencing on site.
The development shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved schemes.
Reason: To ensure the protection of the water environment and to minimise
the risk of groundwater flooding and subsidence on the site and elsewhere to
accord with Stroud District Local Plan Policy GE2 and Gloucestershire
County Council Waste Core Strategy Policy WCS12; Gloucestershire Waste
Local Plan Saved Policy 33; Regional Planning Guidance 10 Policy RE2,
and Gloucestershire Structure Plan (Second Review) Policy F1.

Contaminated land.
10. No development hereby permitted shall commence until a detailed contaminated
land risk assessment and method statement, to address the risks associated
with contamination of the site, has been submitted to and approved, in writing by
the Waste Planning Authority: It shall identify:
i. All previous uses, potential contaminants associated with those uses,- a
conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors, and
potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site;
ii. A site investigation scheme, based on (i) to provide information for a detailed
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those
off site;
207

Page 207

iii.

iv.

The site investigation results and detailed risk assessment from (ii) and,
based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full
details of the remediation measures to be implemented;
A verification plan providing details of the data to be collected to demonstrate
that the works set out in (iii) are complete and identifying any requirements
for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and
arrangements for contingency action.

The scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that the development complies with approved details in the
interests of protection of Controlled Waters and to comply with Stroud District
Local Plan Policy GE2, and Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan Policy 33.
Soil Management
11. No development hereby permitted shall commence until a soil management plan
covering all the areas of proposed soft landscaping has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The soil management plan
shall include details of the soil materials to be used, including their source,
temporary stockpiling, depth of application and suitability as a growing medium.
Reason: To provide for the protection and reuse of available soils and to ensure
that the landscape scheme under condition 24 can be successfully achieved in
accordance with Gloucestershire Structure Plan (Second Review) Policy S7
and National Policy Planning Framework paragraph 109.
Construction times.
12. Construction works with the exception of electrical works and other activities
which do not exceed the ambient noise levelassessed as inaudible at the
boundaries of The Lodge (the nearest residential property), shall only take place
between 07.00 – 18.00 Monday to Friday, and 07.00 – 13.00 on Saturdays, and
not at any time on Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays. Audible construction
works, as measured at the above receptor, will not be permitted at any other
times.
Reason: In the interests of amenity of the locality and to comply with Stroud
District Local Plan Policy GE1, Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policy
WCS6 (Appendix 5) and WCS10, and Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan Policy
38.
Construction noise control
13. Construction works which are audible at the site boundary shall only take place
between 08.00 – 18.00 Monday to Friday, between 08.00 – 13.00 on Saturdays,
and not at any time on Sundays, Public or Bank Holidays, except in cases of
unavoidable overruns, emergencies when life, limb or property are in danger,
and in such instances these shall be notified in writing to the WPA within 48
hours of their occurrence. Construction activities which are assessed as being
208

Page 208

inaudible do not exceed the ambient noise level at the boundaries to The Lodge
(such as enabling works, or internal electrical work and other quiet internal
fitment work) may be undertaken one hour either side of these times.
Reason: In the interests of amenity of the locality and to comply with Stroud
District Local Plan Policy GE1, Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policy
WCS6 (Appendix 5) and WCS10, and Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan Policy
38.
14. A scheme for noise monitoring of construction activities shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the WPA prior to the carrying out of any such
activities. The scheme shall include and provide:
a. That for audible activities at the site boundary the equivalent continuous
noise level LAeq (1 hour) shall not exceed 73dB.
b. For noise monitoring and recording procedures, including location and
duration of noise monitoring.
c. For presentation of results within 48 hours of a measurement period.
d. For noise suppression measures to be implemented forthwith should an
exceedence occur.
All construction activities shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the
approved scheme.
Reason: In the interests of amenity of the locality and to comply with Stroud
District Local Plan Policy GE1, Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policy
WCS10, and Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan Policy 38.
Wheel cleaning facility
15. Prior to the commencement of any construction work, wheel cleaning facilities
shall be installed at the site in accordance with details first to be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. The approved facilities
shall be maintained in full and effective working order at all times and be
available for use throughout the period of construction works. They shall be
used by any vehicle carrying mud, dust or other debris on its wheels before
leaving the site. No vehicle shall leave the site carrying mud, dust or debris on
its wheels.
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the locality and highway safety to
comply with Stroud District Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR2.
Pedestrian and cycle link.
16. Within12 months of the commencement of the development hereby permitted
full details of a shared pedestrian and cycle link between the B4008 and the
visitor and staff entrances shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the

209

Page 209

Waste Planning Authority. The link shall then be constructed in accordance with
those agreed details prior to any commissioning trials commencing.
Reason:- To reduce potential conflict between vehicular and pedestrian traffic
to comply with Stroud District Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR2.

Retention of Trees.
17. All existing trees shown to be retained on the submitted plans and details, and in
the CEMP shall be retained and protected during the construction operations (in
accordance with BS5837:2005) with protective fencing erected and retained
until construction of the development is complete.
Reason: To protect the trees within the application site in accordance with
Stroud District Local Plan Policy NE6 and Gloucestershire Structure Plan
(Second Review) Policy S7.
Imported construction materials.
18. Only clean, uncontaminated rock, soil, subsoil, brick rubble, crushed concrete
and ceramic material shall be imported as infill material during construction
works unless in accordance with detailed proposals submitted and approved in
writing by the Waste Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that the development complies with approved details in the
interests of protection of Controlled Waters and to comply with Stroud District
Local Plan Policy GE2 and Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan Policy 33.
Provision of vehicular access.
19. Prior to the commencement of any ground works to the development hereby
permitted the vehicular access shall be laid out and constructed in accordance
with the submitted plans with the area of access road within at least 50m of the
carriageway edge of the public road surfaced in bound material. It shall be
maintained to this standard for the duration of the development.
Reason: - To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring the access is
suitably laid out and constructed to comply with Stroud District Local Plan
Policies TR1 and TR2.
PRE COMMISSIONING CONTROLS
Provision of on-site facilities
20. Commissioning trials shall only commence once the vehicular access, parking
for site operatives and visitors and vehicular turning areas (marked on the
ground for cars and commercial vehicles to turn so that they may enter and
210

Page 210

leave the site in a forward gear), are constructed surfaced and drained in
accordance with the submitted details. These areas shall thereafter be retained,
maintained to an appropriate standard and kept available for those uses at all
times.
Reason: To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that adequate parking
and manoeuvring facilities are available within the site to comply with Stroud
District Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR2.
Cycle facilities
21. Prior to the commencement of commissioning trials details of secure and
covered cycle storage facilities, for a minimum of 10 bicycles, shall be submitted
for the approval in writing of the Waste Planning Authority. The approved
facilities shall be provided within three months of approval and retained for the
duration of the operational life of the development.
Reason: To reduce potential highway impact by ensuring that alternative and
good quality cycle facilities are available within the site to comply with Stroud
District Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR2
Landscape scheme
22. Within12 months of the commencement of the development the plans and full
details of hard and soft landscaping works and an Ecological Management Plan
based on the Proposed Landscape Plan Drawing Number GCC-ISRS-LAN-94203-01 and Appendix 8.7 and Table 9.12 of the Environmental Statement shall
have been submitted for the written approval of the Waste Planning Authority.
These details shall include a detailed scheme for the landscaping of the site
(based on the Proposed Landscape Plan Drawing Number GCC-ISRS-LAN942-03-01) including details of:
i) Hard landscaping, including:
a.
Surface treatment finishes and colours;
b.
Proposed finished levels or contours at 0.5meter intervals
c.
Car parking layouts
d.
Other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas
e.
Hard surfacing materials
f.
Water attenuation basins and bio retention/wetland areas, and
associated drainage scheme
ii) Proposed finished levels or contours;
iii) Soft Landscaping (including cultivation and other operations associated with
plant and grass establishment) including planting plans covering the position,
species, density and initial sizes of all new trees and shrubs;
iv) The programme of implementation of the approved scheme, to include
construction of the bund (using excavated material) at the eastern boundary
of the site adjacent to the B4008 at the beginning of the programme; and
211

Page 211

v) Proposals for the maintenance of the landscaping.
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and
maintained for the duration of the development.
Reason: To integrate the development effectively into the surrounding
environment and to comply with Stroud District Local Plan Policy NE6 and
Gloucestershire Structure Plan (Second Review).Policy S7.
Unexpected contamination
23. In the event that unexpected land contamination or odorous material is found at
the site during construction works, then no further development shall be carried
out on that part of the site until the developer has submitted and obtained written
approval from the Waste Planning Authority for an addendum to the Method
Statement approved under condition 10 to deal with the unexpected
contamination or material. This addendum to the Method Statement must set
out in detail how this unexpected contamination or material is to be dealt with.
All subsequent construction works shall be undertaken fully in accordance with
the Method Statement and the approved addendum.
Reason: To ensure that the development provides for the protection of
Controlled Waters and to comply with Stroud District Local Plan Policy GE2 and
Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan Policy 33.
Electrical Connection.
24. The commissioning of the development hereby approved shall not commence
until the operator has demonstrated, and provided details in writing, to the
Waste Planning Authority of details of facilities to enable connection to the
electricity distribution network to enable electrical power generated by the facility
to be supplied.
Reason: To ensure that the electricity generating benefits of the development
materialise while protecting the amenity of the area in compliance with Stroud
District Local Plan Policy NE6 of the and Gloucestershire Structure Plan
(Second Review).Policy S7
Supply of off-site heat.
25. The commissioning of the development shall not take place until sufficient plant
and pipework has been installed to ensure that there are no barriers to the
future supply of heat to the boundary of the site should viable opportunities be
identified pursuant to Condition 28.
Reason: In order to ensure that, where practicable, the maximum energy
production potential of the facility is realised maximising the utilisation of low
carbon/renewable energy source consisted with the National Planning Policy
Framework paragraph 97.
Feasibility of heat use
212

Page 212

26. Prior to the commissioning of the development, an updated CHP Feasibility
Review assessing viable opportunities for the use of heat from the development
shall have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Waste Planning
Authority. This shall provide for the on-going monitoring and full exploration of
viable opportunities to use heat from the development as part of a Good Quality
CHP scheme (as defined in the CHPQA Standard issue 3), and for the provision
of subsequent reviews of such opportunities. Where viable opportunities for the
use of heat in such a scheme are identified, a scheme for the provision of
necessary plant and pipework to the boundary of the site shall be submitted to,
and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority. This shall be
deposited with the District Planning Authority. Any plant and pipework installed
to the boundary of the site to enable the use of heat shall be installed in
accordance with the agreed details.
Reason: To ensure that the operation of the plant, where practicable, achieves
the maximum energy production potential of the facility, maximising the
utilisation of low carbon/renewable energy source consistent with
Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policy WCS6 (Appendix 5),
Gloucestershire Structure Plan (Second Review) Policy EN.2, and National
Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 97)..
External illumination
27. Within 12 months of the commencement of the development hereby approved
details of all external lighting to the operational phase shall be submitted to the
Waste Planning Authority for approval in writing. The Scheme shall be based on
the Appendix 5.2 Lighting Design Report dated 2011, Section 3 and Appendices
of the Argus Ecology Report dated 15th August 2012 and JP/CEMP/5/1
‘Ecology – Bat Method Statement’. The scheme shall include the following
details:
a. The position, height and type of all lighting;
b. The intensity of lighting and spread of light (Lux plans);
c. The measures proposed to minimise impact of the lighting on bats and
the environment generally including the particular measures for reducing
light spill from internal lighting of the western elevation; and
d. The periods of day and night when such lighting will be used for
operational, maintenance and emergency needs.
The lighting scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the area in accordance with Stroud District
Local Plan Policy GE1 and Waste Core Strategy Policy WCS15, and to ensure
the foraging and commuting of bats is not significantly affected at this location
in accordance with ODPM Circular 06/2005 and Section 40 of the Natural
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.
213

Page 213

Operational surface water drainage
28. Notwithstanding the submitted details, no above ground development hereby
approved shall commence until details for surface water run-off control, surface
water drainage (including the use of interceptors) and foul water drainage have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Waste Planning Authority.
The detailed scheme for the provision of surface water drainage or a sustainable
containment drainage scheme to the operational development shall be based on
the schematic drainage layout 18917-SK-500-01 RevB and the Proposed
Drainage Strategy included in Section 11.4-5, and Vol 3 Appendix 11.1 of the
Environmental Statement and in Drawings Number 18917-SK-500-01 (Drainage
Principles), 18917-SK-500-03 (Detention Basins – long sections), and 18917SK-500-04 (Bio retention Areas and Swales Cross Sections) as set out in the
Regulation 22 Report of 7th September 2012. The submitted scheme shall show
how the rate of run-off from the development site, is to be managed and
drained, with all clean roof and surface water being kept separate from foul
water (including site drainage) with drainage from areas identified as high risk,
e.g. loading bays and waste storage areas, not being discharged to any
watercourse, surface water sewer or soakaways. The drainage scheme shall
also include measures to maintain and enhance the capacity of the existing
stream and the culvert beneath the B4008.
The scheme shall be implemented in full as approved prior to the
commencement of the operational life of the development and maintained
throughout its operational life.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not increase the risk of flooding to
the site or elsewhere, or cause water pollution. To ensure the satisfactory
provision of a means of surface water disposal and drainage of the site to comply
with Stroud District Local Plan Policies GE1and GE2, Gloucestershire Waste
Core Strategy Policy WCS12, Gloucestershire Structure Plan (Second Review)
Policy F.1, and Policy 33 Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan.
Travel plan
29. Before commissioning of the development hereby permitted, a Travel Plan
covering all elements of the development, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Waste Planning Authority in consultation with the Highways
Agency and Highway Authority. The Travel Plan shall be adhered to and
monitored in accordance with the approved details.
The Travel Plan shall be prepared in line with current best practice and shall
include as a minimum:
a.The identification of targets for trip reduction and modal shift;
b.The method to be employed to meet these targets;
c. The mechanisms for monitoring and review;
d.The mechanisms for reporting;
e.The penalties to be applied in the event that targets are not met;
214

Page 214

f. Mechanisms for mitigation;
g. Mechanisms to seek variations to the Travel Plan following monitoring and
reviews.
A review of the targets shall be undertaken within three months of the
commencement of operation of the development and on an annual basis
thereafter.
Reason: in order that the development promotes public transport, walking and
cycling and limits the reliance on private car for Employee and visitor journeys
in accordance with emerging Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policy
WCS19 and National Planning Policy Framework (paras32 and 36).
Pollution prevention
30. There shall be no discharge of foul or contaminated drainage from the
development hereby permitted into either the groundwater or any surface
waters, whether direct or via soakaways, with all areas where non-inert waste is
stored, handled or transferred underlain by impervious hardstanding with
dedicated drainage to foul sewer or sealed tank.
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment, to comply with Stroud
District Local Plan Policies GE1and GE2, and Gloucestershire Waste Local
Plan Policy 33.
Storage of fuels
31. All fuels, oils and other liquids with the potential to contaminate shall be stored
in a secure bunded area. The storage area shall not drain to any surface water
system.
Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment, to comply with Stroud
District Local Plan Policies GE1and GE2 and Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan
Policy 33.
Dust control
32. Prior to the commissioning operation of the development hereby approved a
scheme for the management and mitigation of dust shall be submitted for the
written approval of the Waste Planning Authority. The scheme shall be adhered
to fully in accordance with the approval..
Reason: To protect the environment and local amenity in accordance with
paragraph, 17 of the National Planning Policy Framework, Gloucestershire
Waste Local Plan Policy 37, and Gloucestershire Structure Plan (Second
Review) saved Policies WM2 and P1, and Stroud Local Plan Policy GE2.
POST COMMISIONING
Implementation of landscape scheme
33. The approved landscaping scheme shall be implemented within the first
available planting season (the period between 31 October in any one year and
31 March in the following year) following completion of the construction phase of
215

Page 215

the development. All planting and seeding undertaken in accordance with the
scheme approved under condition 24 above shall be maintained and any plants
which within five years of planting or seeding die, are removed, damaged or
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar
size and species. The construction of the bund (using excavated material) at
the eastern boundary of the site adjacent to the B4008 shall be at the beginning
of the implementation of the programme.
Reason: To integrate the development effectively into the surrounding
environment and to comply with Stroud District Local Plan Policy NE6 and
Gloucestershire Structure Plan (Second Review).Policy S7.
Waste throughput.
34. The amount of waste received for treatment by the Energy from Waste Facility
in any one calendar year shall not exceed its nominal capacity of 190,000
tonnes. For the avoidance of doubt the nominal capacity is the processing
capacity of the plant under normal operating conditions, taking account of its
annual average availability, due to planned maintenance events and other plant
shutdowns.
Reason: To ensure that the use and operation of the facility is consistent with the
information contained in the Environmental Statement accompanying the
application and to enable the Local Planning Authority to regulate and control the
use of the site in conformity with Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policies
WSC3 and WSC6.
Geographical limit to waste source
35. The facility shall only receive and process waste arisings from the County of
Gloucestershire and (for the avoidance of doubt) for those purposes waste
generated from outside of Gloucestershire but transferred to the facility via
transfer stations (or some intermediate treatment or handling facility) within
Gloucestershire is not to be classed as waste arising within Gloucestershire.
36. The Operator of the facility hereby approved shall maintain a written log
recording the nature and geographical source (both intermediate and of the
waste entering the facility. If waste is delivered via transfer station (or some
other form of intermediate treatment or handling facility) the log must detail the
primary geographic source, by council area, of the waste. The log shall be
made available to the Waste Planning Authority within three working days of any
request to inspect it.
Reason: To ensure that the use and operation of the facility is consistent with
the information contained in the Environmental Statement accompanying the
application and to enable the Local Planning Authority to regulate and control
the use of the site in conformity with Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy
Policies WSC3 and WSC6 of the and the objectives in PPS 10 to ensure that
the development is delivering the sustainable management of waste, meeting
216

Page 216

the needs of the local community within the capacity of the available transport
infrastructure.
Securing of Loads
37. All loads of waste materials carried on HGV into and out of the development
hereby approved shall be enclosed or covered so as to prevent spillage or loss
of material at the site or on to the public highway.
Reason: To provide for the protection of the environment and to comply with
Stroud District Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR2.
Waste Delivery Times
38. Heavy goods vehicles delivering any waste material, process consumables
(such as lime etc) or removing material or residues (including processed
incinerator bottom ash) associated with the operational phase of the
development hereby approved shall only enter or exit the site between 07:00
hours and 19:00 hours on Monday to Friday inclusive and the hours of 07.30 to
18.00 on Saturdays. On Sundays, Public and Bank Holidays there shall be no
more than 10 deliveries to the site between 8.00 and 17.00, and none outside
these hours.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of local residents in the vicinity of the site
and to comply with Policy GE1 of the Stroud District Local Plan
Operational day time noise control
39. In order to protect noise sensitive residential dwellings from operational noise
associated with the Energy from Waste Facility, the specific noise level from all
fixed or mobile plant shall at all times be at least 2 dB(A) below the measured
LA90 level at a distance of 1m from the façade of all noise sensitive residential
dwellings of: 1. The Lodge (50m to the east); 2. Hiltmead House (250m to the
north-west); 3. St Joseph’s Travellers Park( 440m to the west); 4. Lindas Home
(530m to the west); 5. Old Airfield Farm (620m to the south-west); 6. Royston (
700m to the east);7. Broadfield Farm (725m to the north-west); and Warren
Farm ( 940m to the south) all as identified in Figure 13.1 of the Environmental
Statement. The method of assessment shall be carried out in accordance with
BS 4142:1997 ‘Rating industrial noise affecting mixed residential and industrial
areas’. The measured LA90 levels are 45dB(A) for the daytime period of 7.00 to
23.00 and 37dB(A) for the night time period of 23.00 to 7.00 and apply to the
noise climate at all sensitive residential dwelling locations identified, excluding
noise associated with vehicle movements outside the site entrance.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the area in accordance with Stroud District
Local Plan Policy GE1.
40. Within one month of commissioning of the Energy from Waste Facility a noise
report shall be submitted for approval to the Waste Planning Authority, in
217

Page 217

consultation with the Environment Agency, which will demonstrate compliance
with the requirements of Condition 41 above. The supplementary report shall
include:
a. A schedule of all plant and equipment installed;
b. Locations of the plant and machinery and associated ducting; attenuation
and
c. Damping equipment;
d. Manufacturer specifications of sound emissions in octave or third octave
detail;
e. The existing LA90,T as already established and reported in Condition 41;
and
f. New noise monitoring data over a 24 hour period at all noise sensitive
locations, measurement evidence and any calculations demonstrating that
the EfW Facility plant complies or does not comply with the planning
condition.
g. Evidence that the EfW Facility does not generate a perceptible increase in
low frequency noise below 125 Hz at The Lodge during the night time period
(see Note 1).
Note 1: A perceptible increase in low frequency noise can be established by
comparing the pre-existing frequency content and operational frequency
content at The Lodge in 1/3rd Octave band centre frequencies. An increase in
individual 1/3rd octave bands greater than 10dB would result in a perceptible
increase.
Reason: To ensure the operational development is complying with noise
conditions to this planning permission to protect the amenity of the area and to
comply with Stroud District Local Plan Policy GE1.
Noise monitoring complaints
41. In the event of a complaint being received by the Waste Planning Authority
regarding operational noise emissions from the EfW the operator shall
undertake a noise survey within 2 weeks of a written request of the Waste
Planning Authority for such a survey to be undertaken. The noise survey shall
be undertaken in accordance with BS 4142 (1997) and shall be carried out
under the supervision of the Waste Planning Authority. The results of the noise
survey shall be provided to the Waste Planning Authority for its written approval
within 1 month of the survey being undertaken. Should the results of the noise
survey suggest that further mitigation measures are necessary these shall be
identified within the report and implemented within 1 month following their
approval by the Waste Planning Authority, unless otherwise agreed in writing.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the area in accordance with Stroud District
Local Plan Policy GE1.

218

Page 218

Odour and dust containment
42. No handling, deposit or processing of waste material shall take place outside the
confines of the buildings / structures hereby approved. No recyclable materials
shall be stored outside on the ground and only a maximum of 2 fully covered
containers of reject materials from the processing of incinerator bottom ash may
be stored outside of the incinerator bottom ash processing building pending
collection during agreed HGV delivery / export hours (i.e. between 07.00 and
19.00). Such containers shall not be left outside of the confines of the building
outside of the agreed HGV delivery / export hours (i.e. between 19.00 and
07.00). To maintain negative air pressure within the Tipping Hall all doors to the
waste tipping hall shall be kept closed unless vehicles are entering or leaving
the Hall.
Reason: To ensure that odour and disturbance from the facility are contained in
the interests of the amenities of the area in accordance with Stroud District
Local Plan Policy GE1.
Use of machinery and mobile plant
43. All vehicles, plant and machinery operated solely within the site shall be
maintained in accordance with the manufacturer's specification at all times, this
shall include the fitting and use of effective silencers, and on all mobile wheeled
plant used at the site the fitting and operation with a ‘smart’ or white noise
reversing device, or similar non intrusive reversing device.
Reason: To protect the residential and general amenity of the area to comply
with Stroud District Local Plan Policy GE1
Site Car Parking
44. The site shall not provide car parking for more than 45 vehicles and shall
provide 4 car parking spaces for disabled drivers.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not provide an excessive
number of spaces which may discourage the use of more sustainable options of
transport, and to ensure that it provides for the needs of disabled drivers to
comply with Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy Policy WSC 19 and Stroud
District Local Plan Policies TR1 and TR2.
Removal of Permitted Development Rights
45. Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 16 Class A (e) of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification) no external plant or
machinery shall be installed, erected or operated in, on or over this site except
as authorised by this planning permission.
219

Page 219

Reason: In the interests of amenity of the area in compliance with Stroud
District Local Plan Policy GE1.
Management of residues
46. Two years from the date of this permission a review of APC (fly ash) residue
management options shall be submitted for the written approval of the Waste
Planning Authority, and on a bi-annual basis thereafter. This shall be based on
monitoring of the market taking full account of social, environmental and
economic factors and also potential emerging technologies and applications.
Where viable opportunities for the diversion of the residues from landfill are
identified, proposals shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the Waste
Planning Authority. Any scheme shall be executed in accordance with the
agreed details.
Reason: To ensure that the use and operation of the facility is consistent with
the information contained in the Environmental Statement accompanying the
application and to enable the Local Planning Authority to regulate and control
the use of the site in conformity with Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy
Policy WCS2 and the waste hierarchy.
Site decommissioning
47. The operator shall inform the Waste Planning Authority in writing within 30 days
of final cessation that all operations have ceased. Thereafter, the site shall be
restored within a period of 24 months in accordance with a scheme to be
submitted for the written approval of the Waste Planning Authority prior to the
cessation of operations. This shall include for the removal of all buildings,
chimney stack, associated plant, machinery, waste and processed materials
from the site.
Reason: To ensure that the land is capable of beneficial use in the future as
advised by Environment Circular 02/98-Prevention of Dereliction; to protect the
environment and to comply with Stroud District Local Plan Policy NE6 and
Gloucester Structure Plan (Second Review) Policy S7.

220

Page 220

INFORMATIVES
1. The applicant will be required to abide by the Cotswold Lorry Management
Zone
Statement of Compliance with Article 31(1)(cc) of the Town and Country
Development Management Procedure Order 2012.
In dealing with this planning application the Waste Planning Authority adopted a
positive and proactive manner. The proposals were assessed against the National
Planning Policy Framework, Regional Planning Guidance, the Waste Core
Strategy, the Waste Local Plan, the County Structure Plan and the District Plan and
Supplementary Planning Documents, which have been subject to proactive publicity
and consultation prior to their adoption and are referred to in the reason for
approval. The Waste Planning Authority has sought solutions to problems arising by
liaising with consultees, considering other representations received and liaising with
the applicant/agent as necessary. Where appropriate, further information and
clarification was sought.

221

Page 221

__________________________________________________________________
_
CONTACT OFFICER:
Case Officer – Flo Churchill, Interim Strategic Development Manager.
Gloucester 01452 425000
Gillian Parkinson – Principal Lawyer Legal and Democratic Services.
Gloucester 01452 425212

Application History.
Consultee
Time taken (weeks)
Stroud Council
49
Forest of Dean District
69
Cheltenham Borough Council
70
Tewkesbury Borough Council
50
Gloucester City Council
86
Haresfield Parish Council
196
Harescombe Parish Council
No comments to date
Standish Parish Council
60
Hardwick Parish Council
299
Quedgeley Parish Council
71
Stonehouse Town Council
19
Moreton Valence Parish Council
57
Brookthorpe with Whaddon Parish
No comments to date
Council
Whitminster Parish Council
268
Environment Agency
54
Natural England
71
GWT
No comments to date
County Highways
55
Landscape
40
Archaeology
37
Ecology

184

Index to Appendices:
Appendix 1: Glossary of Terms and Abbreviations
Appendix 2: Figures
Appendix 3: Development Plan Policies

222

Page 222

APPENDIX 1

GLOSSARY OF TERMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

AA

Appropriate Assessment

ADMS

Emissions/atmospheric dispersal model (Atmospheric
Dispersion Modelling System)

AERMOD

Emissions/atmospheric dispersal model

AONB

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty

APC

Air Pollution Control

ATT

Advanced Thermal Treatment (including gasification and
pyrolysis technologies)

BV

Bureau Veritas Solutions (provided consultancy advice to the
County Council)

CA

Conservation Area

CABE

Commission for Architecture and the Built Environment

C&I

Commercial and Industrial Waste

CCB

Cotswolds Conservation Board

CEMP

Construction Environmental Management Plan

CHP

Combined Heat and Power

CPRE

Campaign to Protect Rural England

CV

Calorific Value

DNO

Distribution Network Operator (electricity distribution company)

EfW

Energy from Waste (facility generating energy from treatment of
waste)

EIA

Environmental Impact Assessment

ES

Environmental Statement

European Site

Special Protection Area (SPA) or Special Area of Conservation
(SAC)

FGT

Flue Gas Treatment
223

Page 223

FRA

Flood Risk Assessment

GCC

Gloucestershire County Council

HGV

Heavy Goods Vehicle

HPA

Health Protection Agency

HRA

Habitats Regulations Assessment

IBA

Incinerator Bottom Ash

IPPC

Integrated Pollution Prevention Control

JMWMS

Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy

LLFA

Lead Local Flood Authority

LPA

Local Planning Authority

LVIA

Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment

MBT

Mechanical-Biological Treatment (of waste)

MSW

Municipal Solid Waste

MW

Mega Watt (of electricity)

NNR

National Nature Reserve

NPPF

National Planning Policy Framework

NPS

National Policy Statement

OBC

Outline Business Case (for the WDA procurement process)

PCT

Primary Care Trust (NHS)

PM10, PM2.5

Small particles (particulate mater) less than 10 and 2.5
micrometres in diameter respectively

PPS10

Planning Policy Statement 10 Planning for Sustainable Waste
Management

PRoW

Public Right of Way

ROC

Renewable Obligation Certificates

RPG

Regional Planning Guidance

224

Page 224

RSS

Regional Spatial Strategy

SAC

Special Area of Conservation (designated under the EU
Habitats Directive 85/337/EEC)

SAM

Scheduled Ancient Monument

SCI

Statement of Community Involvement

SPA

Special Protection Area (designated under the EU Birds
Directive 2009/147/EC)

SRF

Solid Recovered Fuel

SSSI

Site of Special Scientific Interest

SuDS

Sustainable Drainage Scheme

SWMP

Site Waste Management Plan

tpa

Tonnes per annum

WCS

Gloucestershire Waste Core Strategy

WDA

Waste Disposal Authority

WFD

EU Waste Framework Directive 2008/98/EC

WID

EU Waste Incineration Directive 2000/76/EC

WLP

Gloucestershire Waste Local Plan

WPA

Waste Planning Authority

WRAP

Waste and Resources Action Programme

WRATE

Waste and Resources Assessment Tool for the Environment (a
life-cycle assessment tool)

ZTV

Zone of Theoretical Visibility

225

Page 225

APPENDIX 2 FIGURES
Figure 1 Site Location (from Environmental Statement Volume 2, Axis, January
2012, Figure 1.1)

226

Page 226

Figure 2. Proposed Site and Building Layout (from Design and Access Statement,
Fletcher Rae, January 2012)

227

Page 227

Figure 3 Proposed Longitudinal Section (Environmental Statement Volume 2,
January 2012, Figure 5.2)

228

Page 228

Figure 4 Elevations of proposed building
South and East

229

Page 229

Figure 5 Elevations of Proposed Building
North and West

230

Page 230

Figure 6 Three Dimensional Representations of Proposed Building (from
Environmental Statement, Volume 2 January 2012, Figure 5.9)

231

Page 231

Figure 7. Energy from Waste Process Diagram ((from Environmental Statement,
Volume 2 January 2012, Figure 5.11)

232

Page 232

Figure 8. Waste Core Strategy Key Diagram

233

Page 233

Figure 9. Waste Core Strategy Inset Map 4 Javelin Park (WCS Strategic Site
Schedule)

234

Page 234

APPENDIX 3

DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICIES

GLOUCESTERSHIRE WASTE CORE STRATEGY (2012)
Core Policy WCS1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
When considering development proposals the Council will take a positive approach
that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the
National Planning Policy Framework. It will always work proactively with applicants
jointly to find solutions which mean that proposals can be approved wherever
possible, and to secure development that improves the economic, social and
environmental conditions in the area.
Planning applications that accord with the policies in the WCS (and, where relevant,
with policies in neighbourhood plans) will be approved without delay, unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.
Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of
date at the time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission
unless material considerations indicate otherwise – taking into account whether:
x Any adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the
National Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole; or
x Specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be
restricted.
The County Council will continue to work in partnership with local communities, the
District Councils and other public and private sector organisations including local
schools and colleges to raise awareness and positively influence attitudes and
behaviour so as to reduce the amount of waste produced and ensure a greater
proportion of waste is re used.

Core Policy WCS2 – Waste Reduction
The County Council will continue to work in partnership with local communities, the
District Councils and other public and private sector organisations including local
schools and colleges to raise awareness and positively influence attitudes and
behaviour so as to reduce the amount of waste produced and ensure a greater
proportion of waste is re-used.
All development1 will be expected to incorporate the principles of waste
minimisation and re-use. Planning applications for 'major' development2 must be
supported by a statement setting out how any waste arising during the demolition,
construction and subsequent occupation of the development will be minimised and
managed.
235

Page 235

Specifically the statement will include measures to:
- Minimise, re-use and recycle waste3;
- Minimise the use of construction materials particularly primary
- materials;
- Minimise the pollution potential of unavoidable waste; and
- Dispose of waste that cannot be re-used or recycled in an
- environmentally acceptable manner.
1. Includes development that produces hazardous waste as a by-product of its
processes.
2. Major development is defined as follows:
- Residential - 10 or more dwellings/site area of 0.5ha or more.
- Other development – 1,000 m2 or more/site area of 1ha or more.
3. For residential development, the term ‘recycling’ also refers to home composting
activities either communal or individual.

Core Policy WCS3 - Recycling/Composting
In order to achieve the Gloucestershire local authorities' household recycling and
composting target of at least 60% by 2020, the Council will support in principle,
proposals relating to the development of new and expanded recycling and
composting facilities including businesses that process recyclates and re-use
waste.
Planning permission will be granted subject to the following criteria being met:
1. It can be demonstrated that the impact on the environment and neighbouring
land uses is acceptable. Proposals for composting generally must be at least
250m from sensitive land uses such as housing unless it can be
demonstrated that it can operate in closer proximity without adverse impact.
2. The highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements.
3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste
management system for Gloucestershire.
4. If the proposal is of a 'strategic' scale (>50,000 tonnes/year) it is located in
the area defined as 'Zone C' (see Key Diagram).
Particular support will be given to proposals that:
 Are located within1 or close to an urban area; and/or
 Involve the re-use of previously developed land, vacant or underutilised
employment land and/or redundant
 rural buildings including farm diversification opportunities; and/or
 Involve co-location with an existing operation of a similar or complimentary
nature; and/or
 Incorporate alternatives to the transport of waste by road (rail, water etc.),
and/or
 Are well located to allow employees to reach the site by foot, cycle or public
transport.
Proposals for the development of markets for recycled materials, in particular
initiatives to assist small to medium- sized businesses to re-use/recycle their
236

Page 236

discarded waste materials will be supported and encouraged through partnership
working including the Gloucestershire Waste Partnership.
1

It is acknowledged that in the case of composting it may prove difficult to locate
within an urban area due to a 250m buffer generally being required for issues
relating to bio-aerosols.
Policy WCS4 - Inert Waste Recycling and Recovery
Core Policy WCS3 – Inert Waste Recycling and Recovery
In order to help reduce the impact of landfill and achieve the requirements of the
Waste Framework Directive (2008) the Council will aim to divert around 85,000
tonnes/year of inert waste from landfill through recycling and recovery operations.
Proposals for inert waste recycling and recovery facilities will be permitted
where it can be demonstrated that:
1. The impact on the environment and neighbouring land uses is acceptable
including detailed assessment of the impact of noise and dust and
attenuation measures.
2. Where viable, the proposal incorporates the use of alternatives to road
transport such as rail and water and that where road transport is used the
highway access is suitable for the proposed vehicle movements and is
supported by a transport assessment and travel plan setting out measures to
encourage employees to reach the site by foot, cycle or public transport.
3. The proposal contributes towards providing a sustainable waste
management system for Gloucestershire.
4. If the proposal is permanent and of a ‘strategic’ scale (>50,000 tonnes/year)
it is located in the area defined as ‘Zone C’ (see Key Diagram) except where
located within an existing or disused mineral working.
Developments may be acceptable on existing waste management sites and mineral
workings where it can be demonstrated that the minimum amount of materials are
being used for restoration/engineering purposes and that the use will not unduly
prejudice the agreed restoration principles and timescale for the site. Temporary
developments may be acceptable where the material is recycled and re-used on
site.

Core Policy WCS6 – Other Recovery (including energy recovery)
In order to divert waste from landfill, in the period to 2027, the WPA will make
provision for the following residual waste recovery capacity:
- MSW
Up to 145,000 tonnes/year
- C&I
Up to 73,000 tonnes/year
Planning permission will be granted for strategic residual recovery facilities
(>50,000 tonnes/year) within the outline boundaries of the site allocations shown in
Appendix 5 at:
1. Wingmoor Farm East
2a. The Park
237

Page 237

2b. Wingmoor Farm West
3. Javelin Park
4. Land at Moreton Valence
Subject to the following:
a) That the requirements of the General and Key Development Criteria for the
respective site in Appendix 5 are met;
b) Proposals are supported by sufficient information for the purposes of an
appropriate assessment of the implications of the proposal, alone or incombination with other plans and projects, for any Special Area of
Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site. The
conclusions of the assessment, in accordance with Council Directive 92/42
EEC and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, must
show that a proposal can be delivered without adverse effect on the integrity
of any SAC, SPA or Ramsar site.
c) That any proposals for waste recovery are for Gloucestershire’s waste needs
unless it can be demonstrated, through a supporting statement, to be the
most sustainable option to manage waste arisings from outside of the county
at that facility
Where a proposal for a strategic residual waste recovery facility is on land not
within the boundary of a site allocation in Appendix 5, planning permission will not
be granted unless:
a) The application site is within Zone C;
b) It can be demonstrated that the proposed recovery capacity cannot be
provided on the sites allocated in Appendix 5;
c) That the requirements of the General Development Criteria in Appendix 5
being met; and
d) Proposals are supported by sufficient information for the purposes of an
appropriate assessment of the implications of the proposal, alone or incombination with other plans and projects, for any Special Area of
Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site. The
conclusions of the assessment, in accordance with Council Directive 92/42
EEC and the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010, must
show that a proposal can be delivered without adverse effect on the integrity
of any SAC, SPA or Ramsar site.
e) That any proposals for waste recovery are for Gloucestershire’s waste needs
unless it can be demonstrated, through a supporting statement, to be the
most sustainable option to manage waste arisings from outside of the county
at that facility
Planning permission will not be granted for strategic scale residual waste recovery
facilities (>50,000 tonnes/year) outside Zone C.
'Non-strategic' residual waste recovery facilities (<50,000 tonnes/year) will be
permitted both within and outside Zone C where the facility forms part of an
integrated and adequate waste management system and would be subject to the
following criteria:
The proposal is located on an industrial estate or permitted/allocated employment
land; and/or
238

Page 238

 The proposal is located on previously developed land; and/or
 The proposal involves the development of an existing waste management
facility or mineral site; and
 The facility would meet the relevant policies and criteria of the development
plan.
Policy WCS10 - Cumulative Impact
In determining proposals for waste related development for new or enhanced waste
management facilities the Council will have regard to the cumulative effects of
previous and existing waste management facilities on local communities alongside
the potential benefits of co-locating complimentary facilities together. Planning
permission will be granted where the proposal would not have an unacceptable
cumulative impact.
In considering the issue of cumulative impact, particular regard will be given to the
following:
1. Environmental quality;
2. Social cohesion and inclusion; and
3. Economic potential.
Within these broad categories this will, subject to the scale and nature of the
proposal, include an assessment of the following issues: noise, odour, traffic
(including accessibility and sustainable transport considerations), dust, health,
ecology and visual impacts.
Traffic impacts will be given particular attention as they are diffuse by their nature
and thus not contained on sites.

Policy WCS12 - Flood Risk
In order to reduce the likelihood and impact of flooding both on and off-site there
will be a general presumption that all waste-related development will be located in
areas of low flood risk, (Flood Zone 1) unless it can be demonstrated that there are
no suitable, alternative sites available.
Only if no suitable sites are available in Flood Zone 1 will consideration be given to
sites within Flood Zone 2 and only if no suitable sites are available in Zone 2 will
consideration be given to sites within Flood Zone 3a. Proposals which are classified
as 'less vulnerable' may come forward in Flood Zones 1, 2 and 3a although the
sequential approach will still apply.
Proposals for 'more vulnerable' waste development including landfill/landraise and
hazardous waste treatment and disposal will only be permitted in Flood Zone 3a
where it can be demonstrated through application of the 'exception test' that:


The development provides wider sustainability benefits to the community
that outweigh flood risk having regard to the Gloucestershire Strategic
239

Page 239




Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA); and
The site is previously developed or if not, that there are no reasonable and
available alternative sites on previously developed land; and
The development will be safe without increasing flood risk elsewhere and
where possible, will reduce flood risk overall.

Proposals for waste-related development within Flood Zone 3b (the functional
floodplain) will not be permitted other than 'water compatible' proposals such as
sewage transmission infrastructure and pumping stations and, subject to the
exception test, development which is classified as 'essential infrastructure'.
A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) will be required for all development of 1 hectare or
more and for any proposal located within Flood Zone 2 and 3a. The FRA should
consider all sources of potential flood risk.
The design of all new development will be required to take account of current and
potential future flood risk from all sources both on and off-site including in particular
the use of Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS).

Core Policy WCS13 – Green Belt:
There will be a presumption against proposals for waste management that amounts
to inappropriate development within the Gloucester – Cheltenham Green Belt
except where it can be demonstrated that there are ‘very special circumstances’.
Very special circumstances’ to justify inappropriate waste development proposals
will not exist unless the totality of the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm
can be clearly outweighed by other considerations.
Where the proposal involves the re-use of an existing building in the Green Belt:
 It must not have a materially greater impact than the existing building on the
openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it; and
 The building must be of permanent and substantial construction and be
capable of conversion without major or complete reconstruction; and
 The form, bulk and design of the buildings is in keeping with its surroundings;
and
 The proposal would be consistent with other relevant development plan
policies.

Core Policy WCS14 – Landscape
General Landscape
Proposals for waste development will be permitted where they do not have a
significant adverse effect on the local landscape as identified in the Landscape
Character Assessment1 or unless the impact can be mitigated. Where significant
adverse impacts can not be fully mitigated, the social, environmental and economic
benefits of the proposal must outweigh any harm arising from the impacts.
240

Page 240

Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
Proposals for waste development within or affecting the setting of the Cotswolds,
Wye Valley and Malvern Hills Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) will only
be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:
 There is a lack of alternative sites not affecting the AONB to serve the
market need; and
 The impact on the special qualities of the AONB as defined by the relevant
management plan (including the landscape setting and recreational
opportunities) can be satisfactorily mitigated; and
 The proposal complies with other relevant development plan policies.
In the case of major development within the AONB, a proven public interest must
be demonstrated. Planning permission will only be granted in exceptional
circumstances following the most rigorous examination and subject to the criteria
above.
The County Council will continue to work in partnership with the respective AONB
Conservation Boards and/or Joint Advisory Committees to help deliver the vision
and objectives of the AONB Management Plans and Waste Core Strategy (WCS).
1

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/index.cfm?articleid=13187

Core Policy WCS15 – Nature Conservation (Biodiversity and Geodiversity)
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and National Nature Reserves (NNR) will
be safeguarded from inappropriate waste management development.
Planning permission for waste management development within or outside a Site of
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) or National Nature Reserve (NNR) will only be
granted where it can be demonstrated that:
 The development would not conflict with the conservation, management and
enhancement of the site unless the harmful aspects can be satisfactorily
mitigated; and
 The benefit of the development clearly outweighs the impacts that the
proposal would have on the key features of the site; and
 The proposal complies with other relevant policies of the development plan;
and
 In the case of a SSSI, there would be no broader impact on the national
network of SSSIs.
Local nature conservation designations will also be safeguarded from inappropriate
development and planning permission will only be granted for development
affecting such designations where it can be demonstrated that the impact of the
development can be satisfactorily mitigated and that the benefit of the development
clearly outweighs any impact.
Development proposals will be required to assess their impact on the natural
environment and make a contribution to local nature conservation targets to ensure
241

Page 241

net gain for biodiversity.
Proposals that incorporate beneficial biodiversity or geological features into their
design and layout will be favourably considered particularly where the proposal
would result in a positive contribution to a Strategic Nature Area (SNA) as identified
on the Nature Map for Gloucestershire.

Policy WCS16 - Historic Environment
Planning permission for waste management that would have a significant adverse
impact upon heritage assets including their integrity, character and setting will only
be granted where it can be demonstrated that:
 The benefits of the development clearly outweigh the impacts that the
proposal would have on the key features of the site; or
 The proposal includes adequate measures to mitigate adverse impacts; and
 The proposal complies with other relevant polices of the development plan.
There will be a presumption in favour of the conservation of designated heritage
assets, and of those heritage assets with archaeological interest that are of
demonstrably of equivalent significance.

Core Policy WCS17 – Design
Subject to compliance with other relevant development plan policies, planning
permission will be granted for waste related development that achieves a high
standard of design that is clearly robust and articulated through a Design and
Access Statement.
Particular issues to address will include:
- How the proposal reflects, responds and is appropriate to its local
environment and surroundings within Gloucestershire;
- The durability, adaptability and sustainability of the proposal including the
use of sustainable drainage to reduce the impact of surface water run-off;
- How the proposal makes the most efficient use of the site; and
- The use of high quality architecture and landscaping.
Poor quality design which fails to reflect or contribute positively to the character and
quality of the area in which the proposal is located will be rejected.
Policy WCS19 - Sustainable Transport
In the interests of sustainable development and minimising the impact of waste
management on Gloucestershire's roads and the wider natural and historic
environment, proposals for waste-related development that utilize alternative modes
of transport such as rail and water will be positively supported. This is subject to
compliance with other relevant development plan policies and the contribution to a
sustainable waste management system for Gloucestershire.
Any development exceeding the thresholds set out in the Department for Transport
242

Page 242

publication 'Guidance on Transport Assessment' must be supported by a Transport
Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan. Consideration will also be had to the location of
the proposed development in determining whether a TA is required.
Development that would have an adverse impact on the highway network which
cannot be mitigated will not be permitted.
Where a Travel Plan is required the developer will be expected to enter into a
Section 106 or unilateral legal agreement to secure the development of the travel
plan and any contributions required to support its implementation. A contribution
towards costs of monitoring the travel plan will also be required.
GLOUCESTERSHIRE WASTE LOCAL PLAN (2004) Saved Policies
POLICY 25 - CONSERVATION OUTSIDE DESIGNATED SITES
Proposals for waste development will only be permitted where adverse impacts on
features, which are of major importance for wild flora and fauna, natural and cultural
heritage can be prevented or mitigated.

POLICY 33 - WATER RESOURCES – POLLUTION CONTROL
Proposals for waste development will only be permitted where there would be no
unacceptable risk of contamination to surface watercourses, bodies of water or
groundwater resources.

POLICY 37 – PROXIMITY TO OTHER LAND USES
Proposals for waste development will be determined taking into account such
matters as the effect on the environment, occupants’ and users’ amenity and
health, the countryside, the traditional landscape character of Gloucestershire, the
local highway network, any hazardous installation or substance and any adverse
cumulative effect in combination with other development in the area. Where
appropriate, suitable ameliorative measures shall be incorporated in the proposals
to mitigate, attenuate and control noise, dust, litter, odour, landfill gas, vermin,
leachate and flue emissions.

POLICY 38 - HOURS OF OPERATION
The waste planning authority will where appropriate impose a condition restricting
hours of operation on waste management facilities to protect amenity.

POLICY 41 – PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY
Proposals for waste development should include, where appropriate, proposals to
create new public rights of way and should safeguard existing public rights of way
243

Page 243

by incorporating measures to segregate or divert them, prior to commencing
development. Where new public rights of way are created, operators will be asked
to enter into a maintenance agreement. This will place a responsibility on the
current and any future landowner to manage these rights of way.
POLICY 45 – PLANNING OBLIGATIONS
The waste planning authority will seek to enter into planning obligations with waste
operators to mitigate the impacts of waste and waste development. The following
may be considered appropriate matters for inclusion in a planning obligation where
related to the development proposal:
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

Highways and access improvement and highway maintenance,
Traffic weight restrictions,
Environmental protection and enhancement [including landscaping, habitat
and species protection and creation],
Protection and/or replacement of local, regional and national sites of
acknowledged importance,
Replacement of important environmental and landscape features,
Protection of local amenity,
Waste awareness and publicity campaigns for the local community,
Local waste minimisation projects,
Replacement of local community facilities, for example open space, sports
and recreation facilities,
Protection of other natural resources, for example, the water environment,
Restoration and long-term management of site,
After-use development, and
Monitoring.

GLOUCESTERSHIRE STRUCTURE PLAN SECOND REVIEW (1999) Saved
Policies
STRATEGY
Policy S.1
The bulk of new development should be accommodated within and adjacent to the
County’s larger towns at scales and locations that:
a) maintain and enhance the predominance of Gloucester and Cheltenham as
the focus for new development in the County,
b) maintain and make them more attractive places in which to live and work,
c) meet transport demands in safe and energy efficient ways primarily aiming
at reducing the need to travel,
d) conserve natural resources of minerals, best and most versatile agricultural
land, biodiversity and high quality landscape,
e) promote the regeneration of appropriate town centres,
244

Page 244

f)
g)

avoid the coalescence of existing settlements,
conserve the historic and built environment.

Policy S.3
Priority should be given to the development of land within existing built-up areas,
particularly land available for redevelopment, where this would not be detrimental to
the urban environment, and where it would be accessible by public transport and
accessible to jobs, schools, shopping, leisure and other services. These areas
should be utilised to their maximum efficiency, consistent with the character and
appearance of the wider location and the quality of life of those living and working in
the locality.
In rural areas previously developed land may exist but it may be in locations where
development could be intrusive in the countryside or highly unsustainable.
Policy S.4
Development in rural settlements should be limited in scale, and sustain and
enhance the character and appearance and the social and economic well-being of
local communities. Development within the open countryside will be strictly
controlled.
Policy S.5
In providing for development, local authorities will have regard to the need for
community facilities and services, including education, health, and cultural facilities,
local shopping facilities, sport and leisure facilities, transport services and
infrastructure, housing including affordable housing and public utilities. In
determining the type, scale and location of development, the adequacy of
infrastructure and community services will be taken into account. Provision for
development will be made where related infrastructure and community services are
in place or will be provided in appropriate phases in an environmentally acceptable
way.
Policy S.6
In providing for development the following aspects of the environment which
contribute to local character and distinctiveness should be safeguarded and
wherever possible enhanced:
a) the quality of the landscape,
b) the setting of the settlements and buildings within the landscape,
c) the quality of the built and historic environment,
d) the sites and landscapes of archaeological and historic value,
e) the distinctive wildlife and habitats,
f) the special qualities of rivers, canals and other water courses and features.
Policy S.7
In providing for development the quality of the County’s environment should be
maintained and enhanced by the following:
a) high standards of design,
b) urban regeneration, conservation and townscape enhancement,
c) traffic management, and
d) the retention and provision of open space.
245

Page 245

EMPLOYMENT
Policy E.4 - Rural Commercial and Industrial Development
Commercial and industrial development within and adjacent to villages will be
appropriate in scale and well integrated with the existing form and framework of
settlements, local employment needs, and to local services and infrastructure,
especially public transport. Commercial and industrial development in the open
countryside will be strictly controlled and restricted to small scale sensitive
enterprises which are essential to agriculture or forestry or other rural industries, or
which re-use existing buildings in a manner which maintains or enhances the
character and appearance of the surroundings. Local Plans will set criteria for the
consideration of proposals to extend existing business premises in the countryside.

TRANSPORT
Policy T.1 - New Development and the Transport System
New development should be located so as to minimise the length and number of
motorised journeys, and encourage the use of public transport, cycling and walking.
New development should be genuinely accessible by these modes of transport as
alternatives to the car.

Policy T.2 Walking
Walking will be promoted by the development of a network of safe and convenient
pedestrian routes, and by the provision of traffic-calming, pedestrian priority and
traffic-free areas. The needs of people with impaired mobility will be fully taken into
account.

Policy T.3 Cycling
Cycling will be promoted by the development of a comprehensive network of safe
and convenient cycle routes, defined where appropriate in local plans, and by the
provision of secure cycle parking in town and local centres, at public transport
interchanges, and in
appropriate new developments.

Policy T.11 - Freight Transport
Heavy lorries will be encouraged to use appropriate routes, and measures will be
introduced to prevent such lorries from using unsuitable roads.
MINERALS
Policy M.2
In order to reduce the demand on finite resources, proposals that promote the
greater use of secondary, waste and recycled materials as an alternative to primary
aggregates will be encouraged where environmentally acceptable.
246

Page 246

WASTE MANAGEMENT
Best Practicable Environmental Option (BPEO), and Development and
Operation
Policy WM.1
Waste management facilities located within Gloucestershire should operate on the
basis that waste will be treated and/or disposed of by employing the best
practicable environmental option (BPEO) for management of a particular waste
stream.
Policy WM.2 GCC NPPF consistency rating 
Primary* waste management facilities should be located near to major
concentrations of waste arisings, principally the Cheltenham /Gloucester urban
area, the Forest of Dean and the Stroud/Cirencester areas. Secondary facilities
should be appropriately located in other parts of the County to serve the primary
facilities. The following considerations will apply:
a) how proposals contribute towards an integrated waste management system
and the provisions of the development plan;
b) the transportation of waste must use a method that has the least
environmental impact, including alternatives to road transport, unless
shown to be impracticable or not economically feasible;
c) the amenity of local communities and access to the countryside is
safeguarded and where possible enhanced;
d) that reclamation and aftercare of the site are to an acceptable standard;
e) there is no adverse impact on internationally, nationally, regionally and
locally important areas of landscape, nature conservation, and
archaeological interest; and
f) there is no adverse impact on important natural resources including
agricultural land and the water– based environment.
* A primary waste management facility is a major site such as a centralised landfill
or Energy from Waste (EfW) facility, whilst a secondary facility is one which serves
a primary site - a waste transfer station, for example.
Policy WM.2
Primary* waste management facilities should be located near to major
concentrations of waste arisings, principally the Cheltenham /Gloucester urban
area, the Forest of Dean and the Stroud/Cirencester areas. Secondary facilities
should be appropriately located in other parts of the County to serve the primary
facilities. The following considerations will apply:
a.
how proposals contribute towards an integrated waste management system
and the provisions of the development plan;
b.
the transportation of waste must use a method that has the least
environmental impact, including alternatives to road transport, unless
shown to be impracticable or not economically feasible;
c.
the amenity of local communities and access to the countryside is
safeguarded and where possible enhanced;
d.
that reclamation and aftercare of the site are to an acceptable standard;
e.
there is no adverse impact on internationally, nationally, regionally and
247

Page 247

f.

locally important areas of landscape, nature conservation, and
archaeological interest; and
there is no adverse impact on important natural resources including
agricultural land and the water– based environment.

* A primary waste management facility is a major site such as a centralised landfill
or Energy from Waste (EfW) facility, whilst a secondary facility is one which serves
a primary site - a waste transfer station, for example.

Policy WM.3 - Regional Self-sufficiency
Development intended to primarily cater for Gloucestershire’s waste will be
encouraged in the appropriate locations.
Policy WM.4 - Recycling and Composting
Provision will be made for facilities associated with the recovery of materials
through recycling and composting. The following locational criteria will apply:
a) facilities should contribute towards an integrated waste management system;
b) facilities should be in close proximity to major concentrations of waste
arisings; and
c) industrial, redundant and "brownfield" sites or existing waste management
sites should be used in preference to virgin land where appropriate.

Policy WM.5 - Energy from Waste
Provision* will be made for energy from waste facilities in or near to the
Gloucester/Cheltenham area.
* Provision will be made via land allocations and/or development control appraisal
criteria, set out within the Waste Local Plan.

Policy WM.6 – Disposal
Provision will be made for the disposal of Gloucestershire’s post–treatment unrecovered waste residues in appropriate locations where necessary.

ENERGY
Policy EN.2
The County Council will support the introduction of combined heat and power, and
community heating schemes where there is potential for their efficient use subject
to other environmental considerations.
Policy EN.3
Proposals for the development of renewable sources of energy will be encouraged,
particularly where there are benefits to the local community. Renewable energy
proposals will be permitted provided that the proposed development:
a) would not adversely affect the special character of the Areas of Outstanding
Natural Beauty or sites of nature conservation or heritage conservation
interest; and
248

Page 248

b) would not cause demonstrable harm to:
i.
Special Landscape Areas or sites of special nature conservation or
heritage interest as defined in local plans; or
ii.
areas or facilities of special importance for tourism and recreation; or
iii.
the amenity of nearby dwellings or residential areas; and would not
dominate any prominent skyline or vista as defined in local plans; and
would not result in an unacceptable level of visual impact; particular
regard will be had to the cumulative impact of existing, planned or
proposed renewable energy developments; and is justified, where
necessary, in terms of national energy policies of local and regional
requirements; and is accompanied by adequate information to indicate the
extent of possible environmental effects and how they can be satisfactorily
mitigated.
THE NATURAL AND HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT
Policy NHE.1
The countryside’s character, appearance and non-renewable and natural resources
will be protected from harmful development unless the social and economic needs
of the area or wider environmental objectives outweigh such harm.

Policy NHE.2
Development will be required to protect and, wherever possible, enhance the
biodiversity, including wildlife and habitats, of the County.
Potential and classified SPAs, candidate and designated SACs, and Ramsar sites
will be protected from development that is likely to affect their integrity.
SSSIs and NNRs will be protected from development which would have a
significant effect on their nature conservation interest.
Local Plans should identify:
sites of nature conservation importance including unfragmented and linear features
such as small woods, traditional field boundaries, ponds and disused railways
which act as wildlife corridors or stepping stones; and appropriate targets for the
enhancement of biodiversity.

Policy NHE.3
The best and most versatile agricultural land (grades 1, 2 and 3a) will be protected
from development. Provision will only be made for development affecting such land
exceptionally if there is an overriding need for the development and either sufficient
land of a lower grade (grades 3b, 4 and 5) is unavailable; or available lower grade
land has an environmental value recognised by a statutory wildlife, historic or
archaeological designation, and outweighs the agricultural considerations. If best
and most versatile land needs to be developed and there is a choice between
different grades, land of the lowest grade available should be used.

Policy NHE.4
In Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty the conservation and enhancement of the
natural beauty will be given priority over other considerations. Regard will also be
249

Page 249

had to the economic and social well-being of the AONB.
Provision should not be made for major development within the AONB unless it is in
the national interest and the lack of alternative sites justifies an exception.

Policy NHE.5
Provision should not be made for development that would detract from the
particular landscape qualities and character of Special Landscape Areas. The
broad locations of Special Landscape Areas are as follows:
the north eastern and north western fringes of the Cotswolds;
on the southern fringes of the Cotswolds near Cirencester, Tetbury and
Fairford;
the upland western and southern parts of the Forest of Dean District;
between Gloucester urban area and the Cotswolds, including Robinswood Hill;
and
Chosen Hill in Churchdown.
The precise boundaries of, and additions to, the Special Landscape Areas will be
identified in local plans.

Policy NHE.6
The distinctive historic environment of the County will be conserved and enhanced.
Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas, and their
settings will be preserved.
Historic settlements and landscape, historic parks and gardens, and sites of
archaeological importance will be protected from the adverse effects of
development

Policy NHE.7
Development will not be permitted which has a detrimental impact on the scientific
value, landscape setting and character, and the archaeological remains of the
Severn Estuary. The integrated management of the estuary will be essential to the
protection of its special qualities.

WATER RESOURCES
Policy W.1
Provision will only be made for development where:
a) adequate water resources exist or can be provided without causing
unacceptable adverse environmental effects, and
b) it will not lead to an unacceptable reduction in the quantity of surface and
groundwater; and
c) there is not an unacceptable risk to existing or future supplies, residential
amenity, nature conservation or fisheries.
Proposals for new water resource schemes will be assessed in the context of the
demand management and leakage control measures.

250

Page 250

FLOODING AND FLOOD RISK
Policy F.1
Provision will not be made for development where it would be at direct risk from
flooding and/or would increase the risk of flooding elsewhere.
Local Plans will define areas of flood risk.

POLLUTION
Policy P.1
Provision will only be made for development where it does not have an
unacceptable effect in terms of:
a) the environment and local community in terms air, noise or light pollution;
b) the quality of surface or ground water; or
c) contamination of the land or soil.
STROUD DISTRICT LOCAL PLAN (2005)
GENERAL POLICIES
POLICY GE1
Permission will not be granted to any development that would be likely to lead to an
unacceptable level of noise, general disturbance, smell, fumes, loss of daylight or
sunlight, loss of privacy or have an overbearing effect.

POLICY GE2
Permission will not be granted for any development that is likely to create
unacceptable atmospheric or environmental pollution to water, land or air.

POLICY GE5
Permission will not be granted for any development that would be likely to be
detrimental to the highway safety of any user of any highway or public right of way.

POLICY GE7
Where development is acceptable in principle under the policies of this plan,
development proposals will be expected to have regard to existing levels of
infrastructure, services and amenities. Where development gives rise to the need
for the provision of new or extended public and community services, the Council will
assess the nature and extent of planning obligations required as a result of new
development in accordance with National Planning Guidance. Planning Permission
will not be granted until the Planning Authority is satisfied, by imposing conditions,
or where these are not appropriate or adequate, by seeking a legal agreement, that
an appropriate level of infrastructure, services and amenities required as a
consequence of and directly related to, the development is capable of being, and
will be, provided within the timescale of the proposed development and in
251

Page 251

accordance with an agreed phasing programme.

EMPLOYMENT AND TOURISM
POLICY EM1
Development proposals for B1 business, B2 general industrial and B8 storage and
distribution uses will be permitted within defined settlement boundaries where they
can be integrated with housing, commercial, leisure and community facilities. Large
scale travel intensive uses, such as B1(office) development, should be located in
the defined settlements of Cam and Dursley, Nailsworth, Stonehouse, Stroud and
Wotton-under-Edge or where they can be safely and conveniently accessed by
public transport from the anticipated employee catchment area and by walking and
cycling. Large scale B8 storage and distribution uses will only be permitted where
they will not lead to the increase of HGV traffic through defined settlements and
they have good accessibility to, and use, one or more of:1. The rail network.
2. The port of Sharpness.
3. The Gloucester and Sharpness Canal.
4. The preferred routes for long distance lorry traffic.
BUILT ENVIRONMENT

POLICY BE12
A proposal for development that affects the setting of a listed building will only be
permitted where it preserves the setting of the affected listed building.

POLICY BE14
Development that detrimentally affects archaeological remains of other than
national significance will not be permitted unless the importance of the development
outweighs the value of the remains.

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT
POLICY NE3
Development proposals that would adversely affect a Key Wildlife Site, Local
Nature Reserve or Regionally Important Geological or Geomorphological Site will
not be permitted unless the benefits of the development outweigh the nature
conservation interest or scientific interest of the site. Where development is
permitted, the effects of the development should be minimised and conditions or
planning obligations used to secure compensatory measures that reflect the
importance of the site and relevant Gloucestershire Biodiversity Action Plan targets.

POLICY NE4
Development proposals that would adversely affect, either directly or indirectly, a
site supporting any legally protected species or its habitat, or priority species or
252

Page 252

habitats as defined in the Gloucestershire Biodiversity Action Plan, will not be
permitted unless safeguarding measures can be provided through conditions or
planning obligations to secure their protection. Where appropriate, development
proposals should contribute to Gloucestershire Biodiversity Action Plan targets.

POLICY NE5
In considering proposals for development, the protection or enhancement of wildlife
corridors will be sought. It is important that the function of any corridor should not
be harmed. The creation of new wildlife corridors will be supported in appropriate
locations. The details of any necessary enhancing, mitigating or compensatory
measures should accompany the development proposal.

POLICY NE6
In development proposals, important landscape features such as trees, hedges,
shrubs, vegetation, green lanes, walls, woodland and unimproved pasture should
be retained and managed to conserve and enhance biodiversity. The impact of
development on such features should be minimised and will be controlled through
the use of conditions and planning obligations.

POLICY NE7
Development proposals that would adversely affect the nature conservation interest
of natural watercourses, canals, ponds and other water features will not be
permitted unless either:
1.
the benefits of the development outweigh the nature conservation
interest of the water feature; or
2.
the effects of the development on the nature conservation interest
of the water feature can be compensated by conditions or planning
obligations.

POLICY NE8
Within the Cotswolds AONB, priority will be given to the conservation and
enhancement of the natural beauty of the landscape over other considerations,
whilst also having regard to the economic and social well-being of the AONB.
Development within, or affecting the setting of the AONB will only be permitted if all
the following criteria are met:
1.
The nature, siting and scale are sympathetic to the landscape;
2.
The design and materials complement the character of the area; and
3.
Important landscape features and trees are retained and appropriate
landscaping measures are undertaken.
Major development will not be permitted unless it is demonstrated to be in the
national interest and that there is a lack of alternative sites.

POLICY NE10
Development proposals should conserve or enhance the special features and
253

Page 253

diversity of the different landscape character types found within the District as
identified in the Stroud District Landscape Assessment. Priority will be given to the
protection of the quality and diversity of the landscape character.
Development will only be permitted if all the following criteria are met
1.
natural features and water features that contribute to the landscape
setting are retained and managed;
2.
there is no unacceptable impact on long distance views; and
3.
the benefits of the proposed development outweigh any harmful
effects on the landscape.

POLICY NE13
New development will only be permitted where high quality landscaping (hard and
soft, built and natural) appropriate to the area is proposed.
Consistent with NPPF (para 58) re design

TRANSPORT
POLICY TR1
Permission will be granted to development that deals satisfactorily with all of the
following issues:
1.
the need to minimise travel, by locating complementary uses close
together, focusing development in the Gloucester Principal Urban Area (PUA),
Stroud Urban Area and Principal Settlements, and locations highly accessible
by public transport (except in the case of those uses which are considered
appropriate for rural locations in Policy EM2);
2.
the need to provide access to development via a wide choice of transport
modes, including walking, cycling and public transport (with appropriate
provision for disabled people, pedestrians and cyclists);
3.
the need to design site layouts and the provision of facilities with the aim
of encouraging walking, cycling and the use of public transport;
4.
the need to provide for traffic calming measures, through layout and
design wherever possible;
5.
the need to provide for highway improvements; and
6.
the need to provide appropriate levels of parking in accordance with the
Council’s Parking Standards.
POLICY TR2
Proposals for development will not be permitted unless there is, or provision is
made for, safe convenient and attractive access for pedestrians taking into account
the needs of disabled people, within sites and where appropriate to the surrounding
area. These should be lit where appropriate and further security provided through
building layout and landscaping.

254

Page 254

REGIONAL PLANNING GUIDANCE FOR THE SOUTH WEST (RPG10) (2001)
Policy EN 1: Landscape and Biodiversity
Local authorities and other agencies in their plans, policies and proposals, should:
ͻ provide for the strong protection and enhancement of the region’s
internationally and nationally important landscape areas and nature
conservation sites;
ͻ draw up policies for the protection of nature conservation interests of regional
and local significance;
ͻ encourage the maintenance and enhancement of the biodiversity resources of
the region, having particular regard to the targets set out in tables 3, 4 and 5;
ͻ promote the restoration and expansion of depleted and vulnerable biodiversity
resources in order to reverse fragmentation and create continuous viable
habitats;
ͻ indicate that the protection and, where possible, enhancement of the
landscape and biodiversity should be planned into new development;
ͻ have regard to the significant landscape joint character areas of the region set
out in this RPG (Map 4) and aim to conserve and enhance local character;
ͻ take measures to protect the character of the countryside and the
environmental features that contribute towards that character, including the
minimisation of light pollution.

Policy EN2: Air Quality
Local authorities should:
ͻ include in their development plans and proposals policies on the location of
potentially polluting developments and of sensitive developments in the vicinity
of existing polluting developments, in line with guidance in PPG23 (as and
when it is updated) and in Air Quality and land use planning LAQM.G3 (00);
ͻ designate air quality management areas where required as part of the local air
quality management process;
ͻ ensure that air quality considerations are properly considered along with other
material considerations in the planning process, particularly where any air
quality management areas have been designated.

Policy EN 3: The Historic Environment
Local authorities and other agencies in their plans, policies and proposals should:
ͻ afford the highest level of protection to historic and archaeological areas, sites
and monuments of international, national and regional importance;
ͻ indicate that new development should preserve or enhance historic buildings
and conservation areas and important archaeological features and their
settings, having regard to the advice in PPG15 and PPG16;
ͻ indicate that policies and programmes should work towards rescuing buildings
and monuments at risk;
ͻ encourage the restoration and appropriate re-use of buildings of historic and
architectural value and take a particularly active role in bringing about their
restoration where this would help bring about urban regeneration;
ͻ take account of the landscape context and setting of buildings and
settlements; of building materials; and of the patterns of fields, hedgerows and
255

Page 255

walls that distinguish one area from another.

Policy RE 2: Flood Risk
Flooding causes risk to both property and life and protecting property and people in
areas of flood risk is expensive. Local authorities, the Environment Agency, other
agencies and developers should seek to:
ͻ protect land liable to river and coastal flooding from new development, by
directing development away from river and coastal floodplains;
ͻ promote, recognise and adopt the use of sustainable drainage systems for
surface water drainage;
ͻ adopt a sequential approach to the allocation and development of sites,
having regard to their flood risk potential in accordance with advice in PPG25
(Development and Flood Risk).
Development plans should:
ͻ identify inland and coastal areas at risk from flooding based on the
Environment Agency’s indicative Maps and, supplemented where necessary
by historical and modelled flood data and indications as to other areas which
could be at risk in future;
ͻ provide criteria for redevelopment proposals in flood plains, in order to
minimise their cumulative adverse impact and secure enhancement of the
floodwater storage and ecological role of flood plains.

Policy RE5: Management and Transportation of Waste
In order to achieve sustainable waste management (the Best Practicable
Environmental Options) in the region, waste planning, disposal and collection
authorities, the Environment Agency and waste management and water companies
should cooperate to:
ͻ Establish a mix of waste recovery methods e.g. recycling, composting, energy
recovery etc, regionally and sub-regionally, that will reduce reliance on landfill
and will avoid creating over-reliance on any one method or facility.
ͻ Pursue the following regional targets:
- Recycle or compost at least 30% of household waste by 2010; and,33% by
2015
- Recover value from 45% of municipal waste by 2010; and
67% by 2015
- Reduce landfilling of biodegradable municipal waste to 75% of the 1995
production level by 2010; and,
50% by 2013.
- Reduce landfilling of industrial and commercial waste to 85% of the 1998 level
by 2005.
x Give priority to the provision of waste management facilities that will recover
value from waste at or near the PUAs. Those facilities should take account of
waste management requirements in the PUA (s) concerned and its
neighbouring county areas and should be planned to contribute to the
achievement of the regional targets above, in respect of the urban area(s) and
its hinterland.
ͻ Ensure that sub-regional requirements are taken into account in structure and
256

Page 256

waste local plans and in waste planning decisions. Structure or (where
appropriate) waste local plans should propose targets for the provision of
value recovery capacity among participating waste planning authorities.
Provision at PUAs and at other urban areas should take the waste
management requirements of their neighbouring county areas into account.

Policy RE 6: Energy Generation and Use
Local authorities, energy suppliers and other agencies should:
ͻ support and encourage the region to meet the national targets for:
- a 12.5% reduction in greenhouse gas emissions below 1990 levels by 20082012 and a 20% reduction (from 1990 levels) in carbon dioxide emissions by
2010;
- a minimum of 11-15% of electricity production to be from renewable energy
sources by 2010.
ͻ encourage and promote the greater use of renewable energy sources,
including community-based projects, such as Combined Heat and Power and
Community Heating and their integration into more energy efficient new build
or redevelopment proposals;
ͻ have full regard to the recommendations and detailed background information
contained in the report “Renewable energy assessments and targets for the
South West” (GOSW APRIL 2001).
Development Plans should:
ͻ specify the criteria against which proposals for renewable energy projects will
be assessed, balancing the benefits of developing more sustainable forms of
energy generation against the environmental impacts, in particular on national
and international designated sites;
ͻ promote energy conservation measures through policies guiding the design,
layout and construction techniques of new development proposals.

257

Page 257

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 258

